

Examining the effect of mitochondrial function manipulation in the development of cellular senescence

Rebecca Anne Reed

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Biosciences Institute

Faculty of Medical Sciences

Newcastle University, UK

November 2021

i

<u>Abstract</u>

Mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular senescence are key drivers of ageing and agerelated disease, and are linked by several processes. The mitochondria are essential for the induction of senescence, and oxidative stress from mitochondrial respiratory dysfunction is one of the known triggers of senescence. Senescent cells accumulate with age and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines termed the Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype (SASP), which contributes to tissue dysfunction and disease. However, because cell cycle arrest of damaged cells is a beneficial tumour suppressor mechanism, this study aimed remove the harmful SASP while maintaining cell cycle arrest. To do this I screened inhibitors of the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) to manipulate mitochondrial function at different respiratory complexes and examine the effects on SASP factor production.

I found that interrupting electron flow at multiple points in the ETC reduced SASP factor secretion *in vitro*. Data suggests that this reduction was a result of respiratory inhibition, as SASP factor reduction correlated with oxygen consumption rates. Additional markers of senescence including DNA damage foci, nuclear enlargement and SA- β -Gal activity were reduced following inhibition at respiratory complex I by the biguanide metformin, but cells remained arrested. Finally, I found that long-term treatment of an established senescent phenotype with senostatic drugs metformin and rapamycin, and CIII inhibitor myxothiazol, was sufficient to alleviate the SASP, but not other markers of senescence. Similarly, shorter treatments with myxothiazol or rapamycin after irradiation successfully inhibited secretion of some key SASP factors, but other markers remained unchanged.

Overall, this study shows that manipulation of mitochondrial electron transport rescues harmful aspects of the senescent phenotype without allowing cell-cycle re-entry. Moreover, I have provided evidence that treatment timing is key to effectiveness, and that the SASP appears more receptive to reversal than other senescent markers, offering a promising avenue of investigation in age-related disease treatment.

ii

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Thomas von Zglinicki, Satomi Miwa, Joao Passos and Alberto Sanz for their guidance, advice and support during this project. Thomas and Satomi for accepting me into your lab for the last 2 years, and Alberto and Joao for supporting me during the first 2 years and since then advising me from Glasgow and the US. Your encouragement has been invaluable throughout. Thanks also to my assessment panel Laura and Viktor for your advice each year.

I have been lucky enough to work alongside colleagues from three different labs in my time at CAV, and would like to thank everyone for their help and support over the last few years. To my Sanz Lab friends Rhoda, Elise, Charlotte and Filippo, I couldn't have done it without you. I may not have been a 'fly person' but you made me feel welcome, talked me down from experimental despair, made me laugh when I wanted to cry, and have kept me going through lab moves and lockdowns. I will be forever grateful for your friendships and look forward to the next time we can meet in person. Until then I have the memories of beach trips, cocktails and escape rooms. Thanks for never letting me live down my spelling failures with 'Audi with an O'!

I would also like to thank my Passos lab colleagues James, Stella, Anthony, Leena, Mikolaj and Hanna for your help and guidance in my first year, though it may have been short it was most certainly sweet – if for no other reason than the sheer amount of cake! Thanks to Stella and Antho for your guidance in experiments and microscopy, and a special thank you to James who taught me everything I know about tissue culture and ELISAs.

To my newest lab colleagues Ed, Evon, Ghazal, Tengfei and Abbas I would like to thank you for welcoming me into your lab, and for your help over the last 2 years getting me to this finish line. Thank you for being my sounding boards during lab meetings and helping me to 'see the wood for the trees' in my data. Thanks also to my other office-mates over the years, Lucy, Yoana, George and Tetsushi. I would also like to give special thanks to Glyn, I could not have done any of my microscopy work without you, you truly are my bioimaging hero!

iii

Thanks also to the wonderful DiMeN cohorts I've met and worked with, and in particular to Emily who has been such a help throughout and has gone above and beyond to support us all.

To Joe, my partner and best friend, I can't express how much your support has meant over the years. Not just these last four but the six before that too, never once doubting that I could achieve exactly what I wanted to. Your laughter, music (whether asked for or not!) and care has gotten me through the hardest of years. Thank you for always being there for me, I couldn't do any of this without you. Here's to the next adventure together!

Finally, to my family, especially my Mam, Dad and sister Rachel. Thank you for always believing in me and supporting me in everything I do. I wouldn't be where I am if not for your constant encouragement and continual dismissal of any self-doubt! I know you're always there when I need you, and can always come home for a cuppa and a hug. Thank you for being my constants over the years.

List of Abbreviations

4EBP	eIF4E-binding protein
53BP1	p53-binding protein 1
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
АМРК	AMP-activated protein kinase
ATM	Ataxia-telangiectasis, mutated
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATR	Ataxia-telangiectasis and rad3-related
Αβ	Amyloid-beta
BCL-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CDC25	Cell-division cycle 25
CDK	Cyclin dependent kinase
cGAS	Cyclic DMP-AMP synthase
CI	Complex I
CII	Complex II
CIII	Complex III
CIV	Complex IV
CV	Complex V
DDF	DNA damage foci
DDR	DNA damage response
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA-PK	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DRP1	Dynamin-related protein 1
DSB	Double strand break
E2F1	E2F transcription factor 1
ECAR	Extracellular acidification rate
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay
ETC	Electron transport chain

Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone
Iron-sulphur
FK506-binding protein 12
Glycerol-3-phosphate deyhdrogenase
Histone variant H2AX
Hydrogen peroxide
Histone deacetylase
Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha
Human antigen R
Interferon beta
Irradiation
Potassium cyanide
Lactate dehydrogenase
Mediator of DNA Damage Checkpoint Protein 1
Malate dehydrogenase 1/2
Mitochondrial dysfunction-associated senescence
MRE-11-RAD50-NBS1
mitochondrial DNA
Mechanistic target of rapamycin
Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
Non-homologous end joining
Oxygen consumption rate
Oncogene-induced senescence
Optic atrophy 1
Oxidative Phosphorylation
Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase
Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen
Pyruvate dehydrogenase
Paraformaldehyde
Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1 alpha
Phosphoinositide 3-kinase

ΡΙΚΚ	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-like protein kinase
PINK1	PTEN-induced kinase 1
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
RET	Reverse electron transport
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
S1QEL	Suppressors of Site $I_{\mbox{\scriptsize Q}}$ Electron Leak
S3QEL	Suppressors of Site III_{Qo} Electron Leak
S6K1	S6 kinase beta-1
SAHF	Senescence Associated Heterochromatin Foci
SAMD	Senescence-associated mitochondrial dysfunction
SASP	Senescence Associated Secretory Phenotype
SA-β-Gal	Senescence-associated beta galactosidase
SIPS	Stress-induced premature senescence
SIRT	Sirtuin-1
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SSB	Single strand break
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
STING	Stimulator or interferon genes
TFEB	Transcription factor EB
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta
TRF2	Telomeric repeat-binding factor 2
γH2AX	Phosphorylated histone variant H2AX

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Abbreviations	V
Table of Contents	viii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 Human ageing and disease	1
1.2 Cellular senescence	2
1.2.1. Senescence signalling pathways	3
1.2.2 Types of senescence	9
1.2.3 Markers of cellular senescence	13
1.2.4 Senescence Associated Secretory Phenotype (SASP)	15
1.2.5 Senescence in wound healing	18
1.2.6 Senescence as a tumour suppressor mechanism	19
1.2.7 Senescence in age-related disease	20
1.2.8 Senolytics and senostatics	21
1.3 Mitochondrial function	23
1.3.1 Oxidative phosphorylation	24
1.3.2 Mitochondrial quality control	28
1.3.3 Cell death	32
1.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	33
1.4.1 ROS production	33
1.4.2 Sites of ROS production	34
1.4.3 Measuring mitochondrial ROS production	38
1.4.4 Redox signalling	39
1.4.5 Antioxidants	39
1.5 Mitochondrial role in ageing	41
1.5.1 The Mitochondrial Free Radical Theory of Ageing	42
1.5.2 The role of mitochondria in cellular senescence	43
1.6 Metformin	49

1.6.1 Metformin and diabetes	49
1.6.2 Metformin and ageing	50
1.6.3 Mechanism of action	51
1.7 Aims and Objectives	56
Chapter 2: Materials & Methods	59
2.1 Reagents	59
2.2 Cell culture	62
2.3 Senescence induction	63
2.3.1 Irradiation-induced senescence	63
2.3.2 Replicative senescence	63
2.4 Cell treatments	63
2.5 High resolution respirometry	64
2.5.1 Oroboros Oxygraph-2k	64
2.5.2 Seahorse AF Extracellular Flux Analyzers	65
2.6 SA-β-Gal staining	67
2.7 Immunofluorescent staining	67
2.8 Microscopy	68
2.8.1 Fluorescent microscopy	68
2.8.2 Light microscopy	68
2.8.3 Analysis	68
2.9 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	68
2.10 Cytokine Array	69
2.11 Amplex Red Assay	69
2.12 Statistical Analysis	70
2.13 Figure design	70
Chapter 3: Treatment with rotenone, antimycin A, myxothiazol, sodium azide and	
oligomycin alleviate SASP	71
3.1 Treatment with rotenone, antimycin A, myxothiazol, sodium azide and oligomyc all reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells	;in 71
3.1.1 Rotenone reduces OCR and inhibits SASP factor production	72
3.1.2 Malonate does not reduces OCR or inhibit SASP factor production	75
3.1.3 Antimycin A and myxothiazol reduce OCR and inhibit SASP factor productio	n 76
3.1.4 KCN and sodium azide show differing effects on OCR and SASP factor production	80

3.1.5 Oligomycin reduces OCR and inhibits SASP factor production	.85
3.1.6 FCCP elevates OCR and does not inhibit SASP factor production	.87
3.2 Inhibition of OCR correlates with SASP suppression	.90
3.3 Inhibition of electron transport at complexes I, III, IV and V force cells to rely on glycolysis for ATP production	.95
3.4 Forced reliance on OXPHOS ATP production does not significantly affect pro- inflammatory cytokine secretion1	100
3.5 Treatment with monensin increases pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion1	102
3.6 Does manipulation of ROS production specifically affect pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion?	105
3.6.1 Antioxidants1	105
3.6.2 MitoParaquat1	109
3.7 ROS production rates correlate with SASP suppression1	112
3.8 ROS production rates correlate with OCR1	116
3.9 Discussion1	118
3.9.1 Inhibition of electron transfer at multiple points in the ETC is sufficient to suppress the SASP	118
3.9.2 Treatment with the uncoupler FCCP does not affect development of the SA	ASP 123
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR 3.9.4 SASP suppression positively correlates with OXPHOS-derived ATP production 	123 on 125 128 t
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t t
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 132
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 133
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 132 133 135
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 132 133 135 140
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 132 133 135 140 146
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 132 133 135 140 146 150
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 133 135 140 146 150 150
3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR	123 on 125 128 t 133 135 140 146 150 152 155

4.6.2 Metformin triggers a reliance on glycolysis for ATP production156
4.6.3 Metformin alleviates markers of senescence without restoring cell proliferation158
4.6.4 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in both replicative and established irradiation-induced senescence160
4.6.5 Metformin does not reduce other markers of senescence when the phenotype is already established161
Chapter 5: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol and rapamycin in a model of
established senescence produce differing effects on SASP production
5.1 Alleviating the SASP requires 10 days of treatment with electron transport inhibitors in established senescence164
5.2 Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin for 10 days is not sufficient to rescue senescent markers in established senescence
5.3 Treatment with myxothiazol for 3 days post-irradiation is sufficient to reduce the SASP175
5.4 Treatment with electron transport inhibitors for 3 days post-irradiation is not sufficient to rescue senescent marker expression179
5.5 Discussion
Chapter 6: Conclusions
Chapter 7: References

List of Tables

Table 2.1.1: Reagents used in this study	62
Table 2.4.1: Final drug treatment concentrations carried forward following d	ose range
screening	64
Table 3.9.1 Summary of ETC inhibitor effects on OCR, SASP and ROS product	ion125

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Overview of the DNA damage response6
Figure 1.2: Mitochondrial electron transport chain and complex inhibitor effects27
Figure 1.3: 10 day drug treatment experimental schematic immediately post-irradiation.
Figure 1.4: Replicative senescence experimental design schematic
Figure 1.5: Post-senescence experimental design schematic for irradiation-induced
senescence
Figure 1.6: 3 day treatment during senescence development experimental design
schematic58
Figure 3.1: Schematic of senescent ELISA experimental design71
Figure 3.2: Rotenone reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells74
Figure 3.3: Treatment with malonate does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels
in senescent cells
Figure 3.4: Antimycin A reduces some pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent
cells
Figure 3.5: Myxothiazol reduces some pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent
cells
Figure 3.6: KCN does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells81
Figure 3.7: Sodium azide reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells83
Figure 3.8: Oligomycin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells86
Figure 3.9: FCCP does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells88
Figure 3.10: Correlation between OCR and SASP93
Figure 3.11: Correlation between ATP production and SASP
Figure 3.12: SASP factor secretion when cultured with galactose
Figure 3.13: Young fibroblasts treated with monensin exhibit elevated SASP factor
secretion, and acute treatment at high doses increases OCR and ATP production103
Figure 3.14: Treatment with site-specific mitochondrial ROS inhibitors does not reduce

Figure 3.15: MitoParaquat reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells
Figure 3.16: Acute ROS production rates in proliferating fibroblasts treated with ETC
inhibitors and ROS modifiers
Figure 3.17: Correlation between ROS and SASP114
Figure 3.18: Correlation analysis between ROS production and OCR117
Figure 3.19: Heat map summary of the effect of electron transport chain inhibitor
treatment on SASP factor production120
Figure 4.1 High dose metformin inhibits complex I-linked respiration
Figure 4.2 Senescent fibroblasts respire more than young controls and produce higher
levels of ATP136
Figure 4.3 Metformin treatment inhibits OXPHOS respiration and triggers a glycolytic
switch in senescent cells138
Figure 4.4 Treatment with metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in
senescent cells141
Figure 4.5 Metformin treatment rescues markers of senescence in irradiation-induced
senescence 145
143
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in establishedsenescence148Figure 4.7: High dose metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in establishedreplicative senescence151Figure 4.8: Metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established irradiation-induced senescence154Figure 5.1: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 10 days in amodel of established senescence reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion insenescent cells166Figure 5.2: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect SA-β-Gal activity.167
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence. .148 Figure 4.7: High dose metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established replicative senescence. .151 Figure 4.8: Metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established irradiation- induced senescence. .154 Figure 5.1: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 10 days in a model of established senescence reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells. .166 Figure 5.2: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in a model of established senescence does not affect SA-β-Gal activity. .167 Figure 5.3: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in establishedsenescence148Figure 4.7: High dose metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in establishedreplicative senescence151Figure 4.8: Metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established irradiation-induced senescence154Figure 5.1: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 10 days in amodel of established senescence reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion insenescent cells166Figure 5.2: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect SA-β-Gal activity167Figure 5.3: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect SA-β-Gal activity167Figure 5.3: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect formation of DNA damage foci
Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in establishedsenescence148Figure 4.7: High dose metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in establishedreplicative senescence151Figure 4.8: Metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established irradiation-induced senescence154Figure 5.1: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 10 days in amodel of established senescence reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion insenescent cells166Figure 5.2: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect SA-β-Gal activity.167Figure 5.3: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect SA-β-Gal activity.167Figure 5.4: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days ina model of established senescence does not affect formation of DNA damage foci169Figure 5.4: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in

Figure 5.5: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in
a model of established senescence does not affect p21 expression172
Figure 5.6: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in
a model of established senescence does not affect cell proliferation
Figure 5.7: Treatment with myxothiazol for 3 days post-irradiation is sufficient to reduce
pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent fibroblasts177
Figure 5.8: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days post-
irradiation does not affect SA-β-Gal activity180
Figure 5.9: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days post-
irradiation does not affect DNA damage foci formation181
Figure 5.10: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days post-
irradiation does not affect nuclear size
Figure 5.11: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days post-
irradiation does not affect p21 expression184
Figure 5.12: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days post-
irradiation does not affect cell proliferation

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Human ageing and disease

The ageing population in the UK is set to increase exponentially over the coming years, with current estimations predicting an additional 7.5 million people aged over 65 within the next 50 years (Office for National Statistics, 2021). With an ever-growing aged population comes increasing strain on health and social care systems to try to meet demand. Advanced age is associated with a plethora of chronic conditions, diseases and dysfunctions, which require medical care and social support, often long-term, in order to help manage symptoms and maintain quality of life. By attempting to understand why and how we age, and the drivers of age-related diseases, the ageing research field hopes to slow the ageing process and, more importantly, prevent the development of associated diseases. If successful, this would allow people to age healthily without the strain of disease – both on themselves, friends and family, and societal services.

Age is the greatest risk factor for conditions such as Alzheimer's disease (van der Flier and Scheltens, 2005), heart failure (North and Sinclair, 2012), diabetes (Chang and Halter, 2003), and arthritis (Loeser, 2017). As we age, our bodies are less able to combat damage and stress generated at the cellular level, and chronic accumulation of this damage can lead to disease. By targeting this damage and finding ways to prevent or repair it, we aim to alleviate some of the burden of age-related diseases. To date little progress has been made in slowing the ageing process, but a number of steps have been taken towards understanding the mechanisms behind it. Many age-related diseases, and ageing itself, have been linked to a state of irreversible cell cycle arrest in which cells accumulate damage over time, which eventually signals a permanent growth arrest. These cells continue to survive, but secrete a number of harmful products into the surrounding tissue microenvironment, producing a self-sustaining loop of damage and dysfunction culminating in disease. This state is known as cellular senescence (Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961).

1.2 Cellular senescence

Cellular senescence is a state of irreversible cell cycle arrest, first described by Hayflick and Moorhead in 1961, who identified a limit to the number of divisions proliferating cells could undergo in culture before halting cell cycle progression (Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961). This growth arrest was termed replicative senescence. Cells which undergo senescence are typically arrested in the G1 phase of the cell cycle (Stein and Dulic, 1995) and are resistant to cell death signalling due to upregulated pro-survival pathways such as BCL-2 family members (Yosef *et al.*, 2016). Though this resistance can differ depending on a range of factors that determine cell fate, including cell type, stimuli strength, and manipulation of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins (Rebbaa *et al.*, 2003; Hampel *et al.*, 2004).

Senescent cells are known to accumulate with age in both animals (Wang *et al.*, 2009; Jurk *et al.*, 2014) and humans (Dimri *et al.*, 1995; Liu *et al.*, 2009a), and have been shown to impact lifespan (Baker *et al.*, 2016). Cellular senescence is largely thought to be specific to cells capable of proliferation; mitotic cells, which comprise tissues and organs that require continual renewal of the cell population, for example skin (Dimri *et al.*, 1995), liver (Wiemann *et al.*, 2002) and kidneys (Krishnamurthy *et al.*, 2004a). However, recent studies have also identified a senescent-like phenotype in post-mitotic cells (Jurk *et al.*, 2012; Oubaha *et al.*, 2016; Musi *et al.*, 2018; Anderson *et al.*, 2019), suggesting that stimuli such as oxidative or genotoxic stress are able to induce a persistent DDR and senescent-like growth arrest in postmitotic tissues.

Cellular senescence in the liver has been linked to cirrhosis (Wiemann *et al.*, 2002) and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (Ogrodnik *et al.*, 2017), while in the articular cartilage it has been shown to induce cartilage breakdown and onset of osteoarthritis (Loeser, 2009). This accumulation of senescent cells in tissue has also been well-established as a driver of ageing (Baker *et al.*, 2004; Baker;Jin and van Deursen, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2009) and the specific removal of senescent cells in *in vivo* models has shown beneficial effects in alleviating disease and prolonging lifespan (Baker *et al.*, 2011; Baker *et al.*, 2016).

Senescent cells undergo a wide range of phenotypic changes which are discussed in detail later, and are responsible for both autocrine and paracrine effects which stabilise the existing phenotype (Takahashi *et al.*, 2006; Passos *et al.*, 2010) and promote senescence conversion in the wider tissue microenvironment (Nelson *et al.*, 2012). This accumulation of senescence is responsible for a multitude of tissue dysfunctions, but can also support beneficial wound healing processes (Jun and Lau, 2010) and provide protection against pre-malignant cells (Serrano *et al.*, 1997).

1.2.1. Senescence signalling pathways

Cellular senescence can be induced by a variety of stressors including oxidative stress (Passos *et al.*, 2007; Passos *et al.*, 2010), oncogene activation (Serrano *et al.*, 1997), and telomere attrition (van Steensel;Smogorzewska and de Lange, 1998). Though there are some variations in senescent phenotype, most stimuli converge on common signalling pathways. Which pathways are engaged, and to what extent, can have both cell- and species-specific differences (Smogorzewska and de Lange, 2002).

1.2.1.1 DNA damage response

In senescence the DNA damage response pathway (DDR) is triggered by DNA breaks, leading to cell-cycle arrest signalling at key checkpoints. DNA damage can be caused by oxidative stress (Chen *et al.*, 1995) oncogenic signalling (Serrano *et al.*, 1997), telomere attrition (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003), and genotoxic stress (Roberson *et al.*, 2005). Different DDR proteins are activated by different DNA breaks - double- or single-strand (DSBs or SSBs, respectively) – but converge on key points in the cascade (**Figure 1.1**).

DSBs are primarily detected by the DNA damage kinase ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM), or by DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), both members of the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase-like protein kinase (PIKK) family (Ciccia and Elledge, 2010). The MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 (MRN) complex, which is responsible for tethering DNA ends during repair, binds to DSBs and recruits ATM to the damage site (Mirzoeva and Petrini, 2001; Dupre;Boyer-Chatenet and Gautier, 2006). ATM then undergoes autophosphorylation (Bakkenist and Kastan, 2003), which activates ATM kinase activity and in turn phosphorylates the histone variant H2AX at serine 139, producing yH2AX (Burma et al., 2001). yH2AX is recognised by mediator of DNA damage checkpoint 1

(MDC1) (Savic *et al.*, 2009), which triggers further activation of the MRN complex and ATM (Lieber, 2010; Lavin *et al.*, 2015) forming a positive feedback loop of ATM activity and γ H2AX formation. γ H2AX mediates the recruitment of chromatin remodelling proteins which help relax the chromatin to allow access for DDR proteins (Nakamura *et al.*, 2010). MDC1 also recruits additional DDR proteins such as p53 binding protein 1 (53BP1) to the damage site (Eliezer *et al.*, 2009). Sites of DNA damage can be identified by the accumulation of such DDR factors which localise at the point of damage, including γ H2AX, 53BP1 or ATM (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Jackson and Bartek, 2009).

The checkpoint kinase Chk2 activates in response to ATM phosphorylation, stimulating its translocation to the nucleus (Buscemi et al., 2004; Bekker-Jensen et al., 2006) where along with ATM it promotes the dissociation of the transcriptional regulator p53 from its negative regulator HDM2 (Turenne et al., 2001). p53 is also a major regulator in determining cell fate, and is thought to be an important communicator between senescent and apoptotic pathways (Seluanov et al., 2001; Jackson and Pereira-Smith, 2006). This stabilisation of p53 allows it to promote transcription of the CDK inhibitor p21 (Jackson and Pereira-Smith, 2006), which blocks the apoptotic signalling cascade in the cytoplasm and is essential for cell-cycle arrest (Dutto et al., 2015). p21 can induce cell cycle arrest by one of two pathways; i) inhibition of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) (Cayrol;Knibiehler and Ducommun, 1998), or ii) inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase CDK-1, -2, and -4/6 complexes. Inhibition of these CDK complexes results in hypophosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein (Rb) and reinforcement of its inhibitory binding to E2F1, culminating in cell cycle arrest (Brugarolas et al., 1999; Georgakilas; Martin and Bonner, 2017). This p53-p21 signalling pathway is essential for senescent growth arrest (Di Leonardo *et al.*, 1994).

In addition to p53 stabilisation, Chk2 induces the degradation of cell-division cycle 25 (CDC25) phosphatase, which contributes to cell-cycle arrest by preventing G1-S phase transition (Mailand *et al.*, 2000).

Recognition of DSBs by DNA-PK activates non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) repair pathways. DNA-PK is recruited to DNA damage sites in combination with the endonuclease Artemis, and undergoes autophosphorylation upon binding with Artemis.

This activated Artemis-DNA-PK complex is able to remove DNA overhangs to create end structures which can be repaired by NHEJ ligase complexes (Chang *et al.*, 2017).

DSBs also stimulate the activity of the CDK inhibitor p16, which provides a second barrier to proliferation of damaged cells. p16 is a positive regulator of the pRb tumour suppressor pathway and can induce cell-cycle arrest in a similar manner to p21, by inhibiting CDK4/6 activity, preventing Rb phosphorylation and promoting its continued inhibition by the E2F1 transcription factor (Beausejour *et al.*, 2003). By preventing translocation of pRb to the nucleus, p16 activity prevents the transcription of key target genes involved in the transition from G1 to S phase (Rayess;Wang and Srivatsan, 2012). p16-pRb signalling is also essential for formation of senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF), which are known to silence proliferation genes, though once established these SAHFs do not require either p16 or pRb for maintenance (Narita *et al.*, 2003).

SSBs are recognised by the DNA damage kinase ATR (d'Adda di Fagagna, 2008) which recruits the Chk1 kinase (Wang *et al.*, 2006). Like Chk2, Chk1 also phosphorylates and causes degradation of CDC52, promoting cell cycle arrest (Furnari;Rhind and Russell, 1997; Mailand *et al.*, 2000). Both DSBs and SSBs also activate PARP1 and 2, which are essential for the recruitment of additional DNA repair proteins (Haince *et al.*, 2008).

DNA damage checkpoints, p53-p21, and p16-pRb signalling pathways maintain cell cycle arrest until the damage can be repaired. As senescent cells are often at a point of severe – but sub-apoptotic - accumulated damage, this arrest becomes permanent along with a persistent DDR as the damage cannot be repaired. This is especially the case in replicative senescence, which is caused by telomere attrition, as telomeres are inaccessible to DNA repair machinery and so the DDR stimulated by this form of 'damage' is persistent (Galbiati;Beausejour and d'Adda di Fagagna, 2017). Indeed, a persistent DDR is one of the core requirements of a senescent phenotype (Fumagalli *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 1.1: Overview of the DNA damage response. Many senescence-inducing stimuli such as telomere attrition, oxidative stress and genotoxic chemicals can cause DNA damage and trigger a DDR. Recruitment of the ATM and ATR kinases to sites of DNA damage leads to nuclear translocation of the Chk1 & 2 kinases, which phosphorylate and trigger degradation of CDC25 to promote cell-cycle arrest. ATM stimulates p53/p21 signalling and subsequent prevention of pRb phosphorylation though inhibition of key cyclin-dependent kinases, as well as formation of γ H2AX in a self-sustaining loop with MDC1/MRN Complex activation which can be used to identify DNA damage foci. DSBs are also recognised by DNA-PK which promotes non-homologous end joining repair processes, and p16/pRb signalling pathways that further stimulate cell-cycle arrest through CDK inhibition and prevention of pRb phosphorylation.

1.2.1.2 mTOR

mTOR is a serine/threonine protein kinase and member of the PIKK family that functions as a sensor of nutrient and growth factor availability and regulates cellular responses such as proliferation, apoptosis and inflammation as required. Activation of mTOR can be triggered by changes in amino acid, oxygen, or lipid availability, or by an increase in the AMP (or ADP)/ATP ratio (Jewell;Russell and Guan, 2013). mTOR is formed of two primary complexes - mTORC1 and mTORC2. mTORC1 has been identified as a major regulator of mitochondrial functions including biogenesis (Cunningham *et al.*, 2007) and metabolism (Schieke *et al.*, 2006), and is formed of three core subunits: mTOR, regulatory protein associated with mTOR (Raptor), and mammalian lethal with Sec13 protein 8 (mLST8) (Kim *et al.*, 2002; Kim *et al.*, 2003). By comparison, mTORC2 is insensitive to rapamycin treatment and contains rapamycin insensitive companion of mTOR (Rictor) in place of Raptor (Jacinto *et al.*, 2004). mTORC1 plays a central role in regulating cell growth and division, including promoting protein synthesis, glucose metabolism, and protein turnover.

By phosphorylating S6K1 and 4EBP, mTORC1 both stimulates mRNA translation via S6K1 substrate activation (Holz *et al.*, 2005), and prevents 4EBP inhibitory effects by promoting its dissociation from eIF4E to allow translation to occur (Gingras *et al.*, 1999). mTORC1 has also been found to elevate glycolysis through HIF-1 α stimulation (Duvel *et al.*, 2010) and downregulate OXPHOS, promote nucleotide synthesis required for DNA replication (Ben-Sahra *et al.*, 2013; Ben-Sahra *et al.*, 2016), and inhibit autophagy by both TFEB translocation inhibition (Martina *et al.*, 2012) and preventing early stage AMPK activation in the autophagic process (Kim *et al.*, 2011). It is clear from these observations that the mTOR pathway is a major regulator of cellular metabolism, and its manipulation has been a favoured target of the ageing field for many years.

mTORC1 is an important mediator of ageing (Johnson;Rabinovitch and Kaeberlein, 2013), and its dysregulation has been found in metabolic diseases such as diabetes and obesity (Khamzina *et al.*, 2005; Fraenkel *et al.*, 2008) which are common comorbidities for other age-related diseases. To date the only treatment identified which has been capable of extending lifespan in all tested models is rapamycin inhibition of mTORC1 (Harrison *et al.*, 2009; Lamming *et al.*, 2013). Rapamycin treatment has shown success as a longevity-

promoting drug in fruit flies (Kapahi *et al.*, 2004), worms (Vellai *et al.*, 2003), yeast (Kaeberlein *et al.*, 2005) and mice (Hurez *et al.*, 2015; Johnson *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, rapamycin has shown promise in improving immune response (Mannick *et al.*, 2014), alleviating frailty (Xue *et al.*, 2016) and age-related diseases such as diabetes (Zhou and Ye, 2018), osteoarthritis (Carames *et al.*, 2012), and Alzheimer's disease pathology (Siman;Cocca and Dong, 2015; Lin *et al.*, 2017). There are numerous pathways through which mTORC1 inhibition can produce these beneficial effects. Increased autophagy may promote clearance of dysfunctional mitochondria (Vellai *et al.*, 2003), and a reduction in mRNA translation may slow the accumulation of misfolded proteins and proteotoxic stress.

mTORC1 has also been implicated in the development of cellular senescence (Herranz *et al.*, 2015; Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). Indeed, many senescent cell models exhibit elevated mTORC1 activity, and mTORC1 is known to negatively regulate parts of the DNA damage repair pathway (Dominick *et al.*, 2017). Mice treated with rapamycin also develop age-related pathologies at a slower rate (Wilkinson *et al.*, 2012). mTORC1 is thought to be a major driver of the metabolic changes observed in senescent cells (Weichhart, 2018). Treatment with rapamycin has been shown to successfully inhibit SASP development both by activating the RNA-binding protein ZFP36L1 to promote its degradation of SASP components (Herranz *et al.*, 2015), and by suppressing translation of IL-1A and subsequently preventing transcription of pro-inflammatory NFκB-regulated genes (Laberge *et al.*, 2015).

1.2.1.3 AMPK

AMPK is another important mediator of senescent signalling, and its activation has been linked to lifespan extension in *c. elegans* (Mair *et al.*, 2011), and *Drosophila melanogaster* (Funakoshi *et al.*, 2011), but not in mice (Viollet *et al.*, 2003). AMPK is an important energy sensor that monitors AMP/ATP and ADP/ATP ratios within the cell, and is often referred to as a 'starvation pathway' that responds to conditions of energetic deficit (Greer and Brunet, 2009; Hardie and Ashford, 2014). Increases in these ratios as a result of cellular stresses activates AMPK, which in turn promotes ATP-producing pathways such as glycolysis, mitochondrial biogenesis and autophagy (Zong *et al.*, 2002; Kim *et al.*, 2011), and inhibits ATP-consuming processes such as fatty acid and protein synthesis, largely by

inhibiting mTORC1 signalling, in an attempt to restore energy homeostasis (Inoki;Zhu and Guan, 2003; Gwinn *et al.*, 2008).

The observed 'glycolytic state' of senescent cells is achieved by the diversion of pyruvate away from oxidative phosphorylation and towards aerobic glycolysis. This results from a promotion of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity and inhibition of pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) and the malate-aspartate shuttle (MDH1 and MDH2) (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003; Wiley and Campisi, 2016). The resulting decrease in cytosolic NAD+/NADH ratio and concomitant increase in the ADP/ATP ratio activates AMPK (Wiley *et al.*, 2016). Activation of PARP1 during the DDR exacerbates this decrease in NAD+/NADH ratio as PARP1 activity consumes NAD+ (Du *et al.*, 2003). AMPK then phosphorylates p53, promoting its stabilisation and triggering growth arrest, senescence induction and production of a SASP (Peyton *et al.*, 2012; Nacarelli *et al.*, 2019).

In addition to upregulation of p53 activity, AMPK also increases p16 expression by inhibiting the p16 destabilizer human antigen R (HuR), and inhibits cell proliferation by preventing phosphorylation of the Rb protein and downregulating the activity of genes involved in cell proliferation such as cyclin A, cyclin B1, and cyclin E (Peyton *et al.*, 2012). AMPK is also a key inhibitor of mTORC1 activity by inactivating the upstream activator of mTORC1, Rheb (Inoki;Zhu and Guan, 2003), and phosphorylating the Raptor subunit of mTORC1 (Gwinn *et al.*, 2008).

AMPK activation also has significant implications for mitochondrial function, and can promote mitochondrial fission by stimulating Drp recruitment to the mitochondria (Toyama *et al.*, 2016), as well as upregulating mitochondria biogenesis by direct phosphorylation of PGC-1 α (Jager *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, in mitochondrial dysfunction-associated senescence (MiDAS; discussed in the next section), AMPK activation has also been found to inhibit the IL-1 arm of the SASP through p53-mediated signalling (Wiley *et al.*, 2016).

1.2.2 Types of senescence

Senescence can be triggered by a range of cellular stresses, including telomere attrition, genotoxic stress, oncogene activation, and mitochondrial dysfunction. While these

different stimuli produce mostly overlapping phenotypes, there can be some stimulispecific variations.

1.2.2.1 Replicative senescence

Replicative senescence was the first form of cellular senescence to be identified, when Hayflick and Moorhead demonstrated the limit of replicative capacity of cells in culture (Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961). This form of senescence results from the progressive shortening of telomere length with continued proliferation (Harley; Futcher and Greider, 1990), eventually reaching what is referred to as the 'Hayflick limit' at which point replicative senescence is initiated. Telomeres are unique chromatin structures formed of repetitive DNA (5'-TTAGGG-3' in vertebrates) and protective proteins (Blackburn, 1991) that prevent chromosome ends from being recognised as DNA strand breaks by DNA repair pathways, such as non-homologous end joining or recombination repair(d'Adda di Fagagna; Teo and Jackson, 2004). Telomeres are inaccessible to DNA repair machinery as components of the bound shelterin complex such as TRF2 inhibit the 'repair' of telomeres by inhibiting NHEJ (Bae and Baumann, 2007). However, during cell division DNA polymerase is unable to fully replicate these telomeric ends, and as such telomeres shorten slightly with each division until they reach a critical length (Harley;Futcher and Greider, 1990). At this point their protective capping structures are lost, triggering a DDR (d'Adda di Fagagna et al., 2003). This means that the 'damage' cannot be repaired and results in a persistent DDR and induction of replicative senescence. Only a few short telomeres are sufficient to trigger a DDR and senescence (Hemann *et al.*, 2001).

The role of telomere shortening in senescence was confirmed by forced expression of telomerase, which prevented senescence and allowed cells to continually proliferate (Bodnar *et al.*, 1998). Telomere attrition has also been identified as an indicator of age-related disease risk, and a correlation discovered between telomere length and metabolic and cardiac disease outcome (Benetos *et al.*, 2013; D'Mello *et al.*, 2015). In addition to chronic telomere attrition during cell division, telomeric DNA is particularly susceptible to oxidative damage from ROS production (von Zglinicki, 2002; Reichert and Stier, 2017), and the formation of DNA damage foci (DDFs) at telomeres is a reliable marker of senescence (Takai;Smogorzewska and de Lange, 2003).

1.2.2.2 Oncogene-induced senescence

Cellular senescence was also found to be induced by aberrant oncogene signalling when an oncogenic form of RAS, a transducer of mitogenic signals, was expressed in normal human fibroblasts (Serrano et al 1997). This has since been corroborated by expression of other oncogenic proteins involved in cell growth and tumour suppression, such as BRAF (Michaloglou et al., 2005), E2F (Lazzerini Denchi et al., 2005), PTEN and p53 (Chen et al., 2005). This oncogene-induced senescence (OIS) exhibits a similar phenotype to most other forms of senescence, demonstrating high p16 levels (Ohtani et al., 2001), SAHF formation (Zhang et al., 2005), and a persistent DDR (Di Micco et al., 2006), but not all cells undergo OIS (Benanti and Galloway, 2004; Skinner et al., 2004). In contrast to other forms of senescence, OIS is also often characterised by an initial hyperproliferative phase and associated DNA replication alterations. This results in recruitment of a DDR and eventual growth arrest (Di Micco et al., 2006). In addition, oncogenic RAS has been shown to induce an amplified SASP in comparison to other forms of senescence (Coppe et al., 2008). OIS is also thought to be triggered by excessive mitogenic stimulation (Lin et al., 1998; Mathon et al., 2001), supported by the observation that cells relieved of mitogenic pressure by culture in serum-free medium do not undergo oncogene-induced senescence (Woo and Poon, 2004).

Despite the tumour-suppressive role of cellular senescence, the telomerase-dependent extension of cell replication does not also promote malignant transformation, demonstrating a key difference between immortalised and tumorigenic cells (Morales *et al.*, 1999).

1.2.2.3 Stress-induced senescence

Some cells are also able to undergo senescence without telomere shortening, but instead as a result of stress or damage. This stress-induced senescence primarily involves elevated p16 expression and pRb signalling pathways in response to DNA damage (Parrinello *et al.*, 2003). In addition to replicative senescence as a result of telomere attrition, DNA damage can also induce senescence a) at sites other than telomeres, and b) at telomeres that are not critically shortened (Di Leonardo *et al.*, 1994). Such damage can be caused by ionising radiation, oxidative stress (Parrinello *et al.*, 2003), or genotoxic chemicals such as

chemotherapeutic drug treatments (Roninson, 2003). Such DNA-damaging agents cause accumulation of senescent cells in young animals (Le *et al.*, 2010; Shao *et al.*, 2014).

Additionally, studies have triggered stress-induced senescence by upregulation of key SASP factors IFNβ and TGFβ. While IGFβ signalling caused elevated ROS production and induction of a p53-dependent DDR (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2006), TGFβ signalling resulted in activation of the p16-pRb pathway and formation of heterochromatin foci (Vijayachandra;Lee and Glick, 2003; Zhang and Cohen, 2004), further demonstrating a link between pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and senescence induction (Nelson *et al.*, 2012). IFNβ has also been shown to induce translocation of the transcription factor STAT3 to the mitochondria, downregulating the activities of mitochondrial respiratory complexes I and II (Cannino *et al.*, 2012), which are discussed in detail later. Similarly, TGFβ is able to induce mitochondrial ROS production, and its inhibition prevents both ROS production and DDR induction (Passos *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2.4 Mitochondrial dysfunction-associated senescence (MiDAS)

Mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular senescence are strongly interlinked, and has each been shown to promote the other (Wiley *et al.*, 2016; Nelson *et al.*, 2018). Senescent cells exhibit changes in mitochondrial morphology and function, while mitochondrial dysfunction is a known cause of oxidative stress and senescence induction. Interestingly, however, senescence induced by mitochondrial dysfunction has been shown to exhibit a unique SASP, which lacks the pro-inflammatory IL-1 arm of the phenotype (Wiley *et al.*, 2016). This MiDAS phenotype comprised loss of LaminB1 protein, decreased NAD+/NADH ratio and elevated AMPK activation, along with increased p53 signalling, but reduced NFĸB activity and lack of IL-1-dependent secretome.

Mitochondrial SIRTs are able to suppress senescence, and inhibition of SIRT3 specifically induced senescence with a distinct secretory phenotype lacking SASP factors including IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8. From this, Wiley and colleagues suggested that mitochondrial function is required for expression of a specific subset of pro-inflammatory cytokines. This was supported by similar observations in cells subjected to mtDNA depletion, treatment with CI inhibitor rotenone, or depletion of the mitochondrial chaperone HSPA9. All treatments induced mitochondrial dysfunction, and triggered a senescent phenotype with a distinct secretory phenotype compared to other forms of senescence.

MiDAS also appears to be independent of DNA damage and ROS production as the phenotype is reversible in the presence of pyruvate, but not antioxidants. Mitochondrial dysfunction can reduce the NAD+/NADH ratio, and NAD+ levels are also known to decrease with age (Braidy *et al.*, 2011). Indeed, data subsequently demonstrated that this low NAD+/NADH ratio, primarily driven by accumulation of cytosolic NADH, can drive MiDAS through activation of AMPK and subsequent p53 activation. This increased p53 activity can suppress NFκB signalling and is thus the likely cause of the absent IL-1-dependent SASP arm.

1.2.3 Markers of cellular senescence

The senescent phenotype is characterised by increased levels of DNA damage (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Rodier *et al.*, 2009), reactive oxygen species production (Passos *et al.*, 2010), and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines known as the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (Acosta *et al.*, 2008). ROS production and SASP are discussed in detail later, but here I will cover the common biomarkers present in cellular senescence. Though it is important to note that none of these markers are exclusive to senescence, meaning that in practice multiple markers must be used to accurately identify the presence of senescent cells.

Double-strand DNA breaks occur more frequently with age and in cellular senescence. These breaks are detected by sensor kinases (ATM/ATR, DNA-PK) which trigger a DNA damage response, and lead to cell-cycle arrest through activation of p53 and p21 signalling (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003). DNA damage foci identified by expression of γ H2A.X are known to increase with age, and foci which colocalize at the telomeres (telomere-associated foci, or TAFs) are persistent and difficult to repair as previously discussed (Hewitt *et al.*, 2012). As such, any double-strand breaks located within telomeres cannot be repaired and may continuously stimulate DNA damage response pathways leading to senescence induction (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Jurk *et al.*, 2014).

Increased activity of β -galacosidase (Dimri *et al.*, 1995) arises in response to elevated lysosomal activity in senescent cells (Kurz *et al.*, 2000). As such histochemical staining for

this senescence-associated β -galactosidase (SA- β -Gal) can be used as a robust markers of cellular senescence (Lee *et al.*, 2006).

The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21 (Fang *et al.*, 1999) and p16 (Takahashi *et al.*, 2006) are also common biomarkers of senescent cells, as major regulators of the DDR. Indeed, p16^{INK4a}-positive cells accumulate with age and negatively influence lifespan in mice and preferential elimination of such cells delays age-related pathologies in a progeroid mouse model with BubR1 insufficiency (Baker *et al.*, 2011). Mice without p16 are also prone to tumour formation, further supporting its role in tumour suppression (Serrano *et al.*, 1997).

Senescent cells also exhibit larger cell volume (Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961), nuclear size (Swanson *et al.*, 2013) and chromatin alterations (Adams, 2009) in the form of senescence associated heterochromatin foci (SAHFs) (Narita *et al.*, 2003). Changes in nuclear architecture can impact wide-ranging functions which rely on nuclear size, including cell cycle progression (Roca-Cusachs *et al.*, 2008) and transcription (Jorgensen *et al.*, 2007). Studies suggest that nuclear size is dependent on chromatin architecture (Funayama *et al.*, 2006), cytoplasmic volume (Jorgensen *et al.*, 2007), and factors which regulate nuclear structure such as lamin B protein (Liu *et al.*, 2000; Hoffmann *et al.*, 2002; Freund *et al.*, 2012). Many of these determining factors undergo changes during cellular senescence, culminating in nuclear enlargement.

Global loss of heterochromatin has been reported in worms (Haithcock *et al.*, 2005), flies (Brandt;Krohne and Grosshans, 2008), and humans with age (Scaffidi and Misteli, 2005), and studies have even suggested that alterations to heterochromatin structure could be a driver of ageing (Zhang *et al.*, 2015b). SAHFs can be identified by preferential staining of foci with DAPI, and have been found to both silence genes responsible for proliferation and restrain DDR signalling (Narita *et al.*, 2003). This is thought to be a pro-survival mechanism as chromatin relaxation by HDAC inhibitor treatment enhances the DDR, eventually resulting in cell death (Di Micco *et al.*, 2011). However, contradictory findings have also shown that histone deacetylase inhibition (HDAi) can induce senescence (Ogryzko *et al.*, 1996; Munro *et al.*, 2004), despite promoting the formation of active (euchromatin) over silent (heterochromatin) genes. This seemingly conflicting

relationship between chromatin alterations and senescence induction may be a result of differing gene expression or cell-type specific effects.

Cytosolic chromatin fragments (CCFs) can also be released into the cytoplasm of senescent cells as a result of nuclear lamina loss (Ivanov *et al.*, 2013), and these CCFs can trigger activation of the cGAS-STING pathway, along with further immune response and SASP induction (Gluck *et al.*, 2017). Absence of DNA replication in senescent cells can be determined by absence of the proliferation marker Ki67, though this can also be applied to quiescent or post-mitotic cells.

Senescent cells are arrested in the G1 phase of the cell cycle (Stein and Dulic, 1995), but nevertheless remain very metabolically active. Despite an increase in mitochondrial mass, senescent cells exhibit a shift towards glycolysis (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003), which is thought to result from a failure of autophagy leading to accumulated dysfunctional mitochondria. In support of this, senescent cells exhibit mild uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation and increased proton leak, which may be induced by oxidative stress (Stadlmann *et al.*, 2002). While senescent cells tend to be more glycolytic than proliferating cells, mitochondrial respiration is still enhanced due to the increase in mitochondrial content that accompanies expanding cell size, and exhibit higher ATP production (Dorr *et al.*, 2013). This increase in mitochondrial respiration allows cells to compensate for the greater proton leak caused by functional deterioration of mitochondria with advancing cell age (Hutter et al 2004).

1.2.4 Senescence Associated Secretory Phenotype (SASP)

Senescent cells develop a pro-inflammatory secretory phenotype with numerous roles in maintaining senescence, promoting immune signalling and targeted clearance of senescent cells, and eventually tumour progression. This SASP has been linked to the high metabolic rate observed in senescent cells, though whether it is a cause or consequence is still unclear (Wiley and Campisi, 2016). Nevertheless, studies have demonstrated a possible role for metabolic reprogramming of senescent cells in regulating pro-inflammatory immune responses (Van den Bossche;O'Neill and Menon, 2017). A persistent DDR is required to initiate pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (Rodier *et al.*, 2009) and evidence suggests that components of the DDR influence SASP production

through both positive (Freund;Patil and Campisi, 2011; Kang *et al.*, 2015) and negative (Rodier *et al.*, 2009) regulatory roles. Interestingly, however, cells induced to senesce by overexpression of p16^{INK4a} do not express a SASP, despite other hallmarks of senescence (Coppe *et al.*, 2010).

The SASP is primarily made up of cytokines, chemokines and growth factors that produce a pro-inflammatory environment and are involved in cell signalling and phenotype maintenance. Though SASP composition can vary between senescent stimuli and cell type, there are a number of common factors across most senescent phenotypes. IL-6 is the most common cytokine secreted in multiple SASP models, and has been linked to activation of a persistent DDR (Coppe *et al.*, 2008; Kojima *et al.*, 2013). IL-1 α and IL-1 β are both involved in paracrine signalling, triggering NFkB activation in neighbouring cells through interaction with corresponding cell surface receptors. IL-1 α is also an upstream regulator of other SASP factors including IL-6 and IL-8 (Orjalo et al., 2009), while IL-1β is known to induce p16 activity (Philipot et al., 2014). Other common SASP factors include chemokines such as IL-8 and GRO α/β , IGF-binding proteins, colony-stimulating factors, matrix metalloproteinases, and extracellular insoluble molecules such as fibronectin. These pro-inflammatory SASP factors have wide-ranging roles in regulating cell survival, immune cell recruitment, cell growth and differentiation. By comparison, antiinflammatory cytokine expression remains relatively unaffected by a senescent phenotype (Coppe et al., 2010).

The SASP has both autocrine and paracrine effects, and is known to maintain the senescent phenotype and stimulate senescence in neighbouring healthy cells. SASP factors including IL-6 and IL-8 reinforce the senescent phenotype in an autocrine manner (Acosta *et al.*, 2008), while the TGF-β family, VEGF and chemokines CCL2 and CCL20 are able to interact with cell-surface receptors of nearby healthy cells to trigger specific responses and senescence-associated pathways including the DDR (Acosta *et al.*, 2013). Exposure to senescent cells over time has been found to induce senescence in nearby intact cells (Nelson *et al.*, 2012). It is thought that this senescent bystander effect is mediated by ROS-dependent NFκB signalling, resulting from senescence-associated mitochondrial dysfunction (SAMD; discussed in further detail in section 1.5.2.1) (Nelson *et al.*, 2018).

A key role of the SASP with age lies in its proposed ability to signal the immune system and target senescent cells for clearance. Studies have demonstrated an upregulation in both chemoattractant SASP factors and innate immune cells following p53 activation in liver tumours. Their role in cell clearance was confirmed when treatments that interfered with immune cell function prevented tumour clearance (Xue *et al.*, 2007). In addition, liver fibrosis has been reduced by senescence-mediated immune clearance of activated hepatic stellate cells, which was impaired in *p53^{-/-}* mice (Krizhanovsky *et al.*, 2008). Studies have suggested that this system may falter with age and allow chronic inflammation to develop (Ovadya *et al.*, 2018; Karin *et al.*, 2019). NFkB is a major transcriptional regulator of the SASP, and improved lifespan and healthspan observed following its inhibition show that the SASP may have an integral role in the ageing process and disease (Osorio *et al.*, 2012). This is supported by further studies which have shown improved lifespan through inhibition of other modulators of SASP, including mTOR and the JAK pathway (Laberge *et al.*, 2015) (Xu *et al.*, 2015).

Conversely, SASP is also implicated in chronic inflammatory diseases that occur with age. Elevated levels of pro-inflammatory SASP factors IL-6 and IL-8 have been observed in models of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Birch *et al.*, 2015) and shortened telomere length has been linked to higher inflammatory cytokine expression (Amsellem *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, IL-6 secretion has been identified as a key predictor of osteoarthritis (Livshits *et al.*, 2009), and transplantation of senescent cells into the knee joints of mice caused an immune-mediated chronic inflammation and exacerbated an osteoarthritis-like phenotype (Xu *et al.*, 2017). Later studies found that this inflammatory disease burden could be alleviated by treatment with senolytic drugs (Xu *et al.*, 2018).

Alongside the SASP's numerous roles in ageing, immune signalling and cellular senescence, studies have also demonstrated a pro-tumorigenic capacity for the phenotype. The SASP can produce favourable conditions for malignant cell survival and proliferation (Coppe *et al.*, 2010; Zacarias-Fluck *et al.*, 2015; Ortiz-Montero;Londono-Vallejo and Vernot, 2017), as well as stimulating cancerous cell phenotypes through paracrine signalling pathways (Bavik *et al.*, 2006; Coppe *et al.*, 2008). Senescent cells have been shown to stimulate growth of malignant and premalignant cells irrespective of

senescent stimulus, and is at least partially caused by secretion of pro-inflammatory SASP factors (Krtolica *et al.*, 2001; Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013).

1.2.5 Senescence in wound healing

Despite the wealth of literature demonstrating the influence of senescent cells in ageing and disease, the phenotype also has important beneficial roles, particularly during development and wound healing. In fact, senescent cells have been linked to limb regeneration in both salamander and zebrafish models (Yun;Davaapil and Brockes, 2015; Da Silva-Alvarez *et al.*, 2020). Senescent cells are also present following cutaneous injury, and assist in the clearance of excess tissue fibrosis by targeted stimulation of enzyme production and immune clearance of affected cells (Jun and Lau, 2010). Similar findings were also observed in which Ccn1 expression both stimulated senescence and limited fibrosis in a model of cardiac injury (Meyer *et al.*, 2016). Wound healing is also accompanied by a dramatic increase in p16^{INK4a} activation which resolves over 2-3 weeks, and is thought to represent immune clearance of the healing-associated senescent cells (Jun and Lau, 2010; Hoenicke and Zender, 2012; Demaria *et al.*, 2014).

The concept of immune clearance of senescent cells at sites of damage is supported by the presence of SASP factors and activation of NFkB following injury (Demaria *et al.*, 2014). Many SASP factors are able to recruit immune cells (Coppe *et al.*, 2010; Kang *et al.*, 2011b) to promote clearance of the affected cells, suggesting that this immunosurveillance is key to wound healing. Indeed clearance of p16^{INK4a}-positive cells delays the wound healing process (Baker *et al.*, 2016) supporting a role for senescent cells, but wound healing can still progress in animals deficient for p16^{INK4a} suggesting that it is not p16 itself that is responsible for regulating this process (Demaria *et al.*, 2014). For example, the SASP factor PDGF-AA is known to accelerate wound closure (Demaria *et al.*, 2014). Noticeably, clearance of senescent cells at wound sites declines with age suggesting an age-dependent dysfunction of the immune response (Karin *et al.*, 2019).

Perhaps counterintuitively, senescent cells are also known to affect the proliferative potential of stem and progenitor cells which, in the case of muscle progenitor cells, can prohibit muscle regeneration after injury (Sousa-Victor *et al.*, 2015). Another contrasting observation of senescent cells in wound healing is demonstrated in chronic non-healing
wounds, in which the presence of senescent fibroblasts in ulcers has been associated with slower healing (Stanley and Osler, 2001), and the excessive immune response characteristic of chronic wound pathology may be a result of pro-inflammatory SASP secretion (Coppe *et al.*, 2008).

1.2.6 Senescence as a tumour suppressor mechanism

Before senescence was linked to ageing, its major role was thought to be in the prevention of tumour development (Chen *et al.*, 2005; Lazzerini Denchi *et al.*, 2005; Braig and Schmitt, 2006). Oncogene-induced senescence in particular provides much of the evidence for senescent growth arrest as a response to oncogenic mutations and pre-malignant cells. Growth arrest of such cells prevents the proliferation of damaged cells and division of daughter cells with accumulated dysfunction or mutation (Serrano *et al.*, 1997; Braig and Schmitt, 2006). Cancer incidence in mice is known to increase with reduced *p16INK4a* copy number (Donehower *et al.*, 1992; Sharpless *et al.*, 2001) and decrease with additional copies (Matheu *et al.*, 2004), demonstrating a significant influence of senescent cell signalling pathways on tumour formation. Moreover, loss of p16^{INK4a} or p53 function are two of the most common mutation in many cancers, emphasising their beneficial roles as tumour-suppressors (Kandoth *et al.*, 2013). Interestingly, despite the role of p53 in proapoptotic signalling, it is its senescent signalling role that is most important in suppressing tumour formation (Brady *et al.*, 2011).

An increase in senescent markers was observed in studies of primary melanocytes subjected to overexpression of BRAF^{V600E}, demonstrating that in cells experiencing oncogenic activity a concurrent increase in senescent phenotype occurred (Peeper *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, in biopsies of melanocytic nevi a similar increase in SA- β -Gal activity and negligible proliferation markers was found (Michaloglou *et al.*, 2005). In studies by Chen et al (2005), the role of senescence in preventing PTEN-impaired prostate hyperplastic lesions was confirmed in a conditional *PTEN*-deficient mouse model. Senescence development was induced by *PTEN* inactivation and eventually led to prostate cancer development over time, but on additional inactivation of *p53* prostate cancer development was both fast and aggressive, demonstrating the importance of p53-dependent senescence in preventing tumorigenesis (Chen *et al.*, 2005).

Tumour suppression is also supported by the interaction between senescent cells and the immune system. Immune surveillance and targeted clearance of senescent cells via SASP signalling promotes the removal of premalignant cells (Xue *et al.*, 2007; Kang *et al.*, 2011b), as well as limiting aspects of ageing such as accumulated fibrosis (Krizhanovsky *et al.*, 2008; Ovadya *et al.*, 2018). Interestingly, p53 actively restrains SASP production, suggesting that this prevention of an excessively pro-inflammatory and therefore pro-tumorigenic tissue microenvironment may be an additional mechanism by which p53 suppresses tumorigenesis (Coppe *et al.*, 2010). This could also represent another path through which p53 suppression results in malignant transformation and tumour progression.

Paradoxically, many SASP factors are linked to tumour growth and invasion (Di Mitri *et al.*, 2014; Eggert *et al.*, 2016; Lau *et al.*, 2019). This is thought to occur when immunosurveillance is unable to remove the senescent cells and their persistence leads to a chronic SASP with harmful results for the tissue microenvironment.

1.2.7 Senescence in age-related disease

The accumulation of senescent cells with age can contribute to overall tissue dysfunction (Janzen *et al.*, 2006; Molofsky *et al.*, 2006) and development of disease. The stresses associated with disease can in turn trigger greater conversion of cells to senescence, particularly as aged cells are less capable of combating stress and damage. Cellular senescence has been linked to numerous age-related diseases, including heart failure (Chimenti *et al.*, 2003; Schafer *et al.*, 2017), osteoarthritis (Loeser, 2009; Jeon *et al.*, 2017), and diabetes (Minamino *et al.*, 2009), and recent studies have even linked senescence within the central nervous system to Alzheimer's disease (Bhat *et al.*, 2012; Zhang *et al.*, 2019). These conditions have been found to exhibit higher levels of senescent markers, such as p16 expression or telomere shortening when compared to age matched controls. Moreover, clearance of senescent cells specifically has shown promise in prolonging lifespan and alleviating these conditions (Baker *et al.*, 2011; Zhu *et al.*, 2015; Roos *et al.*, 2016).

Cardiac ageing studies have found elevated cell death and hypertrophy of heart tissue with advanced age, along with accumulation of p16^{INK4a}-positive cells with substantial

telomere shortening (Chimenti *et al.*, 2003). The selective clearance of senescent cells has shown success in relieving SASP secretion and slowing progression of osteoarthritis in rat models (Peilin *et al.*, 2019). p53 expression and increased oxidative stress has also been linked to insulin resistance in diabetes, and adipose tissue samples from patients with type 2 diabetes exhibit prominent markers of senescence, including SA- β -Gal activity and proinflammatory cytokine expression (Minamino *et al.*, 2009).

Interestingly, senescent cell accumulation has been found to both promote and prevent aspects of the development of atherosclerosis, in that increased expression of p16^{INK4a}, ARF and p15^{INK4b} has been associated with lower incidence of atherosclerotic vascular disease (Liu *et al.*, 2009b)liu. However, while the anti-proliferative role of senescent cells is favourable for preventing disease development, the pro-inflammatory aspect promotes atherogenesis which is relieved by targeted clearance of p16^{INK4a}-expressing cells (Childs *et al.*, 2016).

The SASP may also play a role in the development of age-related disease, as chronic inflammation is often observed in conditions such as atherosclerosis (Zhou *et al.*, 2006) and cancer (Thangavel *et al.*, 2011). Indeed, increased levels of SASP factors such as IL-6 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor in the blood have been identified as predictors of chronic disease with old age (Fabbri *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, work by Xu et al (2018) demonstrated that transplanting senescent cells into young mice resulted in chronic physical dysfunction that was relieved by senolytic treatment.

1.2.8 Senolytics and senostatics

Many studies have investigated the use of senolytics and senostatics to alleviate the senescent burden *in vivo*. Senolytics are drugs which target senescent cells specifically for clearance and degradation (Zhu *et al.*, 2015), while senostatics are used to relieve harmful aspects of the senescent phenotype without removing the cells completely. Senolytics commonly target pathways which promote cell survival and protect against apoptosis. For example, the combination treatment of tyrosine kinase inhibitor dasatinib and PI3K inhibitor quercetin (D+Q) has been shown to reduce expression of BCL-xL; part of the anti-apoptotic BCL-2 family. D+Q treatment is able to clear senescent cells and improve health span in multiple mouse models of cellular senescence (Xu *et al.*, 2018), and has been

shown to improve vasomotor function and lung function in models of hypercholesterolaemia and pulmonary fibrosis, respectively (Roos *et al.*, 2016; Schafer *et al.*, 2017). Recently, D+Q treatment has also lowered SASP factor secretion and senescent cell burden in a mouse model of age-related intervertebral disc degeneration, improving cell viability and limiting degradation (Novais *et al.*, 2021). More importantly, the first evidence of beneficial D+Q use in humans has been reported in clinical trials in which patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis exhibited improved physical function following a 3 week treatment course (Justice *et al.*, 2019), and a reduction in senescent cell burden and circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines was demonstrated in patients with diabetic kidney disease (Hickson *et al.*, 2019).

Navitoclax is another well-established senolytic which inhibits the BCL-2 family, and promotes release of pro-apoptotic factors (Zhu *et al.*, 2016). Treatment with navitoclax is able to selectively clear senescent cells *in vivo* and has been found to improve the ageing phenotype of haematopoietic and skeletal muscle stems cells in irradiated and aged mice (Chang *et al.*, 2016). Navitoclax-mediated senolysis has also been shown to improve atherosclerosis pathology by reducing plaque burden, number and size, along with a reduction in SA- β -Gal-positive fatty streak burden in the aortic arch (Childs *et al.*, 2016). However, its use in humans is limited by side effects such as thrombocytopenia, resulting from suppression of platelet activation and depletion of intracellular calcium stores (Vogler *et al.*, 2011).

Rapamycin has also been identified as an effective senostatic, and targets the mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) after forming a complex with FKBP12 (Brown *et al.*, 1994; Sabatini *et al.*, 1994; Sabers *et al.*, 1995). This rapamycin-FKBP12 complex inhibits signalling pathways required for cell growth and proliferation (Chung *et al.*, 1992). Studies have demonstrated that treatment with rapamycin is able to extend health span, activate autophagy and improve CI activity (Carames *et al.*, 2012; Miwa *et al.*, 2014). It has also been shown to reduce elevated mitochondrial mass, levels of SASP factor expression, p21 expression, and DNA damage foci in models of senescence (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, in studies of age-related diseases rapamycin treatment has been found to reduce IL-1 β expression and alleviate cartilage degradation in experimental osteoarthritis models *in vivo* (Carames *et al.*, 2012), and relieve insulin resistance and inflammation in

rat models of type 2 diabetes (Zhou and Ye, 2018). Furthermore, rapamycin has shown success in preventing Alzheimer's disease pathology by protecting against tau-induced neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation (Siman;Cocca and Dong, 2015) and improved cognitive and cerebrovascular function in apolipoprotein E ε4 transgenic mice (Lin *et al.*, 2017).

However, dosage and treatment timing with rapamycin are important considerations, with acute rapamycin treatments able to improve insulin sensitivity (Tremblay and Marette, 2001; Krebs *et al.*, 2007), while longer treatment periods have been found to worsen hyperglycemia (Fraenkel *et al.*, 2008) and glucose intolerance (Chang *et al.*, 2009) in mouse models of diabetes. Disruption of mTORC2 has also been found to exacerbate insulin resistance (Lamming *et al.*, 2012). The use of mTOR inhibitors clinically is also limited by their associated side effects (Pallet and Legendre, 2013; Duran *et al.*, 2014), though some reports have found success in clinical trials at low doses (Mannick *et al.*, 2014).

1.3 Mitochondrial function

The mitochondria are essential organelles with roles in cell signalling, differentiation (Hamanaka and Chandel, 2010) and death (Frank *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2004). They are responsible for the majority of NADH and ATP production within the cell, and are involved in Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Baughman *et al.*, 2011; De Stefani *et al.*, 2011) and adaptive signalling responses to cell stress (Chandel *et al.*, 2000). They are also essential for synthesizing iron sulphur clusters needed to produce OXPHOS and DNA repair components and nucleotides (Lill and Muhlenhoff, 2008).

The mitochondrial genome held within the mitochondria encodes 13 proteins, which form the bulk of the electron transport chain (ETC) on the inner membrane of the organelle (Anderson *et al.*, 1981). The ETC oxidizes electron carriers produced by the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and drives ATP production through oxidative phosphorylation. Each of the mitochondria's roles within the cell depend on oxidative phosphorylation in some form, and can therefore be affected by changes in ETC function or impairment of the respiratory complexes.

1.3.1 Oxidative phosphorylation

The electron transport chain comprises five main respiratory complexes (I-V), the ubiquinone pool and cytochrome c, all involved in transporting electrons from donor sites to the final electron acceptor, oxygen, to form water (Figure 1.2). Specific metabolic substrates supply the ETC either via the NAD+/NADH pool to Complex I (NADH dehydrogenase), or directly through Complex II (succinate dehydrogenase). CI-linked substrates are often products of glycolysis (pyruvate) or the TCA cycle (malate/glutamate) and when the ETC is being driven by these CI-linked substrates electron transfer is in the forward direction through CI (Murphy, 2009). CII-linked substrates (succinate) supply electrons directly to the ubiquinone pool via CII, which is the only nuclear-encoded respiratory complex and is directly involved in the TCA cycle (Cecchini, 2003; Sun et al., 2005). Other dehydrogenases can also introduce electrons to the ubiquinone pool, and are important contributors to electron flow, though are not addressed in this study. Such dehydrogenases include the electron transfer flavoprotein: ubiquinone oxidoreductase (ETF:QO) complex which forms a short electron transfer pathway with ETF to carry electrons from multiple mitochondrial dehydrogenases during fatty acid β-oxidation (Ruzicka and Beinert, 1977), and the mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (mGPDH) which forms part of the glycerophosphate (GP) shuttle to deliver electrons from glucose and lipid metabolism to the ubiquinone pool (Mracek; Drahota and Houstek, 2013).

CI accepts electrons from the NAD+/NADH pool in the mitochondrial matrix. Electrons enter through the Flavin mononucleotide (Site I_F) and are transferred through the complex via iron-sulphur (Fe-S) clusters, to the Q-binding site (Site I_Q) where they enter the ubiquinone pool as ubiquinol. From here electrons are carried to complex III (ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase), cytochrome c, and finally complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase), where oxygen acts as the final electron acceptor in the conversion to water by combining with 4 electrons and two protons.

Electron transfer is tightly coupled to proton pumping across the mitochondrial inner membrane into the intermembrane space by complexes I, III and IV. This action creates a proton gradient, producing both a pH and electrical difference across the membrane (mitochondrial membrane potential), which generates the protonmotive force necessary

to drive oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production at Complex V, otherwise known as ATP synthase (Hernansanz-Agustin *et al.*, 2017). Membrane potential is essential for other mitochondrial functions, including protein import and triggering responses to mitochondrial dysfunction (Mitchell, 1961; Neupert and Herrmann, 2007). At CV protons move through the complex, driven by the protonmotive force, and power the conversion of ADP + P_i to ATP.

1.3.1.1 ETC Inhibitors

Each stage of cellular respiration can be analysed by inhibition of individual respiratory complexes and supply of specific substrates. Rotenone is a CI-specific inhibitor that binds to the ubiquinone-binding I_Q site of the complex and supresses CI-linked respiration (**Figure 1.2**). This allows examination of cellular respiration driven by CII-linked substrates alone. The addition of a CIII inhibitor (antimycin A) reveals residual oxygen consumption observed when electron transfer from all major entry points is blocked (**Figure 1.2**). It should be noted that rotenone is a highly toxic compound known to induce a Parkinson-like phenotype in animal models (Cannon *et al.*, 2009), and so its use in researching potential therapeutic options is limited to a proof-of-concept model.

Metformin is an alternate CI inhibitor widely used in the treatment of diabetes (Hostalek;Gwilt and Hildemann, 2015). Though multiple mechanisms of action have been proposed, numerous studies have shown that metformin is able to block CI-linked respiration *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Bridges *et al.*, 2014; Janzer *et al.*, 2014; Wheaton *et al.*, 2014). Its specific binding site is debated in the literature, though has been shown to interact with both site I_Q and site I_F (Bridges *et al.*, 2014), providing a possible alternative mode of CI inhibition for examination. Its well-established safety profile makes it an interesting avenue of investigation for many diseases, particularly those with a causal link to mitochondrial or CI function specifically.

By inhibiting CII activity with malonate (Ralph *et al.*, 2011) it is possible to dissect ETC function when driven solely by CI-linked substrates. Malonate competes with succinate binding to the complex, preventing entry of electrons into the quinone pool at this point in the ETC (Dervartanian and Veeger, 1964).

Antimycin A and myxothiazol are both efficient inhibitors of CIII, though bind at different sites of the complex. Antimycin A occupies the inner ubiquinone-binding site (III_{Qi}) of CIII, while myxothiazol blocks the outer ubiquinone-binding site (III_{Qo}) (**Figure 1.2**). Inhibition of the III_{Qi} site prevents flow of electrons and halts them at the semiquinone occupying site III_{Qo} (Murphy, 2009). This can lead to a build up of electrons and subsequent overreduction of the ubiquinone pool, resulting in additional electron leak and formation of superoxide. Inhibition of the III_{Qo} site by myxothiazol can suppress this superoxide production (discussed in further detail in section 1.4).

Both potassium cyanide (Jensen *et al.*, 1984) and sodium azide (Bennett *et al.*, 1996; Leary *et al.*, 2002) are well-established CIV inhibitors, though literature has more recently suggested that azide may have additional inhibitory effects on CV (Hong and Pedersen, 2008). While cyanide inhibition is reversible in the presence of pyruvate (Nuskova *et al.*, 2010), chronic treatment with sodium azide has been shown to cause irreversible loss of CIV activity (Leary *et al.*, 2002). By providing cells with the artificial electron donors ascorbate and TMPD, which reduce cytochrome c, and inhibiting CIII activity, it is possibly to examine CIV activity specifically (Pesta and Gnaiger, 2012).

Inhibition of CV by oligomycin (Hong and Pedersen, 2008) reveals the nonphosphorylating portion of oxygen consumption, which represents intrinsic uncoupled respiration and compensation for proton leak across the membrane.

Uncoupling of respiration by FCCP titration allows us to assess the maximum capacity of the ETC for oxygen consumption. This collapses the electrochemical proton potential across the inner membrane and relieves pressure on the proton pumps CI, III and IV, allowing maximum electron flow in the non-coupled state (Pesta and Gnaiger, 2012). Maximum respiratory capacity per cell is known to increase with cell size and in senescent fibroblasts, though when corrected for citrate synthase activity or mitochondrial content no significant difference is apparent, suggesting increased respiratory capacity is a result of increased mitochondrial mass (Hutter *et al.*, 2004; Kitami *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 1.2: Mitochondrial electron transport chain and complex inhibitor effects. The ETC primarily consists of 5 respiratory complexes, the ubiquinone pool, and cytochrome c. Electrons enter the ETC either from CI-linked substrates which provide NADH for oxidation to NAD+ by CI, or from CII-linked substrates which provide FADH₂ for oxidation to FAD by CII. Electrons are passed from CI+II to the ubiquinone pool, and from there to site III_{Qo} of CIII, to cytochrome c, and finally to CIV and the final electron acceptor oxygen, to form water. Electron transfer at CI, III and IV is coupled to proton pumping across the inner membrane, which establishes the protonmotive force necessary to power ATP formation at CV (ATP synthase). When electron transfer is in the forward direction (black arrows), the CI inhibitor rotenone causes increased electron leak at the quinone-binding site (I_{Q}) by preventing exit of electrons into the ubiquinone pool, resulting in reduction of all available electron carriers within the complex (Fe-S clusters) and greater electron leak to form superoxide (red arrows). In conditions where the ubiquinone pool becomes overreduced (such as increased contribution of CII-linked substrates) electrons can be forced back to CI in reverse electron transport (RET) (green arrows). This causes a significant increase in superoxide production from site I_Q of CI, which can be inhibited by rotenone

by preventing entry into the binding site. Metformin is also known to inhibit CI activity, but its specific binding site is less clear. Malonate is a well-known inhibitor of CII by competing with succinate for binding at the complex and preventing entry of electrons through CII into the ubiquinone pool. Antimycin A inhibits CIII activity by occupying the inner quinone-binding site (III_{Qi}), resulting in increased electron leak and superoxide production at the outer quinone-binding site (III_{Qo}). This superoxide production can be suppressed by myxothiazol, another CIII inhibitor that occupies site III_{Qo} and prevents electron leak at this site. KCN and sodium azide are both inhibitors of CIV activity. Oligomycin inhibits ATP synthase (CV) activity by blocking the proton channel (F0 subunit). The uncoupler FCCP (orange) interferes with mitochondrial membrane potential by shuttling protons across the inner mitochondrial membrane. Superoxide produced into the matrix is rapidly converted to hydrogen peroxide by MnSOD, and is then able to diffuse out of the mitochondria. Conversely, superoxide produced into the cytosolic side of the membrane largely requires the addition of exogenous SOD in order to be converted to hydrogen peroxide, as spontaneous dismutation is a poor competitor of other reactions that do not produce hydrogen peroxide. The redox cycler MitoParaquat (red) stimulates production of superoxide by reduction of oxygen. Comparatively, the ROS scavengers (blue) MitoQ, S1QEL and S3QEL detoxify superoxide produced in the mitochondria generally (MitoQ), or at specific sites (IQ; S1QEL, IIIQ0; S3QEL).

1.3.2 Mitochondrial quality control

Maintenance of the mitochondrial network is essential for cell function and survival. Numerous mitochondrial quality control pathways exist to ensure that dysfunctional mitochondria can be identified and removed from the network to preserve overall function. Such pathways include the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (mUPR), autophagy, mitophagy, and the balance of fission and fusion processes to regulate mitochondrial dynamics. Defects in mitochondrial quality, and in the quality control pathways themselves, have been linked to many age-related diseases and cellular senescence (Dalle Pezze *et al.*, 2014; Wong *et al.*, 2020). Mitochondrial dynamics have also demonstrated impairment with age, leading to reduced quality of the mitochondrial network and accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria (Reznick *et al.*, 2007; Crane *et al.*, 2010).

1.3.2.1 Autophagy

Autophagy is important for the maintenance of mitochondrial homeostasis and removal of harmful compounds within the cell. When material is targeted for autophagy it is engulfed by a phagophore, which expands to form an autophagosome vesicle, and subsequently fuses with the lysosome to form an autolysosome where the cargo is degraded. The autophagic process is also able to recycle these degraded materials to the cytosol when nutrients are scarce (Yang *et al.*, 2006). AMPK and mTOR are the key mediators of autophagy, and have important roles in mitochondrial function and longevity. High AMP/ATP ratios trigger AMPK activation and induction of autophagy, while mTORC1 activation suppresses autophagy. Impairment of these signalling pathways can lead to dysfunctional autophagy and contribute to the ageing process through accumulation of damaging compounds and organelles (Wong *et al.*, 2020).

Autophagy has been linked to cellular senescence, though its role in the process is still unclear and appears to be dependent on specific circumstances. For example, knockdown of the essential autophagy genes Atg5 and Atg7 have been shown to reduce proinflammatory factor secretion and prevent senescence development, and elevated p16 and p21 expression are able to induce autophagy (Young *et al.*, 2009; Capparelli *et al.*, 2012). Work by Young and colleagues demonstrated that knockdown of *ATG5* and *ATG7* lowered Ras-induced autophagy and delayed the senescence-associated increase in IL-6 and IL-8 secretion and SA- β -Gal activity. The report also provided evidence that suggests autophagy plays a role in the establishment, but perhaps not maintenance of senescence, as similar knockdown of these proteins in a model of established senescence was not sufficient to reverse senescent growth arrest. Similarly, Caparrelii et al (2012) found that in fibroblasts that overexpressed p16^{INK4a} and p21^{WAF1/CIP1} markers of autophagy Lamp-1 and BNIP3 were increased, and cells were more susceptible to autophagy induction after a period of starvation, as evidenced by increased expression of LC3-I/II.

Conversely, other studies have shown that inhibition of autophagy in healthy cells can lead to induction of senescence via ROS- and p53-dependent pathways (Kang *et al.*, 2011a), and activation of autophagy by rapamycin treatment can suppress senescence

(Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). It seems likely that autophagy's role in senescence development may change depending on the specific type of senescence. For example, ULK3 overexpression enhances autophagy and stimulates oncogene-induced senescence *in vitro*, while mTORC1 activation and subsequent reduction in autophagic activity promotes SASP factor production (Young *et al.*, 2009). In comparison, in a model of MiDAS, elevated expression of *LCB3* and *ATG5* has been shown to delay senescence and extend replicative lifespan of cells via enhanced mitophagy, while oxidative stress promoted senescence induction due to compromised autophagy processes (Mai *et al.*, 2012).

1.3.2.2 Mitophagy

Mitochondria-specific autophagy – known as mitophagy – is an essential process in maintaining the quality and function of the mitochondrial network. The process is mediated by the Ser/Thr kinase PINK1 and the E3 ubiquitin ligase Parkin, which together target damaged or dysfunctional mitochondria for degradation by the autophagosome (Clark *et al.*, 2006; Park *et al.*, 2006; Narendra *et al.*, 2008). Initiation of mitophagy is often associated with a drop in mitochondrial membrane potential, which prevents degradation of PINK1 and stimulates accumulation of PINK1 at the outer membrane (Matsuda *et al.*, 2010; Narendra *et al.*, 2010) where it activates through autophosphorylation (Kondapalli *et al.*, 2012). Parkin is then recruited to translocate to the outer membrane (Kim *et al.*, 2008), where it 'tags' the dysfunctional mitochondria with polyubiquitin chains. These chains are recognised by receptor proteins to initiate recruitment of the autophagosome and clearance of the mitochondrial fusion – mitofusin 1 and 2 (MFN1 and MFN2) – on the outer membrane, targeting them for degradation, resulting in inhibition of fusion and promotion of fission processes (Ziviani;Tao and Whitworth, 2010).

Mitophagy, together with mitochondrial biogenesis, maintain mitochondrial content and may play an important role in cellular senescence. Though there is still much needed study in order to determine the nature of its involvement. Studies have shown that mitophagy activity is reduced in cellular senescence, which can contribute to accumulation of dysfunctional mitochondria (Dalle Pezze *et al.*, 2014). The tumour suppressor p53, which is upregulated in senescence, prevents translocation of Parkin to the outer membrane,

and subsequently suppresses mitophagy (Ahmad *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, activation of mitophagy by rapamycin is able to improve mitochondrial function and relieve the SASP (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). However, some research has demonstrated that the activation of a DDR can cause a reduction in mitochondrial membrane potential, which would normally trigger a mitophagy response (Passos *et al.*, 2007). It could be suggested that the role of mitophagy in senescence may vary depending on circumstance; senescence model, cell type, nutritional availability. It has also been suggested that due to the increase in mitochondrial mass associated with senescence, such mitochondria are simply not able to be targeted for mitophagy as they are too large for degradation by the autophagosome (Gomes;Di Benedetto and Scorrano, 2011; Rambold *et al.*, 2011). Dysfunction in the lysosomal system is also a possibility in the context of senescence, as cells which lack regulatory components of mitochondrial dynamics, such as OPA1 or PINK1, have also exhibited impairment of the lysosome (Demers-Lamarche *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, cells with impaired mitochondrial respiratory chain machinery cannot stimulate lysosomal biogenesis (Fernandez-Mosquera *et al.*, 2019).

1.3.2.3 Fission/fusion

The balance of mitochondrial fission and fusion activity enables optimum function of the mitochondrial network. This balance is also intrinsically linked with mitophagy activity, and inhibition of PINK1 activity has been shown to suppress mitochondrial fission by preventing recruitment of Parkin to damaged mitochondria (Bueno *et al.*, 2015). Mitochondrial fusion allows the sharing of resources between mitochondria, including mtDNA, to improve survival (Tondera *et al.*, 2009; Rambold *et al.*, 2011). The dynamin-like GTPases Mitofusin 1, Mitofusin 2 and OPA1 are responsible for regulating fusion activity (Chen *et al.*, 2003; Ge *et al.*, 2020). Mitochondrial fission separates damaged or dysfunctional mitochondria from the network ready for degradation. DRP1 regulates fission processes by creating helical structures to surround and separate the targeted mitochondria (Labrousse *et al.*, 1999; Ingerman *et al.*, 2005). The mitochondrial network fragments significantly during apoptosis as a result of increased DRP1 recruitment, while increased fusion activity is able to prevent apoptosis (Lee *et al.*, 2004; Sugioka;Shimizu and Tsujimoto, 2004).

Disruption of either of these processes can lead to mitochondrial dysfunction. Impairments in both fusion and fission have been shown to cause deficiencies in oxidative phosphorylation, and while fusion defects can induce loss of mtDNA and disruption of mitochondrial motility, fission inhibition can result in elevated levels of ROS (Chen *et al.*, 2003; Parone *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, inhibition of fission has been shown to stimulate elongation of mitochondria and initiation of cellular senescence. This elongation is associated with a decline in membrane potential and increased ROS production, triggering a DDR (Yoon *et al.*, 2006). Senescent cells often demonstrate a hyper-fused mitochondrial network, which would be difficult to isolate impaired mitochondria for degradation (Dalle Pezze *et al.*, 2014). Studies have also demonstrated that stimulating mitochondrial fission is able to alleviate the senescent phenotype (Yoon *et al.*, 2006).

1.3.3 Cell death

Mitochondria also play an essential role in programmed cell death (Frank *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2004). When cells undergo significant stress or damage, pro-apoptotic signalling pathways can be activated. The intrinsic pathway of apoptosis involves mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilisation (MOMP) and release of cytochrome c. Pro-apoptotic factors activate the formation of what is known as the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP), causing the protonmotive force to collapse and oxidative phosphorylation to halt (Rottenberg and Hoek, 2017). The mPTP is formed as a result of activated Bax/Bak oligomerisation at the mitochondrial surface, creating a transitional pore through which apoptotic proteins can enter the cytosol. Cytochrome c is then released through the mPTP and triggers the formation of the apoptosome and recruitment of caspases (Nechushtan *et al.*, 2001; Karch *et al.*, 2013).

The balance of fission/fusion activities in mitochondria are also important for apoptotic cell death. The mitochondrial fission mediator DRP1 is increasingly recruited to mitochondria during apoptosis (Frank *et al.*, 2001), creating an extremely fragmented mitochondrial network able to be easily separated and degraded by autophagic vesicles. Conversely, increased mitochondrial fusion can protect cells from apoptotic cell death (Lee *et al.*, 2004; Sugioka;Shimizu and Tsujimoto, 2004) as OPA1 limits the release of proapoptotic components from the intermembrane space (Cipolat *et al.*, 2006).

Studies have demonstrated that cells are more predisposed to mPTP activation with age, with additional implications for more frequent activation of processes that rely on mPTP opening (Mather and Rottenberg, 2000). Increased ROS generation, which is observed with age and in many age-related diseases, can both inhibit cell growth and activate cell death processes (Lawless *et al.*, 2012). Dysregulation of these processes can therefore result in accumulation of damaged cells and cell components which contribute to disease.

1.4 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

1.4.1 ROS production

During oxidative phosphorylation, electrons can leak from the respiratory complexes to form reactive oxygen species (ROS), formed by incomplete reduction of oxygen to water. A single electron reaction converts oxygen to superoxide, while transfer of two electrons forms hydrogen peroxide (Murphy, 2009). Furthermore, the highly reactive hydroxyl radical can be formed from Fenton reactions in which free iron reacts with superoxide or hydrogen peroxide (Lyngsie et al., 2018), and by Haber-Weiss reactions where superoxide and hydrogen peroxide react together to form oxygen, hydroxyl radical and hydroxide (Kehrer, 2000). The hydroxyl radical is highly toxic and can damage all biological components of the cell, but is produced in much smaller quantities. Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide are the most common forms of ROS produced by the mitochondria, and have important roles in both redox signalling (Reczek and Chandel, 2015) and oxidative damage (Sena and Chandel, 2012). Superoxide produced into the mitochondrial matrix cannot cross the inner membrane (Muller;Liu and Van Remmen, 2004), so targets of superoxide interaction are limited to those nearby. It is also efficiently converted to hydrogen peroxide by mitochondrial superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) (Miwa et al., 2003), meaning that under normal conditions superoxide does not exist in this form for long within the matrix.

As the primary source of ROS production, mitochondria are subject to much more oxidative damage compared to the rest of the cell, which can lead to dysfunction, disease, and contribute to the ageing process (Hollensworth *et al.*, 2000; Hoque *et al.*, 2021).

Oxidative stress has been identified as both a cause and consequence of mitochondrial dysfunction.

1.4.2 Sites of ROS production

The majority of ROS is produced in the mitochondria, and studies have identified respiratory complexes I and III as those with the highest capacity for ROS production (Miwa *et al.*, 2003; Brand, 2016). The flavin mononucleotide site of Complex I (site I_F) and the outer quinone-binding site of Complex III (site III_{Qo}) in particular are significant contributors to ROS production due to their close reliance on the NAD and ubiquinone pool redox statuses in determining electron availability. These two pools are common entry points to the ETC for many substrates, and as such these sites will often have access to electrons for ROS formation (Wong *et al.*, 2017). The relative production rates and overall contributions of individual sites can be assessed and altered by direct inhibition of electron transport, and by suppression or scavenging of ROS from specific points.

1.4.2.1 Mitochondrial electron transport chain

Complex I (CI) in particular has been implicated in age-related disease. Suppression of ROS production at CI has been shown to protect against ischemia-reperfusion injury (Brand *et al.*, 2016), while mild inhibition of the complex reduces levels of β -amyloid and phosphotau in animal models of Alzheimer's disease (Zhang *et al.*, 2015a; Stojakovic *et al.*, 2021). Parkinson's disease pathology has also been linked to ROS production specifically from site I_F of CI (Sherer *et al.*, 2003).

When the ETC is driven by CI-linked substrates, electron transfer is in the forward direction and ROS production is rather low (Wong *et al.*, 2017). However, CI is known to leak electrons at both site I_Q and I_F in certain circumstances (Brand, 2016). Superoxide is produced exclusively into the mitochondrial matrix from CI due to its location on the inner surface of the mitochondrial inner membrane. Here, superoxide is efficiently converted to hydrogen peroxide by MnSOD. At site I_Q , if the ubiquinone pool becomes over-reduced (QH₂/Q ratio is high) then electrons can be forced back into CI, leading to a substantial increase in electron leak from this site. This is known as reverse electron transport (RET). The resulting ROS production from site I_Q can be inhibited by treatment with rotenone, which blocks the site and prevents exit of electrons from the quinone-binding site.

However, this is specific to ROS produced through reverse electron transport (RET). When electron transfer is in the forward direction, rotenone increases ROS produced at site I_Q by promoting reduction of all electron carriers within the complex and preventing exit into the ubiquinone pool, leading to increased electron leak (Miwa *et al.*, 2003).

Metformin is also able to inhibit ROS production from CI, though its binding site is less clear. The more recent discovery of S1QELs (Suppressors of Site I_Q Electron Leak) and S3QELs (Suppressors of Site III_{Q0} electron leak) allows site-specific suppression of ROS within the mitochondria without interference with OCR or electron transport elsewhere, rather than general reduction by other mitochondria-targeted antioxidants. S1QELs target site I_Q of CI and inhibit production of ROS from this site during reverse electron transport (RET) (Brand *et al.*, 2016), while S3QELs target ROS production from site III_{Q0} of CIII. The use of interventions such as rotenone, metformin and S1QELs allows us to examine the role of CI-linked ROS production in pathological conditions (Watson;Wong and Brand, 2019).

RET is often seen under conditions where CII is able to contribute a significant flow of electrons to the ubiquinone pool, e.g. high succinate concentrations (Kane *et al.*, 2010; Hernansanz-Agustin *et al.*, 2017; Scialo;Fernandez-Ayala and Sanz, 2017), or electron transfer upstream of the ubiquinone pool is blocked, for example by inhibition of CIII and CIV, though this is primarily an *in vitro* observation to date (Guaras *et al.*, 2016). Succinate has also been shown to accumulate during ischemia, which can cause long-lasting oxidative damage and RET-ROS production when the accumulated succinate is rapidly oxidized by CII upon reperfusion (Kohlhauer *et al.*, 2019). Studies have shown that when succinate is the driving substrate of the ETC, the majority of measurable ROS production can be attributed to site I_{Q} through RET (Quinlan *et al.*, 2013). Succinate can also increase mitochondrial membrane potential and reduction of the NADH pool (Robb *et al.*, 2018). This RET-ROS signalling can detect changes in membrane potential and electron flow, producing significant amounts of ROS exclusively at CI (Scialo;Fernandez-Ayala and Sanz, 2017).

ROS production at site I_F is generally low, but electron leak can occur when the NAD+/NADH ratio increases, or when site I_Q is blocked, for example by rotenone, preventing exit of electrons from the complex at the quinone-binding site. This leads to a

back-log of electrons within the complex and leak at site I_F . The importance of ROS production from any given site is also dependent on circumstances, for example, site I_F contributes the largest portion of overall ROS under conditions of intense exercise (Wong *et al.*, 2017). Under CI-linked substrate oxidation, the majority of ROS production is attributed to sites I_F , III_{Qo} and 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase equally (Quinlan *et al.*, 2013; Wong *et al.*, 2017).

ROS production from CI specifically has been shown to influence lifespan in multiple ageing models. Stimulating RET-ROS at CI improves health and delays ageing in flies (Scialo *et al.*, 2016), and inhibiting CI extends *C. elegans* lifespan in a ROS-dependent manner. The increase in ROS observed with age is also associated with a reduction in CI-linked respiration.

In contrast to CI, there is little evidence correlating CIII activity with age-related disease, and in fact differences in longevity related to ROS production are only seen when electron transfer through CI is promoted through supply of CI-linked substrates. When this electron transfer is inhibited, such as in the presence of succinate plus rotenone, longevity does not appear to be impacted by ROS production (Herrero and Barja, 1997).

The outer ubiquinone-binding site of CIII, Site III_{Qo}, possesses the highest maximum capacity for ROS production. Though this is only true under non-physiological conditions in the presence of antimycin A, which blocks centre *i* of CIII (site III_{Qi}). This causes electron transfer to halt at the semiquinone occupying site III_{Qo}, and prevents oxidation of the ubiquinone pool. As a result the QH₂/Q ratio rises rapidly, causing back-flow of electrons to downstream complexes and increased ROS production at site III_{Qo}. While CI can produce a mix of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide exclusively into the mitochondrial matrix (Pepelina *et al.*, 2009; Grivennikova and Vinogradov, 2013), site III_{Qo} produces superoxide only, but it is split between the matrix and the intermembrane space. This supports a role for ROS produced at CIII in wider cellular redox signalling.

Myxothiazol treatment can inhibit this ROS production by blocking site III_{Qo} , and S3QELs are able to suppress ROS production specifically from this site without interfering with electron flow or respiration (Wong *et al.*, 2017). In the absence of antimycin – when site

 III_{Q_i} is available for electron transfer – it is thought that site III_{Q_0} is not capable of producing ROS in any great numbers (Miwa *et al.*, 2003; Brand, 2016).

The flavin mononucleotide site of CII (II_F) is thought to be capable of producing both superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, but under normal physiological conditions this production is negligible (Brand, 2016). In models of cancer involving CII subunit mutations, however, ROS production from this complex has been found to be important (Owens *et al.*, 2012; Li *et al.*, 2019). Nevertheless, it is an important consideration as the second primary site of electron entry to the ETC, and CII activity can be linked to overreduction of the ubiquinone pool and RET. In order for site II_F to produce ROS the flavin site must be open and able to interact with oxygen. Therefore only when substrates are provided which reduce the ubiquinone pool without occupying II_F, and the ubiquinone pool becomes sufficiently reduced (often through CIII inhibition), are electrons able to flow back into CII and produce ROS at II_F (Quinlan *et al.*, 2012). ROS production at site II_F is sensitive to inhibition by the CII inhibitor malonate (Ralph *et al.*, 2011). However, while the capacity of II_F for ROS production is high in isolated mitochondria, it has not been shown to be active in cells outside of certain cancer models.

1.4.2.2 Other sites of ROS production

There are a number of other sources of ROS production, but the levels of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide produced by these sites under physiological conditions are negligible. Mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase (mGPDH) is located on the outer site of the inner mitochondrial membrane, and generates superoxide to both the mitochondrial matrix and intermembrane space. The quinone-binding site of mGPDH (G_Q) can produce large amounts of superoxide under CIII inhibition when the ubiquinone pool is reduced (Orr *et al.*, 2012). It forms part of the glycerophosphate shuttle (GPS) which transports NADH reducing equivalents directly to the ubiquinone pool, bypassing CI (Pecinova *et al.*, 2019).

Other quinone and flavin sites able to produce ROS include the O_F site of the 2oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex, the P_F site of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex, the D_Q site of dihydroorotate dehydrogenase, and the A_F site of the aminoadipate dehydrogenase complex, but these are only under very specific conditions which do not often arise in vivo. Fatty acid oxidation also supplies electrons to ubiquinone, and a very small amount of superoxide/hydrogen peroxide can result from enzymes involved in this process, such as acycl-CoA dehydrogenases (Brand, 2016).

1.4.3 Measuring mitochondrial ROS production

Experimental methods for the measurement of ROS production present a significant challenge. Most commonly, studies use redox-active fluorescent probes to visualise ROS production, though quantification of such visual measurements can be difficult, and small differences hard to distinguish. Many studies have inferred different species of ROS using different probes. For example, DCFH has been used to detect intracellular hydrogen peroxide, while MitoSOX reacts with mitochondrial superoxide. However, most of these probes are not as specific to ROS type as we would like, and can be activated by other oxidants to produce products with overlapping fluorescent spectra (Cheng *et al.*, 2018).

Fluorescent probes are also prone to artefact, largely as a result of their lack of specificity and ability to react with factors other than ROS. For example, a study by Cheng et al (2018) demonstrated that MitoSOX did not in fact measure mitochondrial superoxide exclusively, but indicated non-specific oxidation of the probe. Other probes, including DCFH, can produce intermediate radicals that undergo redox cycling, generating additional ROS alongside the fluorescent product. Some studies have used mass spectrometry to detect superoxide production using Mito-HE (MitoSOX), though as with other probes HE is not solely oxidized by superoxide (Michalski *et al.*, 2020). However, liquid chromatography can be applied to separate the specific oxidation product produced by reaction of Mito-HE with superoxide (Zhao *et al.*, 2003).

One probe which has shown better reliability as a measure of ROS production is Amplex Red. Amplex Red reacts with hydrogen peroxide, catalysed by HRP, to produce the fluorescent product resorufin. This fluorescent output can be quantified using a plate reader and used as a surrogate measurement for hydrogen peroxide production. Amplex Red has demonstrated far greater sensitivity than other commonly used probes, and a significant reduction in background noise (Mohanty *et al.*, 1997). Though it should be noted that the requirement of a peroxidase to catalyse the oxidation reaction may limit Amplex Red's use in *in vivo* studies. Moreover, as the peroxidase cannot enter the cells

itself, it secreted extracellular hydrogen peroxide that is measured by this technique, rather than site-specific ROS production.

1.4.4 Redox signalling

Under low physiological levels, ROS perform important redox signalling functions within the cell – hydrogen peroxide is particularly critical in this role as it is a more stable form of ROS and is able to translocate outside the mitochondria and interact with the wider microenvironment. It can then regulate the activity of target proteins in the mitochondria, the cytosol, or the nucleus (Sena and Chandel, 2012). Redox signalling pathways have also been suggested to have a key role in adapting to bioenergetic changes (Wong *et al.*, 2017), for example, responding to increased ATP demand or need for elevated Ca²⁺ signalling (Osellame;Blacker and Duchen, 2012). ROS are also involved in both cell differentiation (Tsatmali;Walcott and Crossin, 2005; Owusu-Ansah and Banerjee, 2009) and cell death (Kamata *et al.*, 2005).

In vivo, redox signalling by ROS has important roles in stress responses. For example, hydrogen peroxide is essential for stress responses in *Drosophila melanogaster*, and metabolism and brain function in mice. In order to respond to stresses such as hypoxia or thermal stress, fruit flies require redox signalling by hydrogen peroxide and do not survive for long under these conditions with depleted hydrogen peroxide levels (Scialo *et al.*, 2020). Reduction in hydrogen peroxide levels in mouse astrocytes results in altered glucose and glutathione metabolism and neuronal function (Vicente-Gutierrez *et al.*, 2019).

Superoxide produced via RET at CI has also been suggested as an important redox signalling pathway. RET is highly sensitive to changes in protonmotive force (Δp) and ubiquinone redox state, and has been linked to inflammation, lifespan extension in flies, and oxygen-sensing in the carotid body (Robb *et al.*, 2018).

1.4.5 Antioxidants

Cell antioxidant systems are generally able to detoxify ROS overproduction and prevent excessive oxidative stress. Imbalances in these antioxidant systems can result in a prooxidant shift and accumulating damage.

1.4.5.1 Enzymatic antioxidants

Superoxide dismutases SOD1 and 2 convert superoxide to hydrogen peroxide in the cytosol and mitochondrial matrix, respectively (Fridovich, 1997). SODs also play an important role in preventing the formation of ONOO⁻ by removing superoxide (Brown and Borutaite, 2007), and in redox signalling by producing hydrogen peroxide required for oxidation of key cysteines of regulatory proteins, leading to changes in protein structure, function and localisation (Rhee, 2006). Catalase maintains the homeostasis of hydrogen peroxide as a signalling molecule, converting hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen (Deisseroth and Dounce, 1970), which protects cells from oxidative damage induced by high levels of hydrogen peroxide (Tiedge *et al.*, 1998). Loss of catalase has been linked to numerous age-related diseases such as diabetes (Grankvist;Marklund and Taljedal, 1981), and its overexpression has shown promise in alleviating Alzheimer's disease pathology (Mao *et al.*, 2012). Glutathione peroxidases are present in the cytosol and mitochondria, and in some cases peroxisomal compartments, and are also responsible for reducing hydrogen peroxide to water and protecting against oxidative damage (Utsunomiya *et al.*, 1991; Singh *et al.*, 1994).

1.4.5.2 Non-enzymatic antioxidants

The major non-enzymatic antioxidants are NADPH and glutathione. Glutathione in the cytosol uses hydrogen peroxide to oxidise to glutathione disulphide, catalysed by glutathione peroxidases (Mailloux;McBride and Harper, 2013). NADPH is another small-molecule electron carrier produced largely as part of the pentose phosphate pathway, and which donates electrons to glutathione and thioredoxins, contributing indirectly to detoxification of ROS by not only these antioxidants but also glutaredoxins, peroxiredoxins, and glutathione peroxidases (Fernandez-Marcos and Nobrega-Pereira, 2016).

Cells with poor antioxidant defence tend to accumulate oxidative damage more quickly as a result of higher ROS levels, which has been implicated in brain ageing and age-related disease pathogenesis. Mitochondria-targeted antioxidants can also be administered as treatments, and are accumulated in the mitochondrial matrix by virtue of their attached positively charged lipophilic TPP cation, which relies on the mitochondrial membrane potential and highly negative-inside environment of mitochondria to transport it. MitoQ

is one such antioxidant; a ubiquinone derivative which forms a ubiquinol derivative when reduced by the mitochondrial respiratory chain, where it prevents lipid peroxidation. Its antioxidant activity is recycled after detoxifying a ROS (Kelso *et al.*, 2001).

Studies have also found that compounds with an attached TPP+ cation are capable of inhibiting oxidative phosphorylation. Fink et al (2012) found that MitoQ inhibited oxygen consumption directed at ATP turnover, but not basal respiration. Findings by Reiley et al (2013) also support this data, showing that MitoQ reduced oxygen consumption and prevented both oligomycin-induced decrease and FCCP-induced increase in OCR, and suggested that MitoQ may be interfering with electron transfer to oxygen.

The recently developed S1QELs (Suppressors of Site I_Q Electron Leak) and S3QELs (Suppressors of Site III_{Qo} Electron Leak) drugs hold a number of advantages over traditional mitochondria-targeted antioxidants. One of the problematic aspects of these traditional antioxidants is the non-specific suppression of ROS production, particularly when considering the beneficial signalling roles ROS are needed to perform. S1QELs and S3QELs are able to selectively suppress electron leak without interfering with other sites of electron flow or oxidative phosphorylation processes (Wong *et al.*, 2017; Watson;Wong and Brand, 2019). S1QELs target ROS production from site I_Q of CI via RET specifically, without impacting CI-linked respiration, though its mechanism of action is currently unknown (Brand *et al.*, 2016).

1.5 Mitochondrial role in ageing

During ageing and disease pathology mitochondrial homeostasis declines and ROS can increase dramatically, overwhelming the activities of local antioxidant systems and causing severe oxidative damage (Wallace, 2005). Genome-wide analysis has reported a reduction in gene expression of electron transport chain components and ATP synthase in flies, worms (McCarroll *et al.*, 2004), and rhesus monkeys, along with an upregulation of genes involved in inflammation and oxidative stress (Kayo *et al.*, 2001). At high levels ROS are capable of inducing lipid peroxidation, protein oxidation, and DNA damage (Cadet and Wagner, 2014; Su *et al.*, 2019), particularly in conditions of oxidative stress. This damage has been associated with many pathological conditions including cardiovascular

disease (Steven *et al.*, 2019), Parkinson's disease (Devi *et al.*, 2008), and Alzheimer's disease (Dragicevic *et al.*, 2010), where overproduction of ROS may contribute to disease progression. There is also an extensively debated relationship between ROS production and lifespan, primarily centred around the Mitochondrial Free Radical Theory of Ageing.

1.5.1 The Mitochondrial Free Radical Theory of Ageing

The Mitochondrial Free Radical Theory of Ageing was first stated by Denham Harman in 1956 (Harman, 1956), who proposed that mitochondria have an essential role in driving the ageing process. The basis of this theory was the observation that with age, dysfunctional mitochondria accumulate and produce high levels of ROS which cause oxidative damage within the cell. For a long time this theory went uncontested, but in more recent years contradictory evidence has arisen to bring it into question. It is true that an increase in dysfunctional mitochondria and ROS production can be seen with age (Choksi et al., 2008; Gan et al., 2012), and certain long-lived species produce less ROS (Barja et al., 1994; Lambert et al., 2007). However, studies have now shown that elevated ROS production does not always shorten lifespan (Van Raamsdonk and Hekimi, 2012), and directly manipulating ROS levels by treatment with antioxidants does not alter longevity (Sanz, 2016). This causes some controversy, as there is a clear disparity in the effects of ROS on lifespan between species. For example, modulation of antioxidant levels in mouse models of ageing shows no impact on lifespan (Perez et al., 2009), whereas in Drosophila melanogaster and C. elegans, a mild increase in ROS production can extend lifespan by stimulating mitohormetic defence mechanisms and the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (mtUPR) (Yang and Hekimi, 2010; Owusu-Ansah; Song and Perrimon, 2013). Studies have also demonstrated that lifespan extension in worms with an inhibited mitochondrial electron transport chain is dependent on activation of HIF-1 by increased ROS levels (Lee; Hwang and Kenyon, 2010), and can promote longevity by stimulating prosurvival pathways in response to stress (Yee; Yang and Hekimi, 2014). While this information does raise questions regarding the original theory of ageing, it further highlights the idea that the mitochondria have essential roles in ageing.

Indeed, high levels of ROS production have been linked to both ageing and premature cellular senescence, and dysfunctional mitochondria are a common feature of aged cells

and major age-related diseases (ARDs) (Anderson *et al.*, 2009; Hoehn *et al.*, 2009; Ahmad *et al.*, 2015).

1.5.2 The role of mitochondria in cellular senescence

How cellular senescence develops and is regulated *in vivo* has been a subject of interest in the ageing field for many years, and particular attention has been paid to the role of the mitochondria. It has been well documented that dysfunctional mitochondria accumulate both with age (Bratic and Larsson, 2013; Chistiakov *et al.*, 2014), and in senescent cells (Passos *et al.*, 2007; Hara *et al.*, 2013; Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). This suggests a key role for mitochondria in ageing and senescence, but the specifics of that role are still unclear. A recent study by Correia-Melo and colleagues showed that mitochondria are indeed essential for the development of senescence, and that removing mitochondria from cells entirely via enforced mitophagy prevented development of the senescent phenotype. By targeting mitochondria for degradation via uncoupler-induced Parkin signalling, the report demonstrated that cells lacking mitochondria did not develop the classic markers of senescence following irradiation, including increased SA- β -Gal activity, ROS production, pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and expression of CDK inhibitors p21 and p16.

A number of potential mechanisms for the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in senescence have been proposed. For example, studies have shown that senescent cells demonstrate a highly interconnected mitochondrial network, suggesting an impairment in the ability of the cells to remove and degrade old or dysfunctional mitochondria (Dalle Pezze *et al.*, 2014). Senescent cells display a distinct mitochondrial phenotype, involving increased mitochondrial mass, reduced antioxidant defence and increased ROS production, reduced membrane potential, and an imbalance of fission/fusion events favouring mitochondrial fusion. Data has also suggested that this rigid and elongated mitochondrial network can trigger onset of senescence, as such mitochondria produce higher levels of ROS and cannot be degraded by mitophagy processes. It is possible that this increased connectivity between mitochondria is a survival response, allowing the sharing of machinery and processes between dysfunctional mitochondria to regain function, and escape apoptosis by preventing membrane depolarisation and cytochrome

c release (Frank *et al.*, 2001; Gomes; Di Benedetto and Scorrano, 2011; Ziegler; Wiley and Velarde, 2015).

Increased antioxidant expression, or treatment with antioxidants, have both been shown to slow telomere shortening and delay onset of the senescent phenotype (Saretzki;Murphy and von Zglinicki, 2003), suggesting a role for ROS production in senescence development. In fact, a positive feedback loop has been identified linking mitochondrial ROS production and the persistent DDR required for senescence development. Moreover, mitochondrial ROS production is known to cause telomere dysfunction (Passos *et al.*, 2007). Excessive ROS production seen with age and in senescence can cause mitochondrial dysfunction resulting from oxidative damage, and subsequently increase electron leak and ROS production. High levels of ROS are able to continuously replenish short-lived DNA damage foci, maintaining a persistent DDR via p53/p21CIP1/WAF1 signalling. Although, studies have found that ROS production ceases to be essential for maintaining this loop and the senescent phenotype after approximately 9 days in the development of senescence, at which point the cell has been 'locked' into a senescent state (Passos *et al.*, 2010).

Defects in the electron transport chain are also known to induce premature senescence, including impairment of respiratory complexes, chronic uncoupling, and reduced ATP production (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003; Stockl *et al.*, 2006; Moiseeva *et al.*, 2009). A number of these dysfunctions can lead to AMPK activation, which in turn triggers wide-ranging signalling pathways involved in senescent growth arrest, including p53 activation, downregulation of cyclin A, B1 and E, and p16/pRb signalling (Peyton *et al.*, 2012; Nacarelli *et al.*, 2019). Furthermore, mitochondrial CI is a major source of NAD+ within the cell, the depletion of which has been linked to senescence induction (Nacarelli *et al.*, 2019).

As discussed above, mitochondrial dysfunction also triggers a specific form of cellular senescence, termed mitochondria dysfunction-associated senescence, or MiDAS (Wiley *et al.*, 2016). A number of mitochondrial triggers of senescence were identified which tip the cell state in favour of senescence arrest and SASP production. Such triggers include a reduced NAD+/NADH ratio resulting in activation of AMPK and p53 signalling, mitochondrial depolarization, inhibition of ATP synthesis, NAD+ depletion, and elevated

ROS production (reviewed in (Ziegler; Wiley and Velarde, 2015). Of particular note, the SASP produced by MiDAS is distinct in that it lacks the pro-inflammatory IL-1 arm.

1.5.2.1 Senescence Associated Mitochondrial Dysfunction (SAMD)

A number of positive feedback loops have been proposed which link mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular senescence, with much emphasis on the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in triggering and maintaining the senescent phenotype. The other side of this observation is the role of senescence in causing further mitochondrial dysfunction, termed senescence-associated mitochondrial dysfunction, or SAMD. Studies have demonstrated a close relationship between mitophagy, SAMD, and the SASP. An impairment in mitophagy has been identified as a key mediator of dysfunctional mitochondria accumulation in senescent cells, and results in an overall reduction in mitochondrial quality and progressively more rigid networks (Dalle Pezze et al., 2014). This failure of mitophagy also causes impaired mitochondrial membrane potential and respiratory coupling, and exacerbated oxidative stress, all resulting from a persistent DDR. Mitochondrial dysfunction is thought to both initiate and maintain the senescent phenotype, while the senescent DDR causes further mitochondrial dysfunction. Indeed, studies have now demonstrated that SAMD initiates the positive feedback loop between the DDR and ROS production, but also that SAMD is driven by p21 and p38MAPK signalling (Passos et al., 2010).

Mutations in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) accumulate with age faster than mutations in nuclear DNA (Khrapko *et al.*, 1997; Wang;Wong and Cortopassi, 1997), and have been shown to induce senescent cell accumulation (Wiley *et al.*, 2016). In a study by Wiley and colleagues, they demonstrated that POLG^{D257A} mice which have a mutation in mtDNA polymerase (PolG) and accumulate mtDNA mutations at a much faster rate than their wild-type counterparts, also exhibited a greater proportion of SA-β-Gal positive cells, lower nuclear HMGB1 levels, and increased p16^{INK4a} expression than age-matched controls. Though this finding is not universal, and studies of fruit flies have shown that neither lifespan nor healthspan are impacted by the levels of mtDNA mutations that would reasonably occur in natural populations (Kauppila *et al.*, 2018). While the role of mtDNA mutations in ageing have been widely debated, studies have shown that an accumulation of mtDNA mutations does not necessarily lead to increased ROS production

and oxidative damage. In the same POLG^{D257A} mouse model it has been shown that markers of oxidative stress were not significantly difference to WT mice, and in fact direct measurement of ROS production from the mitochondria confirmed that ROS was not enhanced in these mice (Kujoth *et al.*, 2005; Trifunovic *et al.*, 2005). However, while mtDNA mutation may not be the cause of oxidative stress accumulation in ageing phenotypes, it has been demonstrated that the hydroxyl radical is capable of directly reacting with mtDNA and causing double-stranded DNA breaks (Chevion, 1988; Grishko *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, DDR-induced ROS production can lead to additional mutations in mtDNA and further accumulation of mitochondrial dysfunction (Passos *et al.*, 2010).

The observation of the MiDAS phenotype in which part of the SASP does not occur without mitochondrial dysfunction supports a role for SAMD in SASP development (Wiley *et al.*, 2016). Conversely, chronic NFkB-mediated inflammation enhances both senescent growth arrest and ROS production, demonstrating a positive feedback loop between SAMD and SASP (Nelson *et al.*, 2018). Furthermore, fragments of mtDNA have been proposed to escape into the cytosol during senescence, which are sensed by NFkB and cGAS-STING signalling pathways, triggering an innate immune response (West *et al.*, 2015). Finally, SAMD has been implicated in metabolic dysfunction with age, resulting from an inability to process fatty acids by dysfunctional mitochondria (Ogrodnik *et al.*, 2017).

1.5.2.2 Complex I dysfunction

Studies have demonstrated a decline in CI activity with age, accompanied by elevated ROS production (Navarro and Boveris, 2007). Such ROS production is linked to the induction of senescence (Passos *et al.*, 2010), and disrupted CI assembly has also been shown to induce premature senescence in primary cells (Miwa *et al.*, 2014). Partially assembled CI subcomplexes contribute to oxidative stress within the cell, as they possess the catalytic subunit capable of producing superoxide but do not form part of the electron transport chain and do not contribute to mitochondrial respiration. Importantly, work by Miwa et al (2014) provided a link between CI homeostasis and induction of senescence, as disruption of CI assembly by siRNA-mediated knockdown of the NDUFAF1 subunit triggered premature senescence. Conversely, low levels of partially assembled complexes corresponded to increased longevity. Efficient assembly of CI appears to be a key

determinant in ROS production – and subsequent senescence induction – as it is important to note that pharmacological inhibition of CI in senescent cells alleviates the pro-inflammatory SASP and lowers the incidence of DNA damage along with an associated reduction in ROS production (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013; Le Pelletier *et al.*, 2021). Further work is needed to dissect the role of altered CI activity in cellular senescence.

CI dysfunction is also implicated in age-related diseases such as Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease and Alzheimer's disease (Francis *et al.*, 2014). For example, PINK1 has been shown to regulate CI (Morais *et al.*, 2014), and greater CI deficiency in neurons is accompanied by elevated ROS production. A mutation of the PINK1 gene has also been linked to lower CI activity and elevated ROS levels in a genetic variant of Parkinson's disease (Morais *et al.*, 2014). In a study of Drosophila *pink1* mutants, overexpression of the CI subunit ND42 was sufficient to rescue a number of behavioural deficits and restore CI activity (Pogson *et al.*, 2014). Reduced levels of PINK1 and Parkin preceded a decline in CI-linked respiration in fruit flies, and PINK1 knockdown flies exhibited both lower CIlinked respiration and lifespan (Scialo *et al.*, 2016).

CI inhibition has also been shown to reduce both amyloid beta and phospho-tau levels in animal models of Alzheimer's disease. Zhang et al (2015) found that inhibiting CI increased neuronal response to stress, along with reduced ATP production and resultant increased AMP/ATP ratio – possibly implicating a role for AMPK activation.

1.5.2.3 The role of mitochondrial ROS in senescence

Senescent cells display an increased mitochondrial mass, reduced membrane potential and increased ROS production, thought to be a result of impaired antioxidant systems (Correia-Melo and Passos, 2015). High ROS levels have also been shown to accelerate telomere shortening and initiate DNA damage (Chen *et al.*, 1995; von Zglinicki, 2002), triggering the DNA damage response, which is essential for development of a senescent phenotype (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Rodier *et al.*, 2009). Despite a decreased membrane potential, mitochondria in senescent cells produce higher levels of ROS (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2009; Passos *et al.*, 2010) and are less able to regulate intracellular calcium homeostasis. During mitochondrial dysfunction, calcium is normally imported into the mitochondria to maintain electron transport chain function; however, this influx leads to mitochondrial depolarization and decreased NAD+/NADH ratio, which can lead to senescence (Ziegler; Wiley and Velarde, 2015; Nacarelli *et al.*, 2019).

Increased ROS production is becoming a well-recognised aspect of cellular senescence, which can cause oxidative damage and result in mitochondrial dysfunction. Hydrogen peroxide has been identified as a potent inducer of senescence in numerous cell types (Sedelnikova *et al.*, 2004). ROS-mediated DNA damage and telomere shortening activates a persistent DDR, which is able to induce further ROS generation and mitochondrial dysfunction, demonstrating a positive feedback loop between mitochondrial dysfunction, ROS production and senescence (Passos *et al.*, 2010). Notably, studies have demonstrated that activation of p53, p21 and p16 – key DDR effectors – leads to elevated ROS production (Macip *et al.*, 2002; Macip *et al.*, 2003; Takahashi *et al.*, 2006), while treatment with antioxidants is able to prevent cell cycle arrest (Saretzki;Murphy and von Zglinicki, 2003).

1.5.2.4 SASP regulation

In addition to preventing the development of cellular senescence, Correia-Melo et al also demonstrated that mitochondria-depleted cells exhibited downregulation of many SASP factors, suggesting that mitochondria are required for the development of the SASP and may have a role in regulating its production.

A positive feedback loop has been proposed between mitochondrial ROS production and a persistent DDR which is required for establishment of the SASP. Mitochondrial ROS are able to replenish short-lived DNA damage foci and maintain the DDR, which in turn leads to senescence, SASP, and further damage to mitochondrial function (Passos *et al.*, 2010). The DDR has also been linked to increased mitochondrial biogenesis via PGC-1β activation, in which the initiator of the DDR, ATM, is activated in response to double-strand DNA breaks, in turn activates AKT and mTORC1, leading to PGC-1β-dependent mitochondrial biogenesis and ROS production, followed by DDR induction and SASP (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). Studies have also shown that ATM can be activated by oxidative stress independently of DNA damage, and in fact has been implicated in regulating cell responses to oxidative stress (Guo *et al.*, 2010).

Changes in metabolite availability and redox status can also influence SASP production. An increased AMP/ATP ratio – often observed when mitochondrial ETC function is

impaired - activates AMPK, which in turn activates p53 signalling and recruitment of p21 and p16, resulting in development of senescence and SASP production (Peyton *et al.*, 2012; Nacarelli *et al.*, 2019).

1.6 Metformin

Metformin is a widely used anti-diabetic drug prescribed in the clinic for decades, but that has more recently shown benefits in alleviating a range of other age-related pathologies. Lifespan and healthspan extension has been demonstrated *in vivo* in both mice and worms with metformin treatment (Anisimov *et al.*, 2008; De Haes *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, in human studies metformin has been found to regulate expression of genes involved in DNA repair and mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation in muscle biopsies of older adults (Kulkarni *et al.*, 2018). Repurposing of metformin for use in other age-related conditions is now a vast area of research, covering cancer (Heckman-Stoddard *et al.*, 2017), cardiovascular disease (Han *et al.*, 2019), and neurodegenerative diseases (Kickstein *et al.*, 2010; Mor *et al.*, 2020).

1.6.1 Metformin and diabetes

Metformin is a well-established treatment for Type 2 diabetes that inhibits gluconeogenesis in the liver, increases glucose uptake by muscle, and increases fatty acid oxidation. These beneficial effects tend to require long-term treatment rather than single dosing (Wang *et al.*, 2019), but the liver receives relatively high concentrations of metformin through the portal circulation (Muller *et al.*, 2005).

Gluconeogenesis inhibition by metformin results from inhibition of key enzymes phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and glucose 6-phosphatase (G6Pase), energetic stress in the hepatocytes, and has been shown to be induced through both AMPK-dependent (Zhou *et al.*, 2001) and -independent (Foretz *et al.*, 2010) mechanisms *in vivo*. More recently it has been linked to inhibition of mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase (mGPDH) (Madiraju *et al.*, 2014). An increased AMP/ATP ratio by metformin treatment also inhibits the activity of adenylate cyclase, responsible for converting ATP to cAMP. This reduction in cAMP eventually leads to suppression of gluconeogenesis (Miller *et al.*, 2013). Metformin also enhances insulin sensitivity by

reducing hepatic glucose production, which results from an AMP-induced inhibition of fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase-1; a rate-controlling enzyme in gluconeogenesis (Hunter *et al.*, 2018).

In skeletal muscle, activation of AMPK by metformin leads to increased glucose uptake, by increasing glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) translocation to the cell membrane. Improved hyperglycemia is also achieved by inhibition of glucose production in the liver and improved insulin sensitivity (Hundal *et al.*, 2000; Takashima *et al.*, 2010).

1.6.2 Metformin and ageing

Metformin has been shown to extend lifespan in a ROS-dependent manner in *c. elegans* models, but this is not replicated in fruit flies (Sanz 2016). Lifespan and healthspan extension have also been observed in mice, though it is not known if this is mediated by ROS production (Martin-Montalvo *et al.*, 2013). In age-related disease, metformin has been tested in models of Alzheimer's disease and found to improve neuronal insulin signalling as well as neuropathological markers. Though this is contrasted with increasing A β levels, likely as a result of AMPK activation and upregulated BACE1 activity (Zhang *et al.*, 2015a). Chronic treatment with low dose metformin also inhibits age-associated atherosclerotic plaque formation in ApoE-/- mice (Karnewar *et al.*, 2018).

In a review of coronary artery disease (CAD) patient studies it was found that CAD patients exhibited reduced cardiovascular mortality, cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality when given metformin (Han *et al.*, 2019). Additionally, metformin treatment has shown benefits following myocardial infarction, and studies have demonstrated protection against hypertrophic and apoptotic remodelling *in vivo*, as well as a reduction of hypertrophic and apoptotic responses *in vitro* in response to stress (Loi *et al.*, 2019). Furthermore, metformin has been found to inhibit proliferation of cancer cells via the ATM-AMPK-p53/p21^{CIP1} pathway and promote apoptotic responses to irradiation (Storozhuk *et al.*, 2013). Other reports have demonstrated a reduction in cell proliferation genes as an anti-tumour effect of metformin treatment (Ben Sahra *et al.*, 2008). Clinical trials have also reported the ability of metformin treatment to alleviate serum markers of breast cancer risk in women who had completed chemotherapy and radiotherapy treatment courses (Goodwin *et al.*, 2008; Campagnoli *et al.*, 2012).

More recently, metformin has shown great success as a senostatic treatment (Anisimov *et al.*, 2008; Algire *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2016; Hu *et al.*, 2020; Jiang *et al.*, 2020; Hansel *et al.*, 2021; Le Pelletier *et al.*, 2021). Notably, pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells is reduced by inhibition of the NFkB pathway by metformin independent of AMPK activation (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013).

1.6.3 Mechanism of action

Metformin is part of the biguanide class of drugs, and exists as a positively charged hydrophilic cation, causing its accumulation within the mitochondria via high mitochondrial membrane potential and the strongly negative-inside environment of the mitochondrial matrix (Bridges *et al.*, 2014). Uptake of metformin into cells is primarily controlled by organic cation transporters (OCTs) (Moreno-Navarrete *et al.*, 2011), and accumulation in the mitochondria is slow, requiring hours before reaching effective concentrations. However it is important to note that concentrations within the mitochondria have been predicted to exist at up to 1000-times external concentrations as a result of its preferential accumulation (Owen;Doran and Halestrap, 2000; Bridges *et al.*, 2014). Phenformin and buformin are also anti-diabetic biguanides, but their clinical use has been suspended due to risk of lactic acidosis resulting from Cl inhibition (Nattrass and Alberti, 1978; Kwong and Brubacher, 1998; Krishnamurthy *et al.*, 2004b).

Though metformin's mechanism of action is still debated within the literature, a number of pathways have been proposed for metformin, including inhibition of mitochondrial complex I, mTORC1 inhibition via activation of AMPK (Howell *et al.*, 2017; Wang *et al.*, 2019), and NFkB inhibition (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013). It has also been shown to have antitumour effects due to inhibition of either gluconeogenesis or mTORC1, and antiproliferative effects which are not AMPK-dependent and are alleviated in the presence of antioxidants (Scotland *et al.*, 2013; Guo *et al.*, 2021). Metformin is also known to inhibit both ROS production and DNA damage following treatment with paraquat and induction of oncogenic Ras signalling, respectively (Algire *et al.*, 2012).

As a well-documented treatment with a good safety profile in humans, along with low cost and high efficacy, metformin represents an exciting potential therapy for a range of

conditions, but in particular there has been increasing interest in ageing and cellular senescence.

1.6.3.1 Complex I inhibition

The primary proposed mechanism of action of metformin is inhibition of mitochondrial respiratory complex I, by non-competitive inhibition of ubiquinone reduction (Bridges *et al.*, 2014; Wheaton *et al.*, 2014). This leads to decreased ATP production, elevated ADP/ATP ratio and subsequent activation of AMPK. Studies have shown that treatment with metformin reduces ADP-stimulated respiration with CI-linked substrates, but not CII-linked substrates, demonstrating CI-specific inhibition (Andrzejewski *et al.*, 2014). However, oral treatment of lean and obese Zucker rats has provided evidence that CI-linked respiration inhibition may not be replicated *in vivo* (Kane *et al.*, 2010), despite an observed reduction in ROS production and ADP-stimulated respiration inhibition in *ex vivo* models. One key observation in this study was that metformin doses capable of inhibiting mitochondrial respiration were two orders of magnitude greater than those required for inhibition of ROS production at CI, demonstrating the dose-dependent effects of metformin present across a number of its downstream targets.

The binding site at CI is thought to be formed by the 'core' subunits of CI that are conserved across all species (Bridges *et al.*, 2014)(and reviewed in (Hirst, 2013)), most likely an amphipathic region as the more hydrophobic biguanides produce greater CI inhibition. Metformin does not inhibit NADH oxidation, but in fact stimulates it, and does not interfere with intramolecular electron transfer between Fe-S clusters (Reda;Barker and Hirst, 2008). Studies suggest that biguanides may inhibit CI by trapping it in an open deactive-like conformation (Bridges *et al.*, 2014). However, as noted, significant inhibition of CI requires high concentrations of metformin, and the biguanide has been shown to have different dose-dependent effects.

At very high concentrations (>25mM) of metformin an increase in ROS production has been observed at the flavin site of CI (Bridges *et al.*, 2014), an effect which is increased when the NAD+/NADH pool is more reduced. ROS production at CI is likely stimulated by the reduced electron flow following inhibition and impaired ATP production, allowing more electrons to leak and form superoxide. Though these concentrations are extremely high and not achievable in a physiological setting, and many more reports have found

reductions in ROS production at lower concentrations of metformin, such as in superoxide production through RET at CI (Hou *et al.*, 2010; Marycz *et al.*, 2016; Robb *et al.*, 2018). However, this may be a result of changes in mitochondrial membrane potential or the ubiquinone redox status resulting from metformin treatment, rather than a direct inhibition of the ubiquinone-binding site (Robb *et al.*, 2018). The rate of ROS production at CI is largely dependent on the redox state of the NAD+/NADH pool (Murphy, 2009).

Metformin's dose-dependent inhibition of CI is reversible (Bridges *et al.*, 2014), in contrast to traditional CI inhibitors such as rotenone which bind competitively and irreversibly. This allows the inhibitory effect to respond to more favourable conditions and re-establish catalysis when possible.

Dose-dependent biphasic effects of metformin have been observed not only on ROS production rates, but also on NAD+/NADH ratio and CI-linked respiration. Low doses (<2nmol/mg) are able to promote a more oxidized NAD+/NADH pool, while high doses (>5nmol/mg) lead to a more reduced NAD+/NADH pool associated with CI inhibition. Similarly, low doses of metformin have been shown to promote CI activity, while supraphysiological doses are required to inhibit CI function (Wang *et al.*, 2019).

1.6.3.2 AMPK activation

Along with CI inhibition, studies have demonstrated that metformin activates AMPK both directly via phosphorylation of the catalytic α subunit at T172 (Hawley *et al.*, 2002), and indirectly by causing an increase in cellular AMP and ADP by inhibiting mitochondrial ATP synthesis (Hawley *et al.*, 2010). Importantly, metformin treatment does not improve hyperglycemia in a mouse model with specific knockout of the upstream AMPK regulator LKB1 (Shaw *et al.*, 2005), demonstrating AMPK dependence.

CI inhibition stimulates an increase in ADP/ATP ratio, and as such metformin is able to promote many downstream AMPK-dependent processes. This includes the inhibition of mTORC1 (Howell *et al.*, 2017), which is believed to contribute to insulin resistance in diabetes (Khamzina *et al.*, 2005). AMPK and mTORC1 have opposing influences on autophagy, with AMPK promoting phosphorylation of the mammalian autophagyinitiating kinase Ulk1, while mTORC1 prevents this activation (Kim *et al.*, 2011). This coordinated regulation of autophagy is important in the cellular response to nutrient

signalling. Activation of AMPK and inhibition of mTORC1 by metformin therefore promotes upregulation of autophagy, which can help to restore cellular function and aid in the clearance of dysfunctional organelles and misfolded proteins. Indeed, previous studies have demonstrated an increase in autophagosome and autophagolysosome presence in the cytoplasm of cells treated with low dose metformin, accompanied by AMPK activation, apoptosis suppression and a reduction in p16INK4a-positive cells (Chen *et al.*, 2016). Inhibition of the mTOR pathway, along with STAT3 signalling inhibition, by metformin is also able to prevent SASP production in models of senescence and enhance the efficacy of anticancer treatments (Hu *et al.*, 2020). A notable biphasic effect of metformin treatment has also been observed, in which low doses of metformin require AMPK activation in order to inhibit mTORC1, which higher doses demonstrate an AMPK-independent mechanism (Howell *et al.*, 2017).

By comparison, activation of AMPK by low dose treatment with metformin has also been found to induce senescence via p53-dependent signalling in proliferating hepatoma cells. In this context, metformin represents a potentially useful addition to cancer therapies (Yi *et al.*, 2013).

Metformin treatment also promotes mitochondrial biogenesis as a result of direct phosphorylation of PGC1 α by AMPK, and has been shown to delay endothelial cell senescence (Karnewar *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, PGC1 α activation is induced by elevated SIRT1 activity, which requires the increased NAD+ concentrations caused by AMPK's attempts to restore energetic balance (Canto *et al.*, 2009). SIRT1 is also involved in suppression of NF κ B (Salminen *et al.*, 2008) and p53 signalling (Yi and Luo, 2010), demonstrating further beneficial effects downstream of metformin activity. Metformin is also able to inhibit mTORC1 independently of its action on AMPK, however, by inhibiting Rag GTPase-mediated mTORC1 signalling (Kalender *et al.*, 2010).

1.6.3.3 NFкB

Another known target of metformin action is the transcriptional regulator NF κ B, which is a major regulator of pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion during senescence (Chien *et al.*, 2011; Ohanna *et al.*, 2011). Inhibition of NF κ B by metformin therefore also causes a reduction in the expression of key pro-inflammatory cytokines, including MCP-1 and TGF- β (Gu *et al.*, 2014). Studies have demonstrated inhibition of NF κ B nuclear translocation as
well as prevention of IKB and IKK α/β phosphorylation under metformin treatment. Metformin treatment also prevented induction of senescence in bystander cells when exposed to senescent conditioned media. Notably, however, metformin's effect on NFKB signalling is independent of its role in AMPK activation (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013).

1.6.3.4 Other possible mechanisms

Low doses of metformin do not inhibit CI, but are still able to inhibit gluconeogenesis through a proposed redox-independent mechanism involving allosteric regulation of PFK1 and FBP1, and inhibition of the malate-aspartate shuttle (Alshawi and Agius, 2019). These low doses also produce a more oxidized mitochondrial NAD+/NADH pool, a more reduced cytoplasmic NAD+/NADH pool, and increased lactate/pyruvate ratio suggested to be a result of mitochondrial depolarisation from metformin accumulation.

An alternative proposed mechanism for gluconeogenesis inhibition by metformin is through mGPDH inhibition, which causes an elevated lactate/pyruvate ratio and inhibits gluconeogenesis specifically from reduced substrates (Madiraju *et al.*, 2014).

Metformin treatment has also been found to suppress glucagon signalling by blocking glucagon-induced cAMP production by adenylyl cyclase (Miller *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, studies have demonstrated that metformin is able to inhibit mPTP opening in response to stressors. One such stressor is hyperglycemia, and studies have shown that treatment with antioxidants also prevents hyperglycemia-induced mPTP opening, providing a link between oxidative stress, high glucose production, PTP opening and metformin effects (Detaille *et al.*, 2005). Other noted effects of metformin treatment include inhibition of dipeptidylpeptidase 4, AMP deaminase, hexokinase II, and folate-related one-carbon metabolic pathways (Bridges *et al.*, 2014), as well as an elevated lactate/pyruvate ratio (Alshawi and Agius, 2019).

1.7 Aims and Objectives

Although the mitochondria are now known to be essential for the development of a senescent phenotype, less is known about the specifics of this role and how targeting mitochondrial function may benefit the pro-inflammatory senescent phenotype. We know that removing mitochondria alleviates the harmful SASP, but what is not known is the minimum effective intervention that may achieve a similar effect through less drastic means.

The aims of this study were:

- a) To examine the role of mitochondrial respiratory function in senescence development
- b) To identify whether manipulation of mitochondrial respiration could alleviate the SASP without restoring cell proliferation to damaged cells, and
- c) To identify the minimum effective intervention that achieves this objective.

To do this, different experimental models and timepoints were examined in each chapter:



10 days treatment post-irradiation (Chapters 3 & 4):

Figure 1.3: 10 day drug treatment experimental schematic immediately post-irradiation. Cells were seeded to plates and subjected to 20Gy irradiation the following day. Samples were then given drug-treated or control culture media for 10 days during senescence development. For ELISA analysis experiments, on Day 9 culture media was changed to serum-free for the final 24hrs to avoid serum interference with the assay. Samples were collected on day 10. This experimental design allowed me to determine the effects of mitochondrial function manipulation on the senescent phenotype when cells were treated immediately following irradiation for the 10 days of senescence development.



Post-senescence treatment timepoints (Chapters 4 & 5):

Figure 1.4: Replicative senescence experimental design schematic. In replicative senescence experiments, cells were cultured in flasks until proliferation slowed and eventually stopped, at which point samples were seeded to experimental plates. Treatments were initiated the following day, for either 3, 6 or 10 days. As before, in ELISA analysis experiments media was changed to serum-free for the final 24hrs before collection.





3 day timepoint was examined in irradiation-induced senescence in which treatment timeline was shortened to 3 days.

These experimental designs allowed me to observe the difference in effect when senescent cells were treated after the phenotype had fully established, and determine if any differences existed between preventing a senescent phenotype and reversing one in two models of established senescence.





Figure 1.6: 3 day treatment during senescence development experimental design schematic. . Cells were seeded to culture plates and exposed to 20Gy irradiation the following day. Cells were then immediately given drug-treated or control media for the following 3 days. On Day 3 media was changed to untreated control for all samples for the remaining 7 days of senescence development. As before, in ELISA analysis experiments media was changed to serum-free for the final 24hrs before collection.

This experimental design allowed me to examine whether shorter treatment times of 3 days was sufficient to elicit a change in the resulting senescent phenotype, with the aim of identifying the minimum effective intervention to manipulate the phenotype

Chapter 2: Materials & Methods

2.1 Reagents

Reagent	Supplier	Catalogue number
(+)-Sodium L-ascorbate	Sigma	A4034-100G
2-deoxy-glucose	Merck	D8375-5G
Adenosine 5'-diphosphate sodium salt	Sigma	A2754-1G
Antimycin A	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-202467A
Bovine Serum Albumin	Sigma	A7906-100G
Bovine Serum Albumin (fatty acid free)	Sigma	A7030-10G
Citric acid	Sigma	C0759-100G
cytochrome c from equine heart	Sigma	C2506-500mg
D-(+)-Glucose	Sigma	16325-1kg
D-(+)-Saccharose	VWR	27480.294
Digitonin	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-280675
Dimethylformamide	Sigma	D4551-250ML
DMSO, sterile filtered	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-359032
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium - high glucose	Sigma	D5796
ELISA Substrate Reagent Pack	Biotechne	DY999
Ethyleneglycol-bis(2-amino-ethylether)- N,N,N',N'-tetracetic acid	Sigma	03777-10G
FCCP	abcam	ab120081
Fetal Bovine Serum	Sigma	
Fish skin gelatine	Sigma	G7765
Fluoroshield Mounting Medium With DAPI	abcam	ab104139
Galactose	Merck	G5388-100G

Reagent	Supplier	Catalogue number
Glutamate	Sigma	G1626
Glutaraldehye	Sigma	G5882
Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 488	Life technologies	A11001
Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 594	Life technologies	A11005
Goat anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 488	Life technologies	A11008
Goat anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 594	Life technologies	A11012
HEPES	Sigma	H3375-25G
Human CXCL10/IP-10 DuoSet ELISA	R&D Systems/biotechne	DY266-05
Human IL-6 DuoSet ELISA	R&D Systems/biotechne	DY206-05
Human IL-8/CXCL8 DuoSet ELISA	R&D Systems/biotechne	DY208-05
Hydrogen peroxide solution	Sigma	H1009-100ML
Ki67	Abcam	ab15580
L-(–)-Malic acid	Sigma	02288-10G
Lactobionic acid	Sigma	153516-100G
L-ascorbic acid	Sigma	A5960-25G
L-glutamine	Sigma	G7513-100ML
L-Glutamic acid monosodium salt hydrate	Sigma	G1626-100G
Magnesium Chloride, Hexahydrate	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-203126A
Malonic acid	Sigma	M1296-500G
Metformin hydrochloride	Sigma	1115-70-4
MitoParaquat	Abcam	1821370-28-8
MitoQ	MedKoo Biosciences	317102
Monensin	Merck	M5273-500MG
Myxothiazol	Sigma	T5580-5MG

Reagent	Supplier	Catalogue number
N,N,N',N'-Tetramethyl-p-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride	Sigma	87890-25G
NADH disodium salt	Sigma	000000101280 23001
Oligomycin A	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-201551A
Penicillin-Streptomycin	Sigma	P4333-100ML
p21 Waf1 Cip1 (12D1)	Cell Signalling	29475
PBS	Sigma	D5773
Peroxidase from horseradish	Sigma	P8250-50KU
Phospho-Histone H2AX (S139) clone JBW301	Merck millipore	05-636
Potassium cyanide	Sigma	60178-25G
Potassium ferricyanide	Sigma	702587-50G
Potassium ferro-cyanide	Sigma	P-9387
Potassium Phosphate, Dibasic, Anhydrous	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-203210A
Potassium Phosphate, Monobasic	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-203211A
ProLong [®] Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI	Life technologies	P36935
Rapamycin	Merck	R8781-200UL
Rotenone	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	sc-203242
S1QEL1.1	Life Chemicals Europe	F2011-1277
S1QEL2.2	Life Chemicals Europe	F2068-0013
S3QEL2	Life Chemicals Europe	F6804-4818
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium	Sigma	D5030
Seahorse XF24 FluxPak mini	Agilent	100867-100
Sodium azide 0.1M	Sigma	8591

Reagent	Supplier	Catalogue number
Sodium chloride	Sigma	S7653-1KG
Sodium phosphate dibasic	Sigma	S5136-100G
Sodium pyruvate	Sigma	P2256-25G
Sodium succinate dibasic hexahydrate	Sigma	S9637-500G
ELISA Stop solution	R&D Systems/biotechne	DY994
Taurine	Sigma	T0625-25G
Triton X-100	Promega	H5141
Trypsin-EDTA	Sigma	T4049
Tween 20	Sigma	P9416-100ML
X-gal	Sigma	3117073001

Table 2.1.1: Reagents used in this study

2.2 Cell culture

Cell culture work has been performed using human embryonic lung MRC5 fibroblasts acquired from ECACC, Salisbury, UK. Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Sigma, Dorset, UK) supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated foetal bovine serum (FBS), 100µg/ml penicillin, 100 ug/ml streptomycin and 2 mM glutamine at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂. Cell cultures were regularly maintained at 1 million cell density in 75cm² culture flasks, or 1.5 million in 150cm² flasks. Cells were trypsinized, collected and split every 2-3 days to maintain optimum confluency. Cells were counted at each passage and population doublings calculated prior to experiment setup, with no 'young' cell conditions exceeding PD32 by end of experiment timeline. Frozen cell stocks were stored in 95% FBS with 5% DMSO in aliquots of 1 million cells. Cryogenic vials were stored in a Nalgene Cryo freezing container at -80°C for minimum 24hrs before being transferred to -180°C storage in liquid nitrogen tanks. To defrost, cell vials were warmed to room temperature and immediately seeded to 75cm² culture flasks with warm DMEM media. Media was replaced the following day to remove any remaining DMSO.

2.3 Senescence induction

2.3.1 Irradiation-induced senescence

For stress-induced senescent cell cultures, cells were exposed to 20Gy X-ray irradiation using an X-Rad 225 irradiator (Precision X-Ray, N-Branford, CT USA) and media changed immediately after irradiation. For each condition; untreated senescent control, or senescent cells treated with specific ETC inhibitors, appropriate media was replaced every 2-3 days for 10 days until senescence development (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). In immunostaining experiments senescence induction was considered successful by the presence of SA-β-Gal staining, DNA damage foci denoted by γH2AX-positive foci, and lack of proliferation marker Ki67.

2.3.2 Replicative senescence

For replicative senescent cell cultures, cells were maintained in culture until divisions ceased, usually beyond 40 population doublings, and considered senescent when cell size was expanded and appeared morphologically similar to irradiation-induced senescent cell cultures; increased cell size, increased nuclear size, and flatter cell body appearance. This was confirmed by SA-β-Gal test staining.

2.4 Cell treatments

For drug treatments, cells were grown in media containing the indicated drug concentration for the length of the experiment. Where cells were treated immediately post-irradiation, treated media was refreshed every 2-3 days for 10 days. Where cells were treated after establishment of a senescent phenotype, untreated media was use for the initial 10 days post-irradiation, changed to treated media on day 10, and refreshed every 2-3 days for 3 or 10 days respectively.

In experiments examining acute effects of treatments, drugs were administered directly during data collection for oxygen consumption rate and ROS production, to the

appropriate final concentration calculated for the experimental format (Seahorse XF Analyzer plates, or 96-well black plates).

Drug	Final concentration
Rotenone	0.1µM
Metformin	5mM
Malonate	5mM
Antimycin A	0.25μM
Myxothiazol	0.05µM
KCN	0.1mM
Sodium Azide	0.1mM
Oligomycin	0.25μM
FCCP	0.25μM
MitoQ	200nM
MitoParaquat	1μΜ
S1QEL1.1	100nM
S1QEL2.2	500nM
S3QEL2	10μΜ
Rapamycin	50nM

Table 2.4.1: Final drug treatment concentrations carried forward following dose rangescreening

2.5 High resolution respirometry

2.5.1 Oroboros Oxygraph-2k

High-resolution respirometry measurements of cellular oxygen consumption were carried out as described in (Pesta and Gnaiger, 2012), modified from a protocol for permeabilised muscle fibers, using OROBOROS Oxygraph-2k (Oroboros Instruments, Innsbruck, Austria) and using DatLab software for data acquisition and analysis. Cells were cultured in 75cm² flasks for 10 days following irradiation of senescent samples. On Day 10 1 million cells were extracted per sample, centrifuged and resuspended in MiRO5 respiration buffer (110mM saccharose, 60mM lactobionic acid, 0.5mM EGTA, 3mM MgCl₂·6H₂O, 20mM taurine, 10mM KH₂PO₄, 20mM HEPES adjusted to pH7.1, and 1g/L BSA essentially fatty acid free) and added to the oxygraph chambers at 2ml chamber volumes ($0.5x10^6$ cells/ml). After 10 minutes to allow for stabilisation, OCR measurements for baseline respiration were taken (no additional substrates or inhibitors present). Oligomycin (2µg/ml) was added to inhibit ATP synthase activity and show proton leakdependent OCR, and measurements taken after stabilisation. Maximum respiratory capacity was determined by titration of FCCP in 0.5µM steps until OCR no longer increased on addition of FCCP. Rotenone (0.5µM) and antimycin A (2.5µM) were then added to reveal residual oxygen consumption (non-mitochondrial OCR).

For permeabilised cell tests an optimum concentration of 32μ M digitonin was administered in the chamber to permeabilise the plasma membrane. Complex-specific substrates were then provided; 5mM pyruvate and 2mM malate (CI), followed by 2mM ADP to stimulate oxidative phosphorylation, and 10mM succinate (CII) to activate the convergent electron flow from CI & II into the Q-cycle. 0.5 μ M rotenone was administered to show respiration when only CII was supplying electrons to the Q-cycle, followed by 2 μ M antimycin A to inhibit CIII function.

2.5.2 Seahorse AF Extracellular Flux Analyzers

Cellular oxygen consumption rates and extracellular acidification rates were measured in either a Seahorse XFe96 or XF24 Analyzer (Agilent Technologies). Cells were plated at seeding densities of 8,000 for XF96-well plates, and at 25,000 for young cell controls, and 6,000 for senescent conditions in XF24-well plates. Young cell samples were maintained in culture flasks until being seeded to plates the day before measurement, while senescent conditions were seeded directly to plates and maintained with media changes for the duration of senescence development (10 days). Cells were maintained in culture using media conditions as described above, before being changed to unbuffered media (DMEM (Sigma, D-5030) supplemented with 5mM D-glucose (Sigma), 2% L-Glutamate, 3% calf serum) prior to OCR and ECAR measurement. Cell plates were then incubated at 37°C in a non-CO₂ incubator for 1 hour. Drug injection stocks (2.5 μ M oligomycin, 5 μ M FCCP, 5 μ M rotenone, and 25 μ M antimycin A) were loaded into injector ports of sensor cartridges, which were used to calibrate Analyzer machines prior to sample measurement. Cell plates were then loaded into the Analyzer and measurements taken for OCR and ECAR every 7 minutes for 90 minutes. Changes in oxygen consumption rates were measured after the addition of oligomycin (2.5 μ M), FCCP (0.5 μ M titration to 1 μ M final concentration), rotenone (0.5 μ M) and antimycin A (2.5 μ M).

Addition of oligomycin inhibited ATP synthase and revealed the level of proton leak present, and by subtraction from basal levels, the proportion of ATP-linked respiration. Titration of mitochondrial uncoupler FCCP allowed assessment of maximal respiratory capacity. Addition of rotenone (complex I inhibitor) and antimycin A (complex III inhibitor) showed the residual oxygen consumption – or non-mitochondrial oxygen consumption (Mavin *et al.*, 2020). OCR and ECAR measurements were used to calculate overall ATP production along with ATP generated specifically from oxidative phosphorylation or from glycolysis (Mookerjee and Brand, 2015).

Production of lactate from glycolysis, and CO₂ from the citric acid cycle, cause acidification of the unbuffered assay medium. The contribution of glycolysis to ATP production can be calculated from ECAR, as the 1:1 ratio of Lactate+H⁺ to ATP production allows us to assume that the rate of proton production is equal to the rate of glycolytic ATP production. However, the acidification contribution from CO₂ produced by the citric acid cycle must be subtracted using the OCR. By multiplying OCR by 2.63 according to the 2.63:1 ratio of ATP to oxygen, we can calculate the ATP production rate per molecule of oxygen consumed. We can then estimate the amount of citric acid cycle activity needed in order to generate the amount of NADH required for a known OCR, and subtract that value from the total to give mitochondrial-derived ATP.

2.6 SA-β-Gal staining

Cells were seeded onto 19mm coverslips in 12-well plates and cultured as described above, young cells treated with control media for 2 days before fixation, and senescent cells with either control or drug-treated media for 10 days. Cells were then fixed with 2% PFA + 0.2% glutaraldehyde, and then washed with PBS. This was followed by incubation with 1ml/well of SA- β -Gal staining solution (containing 1M sodium chloride, 1M magnesium chloride, 0.5M citric acid, 0.1M sodium phosphate, potassium ferrocyanide, and X-gal at pH6) for 24hrs at 37°C. Coverslips were then washed with PBS and mounted onto microscope slides using ProLong Gold antifade reagent with DAPI labelling and detection media (Invitrogen by Thermo Fisher Scientific). Images were acquired using a Leica DM5500 microscope and LASX software.

2.7 Immunofluorescent staining

Following culture and treatment of cells (as detailed above), cells were fixed using 2% PFA and blocked using PBS. Cells were incubated with PBG-Triton (PBS, 0.5% BSA, 0.5% Triton X-100, 0.2% Fish skin gelatine) for 45 minutes, and then primary antibodies applied for incubation. Primary antibodies were diluted in PBG-Triton. Primary antibodies used were anti-p21 (Cell Signalling, Rabbit Mono, 2947S, 1:1000), anti-p16 (BD Biosciences, mouse, c 550834 / 4189810, 1:5), anti-Ki67 (Abcam, rabbit, ab15580, 1:250) and anti- yH2AX (Merck Millipore, mouse, 05-636, 1:2000). Secondary antibodies were diluted in PBG-Triton at a 1:4000 dilution for each, and included goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 594, goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 488, goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 594, and goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 488 (Life technologies, A11005, A11001, A11008, and A11012, respectively). Primary antibody incubations were carried out for 1hr in the dark at room temperature, and the process repeated for secondary antibody incubation. Coverslips were washed between incubations using PBG-Triton, and after secondary antibody incubation using PBS. Later experiments (Results Chapter 3) also used Sudan Black to reduce background interference in double-stained cells for p21 and yH2AX. This entailed a 30 second wash with 70% ethanol following the final PBS wash, 2 minute

block with 0.1% Sudan black dissolved in 70% ethanol, and a further wash with 70% ethanol to remove excess Sudan Black. Coverslips were washed again with PBS before mounting onto microscope slides using ProLong Gold antifade reagent with DAPI labeling and detection media (Invitrogen by Thermo Fisher Scientific).

2.8 Microscopy

2.8.1 Fluorescent microscopy

Immunofluorescent images were acquired using a Leica DMi8 widefield fluorescence inverted microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) with a Hamamatsu C11440-22 camera through 40X oil immersion objective and assessed using LASX software.

2.8.2 Light microscopy

SA-β-Gal images were acquired using a Leica DM5500 widefield fluorescence microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) with a DFC360FX camera through 20X dry objective using brightfield and DAPI channels and assessed using LASX software.

2.8.3 Analysis

Images were analysed using Leica Application Suite X software and ImageJ software. Analysis of cell count and percentage of positively stained cells for each fluorescent or histochemical staining was conducted manually by eye. p21 staining intensity, number of γH2AX-positive foci, and nuclear size were quantified using automated protocols in ImageJ software.

2.9 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Cells were cultured in 6 or 12-well plates at a seeding density of 150,000 or 75,000 cells per well, respectively. Non-irradiated controls were cultured separately until 2 days before media collection, when they were seeded to plates. Cells were incubated in half volume serum free DMEM for 24 hours at day 9 post-irradiation, after which the media was collected for ELISA analysis. Cells were trypsinized and counted to allow for data normalisation. ELISA analysis was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems; DY206/DY208/DY266) to measure concentrations of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 cytokines in cell culture media. 96-well half-area microplates with medium binding were coated with 240µg/ml capture antibody in PBS overnight on an orbital shaker. Wells were then washed twice in 150µl of 0.05% PBS-Tween20 buffer, followed by 90 minutes blocking with 150µl/well of 1% BSA in PBS solution. Wells were washed twice again with wash buffer, and standards and samples loaded to wells in 25µl volumes and incubated for 90 minutes on an orbital shaker. Following another two washes with buffer, detection antibody was added to wells in 25µl/well volumes of 1:100 dilution in either 1% (IL-6 and IP-10) or 0.1% (IL-8) BSA solution. Wells were washed twice and a 1:200 dilution of Streptavidin-HRP in 1% or 0.1% BSA solution as appropriate was added in 25µl/well volumes and incubated for 20 minutes. Wells were washed twice and 50µl/well of a 1:1 solution of Colour Reagents A and B was added. Plates were incubated in the dark for 20 minutes to allow for colour development, following which 50µl of 2NH₂SO₄ was added to stop the reaction. Absorbance was measured at 450nm in a Promega GloMax Multi Detection System plate reader (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, USA) and values converted to pg/ml of each cytokine using the standard curve measurements.

2.10 Cytokine Array

30µl aliquots of conditioned serum-free media, as used for ELISA analysis, were provided for Human Cytokine Array/Chemokine Array 42-Plex with IL-18 (HD42), carried out by Eve Technologies, Calgary, AB Canada.

2.11 Amplex Red Assay

Cells were seeded into 6-well plates and cultured in control or drug-treated DMEM media as described above. Young proliferating cells were cultured separately in 25cm² flasks and seeded to plates 2 days before testing. On the day of testing cells were trypsinized and collected, cell counts taken, and samples centrifuged at 100*g* for 4 minutes. Samples were resuspended in 700µl PBS and added in 200µl triplicate samples to a black 96-well plate along with 1U/ml HRP and 50µM Amplex UltraRed Reagent per well. PBS with HRP and AR was used as blank control. Fluorescent signal produced by the reaction between Amplex UltraRed and hydrogen peroxide was measured using a FLUOStar Omega Plate reader (BMG LABTECH, Offenburg, Germany) at Ex540/Em590 for 1 hour, taking measurements every 20 seconds. At 30 minutes, plate was extracted and hydrogen peroxide known concentration standard was added to a Blank well. Change in fluorescence upon standard addition was used to convert fluorescence values to pM hydrogen peroxide values during analysis, and change over time used to produce rates of production.

2.12 Statistical Analysis

Comparisons between two groups were analysed for statistical significance using 2-tailed unpaired t-tests. All staining, ELISA and ROS measurement data where more than two groups were compared, a one-way ANOVA analysis followed by Tukey tests was used, making multiple comparisons of each condition against young control and senescent control samples. All statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism 9.0, and statistical significance was determined at p<0.05. Where n<3 data is represented as mean \pm S.D., and where n \geq 3 data is represented as mean \pm S.E.M.

2.13 Figure design

Graphical figures were produced using Adobe Illustrator 2021. Illustrative figures were generated using BioRender.com

Chapter 3: Treatment with rotenone, antimycin A, myxothiazol, sodium azide and oligomycin alleviate SASP

3.1 Treatment with rotenone, antimycin A, myxothiazol, sodium azide and oligomycin all reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells

In order to examine the influence of individual mitochondrial respiratory complexes in development of the SASP, I exposed MRC5 fibroblasts to 20Gy x-ray irradiation to trigger senescence, followed immediately by treatment with inhibitors of specific respiratory complexes for 10 days until development of a senescent phenotype (**Figure 3.1**). This timepoint was chosen as SASP development takes at least 7 days to develop (Coppe *et al.*, 2008). Culture media was exchanged for media without serum at day 9 to avoid interference with ELISA analysis, and at day 10 serum-free media was collected and secreted levels of key SASP factors IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 were measured from proliferating, untreated and treated senescent cell samples by ELISA (Fig. 3.2-9).



Figure 3.1: Schematic of senescent ELISA experimental design. Cells were seeded to 12well plates and irradiated at 20Gy the following day, then given drug-treated or control media immediately post-IR and replenished every 2-3 days for 10 days. At Day 9 media was replaced with drug-treated or control serum-free media to avoid serum interference with ELISA. Conditioned medium was then collected on Day 10 and cell counts performed for data normalisation.

Dose ranges were tested to establish a concentration for each drug which was able to both inhibit OXPHOS activity and reduce secretion of pro-inflammatory SASP factors. This was based on a 1:2 and 1:10 dilution from concentrations advised by Oroboros Oxygraph-2k respirometry protocols to fully inhibit the target complexes. Inhibitor efficacy was first confirmed using acute respiration analysis in young proliferating fibroblasts, in which increasing doses of drug were injected during Seahorse XF24 analysis and changes in oxygen consumption rate (OCR) measured. OCR was then measured in proliferating cells following 48hr treatment in culture with each of the inhibitors to account for factors such as slow drug accumulation or time-dependent increase or decrease in drug efficacy. Where possible, the lowest effective dose at inhibiting both OCR and SASP factor secretion was selected for all subsequent experiments for each inhibitor. I found that for most drugs the lowest doses tested were still able to inhibit the intended complex by at least 50% while also reducing SASP factor secretion. Exceptions to this were malonate, KCN, and FCCP. The inability of KCN to suppress OCR acutely is surprising, as it is a well-established CIV inhibitor and its acute effects on OCR are well-known (Jensen *et al.*, 1984; Leavesley et al., 2008). As such, this may indicate a technical issue with these KCN treatment experiments as data following 48hrs in culture shows a significant decrease in OCR, confirming its effect.

3.1.1 Rotenone reduces OCR and inhibits SASP factor production

To examine the effect of CI inhibition on SASP production cells were treated with rotenone (**Figure 3.2**), a well-established CI inhibitor that binds the quinone-binding site of the complex, preventing exit of electrons into the intermembrane space and reduction of ubiquinone (Lambert and Brand, 2004). Acute treatment of proliferating cells with increasing doses of rotenone (0.1, 0.2, 0.4 and 0.5 μ M) demonstrated a significant and immediate dose-dependent reduction in OCR (Fig. 3.2A-B). This inhibition was still present when cultured for 48hrs in the presence of 0.1 μ M rotenone, confirming rotenone's ability to inhibit mitochondrial respiration over time (Fig. 3.2C). To determine the effect of CI inhibition in a senescent cell model, rotenone dose ranges were administered to cells following 20Gy irradiation, for 10 days until the senescent phenotype was fully established. Analysis of secreted levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 showed a significant reduction in all three markers at 10 days post-irradiation (Fig. 3.2D). This demonstrates that chronic treatment with low dose rotenone is able to alleviate SASP factor production in irradiation-induced senescent fibroblasts.

Based on these initial findings I determined that the lowest tested dose of 0.1μ M rotenone was sufficient to inhibit SASP factor production while maintaining mild inhibition of CI activity, and minimising the risk of toxicity to cells. This dose was subsequently used for all future experiments with rotenone treatment. To expand on the picture of SASP suppression further, a set of serum-free culture media samples from proliferating, untreated control senescent cells and senescent cells treated with 0.1μ M rotenone were subjected to cytokine array analysis (Eve Technologies, Calgary, AB Canada) (Fig. 3.2E). This analysis allowed me to examine a wider range of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines known to make up the SASP (Coppe *et al.*, 2008; Coppe *et al.*, 2010). Results revealed an equivalent suppression of a number of major SASP factors, including GRO alpha, MIP-1a, IL-7 and IL-15 (Fig. 3.2F). Together these data demonstrate that treatment with rotenone over 10 days post-irradiation is sufficient to suppress production of a broad range of SASP factors; a promising indication for therapeutic targeting of mitochondrial function in senescence.



Figure 3.2: Rotenone reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) Effect of increasing doses of rotenone on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts analysed by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=5 technical replicates (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1, (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or rotenone-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and rotenone-treated (0.1 μ M, 0.2 μ M, 0.4 μ M) senescent MRC5

fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments, n=6 technical replicates, (E) Cytokine array analysis of young non-irradiated, senescent, and rotenone treated (0.1µM) senescent fibroblasts represented as a heat map of fold-change in cytokine levels. Samples from one independent experiment as described in Fig. 3.1 used for analysis, n=3 technical replicates, (F) Levels of key cytokines analysed by cytokine array in (E) which showed significant increase in senescence and decrease with rotenone treatment. N.D. = Not detected; cytokine levels were below detectable limits. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean \pm S.E.M *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001

3.1.2 Malonate does not reduces OCR or inhibit SASP factor production

Acute treatment with increasing doses (0.5, 1, 2.5 and 5mM) of the CII inhibitor malonate (**Figure 3.3**) did not elicit any change in OCR of proliferating fibroblasts (Fig. 3.3A-B), nor after 48hrs in culture (Fig. 3.3C). This was unexpected, as malonate is widely known to inhibit CII activity, however I later became aware that malonate is unable to permeate intact cells (Prag *et al.*, 2020), and as such did not affect mitochondrial respiration in the models examined here. While malonate may be an effective inhibitor of CII in permeabilised cells or isolated mitochondria, for the purposes of this project it was not possible to design an experimental model which would allow effective treatment of senescent fibroblasts with malonate for 10 days. As such, it is unsurprising that chronic treatment with malonate in culture did not affect levels of secreted SASP factors in senescent cells (Fig. 3.3D). As a result, malonate treatment in intact cells provides a reasonable negative control with regards to both acute and long-term treatment in proliferating and senescent fibroblasts when measuring OCR and cytokine secretion.



Figure 3.3: Treatment with malonate does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) Effect of increasing doses of malonate on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=3 technical replicates, (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1, (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or malonate-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and malonate-treated (0.5mM, 2.5mM, 5mM) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05

3.1.3 Antimycin A and myxothiazol reduce OCR and inhibit SASP factor production

Acute treatment of proliferating cells with increasing doses (0.25, 0.5, 1.25 and 2.5µM) of the CIII inhibitor antimycin A (**Figure 3.4**) produced a significant (70%) and immediate reduction in OCR at all doses tested (Fig. 3.4A-B). After 48hrs in culture with antimycin-treated media this inhibition was reduced to 53% (Fig. 3.4C). Subsequent chronic treatment tests in senescent cells demonstrated a significant reduction in secreted IL-6

and IP-10 levels at all tested doses. However, IL-8 remained unaffected by long-term treatment at any tested concentration (Fig. 3.4D). As there appeared to be little difference in effect between doses on OCR and SASP factor measurements, the lowest dose of 0.25µM antimycin A was used for all subsequent experiments in order to minimise risk of cell toxicity and maintain the minimum effective intervention.



Figure 3.4: Antimycin A reduces some pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) Effect of increasing doses of antimycin A on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=5 technical replicates, (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1 (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or antimycin A-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and antimycin A-treated (0.25 μ M, 1.25 μ M) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates, Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test . Data is mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.001

Antimycin A blocks the inner quinone-binding site (site III_{Qi}) of CIII which causes backflow of electrons to downstream complexes and increased ROS production at site III_{Qo}, whereas myxothiazol blocks the outer quinone-binding site (III_{Qo}) and can reduce ROS production at CIII. Though both are inhibitors of CIII-linked respiration, in order to examine the influence of each site on SASP production, both inhibitors were tested in proliferating and senescent models. Acute treatment with increasing doses (0.05, 0.1, 0.25 and 0.5 μ M) of myxothiazol (**Figure 3.5**) elicited an almost complete inhibition of OCR, reaching 90% inhibition above 0.25 μ M (Fig. 3.5A-B), which was maintained when treated for 48hrs in culture (Fig. 3.5C). In senescent cells, all tested doses of myxothiazol successfully inhibited IL-6 and IP-10 levels, but as seen with antimycin A, IL-8 showed minimal change (Fig. 3.5D). Though there appeared to be a mild trend towards reduced IL-8 secretion, this difference was not statistically significant. However, analysis by cytokine array of the same myxothiazol-treated samples showed a comparable reduction in IL-8, suggesting a technical error may have occurred.

As the CIII inhibitor most effective at reducing SASP factor secretion, along with its established ability to reduce ROS production from CIII (Brand, 2016), I chose to examine the wider SASP profile of myxothiazol-treated senescent cells in more detail via cytokine array analysis (Fig. 3.5E-F). A number of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines known to form part of the SASP were substantially reduced upon treatment with 0.05µM myxothiazol. This included G-CSF, CM-CSF, GROalpha, IFNa2 and MIP-1a, which have roles in macrophage maturation, cell proliferation and survival. Overall this data demonstrates that chronic treatment with inhibitors of CIII post-irradiation is sufficient to prevent the development of a SASP *in vitro* possibly with the exception of IL-8 as discussed.



Figure 3.5: Myxothiazol reduces some pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) Effect of increasing doses of myxothiazol on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured using Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=3 technical replicates (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1 (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or myxothiazol-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and myxothiazol-treated (0.05μ M, 0.25μ M)

and 0.5µM) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates, (E) Cytokine array analysis of young non-irradiated, senescent, and myxothiazol-treated (0.05µM) senescent fibroblasts represented as a heat map of fold-change in cytokine levels. Grey colour indicates levels outside the detectable range. Samples from one independent experiment used for analysis, n=3 technical replicates, (F) Levels of key cytokines analysed by cytokine array in (E) which showed significant increase in senescence and decrease with myxothiazol treatment. N.D. = Not detected; cytokine levels were below detectable limits. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001

3.1.4 KCN and sodium azide show differing effects on OCR and SASP factor production

Next, to examine the influence of CIV inhibition on SASP production I treated cells with increasing doses of CIV inhibitors KCN (0.1, 0.25, 0.5 and 1mM) (**Figure 3.6**) and sodium azide (**Figure 3.7**) (0.1, 0.5, 1 and 10mM). Acute treatment with KCN in proliferating cells showed minimal effect on OCR (Fig. 3.6A-B), however when measured after 48hrs in culture a 40% reduction in OCR was observed (Fig. 3.6C), suggesting a slower effect than the period of time observed during acute testing (roughly 10 minutes). Interestingly, in senescent cells treated with KCN the three major SASP factors all drastically increased (Fig. 3.6D). Based on findings with other electron transport inhibitors this result was unexpected, as OCR was unaffected suggesting an alternate influence on SASP factor secretion in this case.



Figure 3.6: KCN does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells . (A) Effect of increasing doses of KCN on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured using Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=4 technical replicates (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1, (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or KCN-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young

non-irradiated, senescent, and KCN-treated (0.1, 0.5 and 1mM) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates, (E) Cytokine array analysis of young non-irradiated, senescent, and KCN-treated (0.1mM) senescent fibroblasts represented as a heat map of fold-change in cytokine levels. Grey colour indicates levels outside the detectable range. Samples from one independent experiment used for analysis, n=3 technical replicates, (F) Levels of key cytokines analysed by cytokine array in (E) which showed significant increase in senescence and further increase with KCN treatment. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

Even more surprising was the comparison with the effects of sodium azide, which dramatically inhibited OCR both after acute treatment (Fig. 3.7A-B), and after 48hrs in culture (Fig. 3.7C). Correspondingly, IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 all significantly decreased after 10 days treatment with sodium azide in senescent cells (Fig. 3.7D), demonstrating a dramatically different effect to KCN.

Cell culture media samples from both KCN- and sodium azide-treated senescent cells were analysed by cytokine array in an attempt to reveal a more detailed picture of their opposing effects on the SASP (Fig. 3.6E and 3.7E, respectively). As I observed in my own ELISA analysis, KCN further exacerbated a number of major pro-inflammatory cytokines, including FGF-2, GROalpha and VEGFA, compared to untreated senescent controls (Fig. 3.6F). Both VEGF and FGF-2 are key angiogenic growth factors, with FGF-2 also involved in promotion of cell proliferation and prevention of apoptosis (Sahni and Francis, 2004; Kim *et al.*, 2012). By comparison, sodium azide-treated cells exhibited significantly reduced levels of both VEGFA and GROalpha, along with other key SASP factors MCP-1, GM-CSF, G-CSF and IFNγ (Fig. 3.7F).



Figure 3.7: Sodium azide reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) Effect of increasing doses of sodium azide on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=4

technical replicates (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1, (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or sodium azide-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and sodium azide-treated (0.1mM, 0.5mM, 1mM) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates, (E) Cytokine array analysis of young non-irradiated, senescent, and sodium azide-treated (0.1mM) senescent fibroblasts represented as a heat map of fold-change in cytokine levels. Grey colour indicates levels outside the detectable range. Samples from one independent experiment used for analysis, n=3 technical replicates, (F) Levels of key cytokines analysed by cytokine array in (E) which showed significant increase in senescence and decrease with sodium azide treatment. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001

A possible explanation for this disparity is that KCN does not remain in the complex longterm, and its inhibition can be reversed by the presence of pyruvate (Nuskova et al., 2010) which is more likely to occur over long-term cell culture. Additionally, the inhibitory effect of KCN on cellular respiration was much weaker than that observed by sodium azide, which would explain the contrasting effects if OCR is an important factor in SASP production. Studies have also shown that CIV must be inhibited by a minimum of 60% before a change in OCR can be observed (Leavesley et al., 2008), so it is likely that the specific inhibition of CIV was not maintained at this level for long enough to produce a measurable change in OCR for long in culture. KCN can also act as an inhibitor of SOD1 (Malik et al., 2020) and has been shown to increase ROS levels (Correia et al., 2012) which could suggest a ROS-dependent increase in SASP if there is indeed a causal relationship between the two, particularly as OCR was unaffected while ROS (Section 3.7) and SASP both increased. Alternatively, or in addition to this explanation, studies suggest that sodium azide may also inhibit CV (Hong and Pedersen, 2008), and indeed I found that its effects on OCR and SASP closely matched that of oligomycin treatment, a known CV inhibitor. Further investigation into the mechanism of action of both drugs in the senescent models tested is needed to determine if either of these proposed explanations are correct.

3.1.5 Oligomycin reduces OCR and inhibits SASP factor production

In order to assess the effect of CV (ATP synthase) inhibition on SASP production I treated cells with increasing doses of oligomycin (0.25, 0.5, 1.25, and 2.5 μ M) (**Figure 3.8**). Acute treatment in proliferating cells showed an immediate dose-dependent reduction in OCR which plateaued at 60% inhibition at 0.5 μ M and above (Fig. 3.8A-B). After 48hrs exposure to oligomycin in culture this inhibition increased to >80% (Fig. 3.8C). In senescent cells treated for 10 days post-irradiation, all three measured SASP factors were significantly reduced at the lowest tested dose (Fig. 3.8D). As the lowest effective dose, 0.25 μ M oligomycin was analysed by cytokine array (Fig. 3.8E), which showed a wider range of reduced SASP factor secretion following chronic treatment with oligomycin, including G-CSF, VEGFA, and IL-15 (Fig. 3.8F).

Together this data shows that chronic treatment with the CV inhibitor oligomycin at a dose that induces 50% inhibition of OCR is sufficient to significantly reduce secretion of pro-inflammatory SASP factors *in vitro*.



Figure 3.8: Oligomycin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) Effect of increasing doses of oligomycin on cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=5 technical replicates, (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1, (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs

in control or oligomycin-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and oligomycin-treated (0.25, 1.25 and 2.5 μ M) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates, (E) Cytokine array analysis of young non-irradiated, senescent, and oligomycin-treated (0.25 μ M) senescent fibroblasts represented as a heat map of fold-change in cytokine levels. Grey colour indicates levels outside the detectable range. Samples from one independent experiment used for analysis, n=3 technical replicates, (F) Levels of key cytokines analysed by cytokine array in (E) which showed significant increase in senescence and decrease with oligomycin treatment. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean±S.E.M. **p<0.05, *p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001

3.1.6 FCCP elevates OCR and does not inhibit SASP factor production

Finally, in order to examine the influence of mitochondrial respiratory uncoupling on development of a SASP, I administered increasing doses of the mild uncoupler FCCP to proliferating and senescent cells (**Figure 3.9**). Acute treatment in proliferating cells produced a dose-dependent (0.25, 0.5, 1.25 and 2.5µM) increase in OCR (Fig. 3.9A-B), which was the expected response to respiratory uncoupling at the doses tested. This confirmed that FCCP functioned as expected. After 48hr treatment in culture OCR was only minimally decreased by around 15% compared to untreated controls (Fig. 3.9C), demonstrating minor influence on OCR as well as tolerability by the cells to prolonged exposure to the uncoupler.

A lower dose range was used in senescent cell experiments as 1.25 and 2.5 μ M FCCP showed large increases in OCR. In order to use doses capable of partially uncoupling respiration and potentially decreasing mitochondrial ROS production as noted in the literature (Miwa and Brand, 2003; Abramov;Scorziello and Duchen, 2007) without completely disrupting oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production, I tested chronic FCCP treatment in the range of 0.05-0.5 μ M in senescent cells. After treatment for 10 days at these doses, secretion of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 was only slightly reduced, with only IL-8 significantly reduced by 0.25 μ M FCCP (Fig. 3.9D). This data shows that treatment with low

dose FCCP does not have a strong impact on SASP development, and any change in cytokine secretion is unlikely to be mediated by changes in OCR here. While 0.25μ M FCCP elicited a decrease in IL-8, and 0.5μ M had no effect, this supports the idea that doses of $\geq 0.5\mu$ M would have been unlikely to change the SASP further. Of note, previous studies have shown that chronic FCCP treatment can inhibit cell proliferation and induce senescence in young healthy cells (Stockl *et al.*, 2007), so it may not be surprising that chronic treatment with FCCP in this project was unable to rescue SASP factor secretion. Stockl et al also showed that FCCP-induced cell cycle arrest could be rescued by antioxidant treatment, supporting a role for oxidative stress.



Figure 3.9: FCCP does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. A) Effect of increasing doses of FCCPon cellular respiration in young MRC5 fibroblasts measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, data taken from one experiment, n=4 technical replicates, (B) OCR data taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated baseline control = 1, (C) OCR measurements in young proliferating cells cultured for 48hrs in control or FCCP-treated medium. (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and FCCP-treated (0.05μ M, 0.25μ M, 0.5μ M) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from two independent experiments conducted

as described in Fig.3.1, n=6 technical replicates. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001

Overall, my data provides evidence that chronic treatment with inhibitors of respiratory complexes I, III, IV and V can prevent the development of a SASP *in vitro*. This finding suggests that no single respiratory complex is more important in regulating senescence, and that the role of mitochondria in senescence is more likely related to a function of mitochondrial respiration that is impacted by inhibition at multiple points in the ETC.

3.2 Inhibition of OCR correlates with SASP suppression

I next wanted to examine mitochondrial respiration in senescent cells treated for 10 days post-irradiation to determine a) whether there was a difference in acute and long-term effects, or between proliferating and senescent cells, on OCR by the tested inhibitors, and b) if the effects of chronic ETC inhibition on OCR correlated with those seen in SASP factor secretion. To do this I treated MRC5 fibroblasts with the lowest effective dose of each drug identified in Figures 3.2-3.9 for 10 days immediately after irradiation (Figure 3.10). OCR was analysed by Seahorse XF24 analysis and normalised to plated cell count. Plated cell count was used because the small size of XF24 plate wells - and therefore small sample sizes – made collecting and quantifying protein concentration at the end of experiments particularly difficult. Additionally, in preliminary tests in larger cell numbers I established that cell numbers in senescent conditions did not change dramatically following irradiation. Furthermore, at this point I also included the biguanide metformin as an alternate CI inhibitor to rotenone, as it is a well-established drug with a known safety profile in humans. Metformin is also thought to inhibit CI activity at the I_F site of CI as opposed to the I_Q site as with rotenone, offering a comparison of site-specific inhibition of CI. All tested drug doses were low enough to minimise cell toxicity, and all proliferating cell samples were plated the evening before analysis and measured the following morning, minimising the chance for further cell division.

Overall, I found that cells treated with metformin, myxothiazol and sodium azide retained a substantial inhibition of baseline OCR after 10 days, functioning at less than 20% that of untreated controls, lower even than young proliferating cells (Fig. 3.10A-B). Figure 3.10B demonstrates a more reproducible relationship change between drug treatments and untreated controls than shown by raw values. This finding corresponds with my previous data showing that myxothiazol and sodium azide were two of the most effective drugs at reducing SASP factor secretion and elicited the greatest acute effects on OCR, suggesting a strong influence of OCR in SASP development. Metformin was also found to have significant inhibitory effects on OCR acutely, and SASP factor production after chronic treatment for 10 days, and is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 4. Treatment with oligomycin also produced a significantly lower level of baseline OCR. Though this is not unexpected as inhibition of ATP synthase activity is predicted to have a considerable
impact on ETC function, this data shows that oligomycin retains its influence after longterm treatment at around 60% inhibition.

By comparison, treatment with rotenone and antimycin A did not retain a significant inhibition of OCR after 10 days treatment, demonstrating reduced effectiveness over time for these two inhibitors. Though a slight reduction in OCR is seen with rotenone, this was not statistically significant. This reduced effectiveness suggests an adaptive response by cells to long term treatment with certain inhibitors. Such adaptation could include degradation of the affected complexes or mitochondria, or turnover of the drug in culture over time. Indeed, some studies have shown increased mitophagy (Giordano *et al.*, 2014) and compensatory modifications to metabolic pathways (Worth *et al.*, 2014) in rotenone-treated primary neurons, indicating attempts by cells to adapt to rotenone treatment over time.

Malonate, KCN and FCCP again showed minimal effect on OCR following chronic treatment. It is clear from this data that malonate's lack of effect is not due to a slow accumulation in the cell or mitochondria, further confirming the likelihood that it cannot permeate the cell membranes. Minimal change following chronic treatment with FCCP was also expected based on the initial OCR measurements in proliferating cells. FCCP treatment again shows greater variability in OCR than most other inhibitors likely as a result of biological variation in the required dose for respiratory uncoupling. This data further confirms that FCCP does not have a significant effect on OCR after long-term treatment. It is also clear that long-term treatment with KCN does not retain the mild inhibitory effect seen after 48hrs in culture, at 10 days, supporting the idea that its effects are reversible.

These findings for each of the inhibitors were clarified further by examining the proportional change in OCR (Fig. 3.10B), by normalising OCR data to each corresponding untreated senescent control sample, which showed a reproducible relationship change in OCR when treated with each of these inhibitors. This analysis showed a much reduced variability for most of the inhibitors, proving that the proportion of OCR inhibited by each drug was consistent.

Overall, those inhibitors which demonstrated the greatest suppression of OCR were also most successful at inhibiting SASP factor production after 10 days. This supports a relationship between OCR and SASP production, and as such I conducted correlation analysis between baseline OCR measurements and each SASP factor (Fig. 3.10C). This analysis showed a significant positive correlation between OCR and all three measured SASP factors, IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 (Fig. 3.10E). This analysis also included data points from ROS modifying drugs which are described later, in order to improve the robustness of the analysis. Overall, there appears to be a positive linear relationship between OCR and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells, supporting a potential regulatory role for mitochondrial respiration in development of a SASP.

To further confirm this relationship I also conducted correlation analysis using proportional data for all 4 measurements, plotting values as a percentage of their corresponding untreated senescent control sample (Fig. 3.10D). This allowed me to determine whether there was a direct relationship between percentage inhibition of each measured product. This analysis again showed a positive linear correlation between inhibition of OCR and each SASP factor. The statistical significance of each correlation was mildly increased (Fig. 3.10E), likely associated with the reduced variability observed in proportional analysis compared to raw measurements.



Figure 3.10: Correlation between OCR and SASP. (A) Oxygen consumption rates for young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with inhibitors of the electron transport chain for 10 days post-irradiation measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer. Data represents averages taken from 3-5 independent experiments for each condition; n=3-5 (B) OCR taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated senescent control = 1. n=3-5 (C) Correlation analysis of raw OCR data from (A) and levels of SASP factors IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 measured by ELISA in the same conditions (Fig. 3.2-9). (D) Correlation analysis of OCR and SASP factor inhibition represented by correcting data

to senescent control = 100%. Note: for improved robustness correlation analysis also includes data points for ROS modifier drugs discussed later. For both measures an overall average value has been taken from all independent experiments completed; for OCR n=3-5, and for cytokine data n=6 technical replicates as before. (E) Significance of correlations between raw and proportional OCR and SASP factor measurements. Data is mean±S.E.M.*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.001

Taken together these findings provide evidence of a positive correlation between mitochondrial respiration and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells. Treatment with inhibitors which substantially reduced OCR were most effective at preventing development of a SASP, suggesting mitochondrial respiration is key to SASP production and may be an important therapeutic target. Of note, despite the extremely low OCR of senescent cells treated with metformin, myxothiazol or sodium azide, there was minimal cell death observed and cells appeared to survive in culture long-term. Though there were perhaps some morphological changes in these cells, such as smoother cell bodies and smaller size identified by eye under microscopy, it seemed clear that such reduced OCR did not affect cell survival and so raised the question of the source of energy production in these cells.

3.3 Inhibition of electron transport at complexes I, III, IV and V force cells

to rely on glycolysis for ATP production

Based on OCR data and the ability of senescent cells exhibiting almost no mitochondrial respiration to survive in culture I hypothesized that these cells were relying on glycolysis to provide the necessary ATP production. This would also allow me to investigate whether inhibitors that suppressed SASP did so as a result of metabolic reprogramming. To test this hypothesis I analysed ATP production rates obtained from Seahorse XF Analyzer analysis to determine how much ATP was derived from oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis (**Figure 3.11**).

This analysis revealed that untreated senescent cells were producing significantly more overall ATP per cell than proliferating controls, but that this increase was reduced by treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and sodium azide, corresponding with trends seen in OCR (Fig. 3.11A-B). This ATP production was not measured for mitochondrial mass or protein content normalisation, however, which may alter these trends due to increased cell size and mitochondrial mass of senescent cells. Of note, although senescent cells are generally considered to be more glycolytic than proliferating cells, this was not observed here. However, other studies have also demonstrated an increase in mitochondrial respiration along with glycolysis upregulation in senescence (Quijano et al., 2012; Dorr et al., 2013; Kaplon et al., 2013). Importantly, all three of these inhibitors induced a complete shutdown of oxidative phosphorylation, meaning that cells treated with these inhibitors were relying entirely on glycolysis. This was also true of cells treated with oligomycin, confirming the accuracy of these measurements as oligomycin is known to decrease mitochondrial ATP production (Hong and Pedersen, 2008). However, in contrast to metformin, myxothiazol and sodium azide, overall ATP production was not substantially reduced following oligomycin treatment compared to untreated controls, and instead these cells compensated for reduced oxidative phosphorylation by upregulating glycolysis. In this case, while overall ATP production was not reduced, OXPHOS-derived ATP production was. This compensation was not present in metformin-, myxothiazol-, or sodium azide-treated cells.

Treatment with rotenone produced a mild reduction in overall ATP production which seemed to come solely from reduced OXPHOS-derived ATP, though it did not induce a

complete shutdown as observed with other inhibitors. This difference between rotenone and metformin – both CI inhibitors – in both OCR and ATP measurements could suggest an aspect of metformin's mechanism of action is more effective at suppressing CI activity over a longer period of time. Though metformin's mechanism of action is the subject of much debate, discussed later.

As with OCR, treatment with antimycin A produced little to no change in ATP production, either overall or specifically from OXPHOS or glycolysis sources. This supports the idea that antimycin A does not retain its inhibitory effect on mitochondrial respiration long term, and that its ability to inhibit SASP production may not rely on long-term suppression of OCR or ATP. Treatment with KCN also did not cause a significant change in ATP production, again demonstrating that its effects on mitochondrial respiration are not maintained in chronic treatment. This was also true of FCCP, which showed minimal difference in either total, OXPHOS- or glycolysis-derived ATP after 10 days, consistent with OCR data.

Overall, these findings show that in those inhibitors which triggered severe reduction in OCR, cells saw a complete shutdown of oxidative phosphorylation and relied solely on glycolysis for ATP production. Treatments which did not substantially inhibit OCR after 10 days showed little to no difference in ATP production. Most conditions which experienced OXPHOS shutdown exhibited significantly reduced ATP production overall, with the exception of those treated with oligomycin which compensated with increased glycolysis. This is also consistent with the observation that oligomycin induced a milder inhibition of OCR than metformin, myxothiazol or sodium azide.

In order to assess the relationship between OXPHOS- and glycolysis-derived ATP production and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells, I conducted correlation analysis between each measure (Fig. 3.11C-D). This analysis revealed a significant positive correlation between OXPHOS-derived ATP and IL-6, IL-8, and IP-10. By comparison, there appeared to be no significant correlation between ATP derived from glycolysis and any of the measured SASP factors. This is an important finding as it provides further evidence that it is the activity of the mitochondrial electron transport chain that is key to SASP production. It is possible that this positive correlation between SASP and OXPHOS ATP is simply a result of the corresponding OCR effects, as reduction in

mitochondrial respiration would logically result in a reduction in ATP from oxidative phosphorylation. To examine this relationship further, experiments were conducted which would force reliance on either oxidative phosphorylation or glycolysis for ATP production without impacting OCR.



Figure 3.11: Correlation between ATP production and SASP. (A) ATP production rates for young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with inhibitors of the electron transport chain for 10 days post-irradiation measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer. Data represents averages taken from 3-5 independent experiments for each condition; n=3-5 (B) ATP measurements taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where total ATP = 100%. n=3-5 (C) Correlation analysis of raw OXPHOS ATP data from (A) and levels of SASP factors IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 measured by ELISA in the same conditions (Fig.3.2-9). (D) Correlation analysis of raw glycolysis ATP data from (A) and levels of SASP

factors. Note: for improved data robustness correlation analysis also includes data points for ROS modifier drugs discussed later. For both measures an overall average value has been taken from all independent experiments completed; for OCR n=3-5, and for cytokine data n=2. (E) Significance of correlations between OXPHOS ATP production and SASP factor measurements. (F) Significance of correlations between glycolysis ATP production and SASP factor measurements. Data is mean±S.E.M. * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001,

3.4 Forced reliance on OXPHOS ATP production does not significantly

affect pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion

By culturing proliferating and senescent cells in media supplemented with galactose instead of glucose for 10 days post-irradiation, I aimed to force cells to rely solely on oxidative phosphorylation for ATP production (**Figure 3.12**) (Aguer *et al.*, 2011). I hypothesized that this increased reliance on OXPHOS would result in elevated SASP factor secretion, based on my findings of reduced SASP factors in senescent cells with inhibited mitochondrial respiration.

However, no significant difference in IL-6 or IL-8 was observed between glucose- and galactose-cultured conditions, though a significant increase in IP-10 levels was found between senescent cells cultured in galactose compared to glucose (Fig. 3.12A). An increase in IL-8 levels was observed between proliferating controls cultured in galactose compared to glucose, but this was not statistically significant. I also examined OCR (Fig. 3.12C) and hydrogen peroxide production rates (Fig. 3.12B) under these same conditions and again found no significant difference between glucose- and galactose-cultured in galactose were relying heavily on OXPHOS for ATP production (>80%) (Fig. 3.12D-E). Therefore it seems that upregulating OXPHOS activity specifically, without affecting OCR, does not substantially affect pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells. As such, this would suggest that it is manipulation of OCR, and not oxidative phosphorylation-derived ATP production, that is key to preventing development of a SASP.

Based on my previous correlation analysis showing no significant relationship between glycolysis-derived ATP and SASP suppression, it would seem that this source of ATP production does not have a role here. In order to confirm this I conducted tests to promote reliance on glycolysis without impacting OCR.





3.5 Treatment with monensin increases pro-inflammatory cytokine

secretion

In order to evaluate the influence of glycolysis-derived ATP production in SASP production, I treated cells with the ionophore, monensin (**Figure 3.13**). Though there is some debate in the literature (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2020), the prevailing mechanism of action is generally thought to be promotion of ATP production from glycolysis (Mariani *et al.*, 1989; Erecinska *et al.*, 1991; Mookerjee;Nicholls and Brand, 2016) without interfering with OCR. Based on this I hypothesised that promotion of glycolysis reliance – and therefore reduction of OXPHOS influence - would reduce SASP factor secretion as suggested by the previous ETC inhibitor tests. However, during initial tests in young proliferating cells I instead found a dramatic increase in both IL-6 and IL-8 levels in cells treated with 0.5 μ M monensin for 3 days (Fig. 3.13A). Though this finding has caveats – monensin's cell toxicity was pronounced, and the dose tested could only be tolerated by cells for 3 days before widespread cell death was observed. Further tests are warranted to determine a more well-tolerated dose for long-term treatment.

In addition, acute respiratory analysis conducted by Dr Satomi Miwa using higher doses of monensin demonstrated no immediate effect following addition of 5μ M monensin, while 10μ M significantly increased both OCR (Fig. 3.13B) and ATP production (Fig. 3.13C-D). In contrast to much of the literature these high doses of monensin did not result in sole reliance on glycolysis for ATP production. 5μ M monensin did not alter the balance of OXPHOS- and glycolysis-derived ATP production, but 10μ M did cause a significant increase in the proportion of OXPHOS ATP and decrease in glycolysis ATP production, again an opposing effect to those noted in other studies. As such, it is possible that the observed effects on pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion by chronic monensin treatment is a result of factors other than OCR or ATP manipulation, though differences between acute and long-term effects of the drug are also possible.



Figure 3.13: Young fibroblasts treated with monensin exhibit elevated SASP factor secretion, and acute treatment at high doses increases OCR and ATP production. (A) Levels of IL-6 and IL-8 in young untreated fibroblasts and young fibroblasts treated with 0.5µM monensin for 3 days, n=4 technical replicates, data analysed using 2-tailed unpaired t-test. Data is mean±S.E.M. (B) Oxygen consumption rates and (C) ATP production rates, measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer in young fibroblasts treated with 5 or 10µM monensin injected during measurement, n=2-7 technical replicates, Data is Mean±S.D. provided by Dr Satomi Miwa. (D) ATP measurements taken from (C) and represented as a proportion where total ATP = 100%, n=2-7 technical replicates. Data analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001

Based on my own observations and findings within the literature (Ketola *et al.*, 2010; Charvat and Arrizabalaga, 2016), I propose that the elevated cytokine secretion was in fact a result of highly elevated oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage caused by monensin treatment. A study by Charvat & Arrizabalaga (2016) found that treatment of the parasite *Toxoplama gondii* with monensin disrupted mitochondrial function and membrane potential, which was reversed by overexpression of antioxidant proteins, implicating a role for ROS production. They proposed that this ROS would likely be a result of OXPHOS uncoupling, as monensin is capable of shuttling protons across mitochondrial membranes. Although this study used concentrations far below those required to affect mammalian cells, other studies have also found that monensin can cause mitochondrial damage in murine fibroblasts, along with proliferation inhibition, ionic imbalances and impaired ATP production (Souza *et al.*, 2005).

Though findings with monensin are not without flaws, data from galactose culture seems to confirm that OCR inhibition is key to SASP reduction, and not specifically OXPHOS activity or ATP production.

3.6 Does manipulation of ROS production specifically affect pro-

inflammatory cytokine secretion?

I next wanted to examine the role of ROS production specifically in the development of senescence as it is possible that the observed effects of OCR inhibition could result from changes in ROS production. To do this I tested the effects of multiple ROS modifying drugs with the intention of manipulating ROS levels without impacting respiration. Here I measured the levels of total H₂O₂ secreted by cells in suspension using the established Amplex Red/resorufin fluorescent assay (Mohanty *et al.*, 1997).

3.6.1 Antioxidants

I first tested the effects of established and novel antioxidants on ROS production rates over 10 days of treatment post-IR (**Figure 3.14**). MitoQ is a well-known mitochondriallytargeted antioxidant which functions by forming a ubiquinol derivative in the mitochondria and preventing lipid peroxidation. A new class of ROS-targeting drugs have recently been developed, specific to individual ROS-producing sites of the ETC. S1QEL1.1 and S1QEL2.2 were identified in previous studies as effective suppressors of ROS from site I_{Qi} of complex I, while S3QEL2 targets site III_{Qi} of complex III (Brand *et al.*, 2016). While all four drugs were able to mildly reduce ROS production when given acutely in proliferating cells (**Figure 3.16**), after 10 days of treatment in senescent cells only MitoQ retained a mild inhibition of ROS, though even this was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.14A-B). This suggests that the effectiveness of these drugs is less potent over time.

To compare with previous data, I also tested the effects of MitoQ (Fig. 3.14C), S1QEL1.1 (Fig. 3.14D), S1QEL2.2 (Fig. 3.14E) and S3QEL2 (Fig. 3.14F) on SASP factor secretion along with OCR (Fig. 3.14G) and ATP levels (Fig. 3.14H-I). S1QEL1.1 did not show any influence on SASP factor secretion at the dose ranges tested, while S1QEL2.2 was able to reduce IL-6 only at 500nM concentrations. This is not surprising given that these drugs had no effect on either ROS production, OCR or ATP production in this model. S3QEL2 showed a mild reduction in all three measured cytokines at the highest dose tested of 10μ M, but none were statistically significant. A higher dose may have been more effective, however I experienced issues with drug stability above certain doses in culture which made this problematic. S3QEL2 also showed no effect on ROS, OCR or ATP. Overall it appears that

the S1QEL and S3QEL drugs tested, while effective at reducing ROS production rates acutely in proliferating cells, do not have effects on any of the measured markers after 10 days in senescent cells, with the exception of S1QEL2.2 on IL-6.

Treatment with MitoQ showed a mild dose-dependent trend towards SASP reduction, though only IL-8 secretion after treatment with 200nM MitoQ showed a significant decrease. Based on MitoQ's mild impact on ROS production rates it seemed unlikely that this was a solely ROS-mediated effect, and indeed when assessing OCR measurements I found that MitoQ caused a significant reduction in mitochondrial respiration. This was accompanied by a substantial decrease in OXPHOS-derived ATP production and an upregulation of glycolysis, similar to the effects observed by previously tested ETC inhibitors. This lead me to believe that the observed effect on SASP factor secretion by MitoQ, though mild (with the exception of IL-8), was a result of MitoQ's effect on respiration, and not ROS.



Figure 3.14: Treatment with site-specific mitochondrial ROS inhibitors does not reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells. (A) H_2O_2 production rates measured by Amplex Red assay in young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 200nM MitoQ, 100nM S1QEL1.1, 500nM S1QEL2.2 or 10µM S3QEL2, n=3-5 independent experiments (B) Effect on ROS production rates taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where senescent control = 1, (C-F) Levels of IL-6, IL-8, and IP-

10 secreted by senescent MRC5 fibroblasts treated with (C) MitoQ, CI-targeted antioxidants (D) S1QEL 1.1, or (E) S1QEL 2.2, and CIII-targeted antioxidant (F) S3QEL 2. ELISA data taken from one (S1QEL1.1, S1QEL2.2) or two (MitoQ, S3QEL2) independent experiments, n=3 and 6 technical replicates respectively. (G) Oxygen consumption rates measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer in young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 200nM MitoQ, 100nM S1QEL1.1, 500nM S1QEL2.2, or 10µM S3QEL2, n=3 (H) ATP production rates in young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 200nM MitoQ,100nM S1QEL1.1, 500nM S1QEL2.2 or 10µM S3QEL2, n=3. (I) ATP production measurements from (H) represented as a proportion of total ATP. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001

This was a particularly surprising result as MitoQ is generally accepted as a ROS scavenger with no effect on respiration (Kelso *et al.*, 2001), but further examination of the literature revealed that other studies have found the same inhibitory effect as seen here. Reilly et al (2012) found that multiple mitochondria-targeted compounds inhibited oxidative phosphorylation, irrespective of antioxidant activity. This was accompanied by an absence of OCR response to oligomycin or FCCP addition following MitoQ treatment, leading them to propose that MitoQ may interfere with the transfer of electrons from the ETC to oxygen. Other studies have also noted respiratory uncoupling in the presence of mitochondria-targeted antioxidants, as well as elevated basal acidification rate suggesting elevated glycolysis activity (Fink *et al.*, 2012). In support of these findings, a notable difference in this project between the inhibitory effects of MitoQ on ATP production and those of other tested ETC inhibitors produced an overall reduction in ATP levels, MitoQ appears to retain the same level of ATP production as untreated controls by increasing output from glycolysis.

Overall I was not able to scavenge ROS specifically without interference with OCR, and therefore the results given here are not able to answer the question of whether ROS

production specifically is influential on SASP factor secretion. However, data generated here is in accordance with an effect of OCR inhibition on SASP factor production.

3.6.2 MitoParaquat

To assess the effects of increased ROS production on development of a SASP I treated cells with increasing doses of the redox cycler mitoparaquat (Robb *et al.*, 2015) (**Figure 3.15**). Based on the well-documented link between oxidative stress and senescence I hypothesized that the burst of superoxide production resulting from mitoparaquat treatment would increase the production of SASP factors. Surprisingly, I found that all tested doses of mitoparaquat caused a significant reduction in IL-6, IL-8, and IP-10 (Fig. 3.15A). Of note, it was clear from observing cells in culture that the higher tested doses induced significant cell death (Fig. 3.15B), and although cytokine measurements were normalised to cell count, it is likely that the severe stress and reduced cell numbers caused by mitoparaquat may have influenced these results. Based on the cells apparent tolerance for the lowest dose tested, 1µM, I continued further experiments at this dose.

To confirm mitoparaquat's effects on ROS production I measured production rates of cellular hydrogen peroxide via Amplex Red assay, and surprisingly found that after 10 days treated with 1µM mitoparaquat ROS production rates showed a mild decrease, though this did not reach significance (Fig. 3.15C-D). Subsequent tests also revealed that OCR was significantly reduced by mitoparaquat treatment (Fig. 3.15E), which could explain the reduction in SASP factor secretion if there is indeed a causative link between the two. Interestingly, ATP analysis showed a similar picture to that of MitoQ, in which overall ATP levels were maintained, but OXPHOS-derived ATP production was reduced with compensatory upregulation of glycolysis (Fig. 3.15F-G). Further investigation into the mechanism of mitoparaquat is needed to confirm this data, but based on the information presented here it appears that mitoparaquat reduced SASP factor secretion in a manner similar to the previously tested ETC inhibitors, by inhibiting mitochondrial respiration. A number of possible factors could explain this unexpected result. For example, if the dose of mitoparaquat used causes substantial damage to the mitochondria, this would likely result in reduced respiration – though I would expect an increase in ROS production if this was the case, it is possible that mitoparaquat toxicity was pronounced enough that the resulting damage prevented even an initial burst of ROS.



Figure 3.15: MitoParaquat reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in senescent cells (A) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, senescent, and MitoParaquat-treated (1μ M, 5μ M, 10μ M) senescent MRC5 fibroblasts measured by ELISA. Data taken from one experiment conducted as described in Fig.3.2, n=3 technical replicates. (B) Representative brightfield images of cells in culture: young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent cells treated with increasing doses of MitoParaquat, showing increased cell death at higher concentrations. (C) Hydrogen peroxide production rates for young proliferating, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 1μ M MitoParaquat measured by Amplex Red assay, n=3 independent experiments, (D) ROS production rates taken from (C) and represented as a proportion where senescent

control = 1, Data is mean \pm S.E.M. (E) Oxygen consumption rates measured by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer, n=2. (F) ATP production rates, n=2 and (G) ATP measurements taken from (F) and represented as a proportion where total ATP = 100%. Data is mean \pm S.D. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.001

3.7 ROS production rates correlate with SASP suppression

To study the effects of ROS production in more detail, I measured levels of extracellular H₂O₂ in response to each of the previously tested drugs. To confirm the effectiveness of each drug I tested the acute effects on ROS production rates when administered directly during measurement (**Figure 3.16**). This demonstrated a downward trend in ROS production with most of the tested drugs. Exceptions to this include malonate, which showed minimal effect, and KCN which produced a mild increase. Surprisingly antimycin A elicited a reduction in ROS production in contrast to its established ability to increase ROS production from CIII. In this case I suggest that had measurements continued for a longer time period this initial decrease may have risen over time.



Figure 3.16: Acute ROS production rates in proliferating fibroblasts treated with ETC inhibitors and ROS modifiers. Hydrogen peroxide production rates measured by Amplex Red assay for young proliferating fibroblasts treated with inhibitors of the electron transport chain and ROS modifiers administered during ROS measurement, n=2-8 independent experiments. Data is mean \pm S.D. *p<0.05

I next treated senescent cells with the previously tested drugs (**Figure 3.17**). This analysis revealed that of the inhibitors tested, only myxothiazol produced a significant proportional reduction in hydrogen peroxide production rates compared to untreated controls (Fig. 3.17A-B). While a number of other inhibitors did appear to cause a reduction in ROS levels (rotenone, metformin, sodium azide), none of these were statistically significant. Antimycin also induced a significant proportional increase in ROS production rates, which was not an unexpected finding as the literature agrees that antimycin stimulates ROS production at CIII (Miwa *et al.*, 2003; Orr *et al.*, 2015). Though it should still be noted that this method of ROS measurement detects total secreted hydrogen peroxide rather than mitochondrial ROS specifically, and so further work is needed to confirm the source of this increase, despite the established mechanisms of this drug. These results show that after 10 days of treatment in senescent cells, the inhibitors tested – with the exception of myxothiazol and antimycin A - do not retain a significant effect on ROS production, despite strong acute effects.

However, despite not reaching statistical significance, there is a clear trend towards reduced ROS production with a number of drugs which also reduced both OCR and SASP production. To examine this observation in more detail I conducted correlation analysis between raw (Fig. 3.17C) and proportional (Fig. 3.17D) measurements of hydrogen peroxide production and secretion of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10. This analysis showed a significant positive correlation between raw ROS production rates all three SASP factors (Fig. 3.17E). However, when I examined the relationship change between treated and untreated senescent conditions by normalising data to the corresponding untreated senescent condition, the significance of this correlation was noticeably reduced (Fig. 3.17F). The relationship between ROS and SASP appears to be weaker than that between OCR and SASP, and is likely an indirect effect of the latter connection given that ROS production is a product of mitochondrial respiration.



Figure 3.17: Correlation between ROS and SASP. (A) Hydrogen peroxide production rates measured by Amplex Red assay for young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with inhibitors of the electron transport chain and ROS modifiers for 10 days post-irradiation, n=3-6 independent experiments. (B) Hydrogen peroxide production rates taken from (A) and represented as a proportion where untreated senescent control = 1, Data is mean±S.E.M. (C) Correlation analysis of ROS data from (A) and levels of SASP factors IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 measured by ELISA in the same conditions (Fig. 3.2-9). (D)

Correlation analysis of percentage inhibition of ROS and SASP factors, represented by correcting to SEN CTRL = 100%. For both measures an overall average value has been taken from all independent experiments completed; for ROS n=3-6, and for cytokine data n=6 technical replicates as before, (E) Significance of correlations between ROS production and SASP factor measurements. (F) Significance of correlations between percentage inhibition of ROS and SASP factors. Data is mean \pm S.D. *p<0.05 **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

3.8 ROS production rates correlate with OCR

In order to further clarify the relationship between ROS, OCR and SASP, I compared the effects on ROS with those on OCR of all previously tested drugs (**Figure 3.18**). When looking at the proportional change of each measure compared to untreated senescent controls, a clear correlation was evident for a number of the drugs. Of those that elicited an effect on OCR and ROS production, rotenone and MitoQ exhibited comparable effects on both measures after 10 days of treatment post-IR. While they did not elicit an equivalent reduction in each measure, metformin, myxothiazol, sodium azide, oligomycin and mitoparaquat all demonstrated a significant reduction in OCR, and a milder, but still reduced, rate of ROS production. Antimycin and KCN both produced little to no effect on OCR compared to untreated controls, but increased ROS production. This finding of increased ROS is not unexpected based on previous literature on the mechanisms of both drugs (Gunasekar *et al.*, 1996; Correia *et al.*, 2012; Brand, 2016).

Correlation analysis based on both raw and proportional measurements of both factors (Fig. 3.18B) revealed a significant positive correlation between OCR and ROS production, which was largely expected as it is well known that increased mitochondrial respiration leads to increased ROS production (Murphy, 2009). Therefore, it is reasonable to suggest that the observed correlation between ROS production and SASP may simply be an indirect effect of the influence OCR has on SASP, and not a ROS-dependent effect at all.



Figure 3.18: Correlation analysis between ROS production and OCR. (A) Proportion change in hydrogen peroxide production rates measured by Amplex Red assay for young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with inhibitors of the electron transport chain or ROS modifiers for 10 days post-irradiation (n=3-6 independent experiments) plotted with OCR measurements from Seahorse XF24 Analyzer for corresponding conditions (n=3-5 independent experiments), represented by correcting data by SEN CTRL = 1. (B) Correlation analysis of raw ROS and OCR measurements in the same conditions. (C) Correlation analysis of percentage inhibition of OCR and ROS measurements by correcting for SEN CTRL = 100%. For both measures an overall average value has been taken from all independent experiments completed; for ROS n=3-6, and for OCR data n=3-5. Data is mean±S.D.

3.9 Discussion

3.9.1 Inhibition of electron transfer at multiple points in the ETC is sufficient to suppress the SASP

In this study, I provide evidence that interruption of electron transport at multiple points during oxidative phosphorylation is sufficient to prevent the production of a SASP *in vitro* in senescent human fibroblasts. Mitochondrial dysfunction is a common feature of senescent cells, and it has been shown that mitochondria are essential for the development of the senescent phenotype (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). Previous reports have demonstrated that multiple manipulations of mitochondrial function can induce premature senescence, including partial respiratory uncoupling (Stockl *et al.*, 2007), disrupted respiratory complex assembly (Miwa *et al.*, 2014) and function (Yoon *et al.*, 2003; Stockl *et al.*, 2006). It is clear that mitochondrial function plays an important role in cellular senescence, but as yet the specifics of that role remain unclear. As such, I aimed to examine in finer detail how multiple aspects of mitochondrial function influence the senescent phenotype, through pharmacological inhibition of each mitochondrial respiratory complex, treatment with mild uncouplers of oxidative phosphorylation, and manipulation of mitochondrial ROS production.

As previously described, other studies have demonstrated a link between mitochondrial ROS production and induction of senescence and the SASP via a persistent DDR - and have even shown that suppression of ROS production can prevent onset of senescence (Passos *et al.*, 2010) - but few have taken a site-specific approach, opting instead to suppress ROS production generally (Saretzki;Murphy and von Zglinicki, 2003; Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). Though this relationship is not without debate (Stockl *et al.*, 2007), it seems clear that ROS production is an important factor in senescence, and identifying whether a specific site of ROS production holds more influence than others warrants investigation.

Screening of electron transport inhibitors and antioxidants allowed me to dissect the relationship between oxidative phosphorylation, mitochondrial ROS production, and induction of the senescent phenotype and SASP. I initially hypothesized that, as the primary source of ROS production within the mitochondria (Wong *et al.*, 2017) and the most commonly and severely affected respiratory complex with age and age-related

disease (Thomas;Keeney and Bennett, 2012; Pogson *et al.*, 2014; Hernansanz-Agustin *et al.*, 2017), inhibition of complex I function would be the most likely candidate for alleviating the senescent phenotype. Indeed, previous studies have shown that disrupted function (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2009) or assembly (Miwa *et al.*, 2014) of CI can induce senescence in healthy cells. These studies demonstrate that a dysfunctional CI is an integral part of senescence initiation. As such, by suppressing the activity of such dysfunctional CI in senescent cells, I aimed to remove the harmful impact of the impaired complex; namely, aberrant ROS production and oxidative stress, and subsequent SASP production. This could be achieved by use of CI inhibitors which suppress excessive ROS generation. However, I instead discovered that inhibition of electron transfer not only at complex I, but at complexes I, III, IV and V, was sufficient to prevent the induction of a SASP in irradiation-induced senescence (*Figure 3.19*).



Figure 3.19: Heat map summary of the effect of electron transport chain inhibitor treatment on SASP factor production. Heat map represents the fold change in IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 production in non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with increasing doses of inhibitors of mitochondrial CI (rotenone), CII (malonate), CII (myxothiazol and antimycin), CIV (sodium azide and KCN), CV (oligomycin), and mitochondrial membrane potential (FCCP). Across all experiments data was normalised to the corresponding untreated Senescent Control condition. Overall, data demonstrates effective suppression of SASP factor production when senescent cells were treated with rotenone, myxothiazol, antimycin A, sodium azide, and oligomycin. n=6 technical replicates over 2 independent experiments.

Initial screening showed that treatment with inhibitors of complexes I (rotenone), IV (sodium azide) and V (oligomycin) was able to reduce secreted levels of IL-6, IL-8, and IP-10 in MRC5 fibroblasts when administered immediately after irradiation for 10 days. Inhibitors of CIII (antimycin and myxothiazol) were also able to significantly reduce levels of IL-6 and IP-10, though they showed minimal effect on IL-8 secretion outside of a slight downward trend with higher doses of myxothiazol (n.s.). These findings were true even if the target complexes were not fully inhibited (~50% inhibition), suggesting complete inhibition of mitochondrial complex activity was not necessary to alleviate the SASP. Inclusion of the anti-diabetic biguanide metformin - a widely accessible drug with a wellestablished safety profile in humans - represented a more physiologically practical CI inhibitor than rotenone, with therapeutic potential. In Chapter 4 I show that it too was able to successfully reduce SASP factor secretion after 10 days treatment post-irradiation. Inhibitors of CIV provided slightly more controversial results, with potassium cyanide (KCN) almost universally exacerbating secretion of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, while sodium azide reduced production of these same factors. Possible explanations for this disparity are described above, but it appears that in my experimental conditions CIV inhibition by KCN did not work as expected. This limitation may be overcome by further review of the effects of KCN on respiration to clarify these findings.

An additional limitation to be addressed in future work is the inability of malonate to permeate intact cells and access the mitochondria. While we did not know at the beginning of this project that malonate was non-cell-permeable, attempts were made to address this issue once it came to light, by using proposed cell-permeable malonate prodrugs (Ehinger *et al.*, 2016) (data not shown). Unfortunately, these drugs were also unsuccessful at modifying mitochondrial respiration. Further work is needed in order to truly examine the influence of CII activity in senescence, perhaps by testing alternative cell-permeable inhibitors such as diazoxide (Schafer *et al.*, 1969; Ralph *et al.*, 2011), thenoyltrifluoroacetone (TTFA) or atpenins (reviewed by (Kluckova *et al.*, 2013)).

SASP suppression following mild inhibition of multiple complexes points to a non-specific mechanism of action that does not rely on the function of a particular respiratory complex in order to prevent SASP development. It also suggests that no single complex is key to influencing SASP. Rather, interruption of electron flow – irrespective of location in the ETC

 is the important determining factor. More likely, these effects are mediated by an aspect of mitochondrial respiration which is impacted by inhibition of any respiratory complex.
 Prime candidates for this regulatory role that were subsequently investigated included OCR, ROS, and ATP production.

Further examination by cytokine array revealed that additional SASP factors with roles in cell survival (G-CSF, VEGF-A), differentiation (G-CSF, GM-CSF), and immune cell recruitment (GRO-alpha, MIP-1a, MCP-1, IFNy) were also decreased when treated with these same drugs, demonstrating a broad suppression of pro-inflammatory SASP when electron transport is inhibited within the mitochondria. This could suggest that interfering with mitochondrial electron transport impacts an upstream regulator of the SASP, causing a global reduction in pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, as opposed to affecting downstream targets or individual SASP factors. It is possible that inhibition of mitochondrial function reduces the levels of intermediates required for the production of these SASP factors at the transcriptional, translational or activation level. For example, a functioning ETC is required for pyrimidine synthesis (Khutornenko *et al.*, 2010), and pyrimidine deficiency has recently been linked to mtDNA release and innate immune signalling via the cGAS-STING pathway (Sprenger *et al.*, 2021). Studies have also shown that oncogene-induced senescence can be established and maintained by suppression of nucleotide metabolism (Aird *et al.*, 2013).

This data supports an important role for OCR, ROS, or overall mitochondrial function in regulating SASP. Targeting the electron transport chain specifically also offers a better approach than global removal of mitochondria, particularly as the observed SASP suppression can be achieved by pharmacological intervention targeted specifically to the mitochondria, such as with metformin which preferentially accumulates within the mitochondrial matrix (Wheaton *et al.*, 2014).

It is important to consider that there are other potential candidates in regulating SASP development, which could also be influenced by the inhibition of mitochondrial function demonstrated here. Manipulation of electron transport can have implications for the NAD/NADH ratio, and elevated NAD+ has been linked to SASP regulation (Nacarelli *et al.*, 2019). It is also possible that by modifying mitochondrial function in this way that these drugs also suppress leakage of mtDNA from the mitochondria – a known stimulator of

SASP (Pinti *et al.*, 2014) – by preventing oxidative stress (Cheng *et al.*, 2020) or even alter the balance of fission/fusion. These factors were not measured here, but may warrant further investigation in future.

3.9.2 Treatment with the uncoupler FCCP does not affect development of the SASP

In addition to respiratory complex inhibition, I also investigated the possibility of respiratory coupling efficiency as a mediator of SASP development (Hutter et al., 2004). Treatment with the uncoupler FCCP immediately after irradiation did not alleviate SASP factor secretion and had variable effects on OCR and ROS measurements when given over 10 days, likely as a result of biological variation between samples and the dose of FCCP required to uncouple mitochondrial respiration. While previous studies demonstrate a reduced mitochondrial membrane potential in senescent cells (Hutter et al., 2004), my data suggests that the development of the SASP is not dependent on mitochondrial membrane potential alone. Although mitochondrial membrane potential was not directly measured here, this can be done in future work to confirm these findings. Overall this data supports the idea that inhibition of respiration is key to suppressing SASP production rather than oxidative phosphorylation, as FCCP is known to prevent oxidative phosphorylation (Heytler, 1979; Park et al., 2002; Grasmick et al., 2018) but had no longterm impact on OCR and did not affect SASP factor secretion. A consideration for future examination of the effects of FCCP in senescence would be to evaluate higher doses of FCCP in order to truly assess the impact of mitochondrial uncoupling.

3.9.3 SASP suppression positively correlates with inhibition of OCR

Mitochondrial respiration data revealed a noticeable trend in which the drugs which induced the greatest inhibition of SASP factor secretion also produced the most significant decline in OCR. Each drugs inhibitory effect was also more pronounced when considering the proportional change compared to untreated senescent controls, as opposed to examining raw values.

Interestingly, following treatment with either rotenone or antimycin A for 10 days the respiratory inhibition was not as strong as seen in acute respiratory tests, suggesting an adaptive response by cells to long term treatment with certain respiratory complex inhibitors. Such adaptation could include degradation of the affected complexes or

mitochondria, or turnover of the drug in culture over time. Indeed, some studies have shown increased mitophagy (Giordano *et al.*, 2014) and compensatory modifications to metabolic pathways (Worth *et al.*, 2014) in rotenone-treated primary neurons, indicating attempts by cells to adapt to rotenone treatment over time. This difference in inhibitory effect between acute and long-term treatment provides convincing evidence that the efficiency of tested inhibitors must be confirmed in both circumstances, to compare the intended effect (OCR inhibition) with the hypothesized outcome (SASP factor secretion). Upon comparison, it seems clear that those drugs which did not elicit an immediate strong inhibition of OCR were not as effective at alleviating the SASP, and those which did induce a strong acute reduction in OCR successfully suppressed SASP even if OCR was recovered over time. It would also be of interest to test SASP factor levels following acute treatment with these inhibitors to compare.

The positive correlation identified between OCR and cytokine secretion levels at 10 days post-IR implies that in order for SASP production to occur in senescent cells, mitochondria must have functional oxidative phosphorylation machinery, though the possible reasons for this are numerous. This data also suggests that greater reliance on glycolysis should alleviate some of the burden on OXPHOS, though clearly not enough to fully rescue the senescent phenotype. My findings are in agreement with the knowledge that mitochondria are essential for senescence, and further, could suggest that development of the SASP requires a product of oxidative phosphorylation, though a functional ETC is needed for many mitochondrial processes, such as iron-sulphur cluster synthesis, intermediate metabolism and apoptotic signalling, and its impairment can have wide-ranging consequences. This study focused on production of ATP and ROS as major outputs of the ETC with links to the senescent phenotype (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003; Passos *et al.*, 2010; Ogrodnik *et al.*, 2017). These products were examined in more detail by conducting correlation analysis between SASP factor secretion and ROS and ATP production in the same conditions, assessing OXPHOS- and glycolysis-derived ATP separately.

Closer comparison of the effect of the tested ETC inhibitors on OCR, ROS and SASP measurements when given acutely and over long-term treatment revealed a pattern which indicated the key determining factor in successful SASP suppression (Table 3.9.1). Drugs that caused a significant, immediate reduction in OCR – irrespective of whether this

inhibition was retained after 10 days – were able to effectively prevent induction of a SASP. This is clear when comparing the effects of rotenone and metformin. Both CI inhibitors caused a roughly 50% reduction in OCR at the concentrations tested when given acutely, but while metformin retained a strong inhibition after 10 days and rotenone did not, they both reduced SASP to comparable levels. In addition, antimycin A elicited a significant acute inhibition of OCR, which lessened over time, but long-term treatment actually exacerbated ROS production and yet SASP factor levels were still inhibited. Overall, data suggests that an immediate inhibition of OCR – not ROS – following significant genotoxic stress is sufficient to prevent development of a SASP. In section 5.4 I discuss in further detail the impact of shorter duration OCR inhibition immediately post-IR on the senescent phenotype.

Drug	OCR			SASP	ROS	
	Immediate	48hr	10 days	10 days	Immediate	10 days
Rotenone	50%	54%	24%	Inhibited	50%	35% reduction
(0.1µM)	reduction	reduction	reduction		reduction	(n.s.)
Metformin	44%	90%	81%	Inhibited	25%	25% reduction
(5mM)	reduction	reduction	reduction		reduction	(n.s.)
Malonate	7%	No	13%	No change	15%	No change
(5mM)	reduction	change	reduction		reduction	
Antimycin A	71%	53%	15%	Inhibited	35%	Exacerbated
(0.25µM)	reduction	reduction	reduction	(excl. IL-8)	reduction	
Myxothiazol	73%	94%	91%	Inhibited	50%	35-40%
(0.05µM)	reduction	reduction	reduction	(excl. IL-8)	reduction	reduction
KCN (0.1mM)	12%	40%	No	Exacerbated	Exacerbated	Exacerbated
	reduction	reduction	change			
Sodium Azide	42%	95%	91%	Inhibited	35%	10% reduction
(0.1mM)	reduction	reduction	reduction		reduction	(n.s.)
Oligomycin	43%	82%	60%	Inhibited	30%	No change
(0.25µM)	reduction	reduction	reduction		reduction	
FCCP (0.25µM)	12%	15%	10%	Mild	20%	Mild
	increase	reduction	reduction	inhibition	reduction	exacerbation

Table 3.9.1 Summary of ETC inhibitor effects on OCR, SASP and ROS production

3.9.4 SASP suppression positively correlates with OXPHOS-derived ATP production

Studies have demonstrated reduced ATP levels with increasing cell age (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003), along with elevated glycolytic activity. It has been suggested that downregulation of mitochondrial activity may be an attempt to protect such cells from oxidative stress

(Brand, 1997). While this study observed the opposite with respect to ATP – a dramatic increase in overall ATP production in senescent cells – the idea that suppression of mitochondrial activity may benefit senescent cells appears to hold true in this case. Though it should be considered that measurements in this case were normalised to cell count, and the possibility of cell size- or mitochondrial mass-dependent differences in ATP production cannot be ruled out without further study. This is a wider limitation of this study, in that cell count is not an ideal method of correction, and in future data would be better served by normalisation to protein or mitochondrial content to remove any confounding influences of increased senescent cell size or mitochondrial mass.

Examination of ATP production rates from glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation showed that the most effective suppressors of SASP also induced an almost complete shutdown of oxidative phosphorylation, forcing cells to rely on glycolysis as the primary source of ATP. This was true for senescent cells treated with metformin, myxothiazol, sodium azide, and oligomycin. While senescent cells are known to exist in a more glycolytic state than proliferating controls (Goldstein *et al.*, 1982; James *et al.*, 2015) (though this was not directly observed in this study), cells treated with these electron transport inhibitors exhibited almost no oxidative phosphorylation activity, resulting in a more complete swing towards glycolytic reliance. Despite this shutdown of OXPHOS systems, cells continued to survive in culture, with minimal loss of cell numbers compared to untreated controls. However, total ATP levels were closer to those of young proliferating controls than to senescent, suggesting these cells were likely existing in an energetically-stressed state as glycolytic compensation was not sufficient to maintain ATP levels equivalent to untreated controls.

The positive correlation identified between OXPHOS-derived ATP and SASP factor secretion supports a role for OXPHOS and electron transport chain activity in SASP development, as glycolytic ATP production appeared to have no influence on the measured SASP factors. This also provides evidence that it is specifically suppression of OXPHOS activity, and not upregulation of glycolysis, which is important in SASP development.

In contrast to this idea, however, young and senescent fibroblasts cultured in media supplemented with galactose instead of glucose to promote reliance on oxidative
phosphorylation (Aguer et al., 2011) demonstrated no significant difference in SASP factor secretion. This indicates that increasing oxidative phosphorylation specifically does not promote the SASP – a perhaps contradictory finding to others demonstrated here, as all conditions that reduced OCR also reduced SASP. A possible explanation for this disparity may be that reduction of OXPHOS is sufficient to alleviate the SASP, but enhanced OXPHOS activity is not sufficient to stimulate it. An increase in IL-8 levels with young fibroblasts cultured in galactose compared to glucose may suggest induction of SASP factors when cells rely solely on OXPHOS, but this increase was not statistically significant and was not replicated in IL-6 or IP-10 measurements. OCR and hydrogen peroxide production rates under these same conditions again showed no significant difference between glucose- and galactose-cultured samples. Importantly, not all of the measured ROS production was derived from the mitochondria, and as such OCR provides a better determinant of OXPHOS-specific effects from galactose culture. Although culturing cells in galactose-supplemented media was sufficient to stimulate reliance on OXPHOS, based on the OCR, SASP and ROS data presented here I suggest that this was not sufficient to induce a level of mitochondrial dysfunction or ROS production needed to affect SASP factor secretion. Additionally, culture in galactose forced reliance on OXPHOS for ATP production but had no significant effect on either SASP production, OCR or ROS levels. This therefore suggests that it is OCR, and not OXPHOS ATP, that is important in SASP suppression.

By comparison, treatment with the ionophore monensin in proliferating cells resulted in substantial increases in both IL-6 and IL-8. Based on my own and others' observations (Ketola *et al.*, 2010; Charvat and Arrizabalaga, 2016), I suggested that increased cytokine secretion in response to chronic monensin treatment was a result of elevated oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage, and not the stimulation of glycolysis. This hypothesis was supported by additional respiratory analysis which showed that OXPHOS was not completely suppressed at 5µM, and even less so at 10µM acutely. 10µM monensin even increased OCR acutely, which could suggest that a subsequent burst in ROS production may also occur, and warrants further investigation. Though the SASP data in particular presented here should be interpreted with caution as this test was only conducted once, and there are clear toxicity and tolerability issues with monensin doses. Going forward, a

lower dose would be recommended in order to produce results based on better cell survival and higher final cell counts (current data based on counts of 5-15,000 fibroblasts per treated sample) and lower oxidative stress influence. Doses tested in acute OCR measurements are not feasible for long-term treatment, so acute OCR measurements following treatment with lower doses are necessary to compare. It would also be beneficial to measure oxygen consumption under long term treatment of monensin, if a tolerable dose can be maintained, to compare with SASP factor secretion changes. Furthermore, if monensin's toxic effects can be avoided with lower doses, additional tests in senescent cells would be of interest to examine its glycolysis-stimulating effects on SASP production.

Though findings with monensin are not without flaws, data from galactose culture seems to confirm that OCR inhibition is key to SASP reduction, and not specifically OXPHOS activity or ATP production.

3.9.5 Treatment with ROS modifiers shows minimal effect on SASP

My data strongly supports a role for mitochondrial respiratory function in the development of a SASP, though this was initially interpreted with caution until alternative influences of these treatments could be assessed, such as changes in ROS production resulting from altered OXPHOS activity. Examination of mitochondria-targeted antioxidants revealed a contrasting effect on SASP production between the traditional mitochondria-targeted MitoQ and the more specific S1QELs and S3QEL. Only MitoQ elicited any reduction in levels of measured pro-inflammatory cytokines after 10 days treatment post-IR, though the decrease was only statistically significant at the highest dose tested (200nM) in IL-8 secretion. By comparison, S1QEL1.1, S1QEL2.2 and S3QEL2 showed no influence on cytokine levels. This may suggest a mechanism of action specific to MitoQ which promotes the reduction of SASP, and may not be dependent on its antioxidant activity. This is particularly interesting as MitoQ can be given in humans and is non-toxic (Gane *et al.*, 2010; Snow *et al.*, 2010; Shill *et al.*, 2016), presenting a potentially clinically-relevant drug for future investigation.

Surprisingly, I found no significant reduction in ROS production when S1QELs or S3QELs were given for 10 days in senescent cells, despite a reduction being present when tested

acutely in proliferating cells. This data suggests that while these novel drugs do influence ROS production initially, the effect cannot be maintained long term. However, an important consideration to bear in mind is that while the method used here to measure ROS production rates offers the advantages of being extremely sensitive and specific as an enzymatic assay, it cannot detect mitochondrial ROS specifically in intact cells. As such, changes in ROS production measured here represent total secreted ROS which may mask source-specific changes. ROS reduction by MitoQ at 10 days was also mild, not reaching statistical significance, suggesting an alternative influence on SASP. Subsequent respiration analysis revealed that MitoQ in fact inhibited oxidative phosphorylation substantially, which has been observed in previous studies that suggested a disruption to electron transfer to oxygen (Fink *et al.*, 2012; Reily *et al.*, 2013), and supports my previous observations with ETC inhibitors. S1QELs and S3QEL showed no effect on OCR, further confirming the influence of OCR rather than ROS production over SASP development.

This finding, along with the minimal impact on ROS production over long term treatment, supports three key points: i) the mild reduction in SASP factor secretion by MitoQ was in fact mediated by its inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation, and not its role as an antioxidant; ii) a positive correlation between mitochondrial respiration inhibition and suppression of the SASP; and iii) it is not inhibition of ROS production specifically which is the determining factor in alleviating the SASP, but is instead another downstream result of OCR inhibition. It may also be important to examine any acute effects on OCR of these drugs, in the context of my previous hypothesis that acute OCR inhibition has a strong influence on subsequent SASP production. Comparison of the effects of these ROS-modifying drugs with the ETC inhibitors which suppress OCR acutely and SASP after long-term treatment, supports the idea that OCR, and not ROS, is the important factor in manipulating SASP production. Though we cannot yet discard the possibility that specific reduction of superoxide generation *per se* does not suppress the SASP also. Further work is needed to examine the specific sources of ROS production in these treatment conditions.

Surprisingly, cells treated with mitoparaquat exhibited reduced SASP factor levels, in contradiction with my initial hypothesis that the associated increase in superoxide production stimulated by mitoparaquat (Robb *et al.*, 2015) would increase pro-

inflammatory cytokine secretion. In fact, measurement of total cellular ROS levels found instead that ROS production was reduced. Identification of any source-specific changes, however, would require additional tests. This data is in contrast to much of the literature demonstrating a significant increase in superoxide production associated with mitoparaquat (Robb et al., 2015). I propose that this may be due to a) compensatory mechanisms within the cell in an attempt to combat oxidative damage induced by mitoparaquat, or b) excessive mitochondrial dysfunction or cell damage, as evidenced by the increased cell death observed when trialling higher concentrations of mitoparaquat. Acute measurements of ROS production also showed an immediate reduction in ROS production when mitoparaquat was administered to young proliferating fibroblasts, suggesting that mitochondrial damage is the more likely explanation than adaptation. Additionally, I found that treatment with mitoparaquat significantly reduced basal OCR and triggered a similar switch to glycolytic reliance as seen in other treatments tested, but could also suggest damage-induced shutdown of OXPHOS. Though 1µM mitoparaquat and higher has been effective in other studies (Robb et al., 2015; Antonucci et al., 2019; Booty et al., 2019), for long-term treatments a lower dose of mitoparaquat would be recommended in future experiments.

ROS analysis following treatment with the electron transport inhibitors produced a similar picture to that observed in OCR measurements. Though reductions in ROS production were milder than OCR inhibition, a similar pattern was observed showing the greatest decrease in ROS production by the same drugs that suppressed both OCR and SASP most strongly; namely, rotenone, metformin, myxothiazol, and sodium azide. I determined a positive correlation between H₂O₂ production rates and OCR measurements, which was not unexpected given that elevated oxidative phosphorylation activity is known to lead to greater electron leakage and formation of ROS (Murphy, 2009). Correlation analysis between ROS and SASP largely matched that seen for OCR and SASP, which may indicate that ROS trends are a result of OCR inhibition rather than a direct influence on ROS production.

A limitation to be considered in this analysis is that the methodology used here of examining intact cells using the Amplex Red/resorufin assay is that this does not allow for source-specific ROS analysis. As the peroxidase catalyst cannot access the mitochondria,

measurements obtained from this technique represent total secreted hydrogen peroxide, which consists of both mitochondrial superoxide converted to hydrogen peroxide by MnSOD and diffused out of the mitochondria, and extracellular hydrogen peroxide from other sources. This also means that not all mitochondrial superoxide is necessarily measured, though it is generally accepted that dismutation by MnSOD is an efficient process. In order to make interpretations based on site-specific ROS production, additional study would be required such as the use of isolated mitochondria, though this offers a less physiologically accurate model.

In summary, here I have demonstrated that inhibition of multiple mitochondrial respiratory complexes effectively suppresses multiple pro-inflammatory SASP factors. Data suggests that a general inhibition of mitochondrial electron transport successfully prevents the development of a SASP, suggesting that SASP production requires functioning OXPHOS machinery. Moreover, I have shown that the observed reduction in SASP factor production correlates strongly with mitochondrial respiration, but not with ROS production or glycolytic ATP levels. While the question of specific mitochondrial ROS production and its influence over senescence and the SASP could not be fully answered here, the ability of MitoQ to inhibit both OCR and SASP at the higher doses tested here lends support to the idea that it is OCR inhibition and not antioxidant activity that is the determining factor in SASP suppression. Finally, overall trends examined in this chapter suggest that a strong initial inhibition of OCR at the point of senescence induction may be key to preventing a SASP, while long-term inhibition is less important, though this requires further study. While CI was not the sole influencing factor in SASP production as predicted, it was nevertheless an effective target in SASP manipulation and the existence of drugs which target the complex and are safe for use in humans makes it an exciting avenue of investigation.

Chapter 4: Metformin treatment alleviates SASP and markers of senescence without restoring cell-cycle progression

The results of Chapter 3 provide strong evidence that interference with mitochondrial respiration at multiple points in the ETC is sufficient to prevent the production of a SASP *in vitro*. To develop a more detailed picture of the senescent phenotype under mitochondrial manipulation I next looked at the effects of mitochondrial respiration manipulation on a range of senescent markers and SASP factors. As a widely accessible drug with an established safety profile in humans and proven efficacy in the treatment of diabetes (Hostalek;Gwilt and Hildemann, 2015) as well as successful pre-clinical tests in other age-related diseases (Zhang *et al.*, 2015a), I chose to examine the effects of metformin specifically. While multiple respiratory complexes were effective targets for manipulation and SASP suppression, I chose to focus on CI as the primary mitochondrial source of ROS production (Brand, 2016) and the preferentially affected complex in ageing (Miwa *et al.*, 2014; Rygiel;Grady and Turnbull, 2014).

Although metformin's mechanism of action is still debated and potentially wide-ranging, it presents a more physiologically practical option for CI inhibition than other inhibitors such as rotenone. Metformin is also known to preferentially accumulate in the mitochondria over time, meaning that lower treatment doses can be used and still achieve concentrations over 100-fold higher within the mitochondria (Bridges *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, among the established mechanisms of metformin action is the inhibition of NFκB signalling (Saisho, 2015), which is a promising avenue for SASP modulation.

4.1 Metformin is a CI-specific inhibitor

Given the extensive debate around metformin's mechanism of action, in order to confirm its effects on mitochondrial respiration I conduced preliminary tests using Oxygraph 2k analysis. This allowed a more flexible methodology and ability to interrogate acute respiratory effects in individual complexes and at distinct respiratory states in greater detail. In samples of young proliferating cells I measured basal OCR before permeabilising cells by titration of digitonin. Once permeabilised, cells were provided with CI-linked substrates pyruvate and malate, which stimulate generation of NADH that is subsequently oxidized by respiratory complex I. This was followed by ADP to allow conversion to ATP (State 3 respiration). Cells were then given either metformin or water in 2.5mM steps – allowing OCR to stabilise between steps (roughly 5 minutes) - up to 10mM (Fig. 4.1A). Based on previous work within the lab of Joao Passos and the wider literature (Vazquez-Martin *et al.*, 2011; Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013), 5mM metformin was known to be an effective dose in senescent cells studies, so in order to confirm its effects on respiration a range between 50% (2.5mM) and 200% (10mM) of this dose was tested.

A clear and immediate reduction in OCR was evident in cells given metformin, and at 10mM OCR was fully inhibited. To determine whether metformin inhibited CI-linked respiration specifically, I administered saturating concentrations of the CII-linked substrate succinate, which restored electron transfer downstream of CI. This resulted in a complete restoration of OCR in metformin-treated cells to levels almost equivalent to untreated controls. This strongly suggests that metformin inhibited CI-linked respiration specifically, which was rescued by stimulating the ETC downstream of the affected complex.

To corroborate this finding, I conducted a second test in permeabilised proliferating cells, first administering the CI inhibitor rotenone at a dose known to fully suppress activity of CI (Fig. 4.1B). This was followed by succinate to allow electron transfer downstream of CI, and ADP to promote conversion to ATP. Subsequent additions of metformin in 2.5mM steps produced no effect on OCR, suggesting that metformin cannot elicit any effect from its target – CI – because rotenone treatment has already fully inhibited its activity. Taken together these results provide evidence that metformin is a CI-specific inhibitor.



Figure 4.1 High dose metformin inhibits complex I-linked respiration (A) Effect of increasing doses of metformin on oxygen consumption of young MRC5 fibroblasts in Oxygraph-2k analysis, given either metformin or water to observe CI-linked respiration inhibition. Cells were permeabilised with digitonin and provided with CI-linked substrates (5mM pyruvate, 2mM malonate) followed by 2mM ADP to stimulate oxidative phosphorylation. Metformin or water was given in 2.5mM steps to full OCR inhibition. Addition of 10mM succinate (CII-linked substrate) restored electron transport at CII n=3 (B) Young permeabilised MRC5 fibroblasts given rotenone to inhibit CI, followed by succinate and ADP to allow electron transport from CII onwards. Subsequent metformin addition gave no further inhibition of respiration. n=3. Data is mean±S.E.M.

4.2 Metformin inhibits CI-linked respiration and triggers a glycolytic switch in senescent cells

Once metformin's target complex was confirmed, I next examined cellular respiration in young and senescent fibroblasts (Figure 4.2). I first confirmed that senescent cells respire at higher rates than young controls (Fig. 4.2A) by measuring the basal OCR in the absence of complex-specific substrates or inhibitors. This was in agreement with previous reports which showed a significant increase in mitochondrial respiration as a result of increased mitochondrial content in senescent cells (Hutter et al., 2004). This was followed by addition of oligomycin to inhibit ATP synthase (CV) activity and prevent conversion of ADP to ATP and reveal the oligomycin-insensitive proportion of OCR derived from proton leak (LEAK). LEAK respiration was significantly higher in senescent cells than in young proliferating cells, suggesting a greater amount of proton leak and possibly greater respiratory uncoupling, again in line with previous studies (Hutter et al., 2004; Passos et al., 2007). The uncoupler FCCP was then titrated to determine the maximum electron transport system capacity (ETS) by uncoupling electron transfer from proton pumping, and revealed a higher maximum capacity in senescent cells compared to young controls. This again may be a result of increased mitochondrial content in senescent cells. Mitochondrial content was not measured in this study, but warrants confirmation in future work. The addition of inhibitors rotenone (CI) and antimycin A (CIII) inhibit electron transfer from the major entry points of the ETC, and reveal the residual oxygen consumption rate (ROX), or non-mitochondrial respiration. No significant difference in ROX was observed between young and senescent cells, confirming that the prior differences in OCR observed were purely from mitochondrial respiration.

In a further examination of ATP production gathered by Seahorse XF24 Analyzer assessment, I identified a significant increase in total ATP production in senescent cells compared to young controls (Fig. 4.2B). This appears to be in contrast to some of the literature which has demonstrated a reduced capacity for ATP production in senescence (Ogrodnik *et al.*, 2017), but obviously this increase could be due to the increased mitochondrial content that comes with enlarged cell size in senescence. The proportional contributions of oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis to total ATP production were

only mildly altered in senescent compared to young cells, with a slight upregulation in glycolysis compared to OXPHOS (Fig. 4.2C). Previous studies have shown a more significant reliance on glycolysis by senescent cells (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003), but this observation of only a mild difference was reproducible across all experiments conducted in this project.



Figure 4.2 Senescent fibroblasts respire more than young controls and produce higher levels of ATP. (A) Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) analysis using Oroboros Oxygraph-2k of intact young and senescent MRC5 fibroblasts. Basal respiration represents baseline OCR without additional substrates or inhibitors. Addition of oligomycin to inhibit ATP synthase activity provides the LEAK respiration (electron flow coupled to proton pumping to compensate for proton leak). Titration of FCCP to collapse the proton gradient across the mitochondrial inner membrane measures the maximum electron transfer system capacity (ETS). Finally, addition of rotenone and antimycin A inhibits electron entry at complexes I and III, revealing the residual oxygen consumption (ROX) or nonmitochondrial respiration (B) ATP production rates from oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis sources in young and senescent MRC5 fibroblasts obtained from Seahorse XF24 Analyzer analysis. (C) Data from (B) represented where total ATP = 100% to show the proportional contribution of OXPHOS and glycolysis to ATP production. n=3 Data is mean \pm S.E.M. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

I next examined the effect of metformin treatment on cellular respiration in senescent cells. When compared to untreated controls, metformin again elicited a significant inhibition of OCR at basal, LEAK, and maximum capacity stages (Fig. 4.3A). This demonstrates a significant global suppression of mitochondrial respiration by metformin treatment that is unchanged in a senescent model. To study this in more detail I conducted analysis in permeabilised cells to interrogate the activity of individual complexes (Fig. 4.3B). Cells were permeabilised by titration of digitonin, and provided with CI-linked substrates pyruvate and malate followed by ADP to promote NADH production and activation of CI, and conversion of ADP to ATP. Again, metformin-treated cells exhibited significantly lower OCR than untreated controls. However, on addition of the CII-linked substrate succinate this inhibition was fully rescued as seen in proliferating cells, and metformin-treated cells returned to an OCR equivalent to – and even mildly higher than – untreated senescent controls. This again demonstrates that metformin's mechanism of action in mitochondrial respiration inhibition is targeted specifically to CI activity, as restoration of electron transfer downstream of CI restored OCR completely.

Given the significant inhibition of mitochondrial respiration in senescent cells treated with metformin, it was surprising that these cells survived so well in culture on perceivably no active respiration. This led me to examine the ATP production rates of these cells, based on the hypothesis that they were compensating with energy production from elsewhere. Indeed, ATP measurements from Seahorse analysis revealed that in senescent cells treated with metformin, while overall ATP production was significantly decreased (Fig. 4.3C), the remaining ATP production was almost exclusively from glycolysis (Fig. 4.3D). This corroborated an observation in culture that cells treated with metformin over long periods of time produced a change in culture media colour from pink to orange, indicating acidification. Furthermore, cells have also been reported to survive in culture following selective removal of all mitochondria, again demonstrating the ability of cells to

compensate for this respiratory loss (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). My findings here were also in agreement with previous studies that have demonstrated increased glycolysis after treatment with metformin (Andrzejewski *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2021), although this is not without dispute (Hu *et al.*, 2019). While overall ATP production was decreased, this conversion to glycolysis reliance was clearly sufficient to maintain cell survival over longterm culture, though likely in a stressed state.



Figure 4.3 Metformin treatment inhibits OXPHOS respiration and triggers a glycolytic switch in senescent cells. (A) Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) analysis using Oroboros Oxygraph-2k of intact young, untreated senescent, and senescent MRC5 fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin for 10 days post-irradiation. (B) OCR analysis in permeabilised young, untreated senescent, and senescent MRC5 fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin for 10 days post-irradiation. Cells were permeabilised with digitonin and supplied with CI-linked substrates (5mM pyruvate and 2mM malate) plus 2mM ADP to stimulate oxidative phosphorylation (State 3 respiration). Addition of 10mM succinate to promote electron transfer through CII recovered respiratory inhibition in metformin-

treated senescent fibroblasts. (C) ATP production rates from oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis sources in young, untreated senescent, and metformin-treated senescent MRC5 fibroblasts obtained from Seahorse XF24 Analyzer analysis. (D) Data from (C) represented where total ATP = 100% to show the proportional contribution of OXPHOS and glycolysis to ATP production. n=3 Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

4.3 Metformin treatment reduces markers of senescence and the SASP without restoring cellular proliferation in irradiation-induced senescence

To build a more detailed picture of the effects of metformin treatment on the senescent phenotype, it was important to look not only at metformin's direct effects on CI and mitochondrial respiration, but on the downstream effects of this inhibition on the SASP and senescent markers. Here I cultured senescent cells in metformin-treated media for 10 days following irradiation, and collected serum-free media samples for cytokine analysis on day 10 (**Figure 4.4**). By measuring the secreted levels of three major SASP factors IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 by ELISA analysis I was able to assess the impact of metformin treatment of development of a SASP. I observed a significant reduction in the levels of all three cytokines in metformin-treated senescent cells compared to untreated controls, to levels equivalent to proliferating controls (Fig. 4.4A). This finding correlates with previous work that has shown inhibition of multiple other SASP factors by metformin at the mRNA level (Hu *et al.*, 2020; Hansel *et al.*, 2021), and demonstrated a reduction of SASP production by metformin through modulation of IKK/NFKB signalling (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013).

To expand this picture of SASP suppression by metformin treatment, samples underwent cytokine array analysis (Fig. 4.4B), which revealed that metformin also rescued elevated production of a number of other key SASP factors in senescent cells, namely, IL-15, RANTES, IFNa2, GM-CSF, MCP-3, and MCP-1 (Fig. 4.4C). These cytokines have roles in immune response, cell proliferation and survival, and have also been implicated in tumour growth and progression. This broad suppression of SASP factors suggests that metformin treatment may have important anti-inflammatory and anti-tumour effects that are applicable to numerous age-related diseases.



Figure 4.4 Treatment with metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells. (A) Levels of SASP factors IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 measured by ELISA in young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin for 10 days post-irradiation. n=4 (B) Cytokine array analysis of young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin for 10 days post-irradiation, represented as a heat map of fold-change in cytokine levels. n=4 (C) Key cytokines identified during cytokine array in (B) which which showed significant increase in senescence and decrease with metformin treatment in senescent cells. Grey colour indicates levels outside the detectable range. Cytokine data was analysed using one-way

ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

Data shown here suggests that treatment with supraphysiological doses of metformin for 10 days post-irradiation is sufficient to alleviate the pro-inflammatory SASP *in vitro*. This is particularly promising as metformin is a safe, affordable, widely-used drug in humans, which presents exciting possibilities for its use in ageing research and treatment of agerelated disease. Indeed, its preferential accumulation within the mitochondria has also been observed in *in vivo* models (Kane *et al.*, 2010), further supporting its use clinically and suggesting a similar anti-inflammatory effect may be expected in animals and humans.

In order to provide more context to this finding and the wider senescent phenotype, I next measured a number of senescent markers by histochemical and immunofluorescent staining (Figure 4.5). As an increase in beta-galactosidase activity is a common marker of the senescent phenotype, I first examined the presence of senescence-associated beta galactosidase (SA-β-Gal) in metformin-treated senescent cells. Here I found that as expected, senescent fibroblasts exhibited much higher levels of SA-β-Gal than proliferating cells, and importantly that metformin was able to significantly reduce SA-β-Gal activity (Fig. 4.5A) when compared to untreated senescent controls. I next examined the prevalence of DNA damage by immunofluorescent staining for yH2AX, as a marker of DNA damage foci. The number of DDFs per nuclei in senescent cells treated with metformin were significantly reduced compared to untreated controls (Fig. 4.5B). This suggests that metformin was able to prevent the development of some long-term foci. As senescent cells are commonly associated with enlarged nuclei, I also assessed nuclei size to determine whether metformin was able to prevent changes to the nuclear architecture (Fig. 4.5C). Here I found that treatment with metformin also resulted in reduced nuclear size compared to untreated controls. Nuclear size is a key hallmark of senescence (Mehta et al., 2007), and so this finding further supports the idea that metformin is able to alleviate numerous aspects of the senescent phenotype.

Notably, the number of cells expressing p21 were not changed by metformin treatment (Fig. 4.5D). This may not be surprising given the concurrent finding that the marker of cellular proliferation, Ki67, was also unchanged by metformin (Fig. 4.5E). This finding also demonstrated that metformin treatment did not allow senescent cells to re-enter the cell cycle; an important indication that metformin does not remove the key tumour-suppressor capabilities of the senescent phenotype. As an inhibitor of cell-cycle progression, it would be reasonable then to see no change in the level of p21-positive cells if no change in proliferation is also evident. Though some studies have also demonstrated minimal change in p21 levels following metformin treatment (Kim *et al.*, 2021), many more show reduced p21 expression (Karnewar *et al.*, 2018; Jiang *et al.*, 2020; Hansel *et al.*, 2021).



Figure 4.5 Metformin treatment rescues markers of senescence in irradiation-induced senescence. (A) Representative images and quantification of SA-β-Gal staining in young, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with metformin for 10 days postirradiation. n=3, (B) yH2AX staining and quantification. (C) Nuclear size (µm²) DAPI staining and quantification, (D) p21 staining and quantification. (E) Ki67 staining and quantification, n=3 Data is mean±S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

These findings provide evidence that treatment with metformin can prevent a number of aspects of the senescent phenotype. Of particular interest is metformin's ability to lower the development of DNA damage foci, which may indicate a reduced DDR. In addition to the previously observed SASP inhibition, this suggests that metformin is able to alleviate parts of the senescent phenotype involved in harmful positive feedback loops and induction of additional damage in existing senescent cells and nearby healthy cells.

4.4 Metformin treatment rescues the SASP in models of established

senescence

Once I established that metformin treatment is able to successfully suppress the SASP and markers of senescence when given immediately after the senescent stimulus (20Gy irradiation), I next wanted to know if this was also possible in a model of established senescence. This would provide a more physiologically relevant model as any practical applications in humans would involve treatment of cells which were already senescent, with no guarantee of targeting cells at the point of senescence induction. For example, chronic treatment with metformin in middle-aged individuals would represent a similar setting. The next important question was to identify whether metformin treatment was able not only to prevent parts of the senescent phenotype, but also reverse them (**Figure 4.6**). Here, cells were exposed to 20Gy x-ray irradiation and cultured in untreated control media for 10 days until the senescent phenotype was fully established. On Day 10, media was either maintained untreated (senescent control) or changed to metformin-treated media. Cells treated for 3 days post senescence development were collected on day 13, 6 day treatment at day 16, and 10 day treatment and untreated controls at day 20 (Fig. 4.6A).

I first tested metformin treatment in MRC5 fibroblasts that had reached senescence through prolonged culture – replicative senescence (Fig. 4.6B-D). As previous experiments involved treatment for the 10 days required for senescence development, this was used as a starting point. I also wanted to know if shorter treatment timepoints would be sufficient to alleviate the SASP, and thus identify the minimum effective intervention. Measurements of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 were taken for replicatively senescent cells treated for 3, 6 and 10 days with 5mM metformin. This assessment revealed that in replicative senescence, only treatment for 10 days was able to successfully inhibit SASP factor production. All three measured cytokines were significantly reduced after 10 days of metformin treatment. This is an important finding, as it demonstrates that the SASP can be alleviated in cells that are 'locked in' to senescence long after the initial 10 day development period.

Next, I tested these same treatment timepoints in irradiation-induced senescence (Fig. 4.6E-F). This allowed me to construct a timeline of SASP factor levels after 3, 6, and 10

days of metformin treatment following the development of the senescent phenotype. Data showed a time-dependent decrease in all three cytokines. In this case, 6 days of metformin treatment was sufficient to significantly reduce levels of IL-6, IL-8, and IP-10. This may be because this model of irradiation-induced senescence was not as 'locked in' as in replicative senescence, or had not reached the point of 'deep senescence'. Alternatively, this could result from physiological differences between irradiation-induced and replicative senescence that influence SASP severity or receptiveness to treatment. For example, replicative senescence is telomere-dependent, while irradiation-induced senescence is not. As such, influencing the activity of a persistent DDR in each of these models may require different approaches. These phenotypes also differ at the protein expression level (Dierick et al., 2002), and studies have found that certain genes are uniquely involved in specific senescent phenotypes. For example, fatty acid anabolism mediators are downregulated in replicative senescence, but not SIPS, while parts of cholesterol metabolism are downregulated in SIPS, but not in replicative senescence (Kural et al., 2016). There are numerous possible differences between these senescent phenotypes that could influence their differing responsiveness to metformin treatment, but further work would be required in order to dissect this further.



Figure 4.6 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in established senescence. (A) Schematic of experimental design; cells were seeded to plates and irradiated the next day, then cultured in untreated control media immediately post-IR and replenished every 2-3 days for 10 days. At Day 10 culture media was replaced with drugtreated or control media as appropriate, and replenished every 2-3 days for a further 3, 6

or 10 days. (B-D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8, and IP-10 (pg/ml/100,000 cells) measured by ELISA in replicative senescent MRC5 fibroblasts treated for 3, 6, or 10 days with 5mM metformin. (E-G) Levels of IL-6, IL-8, and IP-10 (pg/ml/100,000 cells) in irradiation-induced senescent MRC5 fibroblasts treated for 3, 6, or 10 days with 5mM metformin following initial development of senescence for 10 days. All data taken from one independent experiment, n=3-4 technical replicates. Data is mean \pm S.E.M., analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.001

Overall, these findings show that treatment with metformin is able to successfully reduce SASP factor secretion in an established senescent phenotype. This is a very promising indication for potential uses in humans, where a more heterogeneous cell population of senescence progression would be present. This also confirms that the SASP is reversible, which offers an interesting option for 'breaking' the damaging positive feedback loops involving SASP, ROS and a persistent DDR. The difference in effectiveness between the examined replicative and IR-induced senescent models may also suggest that timing of treatment is important. The model in which cells were senescent for a shorter period of time demonstrated greater receptiveness to treatment, while replicative senescence – or 'deep' senescence – was less affected. However it should also be considered that SASP composition between senescent models does vary, and so this should be explored as another explanation for the difference.

4.5 Metformin treatment does not rescue other senescent markers in models of established senescence

4.5.1 Replicative senescence

To examine the wider senescent phenotype in these same models, I measured key senescent markers SA-β-Gal, γH2AX, p16, p21, and the proliferation marker Ki67 (Figure **4.7**). p16 staining was only possible in replicative senescence tests due to issues with antibody efficacy. Here I found that metformin treatment was not able to affect any of the tested markers after 10 days of treatment in replicative senescence. The proportion of cells positive for SA- β -Gal remained at 100% after 3, 6 and 10 days of treatment (Fig. 4.7A), showing that metformin does not influence SA- β -Gal activity when senescence is fully established. This was also true of yH2AX foci, and numbers of foci per cell remained unchanged by metformin treatment at any of the timepoints tested (Fig. 4.7B). It is therefore clear that metformin treatment does not impact the formation of DNA damage foci in established senescence after 10 days, and as such is unlikely to have any influence on DDR signalling as observed in cells treated immediately after senescence induction. Treatment times of >10 days should not be ruled out however. These findings demonstrate a difference in effect between treatment immediately post-IR and treatment once the senescent phenotype is 'locked in'. It is clear that by the time senescence is fully established, both SA-β-Gal activity and DNA damage foci formation can no longer be modified by metformin. This also aligns with the model of senescence becoming 'locked in' with time (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Coppe *et al.*, 2008).

Cells positive for p21 staining remained high at all timepoints tested (Fig. 4.7C), though as before this may not be surprising given that this marker was also unaffected when treatment started immediately post-IR, so it would be unexpected to find greater influence of metformin in 'deep senescence'. A similar finding was present for Ki67 staining (Fig. 4.7D), which again demonstrated no significant increase at 3, 6, or 10 days of treatment. In fact, after 10 days the proportion of cells positive for Ki67 were significantly decreased further when compared to untreated controls.

Immunofluorescent staining for the senescent marker p16 also showed no significant change in the proportion of cells positively stained (Fig. 4.7E), though a mild decreasing trend does seem evident this was not statistically significant and was highly variable. Additional tests to confirm this finding, and possibly the use of longer treatment times, may provide more detail on this mild trend. However, issues with immunofluorescent antibody efficacy mean this data is interpreted with caution.



Figure 4.7: High dose metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established replicative senescence. (A) Representative images of SA- β -Gal staining and bar chart quantification in young, untreated replicative senescent, and replicative senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin for 3, 6 and 10 days. (B) yH2AX staining and

quantification, (C) p21 staining and quantification, (D) Nuclear size DAPI staining and quantification, (E) Ki67 staining and quantification. (F) p16 staining and quantification. All data taken from one independent experiment, n=3-4 technical replicates. Data is mean±S.E.M., analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. ****p<0.0001

4.5.2 IR-induced senescence

Based on the previous findings demonstrating a greater effectiveness of metformin treatment in suppressing SASP in a model of established irradiation-induced senescence compared to replicative senescence, I next wanted to determine if this trend could also be true for other senescent markers (**Figure 4.8**). Based on my hypothesis that treatment of senescent cells from day 10 after irradiation was more effective because these cells were not as deep into senescent progression as replicatively senescent cells, it seemed reasonable that this may also transfer to other markers of senescence.

Here I measured treatment for only 10 days initially based on the minimal effect metformin treatment had in replicative senescence. I again discovered that treatment with metformin in established irradiation-induced senescence did not significantly alter any of the measured markers. SA- β -gal-positive cells (Fig. 4.8A) remained unchanged after 10 days. A noticeable decrease in the intensity of SA- β -Gal staining in metformin-treated samples was noted by eye, though not quantified here. It could suggest that perhaps longer treatment times may eventually lead to a reduction in SA- β -Gal activity in this model.

DDF numbers (Fig. 4.8B) were also unaffected by metformin treatment, again supporting the idea that DDR signalling cannot be influenced by metformin in established senescence.

The proportion of cells positive for p21 (Fig. 4.8C) and Ki67 (Fig. 4.8D) staining was not affected by metformin, though again unsurprising given their resistance to influence by metformin when treated immediately post-IR.



Figure 4.8: Metformin does not rescue markers of senescence in established irradiationinduced senescence. (A) Representative images and quantification of SA-β-Gal staining and quantification in young, untreated irradiation-induced senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin. Senescent cells were irradiated and given control media for 10 days post-irradiation, followed my metformin-treated media for an additional 10 days. (B) γH2AX staining and quantification, (C) Nuclear size (µm²) DAPI staining and quantification, (D) p21 staining and quantification, (E) Ki67 staining and quantification. n=1. Data is mean±S.E.M., analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001

Overall these findings demonstrate a key difference between the effectiveness of metformin when treatment is given at the point of senescence induction, and after the senescent phenotype is established. When treatment is initiated before the senescent phenotype has progressed, metformin is able to successfully prevent the development of a SASP, and reduce SA- β -Gal activity, nuclear enlargement, and formation of persistent DDFs, without restoring cell proliferation. By comparison, if treatment with metformin is given only after senescence is established, the SASP can be reduced while other senescent markers remain unchanged, though examination of ROS levels would provide further useful context to this interpretation. This also provides an important insight into the SASP and senescence, as it is clear that cell cycle arrest and DNA damage are uncoupled from the production of a pro-inflammatory phenotype. While the production of SASP factors can be alleviated in deep senescence, other markers of the senescent phenotype are resistant to manipulation if not treated at the point of induction.

It should be noted that at this stage of the project, all experiments conducted in models of established senescence were carried out once as preliminary tests. These findings led to further study in Chapter 5, and the timeline of treatment necessary to elicit beneficial effects in senescence.

4.6 Discussion

Following the findings in Chapter 3 that interruption of electron transfer at multiple points in the ETC is sufficient to prevent the development of a SASP, likely through the inhibition of OCR, I wanted to examine the effects of altered mitochondrial function on the wider senescent phenotype. Studies have repeatedly linked mitochondrial respiratory complex dysfunction to senescence, with evidence for declining function of each complex with age. However, while CII (Yoon *et al.*, 2003; Bowman and Birch-Machin, 2016; Lafargue *et al.*, 2017), CIII (Stockl *et al.*, 2006; Moiseeva *et al.*, 2009), and CIV (Xin *et al.*, 2003) all demonstrate reduced function in senescence, it is CI that is most commonly linked to ageing, senescence and lifespan (Sanz *et al.*, 2010; Stefanatos and Sanz, 2011; Hur;Stork and Walker, 2014; Miwa *et al.*, 2014; Pogson *et al.*, 2014).

As previously discussed, mitochondrial CI is the primary source of elevated ROS production with age and is frequently impacted in diseases such as Parkinson's disease (Mortiboys *et al.*, 2008; Flinn *et al.*, 2009), Alzheimer's disease (Terada *et al.*, 2021), and heart failure (Karamanlidis *et al.*, 2013). As such, I chose to focus my next investigation on the manipulation of CI activity by treatment with metformin. This allowed me to study changes in senescent cells and markers of senescence following treatment with a wellestablished drug already used in clinics (Hostalek;Gwilt and Hildemann, 2015), and with the potential for wider applications in numerous other age-related diseases (Zhang *et al.*, 2015a; Han *et al.*, 2019; Mor *et al.*, 2020). Of note, among the age-related diseases senescence is associated with is diabetes (Kuki *et al.*, 2006; Thompson *et al.*, 2019) for which metformin is an effective treatment. Though metformin's benefits in diabetes are thought to be a result of gluconeogenesis inhibition rather than CI inhibition (Alshawi and Agius, 2019; Pecinova *et al.*, 2019), it does provide an interesting precedent for treatment of senescent cells in age-related diseases, and metformin's use specifically.

Upon further examination of the effect of metformin treatment on the senescent phenotype, I have demonstrated 4 key findings. First, that metformin does indeed inhibit CI-linked respiration as shown by the restoration of OCR upon succinate addition in metformin-treated permeabilised fibroblasts, and a negligible effect on OCR in rotenonetreated fibroblasts. Second, that treatment with metformin induces an almost total shutdown of oxidative phosphorylation, which promotes reliance on glycolysis for ATP

production. Third, that chronic treatment with metformin immediately post-irradiation is able to prevent the onset of both the SASP and multiple senescent markers (increased SA- β -Gal activity, nuclear size, and γ H2AX foci denoting DNA damage), but does not rescue senescent cell-cycle arrest. Finally, preliminary experiments suggest that treatment with metformin in models of established replicative and irradiation-induced senescence is not sufficient to rescue these same markers of senescence, but is able to reduce secretion of pro-inflammatory SASP factors after 10 days.

4.6.1 Metformin inhibits CI-linked respiration

Studies have previously shown that metformin is a mild Cl inhibitor (Bridges et al., 2014; Wheaton et al., 2014), but there is still debate within the literature as to metformin's mechanism(s) of action, particularly with regards to high and low dose effects (Madiraju et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2019). Here I have shown that 5mM metformin does indeed inhibit CI-linked respiration using permeabilised MRC5 fibroblasts. My data demonstrated that mitochondrial respiration was suppressed in a dose-dependent manner by metformin, and subsequently restored when CII-linked substrates were provided, reinstating electron transfer downstream of CI. This was corroborated by analysing cells treated with rotenone, and supply of CII-linked substrates to restore respiration. Subsequent metformin addition had no effect on OCR, confirming that metformin's inhibitory effect was CI-specific. It is also worth noting that metformin is known to accumulate slowly within the mitochondria as a result of its positive charge and the negative-inside state of the mitochondrial matrix. As such, while these high concentrations effectively inhibited CI activity immediately, it would be reasonable to assume that lower doses could be tested over a longer period of time to achieve the same effect.

4.6.2 Metformin triggers a reliance on glycolysis for ATP production

In senescent cells treated for 10 days immediately post-irradiation with metformin, I found that oxidative phosphorylation was almost entirely shut down, despite both cell morphology and number appearing similar to untreated senescent controls when examined in culture. From this I hypothesized that metformin-treated cells must be using alternative ATP sources to maintain cell survival, and indeed found that they were relying almost solely on glycolysis. Though this did not compensate for the reduction in oxidative

phosphorylation-derived ATP, and overall ATP production was lower than untreated senescent control samples suggesting cells were likely surviving in an energetically stressed state. Senescent cells are generally considered to be more glycolytic than healthy controls (Bittles and Harper, 1984; Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003). However, here I observed only a mild increase in glycolytic reliance for ATP production in senescent compared to proliferating controls, which was reproducible across all bioenergetics experiments conducted in this and the previous chapter. Nevertheless, metformin treatment induced a significant swing towards glycolysis reliance as a result of almost total oxidative phosphorylation shutdown. Though it does not appear that metformin induced an upregulation of glycolysis, the loss of OXPHOS activity results in a significant difference in the proportional contribution of glycolysis to total ATP production.

Mitochondrial metabolism in senescence is a widely-covered area of research, and there are numerous ways in which ATP production and the balance between oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis activity can influence senescence and cell health. Previous reports have shown that a reduction in ATP production from the ETC can induce cellular senescence (Stockl *et al.*, 2006), likely as a result of elevated AMP (or ADP)/ATP ratios which stimulate growth arrest (Zwerschke *et al.*, 2003) via AMPK activation and p53-dependent signalling. (Peyton *et al.*, 2012). Though findings here demonstrated an overall increase in ATP production in senescent cells, this does not necessarily rule out an increase in the ADP/ATP ratio. If ADP levels were to increase proportionally then the ratio would be maintained, and any additional increase in ADP would result in a higher ADP/ATP ratio. Moreover, the response of AMPK to a reduction in ATP is to upregulate ATP-producing processes and inhibit ATP-consuming processes, in an attempt to restore homeostasis. One suggestion is that this may be what is represented by the data shown here; a compensatory increase in ATP levels 10 days after senescent stimulus.

Nevertheless, the known ability of AMPK activation to induce growth arrest would suggest that reduction of ATP production in senescent cells treated with metformin should re-inforce growth arrest through the same signalling pathway. However, studies of metformin have demonstrated that treatment can in fact delay endothelial senescence via AMPK activation, by enhancing SIRT3 and PGC-1 α activity stimulating mitochondrial biogenesis, and leading eventually to an increase in hTERT and prolonging replicative

lifespan (Karnewar *et al.*, 2018). It is possible that in this case metformin is not acting through AMPK, but instead production of the SASP is incredibly energetically demanding, and the observed reduction in ATP levels following metformin treatment prevents its production. In particular, as metformin is able to alleviate other aspects of the senescent phenotype that would be reinforced by an AMPK-stimulated p53-dependent growth arrest, it seems unlikely that metformin is acting through AMPK under these conditions. Further study is needed to determine metformin's specific mechanism of action in these circumstances.

A more in depth analysis of SASP suppression following metformin treatment demonstrated a broad inhibition of pro-inflammatory SASP factors. Although this suppression is not a CI-specific effect as seen in Chapter 3, it does provide a promising indication that metformin is able to alleviate numerous cytokines and chemokines with potentially harmful roles in inflammation, cell survival and tumour progression. These findings are aligned with previous reports that show that metformin suppresses the SASP through inhibition of NFkB signalling, which may be the case here (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2013). Although my previous data seems to suggest it is an OCR-dependent effect, there is much to still be understood about metformin's mechanism of action specifically.

4.6.3 Metformin alleviates markers of senescence without restoring cell proliferation

Increases in nuclear size (Mehta *et al.*, 2007) and DNA damage (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Hewitt *et al.*, 2012) are well-established markers of senescence, and the CDK inhibitor p21 (Fang *et al.*, 1999) responsible for triggering cell-cycle arrest is known to mediate induction of senescence. SA- β -Gal activity is also a sensitive and reliable marker of cellular senescence (Dimri *et al.*, 1995). Here I showed that treatment with metformin for 10 days post-irradiation prevented increases in multiple senescent markers but did not restore proliferation.

Treatment with 5mM metformin at the point of senescence induction prevented much of the increase in SA- β -Gal activity associated with senescence. Though SA- β -Gal activity was not reduced to the level of healthy proliferating cells, the decrease was distinct when compared to untreated controls. Activation of AMPK by metformin is also known to result in mTORC1 inhibition (Howell *et al.*, 2017). If this is the case here, the data shown here is

in agreement with other studies that have found that inhibition of mTORC1 leads to both reduced SASP and SA- β -Gal activity (Wang *et al.*, 2017; Park *et al.*, 2020). While SA- β -Gal is a common feature of multiple forms of senescence, there are circumstances under which it is not expressed in senescent cells, and although it is frequently apparent in most models it is not a requirement of the senescent phenotype (Lee *et al.*, 2006). As such, multiple markers are needed to corroborate the presence of senescent cells.

A persistent DDR is the most common requirement for senescence induction, and monitoring the formation of DNA damage foci (DDFs) has been established as an effective and reliable marker of senescent cells. The cellular response to DNA double-strand breaks involves phosphorylation of H2AX, making γH2AX a reliable indicator of DNA damage in senescence (Hovest *et al.*, 2006).

Metformin treatment during the development of the senescent phenotype reduced the formation of DNA damage foci identified by γ H2AX immunostaining. By Day 10 it is expected that the DDFs present in senescent cells would mostly be persistent, long-lived DDFs (Passos *et al.*, 2010; Hewitt *et al.*, 2012). As such, the reduction in number of these foci following treatment with metformin could suggest a) that metformin prevented the induction of a proportion of DNA damage required to stimulate DDF formation, or b) that metformin prevented some of the smaller short-term foci from developing into persistent DDFs. Previous work has shown that metformin is in fact able to stimulate a DDR including increased levels of γ H2AX (Vazquez-Martin *et al.*, 2011), in contrast to my findings here. However, the report by Vazquez-Martin et al was conducted in cancer cells, while other studies in senescent cells have produced similar findings of reduced DDR signalling and γ H2AX foci as shown here in this project (Kim *et al.*, 2021), suggesting possible differences between cellular models.

Nuclear size was significantly reduced in metformin-treated cells compared to untreated controls. This could suggest a number of possible influences of metformin, including prevention of chromatin remodelling, laminB1 or histone H1 reduction, or simply an intervention upstream of all of these observed senescence-associated changes in nuclear architecture (Pathak;Soujanya and Mishra, 2021). Further work would be required to truly delineate metformin's role in preventing nuclear enlargement.

As cell cycle arrest is an established marker of senescence it was important to monitor cellular proliferation via the marker Ki67, which revealed no change in the proportion of proliferating cells when treated with metformin. This indicates that while metformin can alleviate a number of harmful aspects of the senescent phenotype, it does not restore cell-cycle progression. While this may be expected given metformin's documented ability to induce cell-cycle arrest via AMPK and p53 signalling, it is particularly important as it confirms that metformin does not remove the essential tumour suppressor function of senescent growth arrest; a promising finding for therapeutic applications.

Surprisingly, metformin treatment showed no effect on p21-positive cell proportions. Other studies have shown that metformin can reduce p21 expression levels in a number of experimental models, including epithelial lung cell cultures induced to senesce by radiotherapy (Hansel *et al.*, 2021), and in HK-2 cells after 2hrs of treatment (Jiang *et al.*, 2020). Though my findings contradict these reports, it could be argued that as p21 is essential in triggering senescent growth arrest, and based on the observation that Ki67positive cells remained low it seems clear that senescent cells treated with metformin did not continue to progress through the cell cycle.

4.6.4 Metformin reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in both replicative and established irradiation-induced senescence

Evaluation of key SASP factors in both models of established senescence revealed two key findings. First, that the SASP is reversible in established senescence after 10 days of 5mM metformin treatment. Second, that a shorter treatment timeline is successful in established irradiation-induced senescence compared to replicative senescence. The first is exciting as it offers promising indications that the harmful pro-inflammatory phenotype that accompanies senescent growth arrest can be targeted by treatments even after senescence is fully developed. This means that it may be effective *in vivo* and in human studies at alleviating chronic inflammation and the damage it causes. The second observation – while additional experiments are needed to corroborate it – suggests that time is an important factor in targeting the SASP for treatment. While the irradiation-induced senescent cells had senesced for 10 days post-stimulus, the replicatively senescent cells had been established for longer. This is largely due to the nature of replicative senescence in prolonged cell culture. Noticeably, the cells which had been

senescent for longer were more resistant to treatment, suggesting that earlier treatment has a greater effect, and the noted 'locking in' of the senescent phenotype may still be progressing to some degree even after the accepted 10 day timeline. Studies have shown that most markers of senescence, such as DDF frequencies, ROS production, p53 activation and p21, stabilise around 2 days after induction of SIPS without intervention (Passos *et al.*, 2010). The full senescent phenotype with pro-inflammatory SASP requires 7-10 days (Coppe et al., 2008; Rodier et al., 2009). While interventions capable of rescuing senescent growth arrest have been shown to be effective if initiated within 9 days of senescence induction, beginning treatments after this point becomes less effective (Passos et al., 2010). One proposed explanation for this is the influence of changes to chromatin organisation, which increase in parallel with irreversible growth arrest. It is therefore unsurprising that most senescent markers were not responsive to treatment in both models of established senescence, though it does not provide an explanation for the disparity between SASP alleviation. It should also be considered, however, that this difference in treatment efficacy could also be a result of difference in SASP makeup between senescent models. Further experiments would be required to examine this discrepancy in more detail.

4.6.5 Metformin does not reduce other markers of senescence when the phenotype is already established

Treatment with metformin in models of established replicative and irradiation-induced senescence showed no effect on any of the measured senescent markers. Studies have previously noted that the senescent phenotype becomes 'locked in' after 9 days, no longer requiring constant stimulation by factors such as ROS-mediated oxidative damage. This oxidative damage replenishes DNA damage markers and promotes the presence of larger, more persistent foci which are more difficult to repair (Passos *et al.*, 2010). This supports our findings that DNA damage foci are unaffected by treatment in models of established senescence, as the majority of foci remaining at this point in senescence are persistent and long-lived. Additionally, this is in agreement with other reports that have shown that manipulation of the DDR is unable to rescue senescent growth arrest once senescence is established (d'Adda di Fagagna *et al.*, 2003; Sang;Coller and Roberts, 2008).

SA-β-Gal activity also remained unchanged after metformin treatment in established senescence, which could suggest that lysosomal activity remains permanently elevated, triggering SA-β-Gal enhancement. Nuclear size was also unresponsive to metformin treatment in both replicative and irradiation-induced senescence, suggesting that nuclear enlargement falls within the 'locked in' senescent phenotype.

Levels of p21- and Ki67-positive cells were also unaffected following metformin treatment, though this is not unexpected following similar findings when metformin is given immediately post-irradiation. This corroborates our findings that metformin treatment does not allow senescent cells to re-enter the cell cycle and continue to proliferate; an important finding when considering clinical applications.

These findings suggest that timing of treatment is an important determinant in alleviating the senescent phenotype. Further work is warranted to discover where the critical change occurs that leaves these specific markers unresponsive to treatment, while SASP remains receptive to modification. Surprisingly, these findings are in contrast to other papers which have shown an almost opposite effect, in which the 'locking in' of senescence is mediated via the SASP, which remains refractory to modification while other markers can be alleviated.

In summary, here I have shown that metformin can inhibit major markers of the senescent phenotype without restoring cell proliferation. This is a key requirement for any senescence-targeting treatment, allowing harmful aspects of the phenotype to be suppressed while preventing damaged cells from re-entering the cell cycle. Data here also demonstrates inhibition of CI-linked respiration and shutdown of oxidative phosphorylation activity by metformin, resulting in reliance on glycolysis for ATP production that does not reach the levels of untreated cells. This may point to energetic deficit as a determining factor in metformin's suppression of the senescent phenotype. Preliminary data in this chapter also suggests that the SASP is particularly receptive to modification by metformin, as demonstrated by reduced SASP production when treated both acutely and chronically with metformin, and both from the point of senescence induction and in a model of established senescence. Further work is required to examine in further detail the treatment dose-, length-, and initiation point-dependent effects of metformin on the senescent phenotype, and identify a minimum effective intervention.
Chapter 5: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol and rapamycin in a model of established senescence produce differing effects on SASP production

To build on the preliminary findings in models of an established senescent phenotype, I decided to expand on this by also examining the effects of the CIII inhibitor myxothiazol, and the senostatic rapamycin. CIII is another significant contributor to cellular ROS production, and treatment with myxothiazol from the point of senescence induction was able to dramatically decrease SASP factor secretion. As such, it was of particular interest to compare the effects in other senescent markers based on manipulation of a different ROS source and respiratory complex activity. Comparison of the effects of metformin and myxothiazol allowed me to demonstrate whether metformin was likely mediating its effects on the SASP through inhibition of the ETC. This also allowed me to investigate whether the observed effects in metformin were site- or mechanism-specific.

Addition of rapamycin provided a well-established positive control with proven success in alleviating the senescent phenotype, as numerous previous works have shown that rapamycin can reduce both the SASP and a number of other senescent markers (Pospelova *et al.*, 2012; Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, as an inhibitor of mTOR, rapamycin provided an interesting comparison with metformin, which also inhibits mTOR indirectly as a result of CI inhibition and AMPK activation. Should the resulting phenotypes of cells treated with these two drugs be comparable, this could provide preliminary evidence that metformin's beneficial effect in senescence is linked to mTOR inhibition.

5.1 Alleviating the SASP requires 10 days of treatment with electron

transport inhibitors in established senescence

To evaluate the effect of metformin, myxothiazol and rapamycin treatment in established IR-induced senescence over time, cells were irradiated at 20Gy and fresh culture media given immediately afterwards (**Figure 5.1**). Culture media was untreated for the first 10 days following irradiation, replenished every 2-3 days until Day 10, at which point media was switched to drug-treated or untreated as appropriate. Cells were then treated for either 3 (Fig. 5.1A) or 10 (Fig. 5.1B) days. For SASP factor analysis by ELISA culture media was changed to serum-free for the last 24hrs to avoid serum interference with ELISA.

IL-6 (Fig. 5.1A) levels were significantly reduced after 10 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, or rapamycin. By comparison, after 3 days of treatment none of the tested drugs were able to significantly reduce IL-6 levels. Although there is a definite downward trend for all three drugs, none reached statistical significance.

IL-8 (Fig. 5.1D) levels demonstrated a slightly different picture, with only metformin eliciting a significant reduction after 10 days of treatment. Myxothiazol, while it did demonstrate a clear reduction compared to untreated controls, was not statistically significant. This corresponds to my earlier findings that myxothiazol's effects on IL-8 secretion were not as strong as IL-6 or IP-10. However, the observation of any decrease in IL-8 with myxothiazol is in contrast to my earlier findings which showed no effect of myxothiazol on IL-8 levels, and so may suggest a technical error in my earlier ELISAs when also considering the cytokine array analysis of the same samples did demonstrate a reduction in IL-8. Interestingly, after 10 days of treatment with rapamycin IL-8 levels were significantly increased. This is in contrast to much of the literature which identifies IL-8 as rapamycin-sensitive (Lin et al., 2014; Park et al., 2020; Sasaki; Itakura and Toyoda, 2020), however other studies have also found a stimulatory effect of rapamycin on certain cytokines and chemokines (Lee et al., 2013; Gillespie et al., 2015), suggesting a more complicated relationship that first thought. In this study, elevated IL-8 secretion was reproducible across all independent experiments and appears to increase over time. None of the tested drugs were able to reduce IL-8 levels significantly after 3 days of treatment.

IP-10 (Fig. 5.1E) levels were significantly reduced after 10 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin. Additionally, 3 days of treatment with either metformin or rapamycin was also sufficient to reduce IP-10 levels. Myxothiazol treatment demonstrated a clear reduction after 3 days but this was not statistically significant. These findings suggest that IP-10 levels can be reduced by shorter treatment timepoints, however IP-10 measurements were more variable and generally harder to detect by ELISA due to low baseline levels. As such IP-10 data should be used to support inferences from SASP analysis based on the wider picture including IL-6 and IL-8, and not IP-10 alone.

Overall, here I found that in a model of established IR-induced senescence 10 days of treatment with metformin is required to significantly reduce secreted levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10. Treatment with myxothiazol or rapamycin for 10 days was also sufficient to reduce levels of both IL-6 and IP-10, but rapamycin exacerbated IL-8 production by an unknown mechanism. Based on these findings it appears that 10 days of treatment would be an optimal starting point in cells which are already senescent. Further examination of longer treatment times may reveal a further time-dependent decrease in SASP.



Figure 5.1: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 10 days in a model of established senescence reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent cells. Levels of IL-6 (C), IL-8 (D) and IP-10 (E) secreted by young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with metformin (5mM), myxothiazol (0.05µM), or rapamycin (50nM) for 3 (A) or 10 (B) days after the development of senescence (total 13 or 20 days post-irradiation, respectively), measured by ELISA. n=3. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

5.2 Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin for 10 days is

not sufficient to rescue senescent markers in established senescence

I next wanted to examine the wider senescent phenotype in established senescence to determine whether treatments which successfully rescued SASP production could also alleviate additional markers of senescence. Here I found that 10 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin was not sufficient to reduce any of the tested senescent markers, confirming earlier preliminary findings that the SASP is more receptive to modification.

SA- β -Gal activity (**Figure 5.2**) remained high after both 3 and 10 days of treatment with all tested drugs, with the proportion of positively stained cells in all experiments above 80%.



Figure 5.2: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in a model of established senescence does not affect SA- β -Gal activity. (A) Percentage of cells positive for SA- β -Gal in cultures of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05 μ M myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 or 10 days after the development of senescence (total 13 or 20 days postirradiation, respectively) identifiedby histochemical staining of SA- β -Gal, n=3. (B) Representative images of SA- β -Gal staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

DDF foci measured by immunostaining of γ H2AX demonstrated no change after either 3 or 10 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin (**Figure 5.3**). As a result of one independent experiment with particularly high staining intensity across the board, the raw measurements of γ H2AX foci per cell appear highly variable (Fig. 5.3A). However, when using a threshold of \geq 3 foci to identify a cell as positive for γ H2AX foci (Meier *et al.*, 2007), this variability was dramatically reduced in all but rapamycin conditions (Fig. 5.3B). This data shows that none of the tested drugs were able to influence DDF formation in established senescence.



Figure 5.3: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in a model of established senescence does not affect formation of DNA damage foci. (A) Number of γ H2AX foci per cell of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05 μ M myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3or 10 days after the development of senescence (total 13 or 20 days postirradiation, respectively) measured by immunofluorescent staining and automated ImageJ analysis, n=3. (B) Percentage of nuclei with 3 or more foci, considered 'positive' for γ H2AX. (C) Representative images of immunofluorescent staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ***p<0.001 Nuclear size also remained unaffected by all three treatments after both 3 and 10 days (**Figure 5.4**). Despite 10 days of metformin treatment effectively preventing nuclear enlargement when given immediately post-IR (Chapter 4), it was unsuccessful in established senescence, suggesting that nuclear enlargement is irreversible after 10 days post-irradiation and unresponsive to treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin.



Figure 5.4: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in a model of established senescence does not affect nuclear size. (A) Nuclear area (μ m²) of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05 μ M myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 or 10 days after the development of senescence (total 13 and 20 days post-irradiation, respectively) measured by ImageJ analysis of DAPI immunostaining, n=3. (B) Representative images of DAPI staining in the above conditions showing difference in nuclear size. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ****p<0.0001 The proportion of cells expressing p21 (**Figure 5.5**) was not impacted by either 3 or 10 days of treatment with any of the three drugs (Fig. 5.5A), remaining above 80% in all senescent conditions. This trend was also replicated when examining immunofluorescent staining intensity for p21 (Fig. 5.5B). While a mild trend towards reduced staining intensity is apparent after 10 days of treatment with myxothiazol or rapamycin, this is not statistically significant. Nevertheless, it may warrant further study with longer treatment times to determine whether this trend continues. The finding that p21 expression cannot be rescued by treatment with these three drugs in established senescence is unsurprising, as earlier findings in a developing senescent phenotype showed no change when metformin was administered from the point of senescence induction.



Figure 5.5: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in a model of established senescence does not affect p21 expression. (A) Percentage of cells positive for p21 in cultures of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05µM myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3or 10 days after the development of senescence (total 13 or 20 days postirradiation, respectively) measured by immunofluorescent staining and automated ImageJ analysis, n=3. (B) p21 staining intensity measured by automated ImageJ quantification. (C) Representative images of immunofluorescent staining in the above

conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001

Senescent growth arrest was also maintained after treatment with metformin, myxothiazol and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days (**Figure 5.6**). Ki67-expressing cells remained low in all senescent cultures, significantly reduced compared to young control cells. This was expected given the lack of effect of metformin when treatment was initiated at the point of senescence induction.



Figure 5.6: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 and 10 days in a model of established senescence does not affect cell proliferation. (A) Percentage of cells positive for Ki67 in cultures of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05μ M myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 or 10 days after the development of senescence (total 13 or 20 days postirradiation, respectively) identified by immunofluorescent staining for Ki67, n=3. (B) Representative images of Ki67 staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ****p<0.0001

Based on the data presented here these senescent markers appear to be refractory to treatment in established senescence, though other treatments, concentrations or durations cannot be ruled out. While I have shown here that none of the tested treatments were able to substantially rescue markers of senescence at the doses and treatment lengths tested, this does provide a promising indication that SASP reduction can be achieved without restoring cell-cycle progression to senescent cells.

5.3 Treatment with myxothiazol for 3 days post-irradiation is sufficient to reduce the SASP

My next question was whether a shorter treatment duration of 3 days could also be effective in alleviating harmful aspects of senescence if given at the point of senescence induction (**Figure 5.7**). Cells were treated for 3 days post-IR, followed by untreated control media for the remaining 7 days of senescence development (Fig. 5.7A). This allowed me to determine whether 3 days of treatment with either metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin was sufficient to prevent the development of a SASP (Fig. 5.7B).

After 3 days of treatment with metformin, none of the measured SASP factors (IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10) were significantly reduced in senescent cells. There was great variability in IL-8 and IP-10 secreted levels, and IP-10 even appeared to increase after 3 days of metformin treatment, though as mentioned previously IP-10 measurements were more difficult to obtain and were generally more variable. By comparison, treatment with myxothiazol for 3 days reduced the secreted levels of all three cytokines, though only IL-6 significantly. Rapamycin treatment also significantly reduced IL-6 levels after 3 days of treatment, and showed a mild reduction in IP-10 though this was not statistically significant.

Due to the variability between experiments I examined this data by normalizing each dataset to the corresponding untreated senescent control to try to remove any interexperiment variation (Fig. 5.7C). This also allowed me to look at the relationship change between each drug and untreated senescent cells. This revealed a much clearer picture of SASP suppression. Here I was able to see that myxothiazol treatment significantly reduced all three SASP factors, rapamycin inhibited IL-6 and IP-10, and metformin did not affect IL-6 or IL-8 but increased IP-10 secretion. Rapamycin again caused an increase in IL-8 secretion. Overall this is a promising indication that shorter treatment times – particularly with myxothiazol - may be successful at reducing the SASP, and suggests that prevention of the initial 'burst' of activity following a severe senescent trigger may be sufficient to prevent the development of a SASP.

That myxothiazol was able to reduce secretion of all three cytokines significantly after 3 days of treatment while metformin did not offer an interesting point of comparison. While both drugs were able to suppress the SASP after 10 days of treatment post-IR (Fig. 5.7C),

myxothiazol appears to have the stronger – or faster – effect. To dissect the possible reason for this, I tested the effects of rotenone treatment for the same length of time on SASP factor secretion (Fig. 5.7B) to compare the effects of metformin with another CI inhibitor. This analysis revealed that 3 days of rotenone treatment actually increased IL-6 secretion (though proportional change was not significant), and had no effect on either IL-8 or IP-10 levels. This suggests that the difference in effectiveness between metformin and myxothiazol may be a site-specific effect, as both CI inhibitors were unable to impact SASP production after 3 days. Further research into this difference is needed, and is discussed later.

Comparison of the effects of these drugs after 3 (Fig. 5.7B-C) and 10 days (Fig. 5.7D) of treatment (with the exception of rapamycin which was not included in earlier stages of this project and so does not have 10 day data) demonstrates a clear time-dependent suppression of SASP with rotenone, metformin and myxothiazol. Further study is warranted to determine the minimum required intervention for SASP suppression. 3 days may not be sufficient to fully suppress the SASP with these drugs, but it is reasonable to suggest that 4, 5, or 6 days may have greater effect and allow shorter exposure time of cells to drugs such as rotenone or myxothiazol and minimize potential side effects.



Figure 5.7: Treatment with myxothiazol for 3 days post-irradiation is sufficient to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion in senescent fibroblasts. (A) Schematic of experimental design; cells were seeded to plates and x-ray irradiated at 20Gy the following day, then given drug-treated or control media immediately post-IR, before reverting to untreated media for all conditions on day 3 and for the remaining 7 days of senescence development. (B) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young nonirradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05µM myxothiazol, 50nM rapamycin or 0.1µM rotenone for 3 days immediately post-IR, measured by ELISA, n=3.Data are mean±S.E.M. (C) Cytokine data taken from (B) and normalised to independent senescent control values for each experiment, (D) Levels of IL-6, IL-8 and IP-10 secreted by young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent

fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05µM myxothiazol or 0.1µM rotenone for 10 days post-IR as shown in Fig.4.4, 3.5 and 3.2, respectively, conducted as described in Fig.3.1, measured by ELISA, n=2-4. Data are mean±S.D. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ****p<0.001

5.4 Treatment with electron transport inhibitors for 3 days post-

irradiation is not sufficient to rescue senescent marker expression

Based on these findings of successful SASP suppression, I next wanted to determine whether 3 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin was sufficient to alleviate any of the previously tested senescent markers, to help identify the minimum effective intervention.

The proportion of cells positively stained for SA- β -Gal was unaffected by 3 days of treatment with any of the tested drugs (**Figure 5.8**). However, a noticeable decrease in the intensity of SA- β -Gal staining was evident with rapamycin treatment, though not enough to be considered negative for SA- β -Gal activity. A ~25% reduction in SA- β -Gal-positive cells was seen with rapamycin, but this was not statistically significant. Previous studies have found a complete reduction in SA- β -Gal activity after 10 days with rapamycin treatment (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016; Park *et al.*, 2020), and so this could suggest an optimum minimum treatment time somewhere between 3 and 10 days. The difference observed by eye seems to suggest that rapamycin caused a faster decline in SA- β -Gal activity than metformin or myxothiazol, and so further study is warranted into additional treatment timepoints.



Figure 5.8: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days postirradiation does not affect SA- β -Gal activity. (A) Percentage of cells positive for SA- β -Gal in cultures of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05 μ M myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 days after irradiation, identified by histochemical staining of SA- β -Gal, n=3. (B) Representative images of SA- β -Gal staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ***p<0.001

The number of γ H2AX foci present in senescent cells treated with metformin, myxothiazol, or rapamycin for 3 days did not change dramatically (**Figure 5.9**), although raw foci numbers were variable between experiments (Fig. 5.9A). This was largely a result of one independent experiment producing particularly high staining intensities across the board. Additional experiments may help to reduce this variability. To help improve the variability of the current data I again used a threshold of 3 or more foci to determine cells 'positive' for γ H2AX, which revealed a much more reproducible picture of DDF distribution (Fig. 5.9B). Overall the proportion of cells which were positive for γ H2AX foci remained high in cells treated with metformin, myxothiazol, or rapamycin for 3 days post-IR. This suggests that 3 days is not sufficient to prevent the formation of DDFs.





or more γ H2AX foci and therefore considered 'positive' for γ H2AX foci, n=3. (C) Representative images of γ H2AX staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. **p<0.01

Nuclear size also remained unchanged after 3 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol and rapamycin (**Figure 5.10**). This again suggests that prevention of nuclear enlargement requires a longer treatment time than 3 days. Additional work exploring later timepoints of treatment may reveal the minimum effective treatment time required to reduce nuclear size in senescence.



Figure 5.10: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days postirradiation does not affect nuclear size.(A) Nuclear area (μ m²) of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05 μ M myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 days after irradiation, measured by ImageJ analysis of DAPI immunostaining, n=3.(C) Representative images of DAPI staining in the above conditions showing the difference in nuclear size. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ***p<0.001 Cells positive for p21 expression did not respond to 3 days of treatment with either metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin (**Figure 5.11**). Staining intensity demonstrated wide variability (Fig. 5.11A), largely a result of the same independent experiment as described above exhibiting higher staining intensities across the board. By using staining intensity thresholds for each experiment to identify cells 'positive' for p21 staining I was able to determine a more reproducible picture of drug effects on p21 expression (Fig. 5.11B). Importantly, while staining intensity of some NI cells was particularly high, the number of cells which exhibited this intensity was much lower compared to senescent cells. Here I found that 3 days of treatment with any of the drugs tested was not sufficient to influence p21 expression. For metformin this is unsurprising as 10 days of treatment was also ineffective as detailed in Chapter 4.



Figure 5.11: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days postirradiation does not affect p21 expression. (A) p21 staining intensity in cultures of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05μM myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 days after irradiation, identified by immunofluorescent staining, n=3. (B) Percentage of cells positive for p21 staining, n=3. (C) Representative images of p21 staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. **p<0.01

Finally, Ki67-positive cells were also unaffected by treatment with any of the three drugs (**Figure 5.12**). As before this was expected for metformin as 10 days of treatment was also unable to change Ki67-positive cell proportions. Here I show that neither metformin, myxothiazol nor rapamycin are able to influence cell proliferation in senescent cells treated for 3 days post-IR.



Figure 5.12: Treatment with metformin, myxothiazol, and rapamycin for 3 days postirradiation does not affect cell proliferation. (A) Percentage of cells positive for Ki67 in cultures of young non-irradiated, untreated senescent, and senescent fibroblasts treated with 5mM metformin, 0.05μM myxothiazol, or 50nM rapamycin for 3 days after irradiation, identified by immunofluorescent staining for Ki67, n=3. (B) Representative images of Ki67 staining in the above conditions. Data was analysed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are mean±S.E.M. ****p<0.0001 Overall I have shown that SASP factor secretion can be reduced by 3 days of treatment post-IR with myxothiazol and rapamycin to some degree. This is a promising indication that shorter treatment timelines with these drugs may be sufficient to alleviate the SASP. By comparison metformin and rotenone were both unable to reduce SASP after 3 days. Furthermore, SASP factor secretion can also be successfully reduced in an established senescent phenotype by 10 days of treatment with metformin, myxothiazol and rapamycin, with the exception of IL-8 after rapamycin treatment.

However, while 3 days of treatment appears to be the starting point for effective SASP suppression, it is clear that other senescent markers either cannot be reverted by these drugs or require longer treatment times. Findings in Chapter 4 for metformin treatment would suggest longer treatment times are sufficient in this case, but longer durations require testing for myxothiazol and rapamycin. p21 and Ki67 were unaffected by treatment with any of the tested inhibitors for 3 days post-IR (and 10 days in metformin treatment), as well as 3 and 10 days of treatment after the development of a senescent phenotype. By comparison, SA- β -Gal activity, DDF formation, and nuclear enlargement were all significantly reduced by 10 days of metformin treatment post-IR (Chapter 4), but not 3 days. 3 days was also insufficient treatment with myxothiazol and rapamycin to impact these markers, and no measured marker responded to treatment in an established senescent phenotype.

Therefore, the SASP appears to be an aspect of the senescent phenotype that is more receptive to manipulation, even when the phenotype is perceivably 'locked in' and other features are irreversible.

5.5 Discussion

In this chapter I have provided evidence that the timing of senescent cell treatment is an important determining factor in alleviating both the SASP and essential senescent markers. Perhaps unsurprisingly, treatment is more effective when administered at the point of senescence induction compared to a model of established senescence. This is particularly true for the reduction of senescent markers such as SA-β-Gal activity, DDF formation and nuclear enlargement. These markers were unaffected by both shorter treatment times during senescence development, and treatment in established senescence. Only after 10 days of metformin treatment given at the point of senescence induction were any markers other than SASP significantly affected, as shown in Chapter 4. Additionally, while 3 days of treatment with myxothiazol and rapamycin was sufficient to reduce SASP factor secretion when given immediately post-IR, this shorter timeline was not effective in an established senescent phenotype, suggesting that the SASP is more receptive to treatment earlier in the senescent timeline. This may indicate that it is easier to prevent the development of a senescent phenotype than reverse it, which would not be unexpected given previous reports of reduced treatment efficacy at points later than 9 days after senescence induction (Passos et al., 2010), though other studies have demonstrated the reversibility of some senescent phenotypes in replicative senescence (Matsushita et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2002).

In a model of established IR-induced senescence, all three tested drugs alleviated at least two of the three measured SASP factors, showing that the SASP can be reduced even after the phenotype is 'locked in'. This correlates with previous work which has shown that the SASP can be modulated *in vivo* in aged mice (De Cecco *et al.*, 2019), and *in vitro* through a number of mechanisms in established senescence (Xu *et al.*, 2015; Dou *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, work by both Dou et al (2017) and Xu et al (2015) found that interventions that were able to suppress SASP did not necessarily have an effect on other senescent markers, again demonstrating a separation of these two aspects of the senescent phenotype. This is nevertheless a promising indication for future work in both animal and human studies, as it demonstrates that the SASP specifically can be reduced in a model closer to normal physiological circumstances, in which cells exist as a mosaic across a spectrum of senescence progression.

These findings suggest that the tested drugs are unable to reduce lysosomal activity, based on consistently high SA- β -Gal activity observed in all conditions. As SA- β -Gal activity was significantly reduced by metformin treatment when administered at the point of senescence induction, this also suggests that SA- β -Gal activity may form part of the 'locked in' senescent phenotype and become resistant to manipulation at some point in the first 10 days of senescence progression. This is also true of DDFs, though this was expected as continual stimulation of DDFs is no longer required to maintain senescence at timepoints later than 9 days, as the phenotype stabilises and DDFs become persistent. At this point interruption of DDR signalling is less efficient in alleviating the phenotype (Passos *et al.*, 2010).

Although the treatments tested here were unable to alleviate senescent markers such as DNA damage foci or nuclear enlargement in established senescence, the reversibility of these markers has been shown elsewhere (Matsushita *et al.*, 2001; Chen *et al.*, 2002). Rapamycin in particular is known to be an effective senostatic when treated over longer durations than tested here (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016). mTORC1 inhibition is known to stimulate autophagy resulting in increased mitochondrial clearance and reduced OXPHOS activity. This may therefore suggest a similar effect to the previously tested ETC inhibitors, with greater reliance on glycolysis. Further study would be needed to examine this.

Furthermore, while 3 days of treatment in established senescence was not sufficient to elicit a significant decrease in SASP factors with any of the tested drugs, a downward trend is clear, suggesting that treatment between 3 and 10 days may provide the minimum effective intervention for SASP suppression in this model.

As stated, while SASP factor secretion was receptive to treatment in established senescence, this was not the case for any of the measured senescent markers. No significant differences were seen in SA- β -Gal activity, DDF formation, nuclear size, p21 expression, or cell proliferation with either metformin, myxothiazol or rapamycin treatment. This specific inhibition of SASP production alone points to a mechanism that either impacts cells ability to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, or promotes their clearance, rather than a manipulation of one of the core senescent signalling pathways which would allow re-entry into the cell cycle and alleviation of DDR signalling and DDF formation. Though this would require further study to confirm. Additionally, it seems clear

that alleviation of the SASP alone is not sufficient to 'break' the positive feedback loops between SASP production, DDR signalling and ROS production in maintenance of the senescent phenotype.

In this study the findings of time-dependent SASP and senescent marker suppression are primarily demonstrated by metformin treatment immediately post-IR, in which 3 days is insufficient to modify SASP and senescent markers, but 10 days is effective. Reduction in IL-6 and IP-10 levels with rapamycin after 3 days may suggest a faster efficacy, and 10 days of treatment warrants investigation. This is in agreement with previous reports which have shown that rapamycin promotes SASP factor degradation by activating the RNA-binding protein ZFP36L1 (Herranz *et al.*, 2015). Studies have demonstrated its effectiveness at reducing markers of senescence in a similar model when treated for 10 days (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016).

Furthermore, based on successful SASP suppression by myxothiazol after 3 and 10 days post-IR, further work may determine whether myxothiazol treatment could also alleviate other markers of senescence if treated for longer than 3 days. To my knowledge CIII inhibition, either by pharmacological (Stockl *et al.*, 2006) or genetic manipulation (Moiseeva *et al.*, 2009), has to date only been studied as an inducer of senescence, and not as a potential therapeutic target, likely due to the lack of available CIII inhibitors with an acceptable safety profile in humans.

I have also shown here that the time-dependent decrease in SASP suppression with rotenone, metformin and myxothiazol varies between treatments. When drugs were administered at the point of senescence induction, all three were able to significantly suppress SASP factor secretion after 10 days of treatment as seen in Chapter 3. By comparison, only myxothiazol reduced the SASP after 3 days. I have not included rapamycin in this assessment as it was not measured at 10 days. This suggests that myxothiazol requires a shorter period of time to elicit a change in the senescent phenotype. The reason for this is unclear, and could stem from myxothiazol's site of inhibition, effect on ROS production, or another unknown mechanism. While the findings of Chapter 3 provided implications for OCR inhibition in SASP suppression, the specific timeline of these effects are yet to be elucidated. Despite comparable effects on OCR, ROS, and SASP after 10 days post-IR by metformin and myxothiazol, here we see that

myxothiazol's impact on SASP is much faster than metformin. One possible explanation is that CI inhibition by metformin still allows electron transfer to occur downstream with electrons supplied by CII-linked substrates or fatty acid oxidation, while inhibition of CIII interrupts electron flow from all sources as well as functions such as iron-sulphur cluster or pyrimidine synthesis (Khutornenko *et al.*, 2010).

As CIII inhibition has not been explored as a potential therapeutic target in senescence there is little literature to base conclusions on, but it is possible that this difference between CI and CIII inhibitors relates to a site-specific mechanism, perhaps ROSdependent. However, confirming site-specific ROS production as a determining factor is difficult in whole cell studies, as the activities and ROS production rates of respiratory complexes can vary dramatically based on substrate availability, cell stress responses, and culture conditions. Data presented here by S1QEL and S3QEL treatments aimed at suppressing site-specific ROS production does not support a ROS-dependent difference between rotenone and myxothiazol effects, though these experiments require further confirmation with direct ROS measurements in isolated mitochondria to confirm effects on mitochondrial ROS at the concentrations used. Additionally, intact cells are able to swiftly switch to glycolysis reliance in response to stressful conditions, whether this be respiratory complex inhibition or downregulation, or simply a lack of available substrates (Vander Heiden; Cantley and Thompson, 2009; Heiss et al., 2014; Rafikov et al., 2015). This in turn induces an overall decline in ROS production resulting from downregulated ETC activity, confounding attempts to accurately measure the contribution of individual ROSproducing sites.(Lee and Yoon, 2015)

Further work is needed to examine this difference in effect between CI and CIII inhibitors in SASP suppression. This could include the use of isolated mitochondria to confirm inhibitor effects on respiratory complex activity and ROS production without the confounding influences of non-mitochondrial dehydrogenases or endogenous substrates, and measurement of NAD+ and NADH levels in senescence and in response to specific complex inhibition. It could also be important to evaluate the specific enzymatic inhibition of these drugs, as it is not known to what degree each respiratory complex is inhibited by the tested drugs in order to produce the observed reductions in OCR, ROS and SASP production. The inhibitory thresholds for producing these effects for each complex may

vary. Finally, investigation of additional drug concentrations as conducted in Chapter 3 drug screening may reveal any concentration-dependent effects on ROS production and other markers of senescence.

However, the influence of myxothiazol treatment on senescence after 3 days appears to be limited to the SASP. Based on previous findings of successful reduction in senescent markers after 10 days of metformin treatment, it would interesting to examine these markers after longer treatment with myxothiazol to compare any time-dependent effects.

Importantly, in all of the models examined in this chapter the SASP demonstrated greater potential for manipulation than any of the other senescent markers. While 3 days of myxothiazol or rapamycin treatment reduced SASP factor secretion when given immediately post-IR, and 10 days with all three tested inhibitors reduced SASP in established senescence, no other tested marker showed any change. The reason for this likely lies in the transient nature of the pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that form the SASP. As a secreted factor that is perpetually produced, it is more practical to prevent cytokine secretion or upregulate their clearance than to reverse markers such as DNA damage foci or nuclear enlargement which are far more permanent in nature. The processes required to repair DNA damage foci or reverse nuclear enlargement are likely far more complicated than suppressing the active secretion of pro-inflammatory products.

Overall, here I have shown that when targeting the SASP for treatment, both the point of initiation and duration of treatment are key in determining their effectiveness. The success of short-term treatment post-IR in alleviating the SASP also suggests that interruption of the initial burst of activity following irradiation may be sufficient to prevent SASP development, but not other markers of senescence.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

The interplay between mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular senescence has been the subject of investigation for many years, stemming from their shared accumulation with age and links to age-related disease. More recently, their influence on each other has been given greater context, both by the confirmation of mitochondria's essential role in senescence development (Correia-Melo *et al.*, 2016) and identification of a mitochondrial dysfunction-induced senescent phenotype (Wiley *et al.*, 2016), and the clarified role of senescence in promoting mitochondrial dysfunction (Nelson *et al.*, 2018). Work presented in this thesis provides further detail on the role of mitochondria in senescence, how manipulating mitochondrial function can modify the senescent phenotype, and provides evidence for possible determining factors in alleviating the SASP by targeting specific mitochondrial processes such as mitochondrial respiration. These observations offer important context in the pursuit of age-related disease treatments and improved healthspan by targeting senescent cells.

Firstly, while great focus has been given to Complex I dysfunction and ROS production in ageing and age-related disease, here I have shown that it is possible to alleviate proinflammatory SASP secretion by interrupting electron flow at CI, III, IV and V. This shows that SASP suppression following mitochondrial respiration inhibition is not necessarily a site- or complex-specific effect, and can be achieved by general interruption of electron transport. Secondly, data here also presents evidence that suppression of overall mitochondrial respiration is the key determining factor in preventing SASP factor secretion, and not specific oxidative phosphorylation activity or OXPHOS-derived ATP production or ROS production. While both of these products may have some influence on senescence, based on findings presented here they are not as important as the overall respiratory inhibition, which is in line with knowledge that many aspects of senescence, SASP production and synthesis of necessary intermediate products all require a functional ETC. It is also possible that other interventions may have similar effects, such as preventing electron provision from the TCA cycle or entry of pyruvate into the mitochondria, though at this point these are purely specutalive.

Thirdly, metformin is an effective senostatic treatment capable of alleviating the SASP, DNA damage, nuclear enlargement, and SA- β -Gal activity when given chronically from the point of senescence induction. While it retains its ability to modify SASP production in models of established senescence, other markers of senescence become refractory to this intervention once the phenotype is 'locked in'. A noticeable difference is presented by preliminary experiments between IR-induced and replicative senescence, which require further study to determine whether greater SASP suppression by metformin in IR-induced compared to replicative senescence is a time- or phenotype-specific effect.

The precise mechanism of metformin action is the subject of great debate, and has yet to be fully elucidated. While a number of key targets and pathways have been identified, including CI inhibition, AMPK activation, gluconeogenesis inhibition, mTORC1 and NFKB inhibition, even these appear to be context-dependent. Studies have demonstrated biphasic effects of metformin between high and low doses, acute and chronic treatment, as well as AMPK-dependent and --independent roles. Here I have shown that high dose metformin inhibits mitochondrial CI specifically, both acutely and over long-term treatment, in agreement with previous reports, and that while it is an effective modulator of senescent markers when given from the point of senescence induction, it is unable to alleviate cell-cycle arrest. Whether this is an AMPK-dependent or –independent effect is unclear. Maintenance of cell-cycle arrest could suggest reinforcement of p53-dependent signalling via AMPK activation, while the lack of enhancement of other senescent markers that occur downstream of p53 signalling implies this is not the case, though metformin may simply be preventing ATP production required for these processes. Further work is required to dissect the mechanism of metformin's effects in these conditions, but these findings are promising as metformin can be used as a therapy and has been prescribed in humans for decades, making it a prime candidate for repurposing.

Finally, duration and point of treatment initiation is also important in determining effective senescence modification. Here I have shown that treatment with multiple senostatic drugs while the senescent phenotype is developing is sufficient to prevent SASP production, in some cases after only 3 days of treatment, while treatment in established senescence requires longer times to be effective. Moreover, I have provided evidence that the SASP is more receptive to treatment in all models examined here than any other

tested senescent marker. This provides encouraging evidence that the harmful proinflammatory aspect of the senescent phenotype can be modified even in 'deep senescence' without allowing damaged cells to re-enter the cell cycle and proliferate, and represents a much more physiologically relevant model of senescence applicable to further *in vivo* study. Moreover, the interventions tested here may not be able to relieve proliferation arrest, but can be beneficial in preventing and alleviating the harmful 'bystander effect' caused by SASP. ROS and SASP are the major inducers of cell damage resulting from senescence; both as part of a positive feedback loop of increasing production, and through the bystander effect. Removing one or both of these harmful aspects should be beneficial in ageing and ARDs, while maintaining the tumoursuppressor aspect of the senescent phenotype by maintaining cell cycle arrest.

Importantly, I have shown that it is essential to consider both acute and chronic effects of mitochondrial manipulations and their consequences, as cell adaptations over time are taken into account. Furthermore, shorter treatment times may be sufficient to prevent the SASP, but not reverse it, demonstrating that the minimum effective intervention varies between conditions.

Taken together, my data provides support for functional mitochondrial respiration as a determining factor in development of a SASP, and highlights the importance of treatment initiation and duration in defining treatment efficacy. Finally, I have provided evidence that manipulation of mitochondrial electron transport at multiple points successfully prevents the SASP, opening up a wider avenue of investigation for additional senostatic drugs and treatments for age-related diseases based on a general interruption of mitochondrial respiration.

Chapter 7: References

Abramov, A.Y., Scorziello, A. and Duchen, M.R. (2007) 'Three distinct mechanisms generate oxygen free radicals in neurons and contribute to cell death during anoxia and reoxygenation', *J Neurosci*, 27(5), pp. 1129-38.

Acosta, J.C., Banito, A., Wuestefeld, T., Georgilis, A., Janich, P., Morton, J.P., Athineos, D., Kang, T.W., Lasitschka, F., Andrulis, M., Pascual, G., Morris, K.J., Khan, S., Jin, H., Dharmalingam, G., Snijders, A.P., Carroll, T., Capper, D., Pritchard, C., Inman, G.J., Longerich, T., Sansom, O.J., Benitah, S.A., Zender, L. and Gil, J. (2013) 'A complex secretory program orchestrated by the inflammasome controls paracrine senescence', *Nat Cell Biol*, 15(8), pp. 978-90.

Acosta, J.C., O'Loghlen, A., Banito, A., Guijarro, M.V., Augert, A., Raguz, S., Fumagalli, M., Da Costa, M., Brown, C., Popov, N., Takatsu, Y., Melamed, J., d'Adda di Fagagna, F., Bernard, D., Hernando, E. and Gil, J. (2008) 'Chemokine signaling via the CXCR2 receptor reinforces senescence', *Cell*, 133(6), pp. 1006-18.

Adams, P.D. (2009) 'Healing and hurting: molecular mechanisms, functions, and pathologies of cellular senescence', *Mol Cell*, 36(1), pp. 2-14.

Aguer, C., Gambarotta, D., Mailloux, R.J., Moffat, C., Dent, R., McPherson, R. and Harper, M.E. (2011) 'Galactose enhances oxidative metabolism and reveals mitochondrial dysfunction in human primary muscle cells', *PLoS One*, 6(12), p. e28536.

Ahmad, T., Sundar, I.K., Lerner, C.A., Gerloff, J., Tormos, A.M., Yao, H. and Rahman, I. (2015) 'Impaired mitophagy leads to cigarette smoke stress-induced cellular senescence: implications for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease', *FASEB J*, 29(7), pp. 2912-29.

Aird, K.M., Zhang, G., Li, H., Tu, Z., Bitler, B.G., Garipov, A., Wu, H., Wei, Z., Wagner, S.N., Herlyn, M. and Zhang, R. (2013) 'Suppression of nucleotide metabolism underlies the establishment and maintenance of oncogene-induced senescence', *Cell Rep*, 3(4), pp. 1252-65.

Algire, C., Moiseeva, O., Deschenes-Simard, X., Amrein, L., Petruccelli, L., Birman, E., Viollet, B., Ferbeyre, G. and Pollak, M.N. (2012) 'Metformin reduces endogenous reactive oxygen species and associated DNA damage', *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*, 5(4), pp. 536-43.

Alshawi, A. and Agius, L. (2019) 'Low metformin causes a more oxidized mitochondrial NADH/NAD redox state in hepatocytes and inhibits gluconeogenesis by a redox-independent mechanism', *J Biol Chem*, 294(8), pp. 2839-2853.

Amsellem, V., Gary-Bobo, G., Marcos, E., Maitre, B., Chaar, V., Validire, P., Stern, J.B., Noureddine, H., Sapin, E., Rideau, D., Hue, S., Le Corvoisier, P., Le Gouvello, S., Dubois-Rande, J.L., Boczkowski, J. and Adnot, S. (2011) 'Telomere dysfunction causes sustained inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease', *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 184(12), pp. 1358-66. Anderson, E.J., Lustig, M.E., Boyle, K.E., Woodlief, T.L., Kane, D.A., Lin, C.T., Price, J.W., 3rd, Kang, L., Rabinovitch, P.S., Szeto, H.H., Houmard, J.A., Cortright, R.N., Wasserman, D.H. and Neufer, P.D. (2009) 'Mitochondrial H2O2 emission and cellular redox state link excess fat intake to insulin resistance in both rodents and humans', *J Clin Invest*, 119(3), pp. 573-81.

Anderson, R., Lagnado, A., Maggiorani, D., Walaszczyk, A., Dookun, E., Chapman, J., Birch, J., Salmonowicz, H., Ogrodnik, M., Jurk, D., Proctor, C., Correia-Melo, C., Victorelli, S., Fielder, E., Berlinguer-Palmini, R., Owens, A., Greaves, L.C., Kolsky, K.L., Parini, A., Douin-Echinard, V., LeBrasseur, N.K., Arthur, H.M., Tual-Chalot, S., Schafer, M.J., Roos, C.M., Miller, J.D., Robertson, N., Mann, J., Adams, P.D., Tchkonia, T., Kirkland, J.L., Mialet-Perez, J., Richardson, G.D. and Passos, J.F. (2019) 'Length-independent telomere damage drives post-mitotic cardiomyocyte senescence', *EMBO J*, 38(5).

Anderson, S., Bankier, A.T., Barrell, B.G., de Bruijn, M.H., Coulson, A.R., Drouin, J., Eperon, I.C., Nierlich, D.P., Roe, B.A., Sanger, F., Schreier, P.H., Smith, A.J., Staden, R. and Young, I.G. (1981) 'Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome', *Nature*, 290(5806), pp. 457-65. Andrzejewski, S., Gravel, S.P., Pollak, M. and St-Pierre, J. (2014) 'Metformin directly acts on mitochondria to alter cellular bioenergetics', *Cancer Metab*, 2, p. 12.

Anisimov, V.N., Berstein, L.M., Egormin, P.A., Piskunova, T.S., Popovich, I.G., Zabezhinski, M.A., Tyndyk, M.L., Yurova, M.V., Kovalenko, I.G., Poroshina, T.E. and Semenchenko, A.V. (2008) 'Metformin slows down aging and extends life span of female SHR mice', *Cell Cycle*, 7(17), pp. 2769-73.

Antonucci, S., Mulvey, J.F., Burger, N., Di Sante, M., Hall, A.R., Hinchy, E.C., Caldwell, S.T., Gruszczyk, A.V., Deshwal, S., Hartley, R.C., Kaludercic, N., Murphy, M.P., Di Lisa, F. and Krieg, T. (2019) 'Selective mitochondrial superoxide generation in vivo is cardioprotective through hormesis', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 134, pp. 678-687.

Bae, N.S. and Baumann, P. (2007) 'A RAP1/TRF2 complex inhibits nonhomologous end-joining at human telomeric DNA ends', *Mol Cell*, 26(3), pp. 323-34.

Baker, D.J., Childs, B.G., Durik, M., Wijers, M.E., Sieben, C.J., Zhong, J., Saltness, R.A., Jeganathan, K.B., Verzosa, G.C., Pezeshki, A., Khazaie, K., Miller, J.D. and van Deursen, J.M. (2016) 'Naturally occurring p16(Ink4a)-positive cells shorten healthy lifespan', *Nature*, 530(7589), pp. 184-9. Baker, D.J., Jeganathan, K.B., Cameron, J.D., Thompson, M., Juneja, S., Kopecka, A., Kumar, R., Jenkins, R.B., de Groen, P.C., Roche, P. and van Deursen, J.M. (2004) 'BubR1 insufficiency causes early onset of aging-associated phenotypes and infertility in mice', *Nat Genet*, 36(7), pp. 744-9. Baker, D.J., Jin, F. and van Deursen, J.M. (2008) 'The yin and yang of the Cdkn2a locus in senescence and aging', *Cell Cycle*, 7(18), pp. 2795-802.

Baker, D.J., Wijshake, T., Tchkonia, T., LeBrasseur, N.K., Childs, B.G., van de Sluis, B., Kirkland, J.L. and van Deursen, J.M. (2011) 'Clearance of p16Ink4a-positive senescent cells delays ageing-associated disorders', *Nature*, 479(7372), pp. 232-6.

Bakkenist, C.J. and Kastan, M.B. (2003) 'DNA damage activates ATM through intermolecular autophosphorylation and dimer dissociation', *Nature*, 421(6922), pp. 499-506.

Barja, G., Cadenas, S., Rojas, C., Perez-Campo, R. and Lopez-Torres, M. (1994) 'Low mitochondrial free radical production per unit O2 consumption can explain the simultaneous presence of high longevity and high aerobic metabolic rate in birds', *Free Radic Res*, 21(5), pp. 317-27.

Baughman, J.M., Perocchi, F., Girgis, H.S., Plovanich, M., Belcher-Timme, C.A., Sancak, Y., Bao, X.R., Strittmatter, L., Goldberger, O., Bogorad, R.L., Koteliansky, V. and Mootha, V.K. (2011) 'Integrative genomics identifies MCU as an essential component of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter', *Nature*, 476(7360), pp. 341-5.

Bavik, C., Coleman, I., Dean, J.P., Knudsen, B., Plymate, S. and Nelson, P.S. (2006) 'The gene expression program of prostate fibroblast senescence modulates neoplastic epithelial cell proliferation through paracrine mechanisms', *Cancer Res*, 66(2), pp. 794-802.

Beausejour, C.M., Krtolica, A., Galimi, F., Narita, M., Lowe, S.W., Yaswen, P. and Campisi, J. (2003) 'Reversal of human cellular senescence: roles of the p53 and p16 pathways', *EMBO J*, 22(16), pp. 4212-22.

Bekker-Jensen, S., Lukas, C., Kitagawa, R., Melander, F., Kastan, M.B., Bartek, J. and Lukas, J. (2006) 'Spatial organization of the mammalian genome surveillance machinery in response to DNA strand breaks', *J Cell Biol*, 173(2), pp. 195-206.

Ben-Sahra, I., Howell, J.J., Asara, J.M. and Manning, B.D. (2013) 'Stimulation of de novo pyrimidine synthesis by growth signaling through mTOR and S6K1', *Science*, 339(6125), pp. 1323-8.

Ben-Sahra, I., Hoxhaj, G., Ricoult, S.J.H., Asara, J.M. and Manning, B.D. (2016) 'mTORC1 induces purine synthesis through control of the mitochondrial tetrahydrofolate cycle', *Science*, 351(6274), pp. 728-733.

Ben Sahra, I., Laurent, K., Loubat, A., Giorgetti-Peraldi, S., Colosetti, P., Auberger, P., Tanti, J.F., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y. and Bost, F. (2008) 'The antidiabetic drug metformin exerts an antitumoral effect in vitro and in vivo through a decrease of cyclin D1 level', *Oncogene*, 27(25), pp. 3576-86.

Benanti, J.A. and Galloway, D.A. (2004) 'Normal human fibroblasts are resistant to RAS-induced senescence', *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(7), pp. 2842-52.

Benetos, A., Kark, J.D., Susser, E., Kimura, M., Sinnreich, R., Chen, W., Steenstrup, T., Christensen, K., Herbig, U., von Bornemann Hjelmborg, J., Srinivasan, S.R., Berenson, G.S., Labat, C. and Aviv, A. (2013) 'Tracking and fixed ranking of leukocyte telomere length across the adult life course', *Aging Cell*, 12(4), pp. 615-21.

Bennett, M.C., Mlady, G.W., Kwon, Y.H. and Rose, G.M. (1996) 'Chronic in vivo sodium azide infusion induces selective and stable inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase', *J Neurochem*, 66(6), pp. 2606-11.

Bhat, R., Crowe, E.P., Bitto, A., Moh, M., Katsetos, C.D., Garcia, F.U., Johnson, F.B., Trojanowski, J.Q., Sell, C. and Torres, C. (2012) 'Astrocyte senescence as a component of Alzheimer's disease', *PLoS One*, 7(9), p. e45069.

Birch, J., Anderson, R.K., Correia-Melo, C., Jurk, D., Hewitt, G., Marques, F.M., Green, N.J., Moisey, E., Birrell, M.A., Belvisi, M.G., Black, F., Taylor, J.J., Fisher, A.J., De Soyza, A. and Passos, J.F. (2015) 'DNA damage response at telomeres contributes to lung aging and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 309(10), pp. L1124-37.

Bittles, A.H. and Harper, N. (1984) 'Increased glycolysis in ageing cultured human diploid fibroblasts', *Biosci Rep*, 4(9), pp. 751-6.

Blackburn, E.H. (1991) 'Structure and function of telomeres', *Nature*, 350(6319), pp. 569-73. Bodnar, A.G., Ouellette, M., Frolkis, M., Holt, S.E., Chiu, C.P., Morin, G.B., Harley, C.B., Shay, J.W., Lichtsteiner, S. and Wright, W.E. (1998) 'Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells', *Science*, 279(5349), pp. 349-52.

Booty, L.M., Gawel, J.M., Cvetko, F., Caldwell, S.T., Hall, A.R., Mulvey, J.F., James, A.M., Hinchy, E.C., Prime, T.A., Arndt, S., Beninca, C., Bright, T.P., Clatworthy, M.R., Ferdinand, J.R., Prag, H.A., Logan, A., Prudent, J., Krieg, T., Hartley, R.C. and Murphy, M.P. (2019) 'Selective Disruption of Mitochondrial Thiol Redox State in Cells and In Vivo', *Cell Chem Biol*, 26(3), pp. 449-461 e8. Bowman, A. and Birch-Machin, M.A. (2016) 'Age-Dependent Decrease of Mitochondrial Complex II Activity in Human Skin Fibroblasts', *J Invest Dermatol*, 136(5), pp. 912-919.

Brady, C.A., Jiang, D., Mello, S.S., Johnson, T.M., Jarvis, L.A., Kozak, M.M., Kenzelmann Broz, D., Basak, S., Park, E.J., McLaughlin, M.E., Karnezis, A.N. and Attardi, L.D. (2011) 'Distinct p53 transcriptional programs dictate acute DNA-damage responses and tumor suppression', *Cell*, 145(4), pp. 571-83.

Braidy, N., Guillemin, G.J., Mansour, H., Chan-Ling, T., Poljak, A. and Grant, R. (2011) 'Age related changes in NAD+ metabolism oxidative stress and Sirt1 activity in wistar rats', *PLoS One*, 6(4), p. e19194.

Braig, M. and Schmitt, C.A. (2006) 'Oncogene-induced senescence: putting the brakes on tumor development', *Cancer Res*, 66(6), pp. 2881-4.

Brand, K. (1997) 'Aerobic glycolysis by proliferating cells: protection against oxidative stress at the expense of energy yield', *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, 29(4), pp. 355-64.

Brand, M.D. (2016) 'Mitochondrial generation of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide as the source of mitochondrial redox signaling', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 100, pp. 14-31.

Brand, M.D., Goncalves, R.L., Orr, A.L., Vargas, L., Gerencser, A.A., Borch Jensen, M., Wang, Y.T., Melov, S., Turk, C.N., Matzen, J.T., Dardov, V.J., Petrassi, H.M., Meeusen, S.L., Perevoshchikova, I.V., Jasper, H., Brookes, P.S. and Ainscow, E.K. (2016) 'Suppressors of Superoxide-H2O2 Production at Site IQ of Mitochondrial Complex I Protect against Stem Cell Hyperplasia and Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *Cell Metab*, 24(4), pp. 582-592.

Brandt, A., Krohne, G. and Grosshans, J. (2008) 'The farnesylated nuclear proteins KUGELKERN and LAMIN B promote aging-like phenotypes in Drosophila flies', *Aging Cell*, 7(4), pp. 541-51. Bratic, A. and Larsson, N.G. (2013) 'The role of mitochondria in aging', *J Clin Invest*, 123(3), pp. 951-7.

Bridges, H.R., Jones, A.J., Pollak, M.N. and Hirst, J. (2014) 'Effects of metformin and other biguanides on oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria', *Biochem J*, 462(3), pp. 475-87. Brown, E.J., Albers, M.W., Shin, T.B., Ichikawa, K., Keith, C.T., Lane, W.S. and Schreiber, S.L. (1994) 'A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin-receptor complex', *Nature*, 369(6483), pp. 756-8.

Brown, G.C. and Borutaite, V. (2007) 'Nitric oxide and mitochondrial respiration in the heart', *Cardiovasc Res*, 75(2), pp. 283-90.

Brugarolas, J., Moberg, K., Boyd, S.D., Taya, Y., Jacks, T. and Lees, J.A. (1999) 'Inhibition of cyclindependent kinase 2 by p21 is necessary for retinoblastoma protein-mediated G1 arrest after gamma-irradiation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96(3), pp. 1002-7.

Bueno, M., Lai, Y.C., Romero, Y., Brands, J., St Croix, C.M., Kamga, C., Corey, C., Herazo-Maya, J.D., Sembrat, J., Lee, J.S., Duncan, S.R., Rojas, M., Shiva, S., Chu, C.T. and Mora, A.L. (2015) 'PINK1 deficiency impairs mitochondrial homeostasis and promotes lung fibrosis', *J Clin Invest*, 125(2), pp. 521-38.

Burma, S., Chen, B.P., Murphy, M., Kurimasa, A. and Chen, D.J. (2001) 'ATM phosphorylates histone H2AX in response to DNA double-strand breaks', *J Biol Chem*, 276(45), pp. 42462-7. Buscemi, G., Perego, P., Carenini, N., Nakanishi, M., Chessa, L., Chen, J., Khanna, K. and Delia, D. (2004) 'Activation of ATM and Chk2 kinases in relation to the amount of DNA strand breaks', *Oncogene*, 23(46), pp. 7691-700.

Cadet, J. and Wagner, J.R. (2014) 'Oxidatively generated base damage to cellular DNA by hydroxyl radical and one-electron oxidants: similarities and differences', *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 557, pp. 47-54.

Campagnoli, C., Pasanisi, P., Abba, C., Ambroggio, S., Biglia, N., Brucato, T., Colombero, R., Danese, S., Donadio, M., Venturelli, E., Zito, G. and Berrino, F. (2012) 'Effect of different doses of metformin on serum testosterone and insulin in non-diabetic women with breast cancer: a randomized study', *Clin Breast Cancer*, 12(3), pp. 175-82.

Cannino, G., El-Khoury, R., Pirinen, M., Hutz, B., Rustin, P., Jacobs, H.T. and Dufour, E. (2012) 'Glucose modulates respiratory complex I activity in response to acute mitochondrial dysfunction', *J Biol Chem*, 287(46), pp. 38729-40.

Cannon, J.R., Tapias, V., Na, H.M., Honick, A.S., Drolet, R.E. and Greenamyre, J.T. (2009) 'A highly reproducible rotenone model of Parkinson's disease', *Neurobiol Dis*, 34(2), pp. 279-90.

Canto, C., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Feige, J.N., Lagouge, M., Noriega, L., Milne, J.C., Elliott, P.J., Puigserver, P. and Auwerx, J. (2009) 'AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity', *Nature*, 458(7241), pp. 1056-60.

Capparelli, C., Chiavarina, B., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Pestell, T.G., Pestell, R.G., Hulit, J., Ando, S., Howell, A., Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Sotgia, F. and Lisanti, M.P. (2012) 'CDK inhibitors (p16/p19/p21) induce senescence and autophagy in cancer-associated fibroblasts, "fueling" tumor growth via paracrine interactions, without an increase in neo-angiogenesis', *Cell Cycle*, 11(19), pp. 3599-610.

Carames, B., Hasegawa, A., Taniguchi, N., Miyaki, S., Blanco, F.J. and Lotz, M. (2012) 'Autophagy activation by rapamycin reduces severity of experimental osteoarthritis', *Ann Rheum Dis*, 71(4), pp. 575-81.

Cayrol, C., Knibiehler, M. and Ducommun, B. (1998) 'p21 binding to PCNA causes G1 and G2 cell cycle arrest in p53-deficient cells', *Oncogene*, 16(3), pp. 311-20.

Cecchini, G. (2003) 'Function and structure of complex II of the respiratory chain', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 72, pp. 77-109.

Chandel, N.S., McClintock, D.S., Feliciano, C.E., Wood, T.M., Melendez, J.A., Rodriguez, A.M. and Schumacker, P.T. (2000) 'Reactive oxygen species generated at mitochondrial complex III stabilize hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha during hypoxia: a mechanism of O2 sensing', *J Biol Chem*, 275(33), pp. 25130-8.
Chang, A.M. and Halter, J.B. (2003) 'Aging and insulin secretion', *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 284(1), pp. E7-12.

Chang, G.R., Wu, Y.Y., Chiu, Y.S., Chen, W.Y., Liao, J.W., Hsu, H.M., Chao, T.H., Hung, S.W. and Mao, F.C. (2009) 'Long-term administration of rapamycin reduces adiposity, but impairs glucose tolerance in high-fat diet-fed KK/HIJ mice', *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*, 105(3), pp. 188-98. Chang, H.H.Y., Pannunzio, N.R., Adachi, N. and Lieber, M.R. (2017) 'Non-homologous DNA end joining and alternative pathways to double-strand break repair', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 18(8), pp. 495-506.

Chang, J., Wang, Y., Shao, L., Laberge, R.M., Demaria, M., Campisi, J., Janakiraman, K., Sharpless, N.E., Ding, S., Feng, W., Luo, Y., Wang, X., Aykin-Burns, N., Krager, K., Ponnappan, U., Hauer-Jensen, M., Meng, A. and Zhou, D. (2016) 'Clearance of senescent cells by ABT263 rejuvenates aged hematopoietic stem cells in mice', *Nat Med*, 22(1), pp. 78-83.

Charvat, R.A. and Arrizabalaga, G. (2016) 'Oxidative stress generated during monensin treatment contributes to altered Toxoplasma gondii mitochondrial function', *Sci Rep*, 6, p. 22997.

Chen, D., Xia, D., Pan, Z., Xu, D., Zhou, Y., Wu, Y., Cai, N., Tang, Q., Wang, C., Yan, M., Zhang, J.J., Zhou, K., Wang, Q., Feng, Y., Wang, X., Xu, H., Zhang, X. and Tian, N. (2016) 'Metformin protects against apoptosis and senescence in nucleus pulposus cells and ameliorates disc degeneration in vivo', *Cell Death Dis*, 7(10), p. e2441.

Chen, H., Detmer, S.A., Ewald, A.J., Griffin, E.E., Fraser, S.E. and Chan, D.C. (2003) 'Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development', *J Cell Biol*, 160(2), pp. 189-200.

Chen, J., Brodsky, S.V., Goligorsky, D.M., Hampel, D.J., Li, H., Gross, S.S. and Goligorsky, M.S. (2002) 'Glycated collagen I induces premature senescence-like phenotypic changes in endothelial cells', *Circ Res*, 90(12), pp. 1290-8.

Chen, Q., Fischer, A., Reagan, J.D., Yan, L.J. and Ames, B.N. (1995) 'Oxidative DNA damage and senescence of human diploid fibroblast cells', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92(10), pp. 4337-41. Chen, Z., Trotman, L.C., Shaffer, D., Lin, H.K., Dotan, Z.A., Niki, M., Koutcher, J.A., Scher, H.I., Ludwig, T., Gerald, W., Cordon-Cardo, C. and Pandolfi, P.P. (2005) 'Crucial role of p53-dependent cellular senescence in suppression of Pten-deficient tumorigenesis', *Nature*, 436(7051), pp. 725-30.

Cheng, A.N., Cheng, L.C., Kuo, C.L., Lo, Y.K., Chou, H.Y., Chen, C.H., Wang, Y.H., Chuang, T.H., Cheng, S.J. and Lee, A.Y. (2020) 'Mitochondrial Lon-induced mtDNA leakage contributes to PD-L1-mediated immunoescape via STING-IFN signaling and extracellular vesicles', *J Immunother Cancer*, 8(2).

Cheng, G., Zielonka, M., Dranka, B., Kumar, S.N., Myers, C.R., Bennett, B., Garces, A.M., Dias Duarte Machado, L.G., Thiebaut, D., Ouari, O., Hardy, M., Zielonka, J. and Kalyanaraman, B. (2018) 'Detection of mitochondria-generated reactive oxygen species in cells using multiple probes and methods: Potentials, pitfalls, and the future', *J Biol Chem*, 293(26), pp. 10363-10380. Chevion, M. (1988) 'A site-specific mechanism for free radical induced biological damage: the essential role of redox-active transition metals', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 5(1), pp. 27-37.

Chien, Y., Scuoppo, C., Wang, X., Fang, X., Balgley, B., Bolden, J.E., Premsrirut, P., Luo, W., Chicas, A., Lee, C.S., Kogan, S.C. and Lowe, S.W. (2011) 'Control of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype by NF-kappaB promotes senescence and enhances chemosensitivity', *Genes Dev*, 25(20), pp. 2125-36.

Childs, B.G., Baker, D.J., Wijshake, T., Conover, C.A., Campisi, J. and van Deursen, J.M. (2016) 'Senescent intimal foam cells are deleterious at all stages of atherosclerosis', *Science*, 354(6311), pp. 472-477.

Chimenti, C., Kajstura, J., Torella, D., Urbanek, K., Heleniak, H., Colussi, C., Di Meglio, F., Nadal-Ginard, B., Frustaci, A., Leri, A., Maseri, A. and Anversa, P. (2003) 'Senescence and death of primitive cells and myocytes lead to premature cardiac aging and heart failure', *Circ Res*, 93(7), pp. 604-13.

Chistiakov, D.A., Sobenin, I.A., Revin, V.V., Orekhov, A.N. and Bobryshev, Y.V. (2014) 'Mitochondrial aging and age-related dysfunction of mitochondria', *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, p. 238463.

Choksi, K.B., Nuss, J.E., Deford, J.H. and Papaconstantinou, J. (2008) 'Age-related alterations in oxidatively damaged proteins of mouse skeletal muscle mitochondrial electron transport chain complexes', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 45(6), pp. 826-38.

Chung, J., Kuo, C.J., Crabtree, G.R. and Blenis, J. (1992) 'Rapamycin-FKBP specifically blocks growth-dependent activation of and signaling by the 70 kd S6 protein kinases', *Cell*, 69(7), pp. 1227-36.

Ciccia, A. and Elledge, S.J. (2010) 'The DNA damage response: making it safe to play with knives', *Mol Cell*, 40(2), pp. 179-204.

Cipolat, S., Rudka, T., Hartmann, D., Costa, V., Serneels, L., Craessaerts, K., Metzger, K., Frezza, C., Annaert, W., D'Adamio, L., Derks, C., Dejaegere, T., Pellegrini, L., D'Hooge, R., Scorrano, L. and De Strooper, B. (2006) 'Mitochondrial rhomboid PARL regulates cytochrome c release during apoptosis via OPA1-dependent cristae remodeling', *Cell*, 126(1), pp. 163-75.

Clark, I.E., Dodson, M.W., Jiang, C., Cao, J.H., Huh, J.R., Seol, J.H., Yoo, S.J., Hay, B.A. and Guo, M. (2006) 'Drosophila pink1 is required for mitochondrial function and interacts genetically with parkin', *Nature*, 441(7097), pp. 1162-6.

Coppe, J.P., Desprez, P.Y., Krtolica, A. and Campisi, J. (2010) 'The senescence-associated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression', *Annu Rev Pathol*, 5, pp. 99-118. Coppe, J.P., Patil, C.K., Rodier, F., Sun, Y., Munoz, D.P., Goldstein, J., Nelson, P.S., Desprez, P.Y. and Campisi, J. (2008) 'Senescence-associated secretory phenotypes reveal cell-nonautonomous functions of oncogenic RAS and the p53 tumor suppressor', *PLoS Biol*, 6(12), pp. 2853-68.

Correia-Melo, C., Marques, F.D., Anderson, R., Hewitt, G., Hewitt, R., Cole, J., Carroll, B.M., Miwa, S., Birch, J., Merz, A., Rushton, M.D., Charles, M., Jurk, D., Tait, S.W., Czapiewski, R., Greaves, L., Nelson, G., Bohlooly, Y.M., Rodriguez-Cuenca, S., Vidal-Puig, A., Mann, D., Saretzki, G., Quarato, G., Green, D.R., Adams, P.D., von Zglinicki, T., Korolchuk, V.I. and Passos, J.F. (2016) 'Mitochondria are required for pro-ageing features of the senescent phenotype', *EMBO J*, 35(7),

pp. 724-42.

Correia-Melo, C. and Passos, J.F. (2015) 'Mitochondria: Are they causal players in cellular senescence?', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1847(11), pp. 1373-9.

Correia, S.C., Santos, R.X., Cardoso, S.M., Santos, M.S., Oliveira, C.R. and Moreira, P.I. (2012) 'Cyanide preconditioning protects brain endothelial and NT2 neuron-like cells against glucotoxicity: role of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and HIF-1alpha', *Neurobiol Dis*, 45(1), pp. 206-18.

Crane, J.D., Devries, M.C., Safdar, A., Hamadeh, M.J. and Tarnopolsky, M.A. (2010) 'The effect of aging on human skeletal muscle mitochondrial and intramyocellular lipid ultrastructure', *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 65(2), pp. 119-28.

Cunningham, J.T., Rodgers, J.T., Arlow, D.H., Vazquez, F., Mootha, V.K. and Puigserver, P. (2007) 'mTOR controls mitochondrial oxidative function through a YY1-PGC-1alpha transcriptional complex', *Nature*, 450(7170), pp. 736-40.

d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2008) 'Living on a break: cellular senescence as a DNA-damage response', *Nat Rev Cancer*, 8(7), pp. 512-22.

d'Adda di Fagagna, F., Reaper, P.M., Clay-Farrace, L., Fiegler, H., Carr, P., Von Zglinicki, T., Saretzki, G., Carter, N.P. and Jackson, S.P. (2003) 'A DNA damage checkpoint response in telomere-initiated senescence', *Nature*, 426(6963), pp. 194-8.

d'Adda di Fagagna, F., Teo, S.H. and Jackson, S.P. (2004) 'Functional links between telomeres and proteins of the DNA-damage response', *Genes Dev*, 18(15), pp. 1781-99.

D'Mello, M.J., Ross, S.A., Briel, M., Anand, S.S., Gerstein, H. and Pare, G. (2015) 'Association between shortened leukocyte telomere length and cardiometabolic outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis', *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*, 8(1), pp. 82-90.

Da Silva-Alvarez, S., Guerra-Varela, J., Sobrido-Camean, D., Quelle, A., Barreiro-Iglesias, A., Sanchez, L. and Collado, M. (2020) 'Cell senescence contributes to tissue regeneration in zebrafish', *Aging Cell*, 19(1), p. e13052.

Dalle Pezze, P., Nelson, G., Otten, E.G., Korolchuk, V.I., Kirkwood, T.B., von Zglinicki, T. and Shanley, D.P. (2014) 'Dynamic modelling of pathways to cellular senescence reveals strategies for targeted interventions', *PLoS Comput Biol*, 10(8), p. e1003728.

De Cecco, M., Ito, T., Petrashen, A.P., Elias, A.E., Skvir, N.J., Criscione, S.W., Caligiana, A., Brocculi, G., Adney, E.M., Boeke, J.D., Le, O., Beausejour, C., Ambati, J., Ambati, K., Simon, M., Seluanov, A., Gorbunova, V., Slagboom, P.E., Helfand, S.L., Neretti, N. and Sedivy, J.M. (2019) 'L1 drives IFN in senescent cells and promotes age-associated inflammation', *Nature*, 566(7742), pp. 73-78.

De Haes, W., Frooninckx, L., Van Assche, R., Smolders, A., Depuydt, G., Billen, J., Braeckman, B.P., Schoofs, L. and Temmerman, L. (2014) 'Metformin promotes lifespan through mitohormesis via the peroxiredoxin PRDX-2', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(24), pp. E2501-9.

De Stefani, D., Raffaello, A., Teardo, E., Szabo, I. and Rizzuto, R. (2011) 'A forty-kilodalton protein of the inner membrane is the mitochondrial calcium uniporter', *Nature*, 476(7360), pp. 336-40. Deisseroth, A. and Dounce, A.L. (1970) 'Catalase: Physical and chemical properties, mechanism of catalysis, and physiological role', *Physiol Rev*, 50(3), pp. 319-75.

Demaria, M., Ohtani, N., Youssef, S.A., Rodier, F., Toussaint, W., Mitchell, J.R., Laberge, R.M., Vijg, J., Van Steeg, H., Dolle, M.E., Hoeijmakers, J.H., de Bruin, A., Hara, E. and Campisi, J. (2014) 'An essential role for senescent cells in optimal wound healing through secretion of PDGF-AA', *Dev Cell*, 31(6), pp. 722-33.

Demers-Lamarche, J., Guillebaud, G., Tlili, M., Todkar, K., Belanger, N., Grondin, M., Nguyen, A.P., Michel, J. and Germain, M. (2016) 'Loss of Mitochondrial Function Impairs Lysosomes', *J Biol Chem*, 291(19), pp. 10263-76.

Dervartanian, D.V. and Veeger, C. (1964) 'Studies on Succinate Dehydrogenase. I. Spectral Properties of the Purified Enzyme and Formation of Enzyme-Competitive Inhibitor Complexes', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 92, pp. 233-47.

Detaille, D., Guigas, B., Chauvin, C., Batandier, C., Fontaine, E., Wiernsperger, N. and Leverve, X. (2005) 'Metformin prevents high-glucose-induced endothelial cell death through a mitochondrial permeability transition-dependent process', *Diabetes*, 54(7), pp. 2179-87.

Devi, L., Raghavendran, V., Prabhu, B.M., Avadhani, N.G. and Anandatheerthavarada, H.K. (2008) 'Mitochondrial import and accumulation of alpha-synuclein impair complex I in human dopaminergic neuronal cultures and Parkinson disease brain', *J Biol Chem*, 283(14), pp. 9089-100.

Di Leonardo, A., Linke, S.P., Clarkin, K. and Wahl, G.M. (1994) 'DNA damage triggers a prolonged p53-dependent G1 arrest and long-term induction of Cip1 in normal human fibroblasts', *Genes Dev*, 8(21), pp. 2540-51.

Di Micco, R., Fumagalli, M., Cicalese, A., Piccinin, S., Gasparini, P., Luise, C., Schurra, C., Garre, M., Nuciforo, P.G., Bensimon, A., Maestro, R., Pelicci, P.G. and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2006) 'Oncogene-induced senescence is a DNA damage response triggered by DNA hyper-replication', *Nature*, 444(7119), pp. 638-42.

Di Micco, R., Sulli, G., Dobreva, M., Liontos, M., Botrugno, O.A., Gargiulo, G., dal Zuffo, R., Matti, V., d'Ario, G., Montani, E., Mercurio, C., Hahn, W.C., Gorgoulis, V., Minucci, S. and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2011) 'Interplay between oncogene-induced DNA damage response and heterochromatin in senescence and cancer', *Nat Cell Biol*, 13(3), pp. 292-302.

Di Mitri, D., Toso, A., Chen, J.J., Sarti, M., Pinton, S., Jost, T.R., D'Antuono, R., Montani, E., Garcia-Escudero, R., Guccini, I., Da Silva-Alvarez, S., Collado, M., Eisenberger, M., Zhang, Z., Catapano, C., Grassi, F. and Alimonti, A. (2014) 'Tumour-infiltrating Gr-1+ myeloid cells antagonize senescence in cancer', *Nature*, 515(7525), pp. 134-7. Dierick, J.F., Eliaers, F., Remacle, J., Raes, M., Fey, S.J., Larsen, P.M. and Toussaint, O. (2002) 'Stress-induced premature senescence and replicative senescence are different phenotypes, proteomic evidence', *Biochem Pharmacol*, 64(5-6), pp. 1011-7.

Dimri, G.P., Lee, X., Basile, G., Acosta, M., Scott, G., Roskelley, C., Medrano, E.E., Linskens, M., Rubelj, I., Pereira-Smith, O. and et al. (1995) 'A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92(20), pp. 9363-7.

Dominick, G., Bowman, J., Li, X., Miller, R.A. and Garcia, G.G. (2017) 'mTOR regulates the expression of DNA damage response enzymes in long-lived Snell dwarf, GHRKO, and PAPPA-KO mice', *Aging Cell*, 16(1), pp. 52-60.

Donehower, L.A., Harvey, M., Slagle, B.L., McArthur, M.J., Montgomery, C.A., Jr., Butel, J.S. and Bradley, A. (1992) 'Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours', *Nature*, 356(6366), pp. 215-21.

Dorr, J.R., Yu, Y., Milanovic, M., Beuster, G., Zasada, C., Dabritz, J.H., Lisec, J., Lenze, D., Gerhardt, A., Schleicher, K., Kratzat, S., Purfurst, B., Walenta, S., Mueller-Klieser, W., Graler, M., Hummel, M., Keller, U., Buck, A.K., Dorken, B., Willmitzer, L., Reimann, M., Kempa, S., Lee, S. and Schmitt, C.A. (2013) 'Synthetic lethal metabolic targeting of cellular senescence in cancer therapy', *Nature*, 501(7467), pp. 421-5.

Dou, Z., Ghosh, K., Vizioli, M.G., Zhu, J., Sen, P., Wangensteen, K.J., Simithy, J., Lan, Y., Lin, Y., Zhou, Z., Capell, B.C., Xu, C., Xu, M., Kieckhaefer, J.E., Jiang, T., Shoshkes-Carmel, M., Tanim, K., Barber, G.N., Seykora, J.T., Millar, S.E., Kaestner, K.H., Garcia, B.A., Adams, P.D. and Berger, S.L. (2017) 'Cytoplasmic chromatin triggers inflammation in senescence and cancer', *Nature*, 550(7676), pp. 402-406.

Dragicevic, N., Mamcarz, M., Zhu, Y., Buzzeo, R., Tan, J., Arendash, G.W. and Bradshaw, P.C. (2010) 'Mitochondrial amyloid-beta levels are associated with the extent of mitochondrial dysfunction in different brain regions and the degree of cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's transgenic mice', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 20 Suppl 2, pp. S535-50.

Du, X., Matsumura, T., Edelstein, D., Rossetti, L., Zsengeller, Z., Szabo, C. and Brownlee, M. (2003) 'Inhibition of GAPDH activity by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase activates three major pathways of hyperglycemic damage in endothelial cells', *J Clin Invest*, 112(7), pp. 1049-57. Dupre, A., Boyer-Chatenet, L. and Gautier, J. (2006) 'Two-step activation of ATM by DNA and the Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex', *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 13(5), pp. 451-7.

Duran, I., Goebell, P.J., Papazisis, K., Ravaud, A., Weichhart, T., Rodriguez-Portal, J.A. and Budde, K. (2014) 'Drug-induced pneumonitis in cancer patients treated with mTOR inhibitors:

management and insights into possible mechanisms', *Expert Opin Drug Saf*, 13(3), pp. 361-72. Dutto, I., Tillhon, M., Cazzalini, O., Stivala, L.A. and Prosperi, E. (2015) 'Biology of the cell cycle inhibitor p21(CDKN1A): molecular mechanisms and relevance in chemical toxicology', *Arch Toxicol*, 89(2), pp. 155-78.

Duvel, K., Yecies, J.L., Menon, S., Raman, P., Lipovsky, A.I., Souza, A.L., Triantafellow, E., Ma, Q., Gorski, R., Cleaver, S., Vander Heiden, M.G., MacKeigan, J.P., Finan, P.M., Clish, C.B., Murphy, L.O. and Manning, B.D. (2010) 'Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1', *Mol Cell*, 39(2), pp. 171-83.

Eggert, T., Wolter, K., Ji, J., Ma, C., Yevsa, T., Klotz, S., Medina-Echeverz, J., Longerich, T., Forgues, M., Reisinger, F., Heikenwalder, M., Wang, X.W., Zender, L. and Greten, T.F. (2016) 'Distinct Functions of Senescence-Associated Immune Responses in Liver Tumor Surveillance and Tumor Progression', *Cancer Cell*, 30(4), pp. 533-547.

Ehinger, J.K., Piel, S., Ford, R., Karlsson, M., Sjovall, F., Frostner, E.A., Morota, S., Taylor, R.W., Turnbull, D.M., Cornell, C., Moss, S.J., Metzsch, C., Hansson, M.J., Fliri, H. and Elmer, E. (2016) 'Cell-permeable succinate prodrugs bypass mitochondrial complex I deficiency', *Nat Commun*, 7, p. 12317. Eliezer, Y., Argaman, L., Rhie, A., Doherty, A.J. and Goldberg, M. (2009) 'The direct interaction between 53BP1 and MDC1 is required for the recruitment of 53BP1 to sites of damage', *J Biol Chem*, 284(1), pp. 426-435.

Erecinska, M., Dagani, F., Nelson, D., Deas, J. and Silver, I.A. (1991) 'Relations between intracellular ions and energy metabolism: a study with monensin in synaptosomes, neurons, and C6 glioma cells', *J Neurosci*, 11(8), pp. 2410-21.

Fabbri, E., An, Y., Zoli, M., Simonsick, E.M., Guralnik, J.M., Bandinelli, S., Boyd, C.M. and Ferrucci, L. (2015) 'Aging and the burden of multimorbidity: associations with inflammatory and anabolic hormonal biomarkers', *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 70(1), pp. 63-70.

Fang, L., Igarashi, M., Leung, J., Sugrue, M.M., Lee, S.W. and Aaronson, S.A. (1999)

'p21Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1 induces permanent growth arrest with markers of replicative senescence in human tumor cells lacking functional p53', *Oncogene*, 18(18), pp. 2789-97.

Fernandez-Marcos, P.J. and Nobrega-Pereira, S. (2016) 'NADPH: new oxygen for the ROS theory of aging', *Oncotarget*, 7(32), pp. 50814-50815.

Fernandez-Mosquera, L., Yambire, K.F., Couto, R., Pereyra, L., Pabis, K., Ponsford, A.H., Diogo, C.V., Stagi, M., Milosevic, I. and Raimundo, N. (2019) 'Mitochondrial respiratory chain deficiency inhibits lysosomal hydrolysis', *Autophagy*, 15(9), pp. 1572-1591.

Fink, B.D., Herlein, J.A., Yorek, M.A., Fenner, A.M., Kerns, R.J. and Sivitz, W.I. (2012) 'Bioenergetic effects of mitochondrial-targeted coenzyme Q analogs in endothelial cells', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 342(3), pp. 709-19.

Flinn, L., Mortiboys, H., Volkmann, K., Koster, R.W., Ingham, P.W. and Bandmann, O. (2009) 'Complex I deficiency and dopaminergic neuronal cell loss in parkin-deficient zebrafish (Danio rerio)', *Brain*, 132(Pt 6), pp. 1613-23.

Foretz, M., Hebrard, S., Leclerc, J., Zarrinpashneh, E., Soty, M., Mithieux, G., Sakamoto, K., Andreelli, F. and Viollet, B. (2010) 'Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice independently of the LKB1/AMPK pathway via a decrease in hepatic energy state', *J Clin Invest*, 120(7), pp. 2355-69.

Fraenkel, M., Ketzinel-Gilad, M., Ariav, Y., Pappo, O., Karaca, M., Castel, J., Berthault, M.F., Magnan, C., Cerasi, E., Kaiser, N. and Leibowitz, G. (2008) 'mTOR inhibition by rapamycin prevents beta-cell adaptation to hyperglycemia and exacerbates the metabolic state in type 2 diabetes', *Diabetes*, 57(4), pp. 945-57.

Francis, B.M., Yang, J., Song, B.J., Gupta, S., Maj, M., Bazinet, R.P., Robinson, B. and Mount, H.T. (2014) 'Reduced levels of mitochondrial complex I subunit NDUFB8 and linked complex I + III oxidoreductase activity in the TgCRND8 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease', *J Alzheimers Dis*, 39(2), pp. 347-55.

Frank, S., Gaume, B., Bergmann-Leitner, E.S., Leitner, W.W., Robert, E.G., Catez, F., Smith, C.L. and Youle, R.J. (2001) 'The role of dynamin-related protein 1, a mediator of mitochondrial fission, in apoptosis', *Dev Cell*, 1(4), pp. 515-25.

Freund, A., Laberge, R.M., Demaria, M. and Campisi, J. (2012) 'Lamin B1 loss is a senescence-associated biomarker', *Mol Biol Cell*, 23(11), pp. 2066-75.

Freund, A., Patil, C.K. and Campisi, J. (2011) 'p38MAPK is a novel DNA damage responseindependent regulator of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype', *EMBO J*, 30(8), pp. 1536-48.

Fridovich, I. (1997) 'Superoxide anion radical (O2-.), superoxide dismutases, and related matters', *J Biol Chem*, 272(30), pp. 18515-7.

Fumagalli, M., Rossiello, F., Mondello, C. and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2014) 'Stable cellular senescence is associated with persistent DDR activation', *PLoS One*, 9(10), p. e110969. Funakoshi, M., Tsuda, M., Muramatsu, K., Hatsuda, H., Morishita, S. and Aigaki, T. (2011) 'A gainof-function screen identifies wdb and lkb1 as lifespan-extending genes in Drosophila', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 405(4), pp. 667-72. Funayama, R., Saito, M., Tanobe, H. and Ishikawa, F. (2006) 'Loss of linker histone H1 in cellular senescence', *J Cell Biol*, 175(6), pp. 869-80.

Furnari, B., Rhind, N. and Russell, P. (1997) 'Cdc25 mitotic inducer targeted by chk1 DNA damage checkpoint kinase', *Science*, 277(5331), pp. 1495-7.

Galbiati, A., Beausejour, C. and d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2017) 'A novel single-cell method provides direct evidence of persistent DNA damage in senescent cells and aged mammalian tissues', *Aging Cell*, 16(2), pp. 422-427.

Gan, W., Nie, B., Shi, F., Xu, X.M., Qian, J.C., Takagi, Y., Hayakawa, H., Sekiguchi, M. and Cai, J.P. (2012) 'Age-dependent increases in the oxidative damage of DNA, RNA, and their metabolites in normal and senescence-accelerated mice analyzed by LC-MS/MS: urinary 8-oxoguanosine as a novel biomarker of aging', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 52(9), pp. 1700-7.

Gane, E.J., Weilert, F., Orr, D.W., Keogh, G.F., Gibson, M., Lockhart, M.M., Frampton, C.M., Taylor, K.M., Smith, R.A. and Murphy, M.P. (2010) 'The mitochondria-targeted anti-oxidant mitoquinone decreases liver damage in a phase II study of hepatitis C patients', *Liver Int*, 30(7), pp. 1019-26.

Ge, Y., Shi, X., Boopathy, S., McDonald, J., Smith, A.W. and Chao, L.H. (2020) 'Two forms of Opa1 cooperate to complete fusion of the mitochondrial inner-membrane', *Elife*, 9.

Georgakilas, A.G., Martin, O.A. and Bonner, W.M. (2017) 'p21: A Two-Faced Genome Guardian', *Trends Mol Med*, 23(4), pp. 310-319.

Gillespie, Z.E., MacKay, K., Sander, M., Trost, B., Dawicki, W., Wickramarathna, A., Gordon, J., Eramian, M., Kill, I.R., Bridger, J.M., Kusalik, A., Mitchell, J.A. and Eskiw, C.H. (2015) 'Rapamycin reduces fibroblast proliferation without causing quiescence and induces STAT5A/B-mediated cytokine production', *Nucleus*, 6(6), pp. 490-506.

Gingras, A.C., Gygi, S.P., Raught, B., Polakiewicz, R.D., Abraham, R.T., Hoekstra, M.F., Aebersold, R. and Sonenberg, N. (1999) 'Regulation of 4E-BP1 phosphorylation: a novel two-step mechanism', *Genes Dev*, 13(11), pp. 1422-37.

Giordano, S., Dodson, M., Ravi, S., Redmann, M., Ouyang, X., Darley Usmar, V.M. and Zhang, J. (2014) 'Bioenergetic adaptation in response to autophagy regulators during rotenone exposure', *J Neurochem*, 131(5), pp. 625-33.

Gluck, S., Guey, B., Gulen, M.F., Wolter, K., Kang, T.W., Schmacke, N.A., Bridgeman, A., Rehwinkel, J., Zender, L. and Ablasser, A. (2017) 'Innate immune sensing of cytosolic chromatin fragments through cGAS promotes senescence', *Nat Cell Biol*, 19(9), pp. 1061-1070.

Goldstein, S., Ballantyne, S.R., Robson, A.L. and Moerman, E.J. (1982) 'Energy metabolism in cultured human fibroblasts during aging in vitro', *J Cell Physiol*, 112(3), pp. 419-24.

Gomes, L.C., Di Benedetto, G. and Scorrano, L. (2011) 'During autophagy mitochondria elongate, are spared from degradation and sustain cell viability', *Nat Cell Biol*, 13(5), pp. 589-98.

Goodwin, P.J., Pritchard, K.I., Ennis, M., Clemons, M., Graham, M. and Fantus, I.G. (2008) 'Insulin-lowering effects of metformin in women with early breast cancer', *Clin Breast Cancer*, 8(6), pp. 501-5.

Grankvist, K., Marklund, S.L. and Taljedal, I.B. (1981) 'CuZn-superoxide dismutase, Mnsuperoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase in pancreatic islets and other tissues in the mouse', *Biochem J*, 199(2), pp. 393-8.

Grasmick, K.A., Hu, H., Hone, E.A., Farooqi, I., Rellick, S.L., Simpkins, J.W. and Ren, X. (2018) 'Uncoupling of the Electron Transport Chain Compromises Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation and Exacerbates Stroke Outcomes', *J Neuroinfect Dis*, 9(4).

Greer, E.L. and Brunet, A. (2009) 'Different dietary restriction regimens extend lifespan by both independent and overlapping genetic pathways in C. elegans', *Aging Cell*, 8(2), pp. 113-27. Grishko, V., Solomon, M., Wilson, G.L., LeDoux, S.P. and Gillespie, M.N. (2001) 'Oxygen radical-induced mitochondrial DNA damage and repair in pulmonary vascular endothelial cell phenotypes', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 280(6), pp. L1300-8.

Grivennikova, V.G. and Vinogradov, A.D. (2013) 'Partitioning of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production by mitochondrial respiratory complex I', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1827(3), pp. 446-54.

Gu, J., Ye, S., Wang, S., Sun, W. and Hu, Y. (2014) 'Metformin inhibits nuclear factor-kappaB activation and inflammatory cytokines expression induced by high glucose via adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase activation in rat glomerular mesangial cells in vitro', *Chin Med J (Engl)*, 127(9), pp. 1755-60.

Guaras, A., Perales-Clemente, E., Calvo, E., Acin-Perez, R., Loureiro-Lopez, M., Pujol, C., Martinez-Carrascoso, I., Nunez, E., Garcia-Marques, F., Rodriguez-Hernandez, M.A., Cortes, A., Diaz, F., Perez-Martos, A., Moraes, C.T., Fernandez-Silva, P., Trifunovic, A., Navas, P., Vazquez, J. and Enriquez, J.A. (2016) 'The CoQH2/CoQ Ratio Serves as a Sensor of Respiratory Chain Efficiency', *Cell Rep*, 15(1), pp. 197-209.

Gunasekar, P.G., Sun, P.W., Kanthasamy, A.G., Borowitz, J.L. and Isom, G.E. (1996) 'Cyanideinduced neurotoxicity involves nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species generation after Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor activation', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 277(1), pp. 150-5.

Guo, L., Cui, J., Wang, H., Medina, R., Zhang, S., Zhang, X., Zhuang, Z. and Lin, Y. (2021) 'Metformin enhances anti-cancer effects of cisplatin in meningioma through AMPK-mTOR signaling pathways', *Mol Ther Oncolytics*, 20, pp. 119-131.

Guo, Z., Kozlov, S., Lavin, M.F., Person, M.D. and Paull, T.T. (2010) 'ATM activation by oxidative stress', *Science*, 330(6003), pp. 517-21.

Gwinn, D.M., Shackelford, D.B., Egan, D.F., Mihaylova, M.M., Mery, A., Vasquez, D.S., Turk, B.E. and Shaw, R.J. (2008) 'AMPK phosphorylation of raptor mediates a metabolic checkpoint', *Mol Cell*, 30(2), pp. 214-26.

Haince, J.F., McDonald, D., Rodrigue, A., Dery, U., Masson, J.Y., Hendzel, M.J. and Poirier, G.G. (2008) 'PARP1-dependent kinetics of recruitment of MRE11 and NBS1 proteins to multiple DNA damage sites', *J Biol Chem*, 283(2), pp. 1197-208.

Haithcock, E., Dayani, Y., Neufeld, E., Zahand, A.J., Feinstein, N., Mattout, A., Gruenbaum, Y. and Liu, J. (2005) 'Age-related changes of nuclear architecture in Caenorhabditis elegans', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(46), pp. 16690-5.

Hamanaka, R.B. and Chandel, N.S. (2010) 'Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species regulate cellular signaling and dictate biological outcomes', *Trends Biochem Sci*, 35(9), pp. 505-13. Hampel, B., Malisan, F., Niederegger, H., Testi, R. and Jansen-Durr, P. (2004) 'Differential regulation of apoptotic cell death in senescent human cells', *Exp Gerontol*, 39(11-12), pp. 1713-21.

Han, Y., Xie, H., Liu, Y., Gao, P., Yang, X. and Shen, Z. (2019) 'Effect of metformin on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in patients with coronary artery diseases: a systematic review and an updated meta-analysis', *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 18(1), p. 96.

Hansel, C., Barr, S., Schemann, A.V., Lauber, K., Hess, J., Unger, K., Zitzelsberger, H., Jendrossek, V. and Klein, D. (2021) 'Metformin Protects against Radiation-Induced Acute Effects by Limiting Senescence of Bronchial-Epithelial Cells', *Int J Mol Sci*, 22(13).

Hara, H., Araya, J., Ito, S., Kobayashi, K., Takasaka, N., Yoshii, Y., Wakui, H., Kojima, J., Shimizu, K., Numata, T., Kawaishi, M., Kamiya, N., Odaka, M., Morikawa, T., Kaneko, Y., Nakayama, K. and Kuwano, K. (2013) 'Mitochondrial fragmentation in cigarette smoke-induced bronchial epithelial cell senescence', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 305(10), pp. L737-46.

Hardie, D.G. and Ashford, M.L. (2014) 'AMPK: regulating energy balance at the cellular and whole body levels', *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 29(2), pp. 99-107.

Harley, C.B., Futcher, A.B. and Greider, C.W. (1990) 'Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts', *Nature*, 345(6274), pp. 458-60.

Harman, D. (1956) 'Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry', *J Gerontol*, 11(3), pp. 298-300.

Harrison, D.E., Strong, R., Sharp, Z.D., Nelson, J.F., Astle, C.M., Flurkey, K., Nadon, N.L., Wilkinson, J.E., Frenkel, K., Carter, C.S., Pahor, M., Javors, M.A., Fernandez, E. and Miller, R.A. (2009) 'Rapamycin fed late in life extends lifespan in genetically heterogeneous mice', *Nature*, 460(7253), pp. 392-5.

Hawley, S.A., Gadalla, A.E., Olsen, G.S. and Hardie, D.G. (2002) 'The antidiabetic drug metformin activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade via an adenine nucleotide-independent mechanism', *Diabetes*, 51(8), pp. 2420-5.

Hawley, S.A., Ross, F.A., Chevtzoff, C., Green, K.A., Evans, A., Fogarty, S., Towler, M.C., Brown, L.J., Ogunbayo, O.A., Evans, A.M. and Hardie, D.G. (2010) 'Use of cells expressing gamma subunit variants to identify diverse mechanisms of AMPK activation', *Cell Metab*, 11(6), pp. 554-65. Hayflick, L. and Moorhead, P.S. (1961) 'The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains', *Exp Cell Res*, 25, pp. 585-621.

Heckman-Stoddard, B.M., DeCensi, A., Sahasrabuddhe, V.V. and Ford, L.G. (2017) 'Repurposing metformin for the prevention of cancer and cancer recurrence', *Diabetologia*, 60(9), pp. 1639-1647.

Heiss, E.H., Kramer, M.P., Atanasov, A.G., Beres, H., Schachner, D. and Dirsch, V.M. (2014) 'Glycolytic switch in response to betulinic acid in non-cancer cells', *PLoS One*, 9(12), p. e115683. Hemann, M.T., Strong, M.A., Hao, L.Y. and Greider, C.W. (2001) 'The shortest telomere, not average telomere length, is critical for cell viability and chromosome stability', *Cell*, 107(1), pp. 67-77.

Hernansanz-Agustin, P., Ramos, E., Navarro, E., Parada, E., Sanchez-Lopez, N., Pelaez-Aguado, L., Cabrera-Garcia, J.D., Tello, D., Buendia, I., Marina, A., Egea, J., Lopez, M.G., Bogdanova, A. and Martinez-Ruiz, A. (2017) 'Mitochondrial complex I deactivation is related to superoxide production in acute hypoxia', *Redox Biol*, 12, pp. 1040-1051.

Herranz, N., Gallage, S., Mellone, M., Wuestefeld, T., Klotz, S., Hanley, C.J., Raguz, S., Acosta, J.C., Innes, A.J., Banito, A., Georgilis, A., Montoya, A., Wolter, K., Dharmalingam, G., Faull, P., Carroll, T., Martinez-Barbera, J.P., Cutillas, P., Reisinger, F., Heikenwalder, M., Miller, R.A., Withers, D., Zender, L., Thomas, G.J. and Gil, J. (2015) 'mTOR regulates MAPKAPK2 translation to control the senescence-associated secretory phenotype', *Nat Cell Biol*, 17(9), pp. 1205-17.

Herrero, A. and Barja, G. (1997) 'Sites and mechanisms responsible for the low rate of free radical production of heart mitochondria in the long-lived pigeon', *Mech Ageing Dev*, 98(2), pp. 95-111.

Hewitt, G., Jurk, D., Marques, F.D., Correia-Melo, C., Hardy, T., Gackowska, A., Anderson, R., Taschuk, M., Mann, J. and Passos, J.F. (2012) 'Telomeres are favoured targets of a persistent DNA damage response in ageing and stress-induced senescence', *Nat Commun*, 3, p. 708. Heytler, P.G. (1979) 'Uncouplers of oxidative phosphorylation', *Methods Enzymol*, 55, pp. 462-42.

Hickson, L.J., Langhi Prata, L.G.P., Bobart, S.A., Evans, T.K., Giorgadze, N., Hashmi, S.K., Herrmann, S.M., Jensen, M.D., Jia, Q., Jordan, K.L., Kellogg, T.A., Khosla, S., Koerber, D.M., Lagnado, A.B., Lawson, D.K., LeBrasseur, N.K., Lerman, L.O., McDonald, K.M., McKenzie, T.J., Passos, J.F., Pignolo, R.J., Pirtskhalava, T., Saadiq, I.M., Schaefer, K.K., Textor, S.C., Victorelli, S.G., Volkman, T.L., Xue, A., Wentworth, M.A., Wissler Gerdes, E.O., Zhu, Y., Tchkonia, T. and Kirkland, J.L. (2019) 'Senolytics decrease senescent cells in humans: Preliminary report from a clinical trial of Dasatinib plus Quercetin in individuals with diabetic kidney disease', *EBioMedicine*, 47, pp. 446-456.

Hirst, J. (2013) 'Mitochondrial complex I', Annu Rev Biochem, 82, pp. 551-75.

Hoehn, K.L., Salmon, A.B., Hohnen-Behrens, C., Turner, N., Hoy, A.J., Maghzal, G.J., Stocker, R., Van Remmen, H., Kraegen, E.W., Cooney, G.J., Richardson, A.R. and James, D.E. (2009) 'Insulin resistance is a cellular antioxidant defense mechanism', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(42), pp. 17787-92.

Hoenicke, L. and Zender, L. (2012) 'Immune surveillance of senescent cells--biological significance in cancer- and non-cancer pathologies', *Carcinogenesis*, 33(6), pp. 1123-6.
Hoffmann, K., Dreger, C.K., Olins, A.L., Olins, D.E., Shultz, L.D., Lucke, B., Karl, H., Kaps, R., Muller, D., Vaya, A., Aznar, J., Ware, R.E., Sotelo Cruz, N., Lindner, T.H., Herrmann, H., Reis, A. and Sperling, K. (2002) 'Mutations in the gene encoding the lamin B receptor produce an altered nuclear morphology in granulocytes (Pelger-Huet anomaly)', *Nat Genet*, 31(4), pp. 410-4.
Hollensworth, S.B., Shen, C., Sim, J.E., Spitz, D.R., Wilson, G.L. and LeDoux, S.P. (2000) 'Glial cell type-specific responses to menadione-induced oxidative stress', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 28(8), pp. 1161-74.

Holz, M.K., Ballif, B.A., Gygi, S.P. and Blenis, J. (2005) 'mTOR and S6K1 mediate assembly of the translation preinitiation complex through dynamic protein interchange and ordered phosphorylation events', *Cell*, 123(4), pp. 569-80.

Hong, S. and Pedersen, P.L. (2008) 'ATP synthase and the actions of inhibitors utilized to study its roles in human health, disease, and other scientific areas', *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 72(4), pp. 590-641, Table of Contents.

Hoque, S.A.M., Umehara, T., Kawai, T. and Shimada, M. (2021) 'Adverse effect of superoxideinduced mitochondrial damage in granulosa cells on follicular development in mouse ovaries', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 163, pp. 344-355.

Hostalek, U., Gwilt, M. and Hildemann, S. (2015) 'Therapeutic Use of Metformin in Prediabetes and Diabetes Prevention', *Drugs*, 75(10), pp. 1071-94.

Hou, X., Song, J., Li, X.N., Zhang, L., Wang, X., Chen, L. and Shen, Y.H. (2010) 'Metformin reduces intracellular reactive oxygen species levels by upregulating expression of the antioxidant thioredoxin via the AMPK-FOXO3 pathway', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 396(2), pp. 199-205. Hovest, M.G., Bruggenolte, N., Hosseini, K.S., Krieg, T. and Herrmann, G. (2006) 'Senescence of human fibroblasts after psoralen photoactivation is mediated by ATR kinase and persistent DNA damage foci at telomeres', *Mol Biol Cell*, 17(4), pp. 1758-67.

Howell, J.J., Hellberg, K., Turner, M., Talbott, G., Kolar, M.J., Ross, D.S., Hoxhaj, G., Saghatelian, A., Shaw, R.J. and Manning, B.D. (2017) 'Metformin Inhibits Hepatic mTORC1 Signaling via Dose-Dependent Mechanisms Involving AMPK and the TSC Complex', *Cell Metab*, 25(2), pp. 463-471. Hu, Zeng, Z., Xia, Q., Liu, Z., Feng, X., Chen, J., Huang, M., Chen, L., Fang, Z., Liu, Q., Zeng, H., Zhou, X. and Liu, J. (2019) 'Metformin attenuates hepatoma cell proliferation by decreasing glycolytic flux through the HIF-1alpha/PFKFB3/PFK1 pathway', *Life Sci*, 239, p. 116966. Hu, Q., Peng, J., Jiang, L., Li, W., Su, Q., Zhang, J., Li, H., Song, M., Cheng, B., Xia, J. and Wu, T. (2020) 'Metformin as a senostatic drug enhances the anticancer efficacy of CDK4/6 inhibitor in

head and neck squamous cell carcinoma', *Cell Death Dis*, 11(10), p. 925. Hundal, R.S., Krssak, M., Dufour, S., Laurent, D., Lebon, V., Chandramouli, V., Inzucchi, S.E., Schumann, W.C., Petersen, K.F., Landau, B.R. and Shulman, G.I. (2000) 'Mechanism by which metformin reduces glucose production in type 2 diabetes', *Diabetes*, 49(12), pp. 2063-9.

Hunter, R.W., Hughey, C.C., Lantier, L., Sundelin, E.I., Peggie, M., Zeqiraj, E., Sicheri, F., Jessen, N., Wasserman, D.H. and Sakamoto, K. (2018) 'Metformin reduces liver glucose production by inhibition of fructose-1-6-bisphosphatase', *Nat Med*, 24(9), pp. 1395-1406.

Hur, J.H., Stork, D.A. and Walker, D.W. (2014) 'Complex-I-ty in aging', *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, 46(4), pp. 329-35.

Hurez, V., Dao, V., Liu, A., Pandeswara, S., Gelfond, J., Sun, L., Bergman, M., Orihuela, C.J., Galvan, V., Padron, A., Drerup, J., Liu, Y., Hasty, P., Sharp, Z.D. and Curiel, T.J. (2015) 'Chronic mTOR inhibition in mice with rapamycin alters T, B, myeloid, and innate lymphoid cells and gut flora and prolongs life of immune-deficient mice', *Aging Cell*, 14(6), pp. 945-56.

Hutter, E., Renner, K., Pfister, G., Stockl, P., Jansen-Durr, P. and Gnaiger, E. (2004) 'Senescenceassociated changes in respiration and oxidative phosphorylation in primary human fibroblasts', *Biochem J*, 380(Pt 3), pp. 919-28. Ibrahim, A., Yucel, N., Kim, B. and Arany, Z. (2020) 'Local Mitochondrial ATP Production Regulates Endothelial Fatty Acid Uptake and Transport', *Cell Metab*, 32(2), pp. 309-319 e7.

Ingerman, E., Perkins, E.M., Marino, M., Mears, J.A., McCaffery, J.M., Hinshaw, J.E. and Nunnari, J. (2005) 'Dnm1 forms spirals that are structurally tailored to fit mitochondria', *J Cell Biol*, 170(7), pp. 1021-7.

Inoki, K., Zhu, T. and Guan, K.L. (2003) 'TSC2 mediates cellular energy response to control cell growth and survival', *Cell*, 115(5), pp. 577-90.

Ivanov, A., Pawlikowski, J., Manoharan, I., van Tuyn, J., Nelson, D.M., Rai, T.S., Shah, P.P., Hewitt, G., Korolchuk, V.I., Passos, J.F., Wu, H., Berger, S.L. and Adams, P.D. (2013) 'Lysosome-mediated processing of chromatin in senescence', *J Cell Biol*, 202(1), pp. 129-43.

Jacinto, E., Loewith, R., Schmidt, A., Lin, S., Ruegg, M.A., Hall, A. and Hall, M.N. (2004) 'Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive', *Nat Cell Biol*, 6(11), pp. 1122-8.

Jackson, J.G. and Pereira-Smith, O.M. (2006) 'p53 is preferentially recruited to the promoters of growth arrest genes p21 and GADD45 during replicative senescence of normal human fibroblasts', *Cancer Res*, 66(17), pp. 8356-60.

Jackson, S.P. and Bartek, J. (2009) 'The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease', *Nature*, 461(7267), pp. 1071-8.

Jager, S., Handschin, C., St-Pierre, J. and Spiegelman, B.M. (2007) 'AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104(29), pp. 12017-22.

James, E.L., Michalek, R.D., Pitiyage, G.N., de Castro, A.M., Vignola, K.S., Jones, J., Mohney, R.P., Karoly, E.D., Prime, S.S. and Parkinson, E.K. (2015) 'Senescent human fibroblasts show increased glycolysis and redox homeostasis with extracellular metabolomes that overlap with those of irreparable DNA damage, aging, and disease', *J Proteome Res*, 14(4), pp. 1854-71.

Janzen, V., Forkert, R., Fleming, H.E., Saito, Y., Waring, M.T., Dombkowski, D.M., Cheng, T., DePinho, R.A., Sharpless, N.E. and Scadden, D.T. (2006) 'Stem-cell ageing modified by the cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p16INK4a', *Nature*, 443(7110), pp. 421-6.

Janzer, A., German, N.J., Gonzalez-Herrera, K.N., Asara, J.M., Haigis, M.C. and Struhl, K. (2014) 'Metformin and phenformin deplete tricarboxylic acid cycle and glycolytic intermediates during cell transformation and NTPs in cancer stem cells', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111(29), pp. 10574-9.

Jensen, P., Wilson, M.T., Aasa, R. and Malmstrom, B.G. (1984) 'Cyanide inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase. A rapid-freeze e.p.r. investigation', *Biochem J*, 224(3), pp. 829-37.

Jeon, O.H., Kim, C., Laberge, R.M., Demaria, M., Rathod, S., Vasserot, A.P., Chung, J.W., Kim, D.H., Poon, Y., David, N., Baker, D.J., van Deursen, J.M., Campisi, J. and Elisseeff, J.H. (2017) 'Local clearance of senescent cells attenuates the development of post-traumatic osteoarthritis and creates a pro-regenerative environment', *Nat Med*, 23(6), pp. 775-781.

Jewell, J.L., Russell, R.C. and Guan, K.L. (2013) 'Amino acid signalling upstream of mTOR', *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 14(3), pp. 133-9.

Jiang, X., Ruan, X.L., Xue, Y.X., Yang, S., Shi, M. and Wang, L.N. (2020) 'Metformin Reduces the Senescence of Renal Tubular Epithelial Cells in Diabetic Nephropathy via the MBNL1/miR-130a-3p/STAT3 Pathway', *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2020, p. 8708236.

Johnson, S.C., Rabinovitch, P.S. and Kaeberlein, M. (2013) 'mTOR is a key modulator of ageing and age-related disease', *Nature*, 493(7432), pp. 338-45.

Johnson, S.C., Yanos, M.E., Bitto, A., Castanza, A., Gagnidze, A., Gonzalez, B., Gupta, K., Hui, J., Jarvie, C., Johnson, B.M., Letexier, N., McCanta, L., Sangesland, M., Tamis, O., Uhde, L., Van Den Ende, A., Rabinovitch, P.S., Suh, Y. and Kaeberlein, M. (2015) 'Dose-dependent effects of mTOR inhibition on weight and mitochondrial disease in mice', *Front Genet*, 6, p. 247.

Jorgensen, P., Edgington, N.P., Schneider, B.L., Rupes, I., Tyers, M. and Futcher, B. (2007) 'The size of the nucleus increases as yeast cells grow', *Mol Biol Cell*, 18(9), pp. 3523-32.

Jun, J.I. and Lau, L.F. (2010) 'Cellular senescence controls fibrosis in wound healing', *Aging* (*Albany NY*), 2(9), pp. 627-31.

Jurk, D., Wang, C., Miwa, S., Maddick, M., Korolchuk, V., Tsolou, A., Gonos, E.S., Thrasivoulou, C., Saffrey, M.J., Cameron, K. and von Zglinicki, T. (2012) 'Postmitotic neurons develop a p21-dependent senescence-like phenotype driven by a DNA damage response', *Aging Cell*, 11(6), pp. 996-1004.

Jurk, D., Wilson, C., Passos, J.F., Oakley, F., Correia-Melo, C., Greaves, L., Saretzki, G., Fox, C., Lawless, C., Anderson, R., Hewitt, G., Pender, S.L., Fullard, N., Nelson, G., Mann, J., van de Sluis, B., Mann, D.A. and von Zglinicki, T. (2014) 'Chronic inflammation induces telomere dysfunction and accelerates ageing in mice', *Nat Commun*, 2, p. 4172.

Justice, J.N., Nambiar, A.M., Tchkonia, T., LeBrasseur, N.K., Pascual, R., Hashmi, S.K., Prata, L., Masternak, M.M., Kritchevsky, S.B., Musi, N. and Kirkland, J.L. (2019) 'Senolytics in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: Results from a first-in-human, open-label, pilot study', *EBioMedicine*, 40, pp. 554-563.

Kaeberlein, M., Powers, R.W., 3rd, Steffen, K.K., Westman, E.A., Hu, D., Dang, N., Kerr, E.O., Kirkland, K.T., Fields, S. and Kennedy, B.K. (2005) 'Regulation of yeast replicative life span by TOR and Sch9 in response to nutrients', *Science*, 310(5751), pp. 1193-6.

Kalender, A., Selvaraj, A., Kim, S.Y., Gulati, P., Brule, S., Viollet, B., Kemp, B.E., Bardeesy, N., Dennis, P., Schlager, J.J., Marette, A., Kozma, S.C. and Thomas, G. (2010) 'Metformin,

independent of AMPK, inhibits mTORC1 in a rag GTPase-dependent manner', *Cell Metab*, 11(5), pp. 390-401.

Kamata, H., Honda, S., Maeda, S., Chang, L., Hirata, H. and Karin, M. (2005) 'Reactive oxygen species promote TNFalpha-induced death and sustained JNK activation by inhibiting MAP kinase phosphatases', *Cell*, 120(5), pp. 649-61.

Kandoth, C., McLellan, M.D., Vandin, F., Ye, K., Niu, B., Lu, C., Xie, M., Zhang, Q., McMichael, J.F., Wyczalkowski, M.A., Leiserson, M.D.M., Miller, C.A., Welch, J.S., Walter, M.J., Wendl, M.C., Ley, T.J., Wilson, R.K., Raphael, B.J. and Ding, L. (2013) 'Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types', *Nature*, 502(7471), pp. 333-339.

Kane, D.A., Anderson, E.J., Price, J.W., 3rd, Woodlief, T.L., Lin, C.T., Bikman, B.T., Cortright, R.N. and Neufer, P.D. (2010) 'Metformin selectively attenuates mitochondrial H2O2 emission without affecting respiratory capacity in skeletal muscle of obese rats', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 49(6), pp. 1082-7.

Kang, C., Xu, Q., Martin, T.D., Li, M.Z., Demaria, M., Aron, L., Lu, T., Yankner, B.A., Campisi, J. and Elledge, S.J. (2015) 'The DNA damage response induces inflammation and senescence by inhibiting autophagy of GATA4', *Science*, 349(6255), p. aaa5612.

Kang, H.T., Lee, K.B., Kim, S.Y., Choi, H.R. and Park, S.C. (2011a) 'Autophagy impairment induces premature senescence in primary human fibroblasts', *PLoS One*, 6(8), p. e23367.

Kang, T.W., Yevsa, T., Woller, N., Hoenicke, L., Wuestefeld, T., Dauch, D., Hohmeyer, A., Gereke, M., Rudalska, R., Potapova, A., Iken, M., Vucur, M., Weiss, S., Heikenwalder, M., Khan, S., Gil, J., Bruder, D., Manns, M., Schirmacher, P., Tacke, F., Ott, M., Luedde, T., Longerich, T., Kubicka, S. and Zender, L. (2011b) 'Senescence surveillance of pre-malignant hepatocytes limits liver cancer development', *Nature*, 479(7374), pp. 547-51.

Kapahi, P., Zid, B.M., Harper, T., Koslover, D., Sapin, V. and Benzer, S. (2004) 'Regulation of lifespan in Drosophila by modulation of genes in the TOR signaling pathway', *Curr Biol*, 14(10), pp. 885-90.

Kaplon, J., Zheng, L., Meissl, K., Chaneton, B., Selivanov, V.A., Mackay, G., van der Burg, S.H., Verdegaal, E.M., Cascante, M., Shlomi, T., Gottlieb, E. and Peeper, D.S. (2013) 'A key role for mitochondrial gatekeeper pyruvate dehydrogenase in oncogene-induced senescence', *Nature*, 498(7452), pp. 109-12. Karamanlidis, G., Lee, C.F., Garcia-Menendez, L., Kolwicz, S.C., Jr., Suthammarak, W., Gong, G., Sedensky, M.M., Morgan, P.G., Wang, W. and Tian, R. (2013) 'Mitochondrial complex I deficiency increases protein acetylation and accelerates heart failure', *Cell Metab*, 18(2), pp. 239-50. Karch, J., Kwong, J.Q., Burr, A.R., Sargent, M.A., Elrod, J.W., Peixoto, P.M., Martinez-Caballero, S., Osinska, H., Cheng, E.H., Robbins, J., Kinnally, K.W. and Molkentin, J.D. (2013) 'Bax and Bak function as the outer membrane component of the mitochondrial permeability pore in regulating necrotic cell death in mice', *Elife*, 2, p. e00772.

Karin, O., Agrawal, A., Porat, Z., Krizhanovsky, V. and Alon, U. (2019) 'Senescent cell turnover slows with age providing an explanation for the Gompertz law', *Nat Commun*, 10(1), p. 5495. Karnewar, S., Neeli, P.K., Panuganti, D., Kotagiri, S., Mallappa, S., Jain, N., Jerald, M.K. and Kotamraju, S. (2018) 'Metformin regulates mitochondrial biogenesis and senescence through AMPK mediated H3K79 methylation: Relevance in age-associated vascular dysfunction', *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*, 1864(4 Pt A), pp. 1115-1128.

Kauppila, T.E.S., Bratic, A., Jensen, M.B., Baggio, F., Partridge, L., Jasper, H., Gronke, S. and Larsson, N.G. (2018) 'Mutations of mitochondrial DNA are not major contributors to aging of fruit flies', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115(41), pp. E9620-E9629.

Kayo, T., Allison, D.B., Weindruch, R. and Prolla, T.A. (2001) 'Influences of aging and caloric restriction on the transcriptional profile of skeletal muscle from rhesus monkeys', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(9), pp. 5093-8.

Kehrer, J.P. (2000) 'The Haber-Weiss reaction and mechanisms of toxicity', *Toxicology*, 149(1), pp. 43-50.

Kelso, G.F., Porteous, C.M., Coulter, C.V., Hughes, G., Porteous, W.K., Ledgerwood, E.C., Smith, R.A. and Murphy, M.P. (2001) 'Selective targeting of a redox-active ubiquinone to mitochondria within cells: antioxidant and antiapoptotic properties', *J Biol Chem*, 276(7), pp. 4588-96. Ketola, K., Vainio, P., Fey, V., Kallioniemi, O. and Iljin, K. (2010) 'Monensin is a potent inducer of oxidative stress and inhibitor of androgen signaling leading to apoptosis in prostate cancer cells', *Mol Cancer Ther*, 9(12), pp. 3175-85.

Khamzina, L., Veilleux, A., Bergeron, S. and Marette, A. (2005) 'Increased activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway in liver and skeletal muscle of obese rats: possible involvement in obesity-linked insulin resistance', *Endocrinology*, 146(3), pp. 1473-81. Khrapko, K., Coller, H.A., Andre, P.C., Li, X.C., Hanekamp, J.S. and Thilly, W.G. (1997) 'Mitochondrial mutational spectra in human cells and tissues', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94(25), pp. 13798-803.

Khutornenko, A.A., Roudko, V.V., Chernyak, B.V., Vartapetian, A.B., Chumakov, P.M. and Evstafieva, A.G. (2010) 'Pyrimidine biosynthesis links mitochondrial respiration to the p53 pathway', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(29), pp. 12828-33.

Kickstein, E., Krauss, S., Thornhill, P., Rutschow, D., Zeller, R., Sharkey, J., Williamson, R., Fuchs, M., Kohler, A., Glossmann, H., Schneider, R., Sutherland, C. and Schweiger, S. (2010) 'Biguanide metformin acts on tau phosphorylation via mTOR/protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) signaling', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(50), pp. 21830-5.

Kim, D.H., Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., King, J.E., Latek, R.R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P. and Sabatini, D.M. (2002) 'mTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-sensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery', *Cell*, 110(2), pp. 163-75.

Kim, D.H., Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., Latek, R.R., Guntur, K.V., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P. and Sabatini, D.M. (2003) 'GbetaL, a positive regulator of the rapamycin-sensitive pathway required for the nutrient-sensitive interaction between raptor and mTOR', *Mol Cell*, 11(4), pp. 895-904.

Kim, H., Yu, M.R., Lee, H., Kwon, S.H., Jeon, J.S., Han, D.C. and Noh, H. (2021) 'Metformin inhibits chronic kidney disease-induced DNA damage and senescence of mesenchymal stem cells', *Aging Cell*, 20(2), p. e13317.

Kim, H.R., Heo, Y.M., Jeong, K.I., Kim, Y.M., Jang, H.L., Lee, K.Y., Yeo, C.Y., Kim, S.H., Lee, H.K., Kim, S.R., Kim, E.G. and Choi, J.K. (2012) 'FGF-2 inhibits TNF-alpha mediated apoptosis through upregulation of Bcl2-A1 and Bcl-xL in ATDC5 cells', *BMB Rep*, 45(5), pp. 287-92.

Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B. and Guan, K.L. (2011) 'AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1', *Nat Cell Biol*, 13(2), pp. 132-41.

Kim, Y., Park, J., Kim, S., Song, S., Kwon, S.K., Lee, S.H., Kitada, T., Kim, J.M. and Chung, J. (2008) 'PINK1 controls mitochondrial localization of Parkin through direct phosphorylation', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 377(3), pp. 975-80.

Kitami, T., Logan, D.J., Negri, J., Hasaka, T., Tolliday, N.J., Carpenter, A.E., Spiegelman, B.M. and Mootha, V.K. (2012) 'A chemical screen probing the relationship between mitochondrial content and cell size', *PLoS One*, 7(3), p. e33755.

Kluckova, K., Bezawork-Geleta, A., Rohlena, J., Dong, L. and Neuzil, J. (2013) 'Mitochondrial complex II, a novel target for anti-cancer agents', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1827(5), pp. 552-64. Kohlhauer, M., Pell, V.R., Burger, N., Spiroski, A.M., Gruszczyk, A., Mulvey, J.F., Mottahedin, A., Costa, A.S.H., Frezza, C., Ghaleh, B., Murphy, M.P., Tissier, R. and Krieg, T. (2019) 'Protection against cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury by hypothermia and by inhibition of succinate accumulation and oxidation is additive', *Basic Res Cardiol*, 114(3), p. 18.

Kojima, H., Inoue, T., Kunimoto, H. and Nakajima, K. (2013) 'IL-6-STAT3 signaling and premature senescence', *JAKSTAT*, 2(4), p. e25763.

Kondapalli, C., Kazlauskaite, A., Zhang, N., Woodroof, H.I., Campbell, D.G., Gourlay, R., Burchell, L., Walden, H., Macartney, T.J., Deak, M., Knebel, A., Alessi, D.R. and Muqit, M.M. (2012) 'PINK1 is activated by mitochondrial membrane potential depolarization and stimulates Parkin E3 ligase activity by phosphorylating Serine 65', *Open Biol*, 2(5), p. 120080.

Krebs, M., Brunmair, B., Brehm, A., Artwohl, M., Szendroedi, J., Nowotny, P., Roth, E., Furnsinn, C., Promintzer, M., Anderwald, C., Bischof, M. and Roden, M. (2007) 'The Mammalian target of rapamycin pathway regulates nutrient-sensitive glucose uptake in man', *Diabetes*, 56(6), pp. 1600-7.

Krishnamurthy, J., Torrice, C., Ramsey, M.R., Kovalev, G.I., Al-Regaiey, K., Su, L. and Sharpless, N.E. (2004a) 'Ink4a/Arf expression is a biomarker of aging', *J Clin Invest*, 114(9), pp. 1299-307. Krishnamurthy, M., Sahouria, J.J., Desai, R. and Caguiat, J. (2004b) 'Buformin-induced lactic acidosis--a symptom of modern healthcare malady', *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52(10), p. 1785. Krizhanovsky, V., Yon, M., Dickins, R.A., Hearn, S., Simon, J., Miething, C., Yee, H., Zender, L. and Lowe, S.W. (2008) 'Senescence of activated stellate cells limits liver fibrosis', *Cell*, 134(4), pp.

657-67.

Krtolica, A., Parrinello, S., Lockett, S., Desprez, P.Y. and Campisi, J. (2001) 'Senescent fibroblasts promote epithelial cell growth and tumorigenesis: a link between cancer and aging', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(21), pp. 12072-7.

Kujoth, G.C., Hiona, A., Pugh, T.D., Someya, S., Panzer, K., Wohlgemuth, S.E., Hofer, T., Seo, A.Y., Sullivan, R., Jobling, W.A., Morrow, J.D., Van Remmen, H., Sedivy, J.M., Yamasoba, T., Tanokura, M., Weindruch, R., Leeuwenburgh, C. and Prolla, T.A. (2005) 'Mitochondrial DNA mutations, oxidative stress, and apoptosis in mammalian aging', *Science*, 309(5733), pp. 481-4.

Kuki, S., Imanishi, T., Kobayashi, K., Matsuo, Y., Obana, M. and Akasaka, T. (2006) 'Hyperglycemia accelerated endothelial progenitor cell senescence via the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase', *Circ J*, 70(8), pp. 1076-81.

Kulkarni, A.S., Brutsaert, E.F., Anghel, V., Zhang, K., Bloomgarden, N., Pollak, M., Mar, J.C., Hawkins, M., Crandall, J.P. and Barzilai, N. (2018) 'Metformin regulates metabolic and nonmetabolic pathways in skeletal muscle and subcutaneous adipose tissues of older adults', *Aging Cell*, 17(2).

Kural, K.C., Tandon, N., Skoblov, M., Kel-Margoulis, O.V. and Baranova, A.V. (2016) 'Pathways of aging: comparative analysis of gene signatures in replicative senescence and stress induced premature senescence', *BMC Genomics*, 17(Suppl 14), p. 1030.

Kurz, D.J., Decary, S., Hong, Y. and Erusalimsky, J.D. (2000) 'Senescence-associated (beta)galactosidase reflects an increase in lysosomal mass during replicative ageing of human endothelial cells', *J Cell Sci*, 113 (Pt 20), pp. 3613-22.

Kwong, S.C. and Brubacher, J. (1998) 'Phenformin and lactic acidosis: a case report and review', *J Emerg Med*, 16(6), pp. 881-6.

Laberge, R.M., Sun, Y., Orjalo, A.V., Patil, C.K., Freund, A., Zhou, L., Curran, S.C., Davalos, A.R., Wilson-Edell, K.A., Liu, S., Limbad, C., Demaria, M., Li, P., Hubbard, G.B., Ikeno, Y., Javors, M., Desprez, P.Y., Benz, C.C., Kapahi, P., Nelson, P.S. and Campisi, J. (2015) 'MTOR regulates the protumorigenic senescence-associated secretory phenotype by promoting IL1A translation', *Nat Cell Biol*, 17(8), pp. 1049-61.

Labrousse, A.M., Zappaterra, M.D., Rube, D.A. and van der Bliek, A.M. (1999) 'C. elegans dynamin-related protein DRP-1 controls severing of the mitochondrial outer membrane', *Mol Cell*, 4(5), pp. 815-26.

Lafargue, A., Degorre, C., Corre, I., Alves-Guerra, M.C., Gaugler, M.H., Vallette, F., Pecqueur, C. and Paris, F. (2017) 'Ionizing radiation induces long-term senescence in endothelial cells through mitochondrial respiratory complex II dysfunction and superoxide generation', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 108, pp. 750-759.

Lambert, A.J., Boysen, H.M., Buckingham, J.A., Yang, T., Podlutsky, A., Austad, S.N., Kunz, T.H., Buffenstein, R. and Brand, M.D. (2007) 'Low rates of hydrogen peroxide production by isolated heart mitochondria associate with long maximum lifespan in vertebrate homeotherms', *Aging Cell*, 6(5), pp. 607-18.

Lambert, A.J. and Brand, M.D. (2004) 'Inhibitors of the quinone-binding site allow rapid superoxide production from mitochondrial NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I)', *J Biol Chem*, 279(38), pp. 39414-20.

Lamming, D.W., Ye, L., Katajisto, P., Goncalves, M.D., Saitoh, M., Stevens, D.M., Davis, J.G., Salmon, A.B., Richardson, A., Ahima, R.S., Guertin, D.A., Sabatini, D.M. and Baur, J.A. (2012) 'Rapamycin-induced insulin resistance is mediated by mTORC2 loss and uncoupled from longevity', *Science*, 335(6076), pp. 1638-43.

Lamming, D.W., Ye, L., Sabatini, D.M. and Baur, J.A. (2013) 'Rapalogs and mTOR inhibitors as anti-aging therapeutics', *J Clin Invest*, 123(3), pp. 980-9.

Lau, L., Porciuncula, A., Yu, A., Iwakura, Y. and David, G. (2019) 'Uncoupling the Senescence-Associated Secretory Phenotype from Cell Cycle Exit via Interleukin-1 Inactivation Unveils Its Protumorigenic Role', *Mol Cell Biol*, 39(12).

Lavin, M.F., Kozlov, S., Gatei, M. and Kijas, A.W. (2015) 'ATM-Dependent Phosphorylation of All Three Members of the MRN Complex: From Sensor to Adaptor', *Biomolecules*, 5(4), pp. 2877-902.

Lawless, C., Jurk, D., Gillespie, C.S., Shanley, D., Saretzki, G., von Zglinicki, T. and Passos, J.F. (2012) 'A stochastic step model of replicative senescence explains ROS production rate in ageing cell populations', *PLoS One*, 7(2), p. e32117.

Lazarou, M., Sliter, D.A., Kane, L.A., Sarraf, S.A., Wang, C., Burman, J.L., Sideris, D.P., Fogel, A.I. and Youle, R.J. (2015) 'The ubiquitin kinase PINK1 recruits autophagy receptors to induce mitophagy', *Nature*, 524(7565), pp. 309-314.

Lazzerini Denchi, E., Attwooll, C., Pasini, D. and Helin, K. (2005) 'Deregulated E2F activity induces hyperplasia and senescence-like features in the mouse pituitary gland', *Mol Cell Biol*, 25(7), pp. 2660-72.

Le, O.N., Rodier, F., Fontaine, F., Coppe, J.P., Campisi, J., DeGregori, J., Laverdiere, C., Kokta, V., Haddad, E. and Beausejour, C.M. (2010) 'Ionizing radiation-induced long-term expression of senescence markers in mice is independent of p53 and immune status', *Aging Cell*, 9(3), pp. 398-409.

Le Pelletier, L., Mantecon, M., Gorwood, J., Auclair, M., Foresti, R., Motterlini, R., Laforge, M., Atlan, M., Feve, B., Capeau, J., Lagathu, C. and Bereziat, V. (2021) 'Metformin alleviates stress-

induced cellular senescence of aging human adipose stromal cells and the ensuing adipocyte dysfunction', *Elife*, 10.

Leary, S.C., Hill, B.C., Lyons, C.N., Carlson, C.G., Michaud, D., Kraft, C.S., Ko, K., Glerum, D.M. and Moyes, C.D. (2002) 'Chronic treatment with azide in situ leads to an irreversible loss of

cytochrome c oxidase activity via holoenzyme dissociation', *J Biol Chem*, 277(13), pp. 11321-8. Leavesley, H.B., Li, L., Prabhakaran, K., Borowitz, J.L. and Isom, G.E. (2008) 'Interaction of cyanide and nitric oxide with cytochrome c oxidase: implications for acute cyanide toxicity', *Toxicol Sci*, 101(1), pp. 101-11.

Lee, B.Y., Han, J.A., Im, J.S., Morrone, A., Johung, K., Goodwin, E.C., Kleijer, W.J., DiMaio, D. and Hwang, E.S. (2006) 'Senescence-associated beta-galactosidase is lysosomal beta-galactosidase', *Aging Cell*, 5(2), pp. 187-95.

Lee, M. and Yoon, J.H. (2015) 'Metabolic interplay between glycolysis and mitochondrial oxidation: The reverse Warburg effect and its therapeutic implication', *World J Biol Chem*, 6(3), pp. 148-61.

Lee, S.J., Hwang, A.B. and Kenyon, C. (2010) 'Inhibition of respiration extends C. elegans life span via reactive oxygen species that increase HIF-1 activity', *Curr Biol*, 20(23), pp. 2131-6.

Lee, W.M., Paik, J.S., Cho, W.K., Oh, E.H., Lee, S.B. and Yang, S.W. (2013) 'Rapamycin enhances TNF-alpha-induced secretion of IL-6 and IL-8 through suppressing PDCD4 degradation in orbital fibroblasts', *Curr Eye Res*, 38(6), pp. 699-706.

Lee, Y.J., Jeong, S.Y., Karbowski, M., Smith, C.L. and Youle, R.J. (2004) 'Roles of the mammalian mitochondrial fission and fusion mediators Fis1, Drp1, and Opa1 in apoptosis', *Mol Biol Cell*, 15(11), pp. 5001-11.

Li, J., Liang, N., Long, X., Zhao, J., Yang, J., Du, X., Yang, T., Yuan, P., Huang, X., Zhang, J., He, X. and Xing, J. (2019) 'SDHC-related deficiency of SDH complex activity promotes growth and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma via ROS/NFkappaB signaling', *Cancer Lett*, 461, pp. 44-55. Lieber, M.R. (2010) 'The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 79, pp. 181-211.

Lill, R. and Muhlenhoff, U. (2008) 'Maturation of iron-sulfur proteins in eukaryotes: mechanisms, connected processes, and diseases', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 77, pp. 669-700.

Lin, A.L., Jahrling, J.B., Zhang, W., DeRosa, N., Bakshi, V., Romero, P., Galvan, V. and Richardson, A. (2017) 'Rapamycin rescues vascular, metabolic and learning deficits in apolipoprotein E4 transgenic mice with pre-symptomatic Alzheimer's disease', *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 37(1), pp. 217-226.

Lin, A.W., Barradas, M., Stone, J.C., van Aelst, L., Serrano, M. and Lowe, S.W. (1998) 'Premature senescence involving p53 and p16 is activated in response to constitutive MEK/MAPK mitogenic signaling', *Genes Dev*, 12(19), pp. 3008-19.

Lin, H.Y., Chang, K.T., Hung, C.C., Kuo, C.H., Hwang, S.J., Chen, H.C., Hung, C.H. and Lin, S.F. (2014) 'Effects of the mTOR inhibitor rapamycin on monocyte-secreted chemokines', *BMC Immunol*, 15, p. 37.

Liu, J., Rolef Ben-Shahar, T., Riemer, D., Treinin, M., Spann, P., Weber, K., Fire, A. and Gruenbaum, Y. (2000) 'Essential roles for Caenorhabditis elegans lamin gene in nuclear organization, cell cycle progression, and spatial organization of nuclear pore complexes', *Mol Biol Cell*, 11(11), pp. 3937-47.

Liu, Y., Sanoff, H.K., Cho, H., Burd, C.E., Torrice, C., Ibrahim, J.G., Thomas, N.E. and Sharpless, N.E. (2009a) 'Expression of p16(INK4a) in peripheral blood T-cells is a biomarker of human aging', *Aging Cell*, 8(4), pp. 439-48.

Liu, Y., Sanoff, H.K., Cho, H., Burd, C.E., Torrice, C., Mohlke, K.L., Ibrahim, J.G., Thomas, N.E. and Sharpless, N.E. (2009b) 'INK4/ARF transcript expression is associated with chromosome 9p21 variants linked to atherosclerosis', *PLoS One*, 4(4), p. e5027.

Livshits, G., Zhai, G., Hart, D.J., Kato, B.S., Wang, H., Williams, F.M. and Spector, T.D. (2009) 'Interleukin-6 is a significant predictor of radiographic knee osteoarthritis: The Chingford Study', *Arthritis Rheum*, 60(7), pp. 2037-45.

Loeser, R.F. (2009) 'Aging and osteoarthritis: the role of chondrocyte senescence and aging changes in the cartilage matrix', *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, 17(8), pp. 971-9.

Loeser, R.F. (2017) 'The Role of Aging in the Development of Osteoarthritis', *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc*, 128, pp. 44-54.

Loi, H., Boal, F., Tronchere, H., Cinato, M., Kramar, S., Oleshchuk, O., Korda, M. and Kunduzova, O. (2019) 'Metformin Protects the Heart Against Hypertrophic and Apoptotic Remodeling After Myocardial Infarction', *Front Pharmacol*, 10, p. 154.

Lyngsie, G., Krumina, L., Tunlid, A. and Persson, P. (2018) 'Generation of hydroxyl radicals from reactions between a dimethoxyhydroquinone and iron oxide nanoparticles', *Sci Rep*, 8(1), p. 10834.

Macip, S., Igarashi, M., Berggren, P., Yu, J., Lee, S.W. and Aaronson, S.A. (2003) 'Influence of induced reactive oxygen species in p53-mediated cell fate decisions', *Mol Cell Biol*, 23(23), pp. 8576-85.

Macip, S., Igarashi, M., Fang, L., Chen, A., Pan, Z.Q., Lee, S.W. and Aaronson, S.A. (2002) 'Inhibition of p21-mediated ROS accumulation can rescue p21-induced senescence', *EMBO J*, 21(9), pp. 2180-8.

Madiraju, A.K., Erion, D.M., Rahimi, Y., Zhang, X.M., Braddock, D.T., Albright, R.A., Prigaro, B.J., Wood, J.L., Bhanot, S., MacDonald, M.J., Jurczak, M.J., Camporez, J.P., Lee, H.Y., Cline, G.W., Samuel, V.T., Kibbey, R.G. and Shulman, G.I. (2014) 'Metformin suppresses gluconeogenesis by inhibiting mitochondrial glycerophosphate dehydrogenase', *Nature*, 510(7506), pp. 542-6. Mai, S., Muster, B., Bereiter-Hahn, J. and Jendrach, M. (2012) 'Autophagy proteins LC3B, ATG5 and ATG12 participate in quality control after mitochondrial damage and influence lifespan', *Autophagy*, 8(1), pp. 47-62.

Mailand, N., Falck, J., Lukas, C., Syljuasen, R.G., Welcker, M., Bartek, J. and Lukas, J. (2000) 'Rapid destruction of human Cdc25A in response to DNA damage', *Science*, 288(5470), pp. 1425-9. Mailloux, R.J., McBride, S.L. and Harper, M.E. (2013) 'Unearthing the secrets of mitochondrial ROS and glutathione in bioenergetics', *Trends Biochem Sci*, 38(12), pp. 592-602.

Mair, W., Morantte, I., Rodrigues, A.P., Manning, G., Montminy, M., Shaw, R.J. and Dillin, A. (2011) 'Lifespan extension induced by AMPK and calcineurin is mediated by CRTC-1 and CREB', *Nature*, 470(7334), pp. 404-8.

Malik, R., Corrales, C., Linsenmeier, M., Alalami, H., Sepanj, N. and Bitan, G. (2020) 'Examination of SOD1 aggregation modulators and their effect on SOD1 enzymatic activity as a proxy for potential toxicity', *FASEB J*, 34(9), pp. 11957-11969.

Mannick, J.B., Del Giudice, G., Lattanzi, M., Valiante, N.M., Praestgaard, J., Huang, B., Lonetto, M.A., Maecker, H.T., Kovarik, J., Carson, S., Glass, D.J. and Klickstein, L.B. (2014) 'mTOR inhibition improves immune function in the elderly', *Sci Transl Med*, 6(268), p. 268ra179.

Mao, P., Manczak, M., Calkins, M.J., Truong, Q., Reddy, T.P., Reddy, A.P., Shirendeb, U., Lo, H.H., Rabinovitch, P.S. and Reddy, P.H. (2012) 'Mitochondria-targeted catalase reduces abnormal APP processing, amyloid beta production and BACE1 in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: implications for neuroprotection and lifespan extension', *Hum Mol Genet*, 21(13), pp. 2973-90. Mariani, M.F., Thomas, L., DeFeo, B. and van Rossum, G.D. (1989) 'Effects of monensin on ATP levels and cell functions in rat liver and lung in vitro', *J Membr Biol*, 108(3), pp. 235-46.

Martin-Montalvo, A., Mercken, E.M., Mitchell, S.J., Palacios, H.H., Mote, P.L., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Gomes, A.P., Ward, T.M., Minor, R.K., Blouin, M.J., Schwab, M., Pollak, M., Zhang, Y., Yu, Y., Becker, K.G., Bohr, V.A., Ingram, D.K., Sinclair, D.A., Wolf, N.S., Spindler, S.R., Bernier, M. and de Cabo, R. (2013) 'Metformin improves healthspan and lifespan in mice', *Nat Commun*, 4, p. 2192.

Martina, J.A., Chen, Y., Gucek, M. and Puertollano, R. (2012) 'MTORC1 functions as a transcriptional regulator of autophagy by preventing nuclear transport of TFEB', *Autophagy*, 8(6), pp. 903-14.

Marycz, K., Tomaszewski, K.A., Kornicka, K., Henry, B.M., Wronski, S., Tarasiuk, J. and Maredziak, M. (2016) 'Metformin Decreases Reactive Oxygen Species, Enhances Osteogenic Properties of Adipose-Derived Multipotent Mesenchymal Stem Cells In Vitro, and Increases Bone Density In Vivo', *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2016, p. 9785890.

Mather, M. and Rottenberg, H. (2000) 'Aging enhances the activation of the permeability transition pore in mitochondria', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 273(2), pp. 603-8.

Matheu, A., Pantoja, C., Efeyan, A., Criado, L.M., Martin-Caballero, J., Flores, J.M., Klatt, P. and Serrano, M. (2004) 'Increased gene dosage of Ink4a/Arf results in cancer resistance and normal aging', *Genes Dev*, 18(22), pp. 2736-46.

Mathon, N.F., Malcolm, D.S., Harrisingh, M.C., Cheng, L. and Lloyd, A.C. (2001) 'Lack of replicative senescence in normal rodent glia', *Science*, 291(5505), pp. 872-5.

Matsuda, N., Sato, S., Shiba, K., Okatsu, K., Saisho, K., Gautier, C.A., Sou, Y.S., Saiki, S., Kawajiri, S., Sato, F., Kimura, M., Komatsu, M., Hattori, N. and Tanaka, K. (2010) 'PINK1 stabilized by mitochondrial depolarization recruits Parkin to damaged mitochondria and activates latent Parkin for mitophagy', *J Cell Biol*, 189(2), pp. 211-21.

Matsushita, H., Chang, E., Glassford, A.J., Cooke, J.P., Chiu, C.P. and Tsao, P.S. (2001) 'eNOS activity is reduced in senescent human endothelial cells: Preservation by hTERT immortalization', *Circ Res*, 89(9), pp. 793-8.

Mavin, E., Verdon, B., Carrie, S., Saint-Criq, V., Powell, J., Kuttruff, C.A., Ward, C., Garnett, J.P. and Miwa, S. (2020) 'Real-time measurement of cellular bioenergetics in fully differentiated human nasal epithelial cells grown at air-liquid-interface', *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 318(6), pp. L1158-L1164.

McCarroll, S.A., Murphy, C.T., Zou, S., Pletcher, S.D., Chin, C.S., Jan, Y.N., Kenyon, C., Bargmann, C.I. and Li, H. (2004) 'Comparing genomic expression patterns across species identifies shared transcriptional profile in aging', *Nat Genet*, 36(2), pp. 197-204.

Mehta, I.S., Figgitt, M., Clements, C.S., Kill, I.R. and Bridger, J.M. (2007) 'Alterations to nuclear architecture and genome behavior in senescent cells', *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1100, pp. 250-63. Meier, A., Fiegler, H., Munoz, P., Ellis, P., Rigler, D., Langford, C., Blasco, M.A., Carter, N. and Jackson, S.P. (2007) 'Spreading of mammalian DNA-damage response factors studied by ChIP-chip at damaged telomeres', *EMBO J*, 26(11), pp. 2707-18.

Meyer, K., Hodwin, B., Ramanujam, D., Engelhardt, S. and Sarikas, A. (2016) 'Essential Role for Premature Senescence of Myofibroblasts in Myocardial Fibrosis', *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 67(17), pp. 2018-28.

Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L.C., Soengas, M.S., Denoyelle, C., Kuilman, T., van der Horst, C.M., Majoor, D.M., Shay, J.W., Mooi, W.J. and Peeper, D.S. (2005) 'BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi', *Nature*, 436(7051), pp. 720-4.

Michalski, R., Thiebaut, D., Michalowski, B., Ayhan, M.M., Hardy, M., Ouari, O., Rostkowski, M., Smulik-Izydorczyk, R., Artelska, A., Marcinek, A., Zielonka, J., Kalyanaraman, B. and Sikora, A. (2020) 'Oxidation of ethidium-based probes by biological radicals: mechanism, kinetics and implications for the detection of superoxide', *Sci Rep*, 10(1), p. 18626.

Miller, R.A., Chu, Q., Xie, J., Foretz, M., Viollet, B. and Birnbaum, M.J. (2013) 'Biguanides suppress hepatic glucagon signalling by decreasing production of cyclic AMP', *Nature*, 494(7436), pp. 256-60.

Minamino, T., Orimo, M., Shimizu, I., Kunieda, T., Yokoyama, M., Ito, T., Nojima, A., Nabetani, A., Oike, Y., Matsubara, H., Ishikawa, F. and Komuro, I. (2009) 'A crucial role for adipose tissue p53 in the regulation of insulin resistance', *Nat Med*, 15(9), pp. 1082-7.

Mirzoeva, O.K. and Petrini, J.H. (2001) 'DNA damage-dependent nuclear dynamics of the Mre11 complex', *Mol Cell Biol*, 21(1), pp. 281-8.

Mitchell, P. (1961) 'Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemiosmotic type of mechanism', *Nature*, 191, pp. 144-8.

Miwa, S. and Brand, M.D. (2003) 'Mitochondrial matrix reactive oxygen species production is very sensitive to mild uncoupling', *Biochem Soc Trans*, 31(Pt 6), pp. 1300-1.

Miwa, S., Jow, H., Baty, K., Johnson, A., Czapiewski, R., Saretzki, G., Treumann, A. and von Zglinicki, T. (2014) 'Low abundance of the matrix arm of complex I in mitochondria predicts longevity in mice', *Nat Commun*, 5, p. 3837.

Miwa, S., St-Pierre, J., Partridge, L. and Brand, M.D. (2003) 'Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production by Drosophila mitochondria', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 35(8), pp. 938-48.

Mohanty, J.G., Jaffe, J.S., Schulman, E.S. and Raible, D.G. (1997) 'A highly sensitive fluorescent micro-assay of H2O2 release from activated human leukocytes using a dihydroxyphenoxazine derivative', *J Immunol Methods*, 202(2), pp. 133-41.

Moiseeva, O., Bourdeau, V., Roux, A., Deschenes-Simard, X. and Ferbeyre, G. (2009) 'Mitochondrial dysfunction contributes to oncogene-induced senescence', *Mol Cell Biol*, 29(16), pp. 4495-507.

Moiseeva, O., Deschenes-Simard, X., St-Germain, E., Igelmann, S., Huot, G., Cadar, A.E., Bourdeau, V., Pollak, M.N. and Ferbeyre, G. (2013) 'Metformin inhibits the senescenceassociated secretory phenotype by interfering with IKK/NF-kappaB activation', *Aging Cell*, 12(3), pp. 489-98.

Moiseeva, O., Mallette, F.A., Mukhopadhyay, U.K., Moores, A. and Ferbeyre, G. (2006) 'DNA damage signaling and p53-dependent senescence after prolonged beta-interferon stimulation', *Mol Biol Cell*, 17(4), pp. 1583-92.

Molofsky, A.V., Slutsky, S.G., Joseph, N.M., He, S., Pardal, R., Krishnamurthy, J., Sharpless, N.E. and Morrison, S.J. (2006) 'Increasing p16INK4a expression decreases forebrain progenitors and neurogenesis during ageing', *Nature*, 443(7110), pp. 448-52.

Mookerjee, S.A. and Brand, M.D. (2015) 'Measurement and Analysis of Extracellular Acid Production to Determine Glycolytic Rate', *J Vis Exp*, (106), p. e53464.

Mookerjee, S.A., Nicholls, D.G. and Brand, M.D. (2016) 'Determining Maximum Glycolytic Capacity Using Extracellular Flux Measurements', *PLoS One*, 11(3), p. e0152016.

Mor, D.E., Sohrabi, S., Kaletsky, R., Keyes, W., Tartici, A., Kalia, V., Miller, G.W. and Murphy, C.T. (2020) 'Metformin rescues Parkinson's disease phenotypes caused by hyperactive mitochondria', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 117(42), pp. 26438-26447.

Morais, V.A., Haddad, D., Craessaerts, K., De Bock, P.J., Swerts, J., Vilain, S., Aerts, L., Overbergh, L., Grunewald, A., Seibler, P., Klein, C., Gevaert, K., Verstreken, P. and De Strooper, B. (2014) 'PINK1 loss-of-function mutations affect mitochondrial complex I activity via NdufA10 ubiquinone uncoupling', *Science*, 344(6180), pp. 203-7.

Morales, C.P., Holt, S.E., Ouellette, M., Kaur, K.J., Yan, Y., Wilson, K.S., White, M.A., Wright, W.E. and Shay, J.W. (1999) 'Absence of cancer-associated changes in human fibroblasts immortalized with telomerase', *Nat Genet*, 21(1), pp. 115-8.

Moreno-Navarrete, J.M., Ortega, F.J., Rodriguez-Hermosa, J.I., Sabater, M., Pardo, G., Ricart, W. and Fernandez-Real, J.M. (2011) 'OCT1 Expression in adipocytes could contribute to increased metformin action in obese subjects', *Diabetes*, 60(1), pp. 168-76.

Mortiboys, H., Thomas, K.J., Koopman, W.J., Klaffke, S., Abou-Sleiman, P., Olpin, S., Wood, N.W., Willems, P.H., Smeitink, J.A., Cookson, M.R. and Bandmann, O. (2008) 'Mitochondrial function and morphology are impaired in parkin-mutant fibroblasts', *Ann Neurol*, 64(5), pp. 555-65. Mracek, T., Drahota, Z. and Houstek, J. (2013) 'The function and the role of the mitochondrial

glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in mammalian tissues', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1827(3), pp. 401-10.

Muller, F.L., Liu, Y. and Van Remmen, H. (2004) 'Complex III releases superoxide to both sides of the inner mitochondrial membrane', *J Biol Chem*, 279(47), pp. 49064-73.

Muller, J., Lips, K.S., Metzner, L., Neubert, R.H., Koepsell, H. and Brandsch, M. (2005) 'Drug specificity and intestinal membrane localization of human organic cation transporters (OCT)', *Biochem Pharmacol*, 70(12), pp. 1851-60.

Munro, J., Barr, N.I., Ireland, H., Morrison, V. and Parkinson, E.K. (2004) 'Histone deacetylase inhibitors induce a senescence-like state in human cells by a p16-dependent mechanism that is independent of a mitotic clock', *Exp Cell Res*, 295(2), pp. 525-38.

Murphy, M.P. (2009) 'How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species', *Biochem J*, 417(1), pp. 1-13.

Musi, N., Valentine, J.M., Sickora, K.R., Baeuerle, E., Thompson, C.S., Shen, Q. and Orr, M.E. (2018) 'Tau protein aggregation is associated with cellular senescence in the brain', *Aging Cell*, 17(6), p. e12840.

Nacarelli, T., Lau, L., Fukumoto, T., Zundell, J., Fatkhutdinov, N., Wu, S., Aird, K.M., Iwasaki, O., Kossenkov, A.V., Schultz, D., Noma, K.I., Baur, J.A., Schug, Z., Tang, H.Y., Speicher, D.W., David, G. and Zhang, R. (2019) 'NAD(+) metabolism governs the proinflammatory senescence-associated secretome', *Nat Cell Biol*, 21(3), pp. 397-407.

Nakamura, A.J., Rao, V.A., Pommier, Y. and Bonner, W.M. (2010) 'The complexity of phosphorylated H2AX foci formation and DNA repair assembly at DNA double-strand breaks', *Cell Cycle*, 9(2), pp. 389-97.

Narendra, D., Tanaka, A., Suen, D.F. and Youle, R.J. (2008) 'Parkin is recruited selectively to impaired mitochondria and promotes their autophagy', *J Cell Biol*, 183(5), pp. 795-803.

Narendra, D.P., Jin, S.M., Tanaka, A., Suen, D.F., Gautier, C.A., Shen, J., Cookson, M.R. and Youle, R.J. (2010) 'PINK1 is selectively stabilized on impaired mitochondria to activate Parkin', *PLoS Biol*, 8(1), p. e1000298.

Narita, M., Nunez, S., Heard, E., Narita, M., Lin, A.W., Hearn, S.A., Spector, D.L., Hannon, G.J. and Lowe, S.W. (2003) 'Rb-mediated heterochromatin formation and silencing of E2F target genes during cellular senescence', *Cell*, 113(6), pp. 703-16.

Nattrass, M. and Alberti, K.G. (1978) 'Biguanides', *Diabetologia*, 14(2), pp. 71-4. Navarro, A. and Boveris, A. (2007) 'Brain mitochondrial dysfunction in aging: conditions that improve survival, neurological performance and mitochondrial function', *Front Biosci*, 12, pp. 1154-63.

Nechushtan, A., Smith, C.L., Lamensdorf, I., Yoon, S.H. and Youle, R.J. (2001) 'Bax and Bak coalesce into novel mitochondria-associated clusters during apoptosis', *J Cell Biol*, 153(6), pp. 1265-76.

Nelson, G., Kucheryavenko, O., Wordsworth, J. and von Zglinicki, T. (2018) 'The senescent bystander effect is caused by ROS-activated NF-kappaB signalling', *Mech Ageing Dev*, 170, pp. 30-36.

Nelson, G., Wordsworth, J., Wang, C., Jurk, D., Lawless, C., Martin-Ruiz, C. and von Zglinicki, T. (2012) 'A senescent cell bystander effect: senescence-induced senescence', *Aging Cell*, 11(2), pp. 345-9.

Neupert, W. and Herrmann, J.M. (2007) 'Translocation of proteins into mitochondria', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 76, pp. 723-49.

North, B.J. and Sinclair, D.A. (2012) 'The intersection between aging and cardiovascular disease', *Circ Res*, 110(8), pp. 1097-108.

Novais, E.J., Tran, V.A., Johnston, S.N., Darris, K.R., Roupas, A.J., Sessions, G.A., Shapiro, I.M., Diekman, B.O. and Risbud, M.V. (2021) 'Long-term treatment with senolytic drugs Dasatinib and Quercetin ameliorates age-dependent intervertebral disc degeneration in mice', *Nat Commun*, 12(1), p. 5213.

Nuskova, H., Vrbacky, M., Drahota, Z. and Houstek, J. (2010) 'Cyanide inhibition and pyruvateinduced recovery of cytochrome c oxidase', *J Bioenerg Biomembr*, 42(5), pp. 395-403.

Office for National Statistics, U. (2021) *Overview of the UK population: January 2021*. ons.gov.uk: Office for National Statistics. [Online]. Available at:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populatione stimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulation/january2021.

Ogrodnik, M., Miwa, S., Tchkonia, T., Tiniakos, D., Wilson, C.L., Lahat, A., Day, C.P., Burt, A., Palmer, A., Anstee, Q.M., Grellscheid, S.N., Hoeijmakers, J.H.J., Barnhoorn, S., Mann, D.A., Bird, T.G., Vermeij, W.P., Kirkland, J.L., Passos, J.F., von Zglinicki, T. and Jurk, D. (2017) 'Cellular senescence drives age-dependent hepatic steatosis', *Nat Commun*, 8, p. 15691.

Ogryzko, V.V., Hirai, T.H., Russanova, V.R., Barbie, D.A. and Howard, B.H. (1996) 'Human fibroblast commitment to a senescence-like state in response to histone deacetylase inhibitors is cell cycle dependent', *Mol Cell Biol*, 16(9), pp. 5210-8.

Ohanna, M., Giuliano, S., Bonet, C., Imbert, V., Hofman, V., Zangari, J., Bille, K., Robert, C., Bressac-de Paillerets, B., Hofman, P., Rocchi, S., Peyron, J.F., Lacour, J.P., Ballotti, R. and Bertolotto, C. (2011) 'Senescent cells develop a PARP-1 and nuclear factor-{kappa}B-associated secretome (PNAS)', *Genes Dev*, 25(12), pp. 1245-61.

Ohtani, N., Zebedee, Z., Huot, T.J., Stinson, J.A., Sugimoto, M., Ohashi, Y., Sharrocks, A.D., Peters, G. and Hara, E. (2001) 'Opposing effects of Ets and Id proteins on p16INK4a expression during cellular senescence', *Nature*, 409(6823), pp. 1067-70.

Orjalo, A.V., Bhaumik, D., Gengler, B.K., Scott, G.K. and Campisi, J. (2009) 'Cell surface-bound IL-1alpha is an upstream regulator of the senescence-associated IL-6/IL-8 cytokine network', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(40), pp. 17031-6.

Orr, A.L., Quinlan, C.L., Perevoshchikova, I.V. and Brand, M.D. (2012) 'A refined analysis of superoxide production by mitochondrial sn-glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase', *J Biol Chem*, 287(51), pp. 42921-35.

Orr, A.L., Vargas, L., Turk, C.N., Baaten, J.E., Matzen, J.T., Dardov, V.J., Attle, S.J., Li, J., Quackenbush, D.C., Goncalves, R.L., Perevoshchikova, I.V., Petrassi, H.M., Meeusen, S.L., Ainscow, E.K. and Brand, M.D. (2015) 'Suppressors of superoxide production from mitochondrial complex III', *Nat Chem Biol*, 11(11), pp. 834-6.

Ortiz-Montero, P., Londono-Vallejo, A. and Vernot, J.P. (2017) 'Senescence-associated IL-6 and IL-8 cytokines induce a self- and cross-reinforced senescence/inflammatory milieu strengthening tumorigenic capabilities in the MCF-7 breast cancer cell line', *Cell Commun Signal*, 15(1), p. 17. Osellame, L.D., Blacker, T.S. and Duchen, M.R. (2012) 'Cellular and molecular mechanisms of mitochondrial function', *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 26(6), pp. 711-23.

Osorio, F.G., Barcena, C., Soria-Valles, C., Ramsay, A.J., de Carlos, F., Cobo, J., Fueyo, A., Freije, J.M. and Lopez-Otin, C. (2012) 'Nuclear lamina defects cause ATM-dependent NF-kappaB activation and link accelerated aging to a systemic inflammatory response', *Genes Dev*, 26(20), pp. 2311-24.

Oubaha, M., Miloudi, K., Dejda, A., Guber, V., Mawambo, G., Germain, M.A., Bourdel, G., Popovic, N., Rezende, F.A., Kaufman, R.J., Mallette, F.A. and Sapieha, P. (2016) 'Senescence-associated secretory phenotype contributes to pathological angiogenesis in retinopathy', *Sci Transl Med*, 8(362), p. 362ra144.

Ovadya, Y., Landsberger, T., Leins, H., Vadai, E., Gal, H., Biran, A., Yosef, R., Sagiv, A., Agrawal, A., Shapira, A., Windheim, J., Tsoory, M., Schirmbeck, R., Amit, I., Geiger, H. and Krizhanovsky, V. (2018) 'Impaired immune surveillance accelerates accumulation of senescent cells and aging', *Nat Commun*, 9(1), p. 5435.

Owen, M.R., Doran, E. and Halestrap, A.P. (2000) 'Evidence that metformin exerts its antidiabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain', *Biochem J*, 348 Pt 3, pp. 607-14.

Owens, K.M., Aykin-Burns, N., Dayal, D., Coleman, M.C., Domann, F.E. and Spitz, D.R. (2012) 'Genomic instability induced by mutant succinate dehydrogenase subunit D (SDHD) is mediated by O2(-*) and H2O2', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 52(1), pp. 160-6.

Owusu-Ansah, E. and Banerjee, U. (2009) 'Reactive oxygen species prime Drosophila haematopoietic progenitors for differentiation', *Nature*, 461(7263), pp. 537-41.

Owusu-Ansah, E., Song, W. and Perrimon, N. (2013) 'Muscle mitohormesis promotes longevity via systemic repression of insulin signaling', *Cell*, 155(3), pp. 699-712.

Pallet, N. and Legendre, C. (2013) 'Adverse events associated with mTOR inhibitors', *Expert Opin Drug Saf*, 12(2), pp. 177-86.

Park, J., Lee, S.B., Lee, S., Kim, Y., Song, S., Kim, S., Bae, E., Kim, J., Shong, M., Kim, J.M. and Chung, J. (2006) 'Mitochondrial dysfunction in Drosophila PINK1 mutants is complemented by parkin', *Nature*, 441(7097), pp. 1157-61.

Park, J.H., Lee, N.K., Lim, H.J., Ji, S.T., Kim, Y.J., Jang, W.B., Kim, D.Y., Kang, S., Yun, J., Ha, J.S., Kim, H., Lee, D., Baek, S.H. and Kwon, S.M. (2020) 'Pharmacological inhibition of mTOR attenuates replicative cell senescence and improves cellular function via regulating the STAT3-PIM1 axis in human cardiac progenitor cells', *Exp Mol Med*, 52(4), pp. 615-628.

Park, K.S., Jo, I., Pak, K., Bae, S.W., Rhim, H., Suh, S.H., Park, J., Zhu, H., So, I. and Kim, K.W. (2002) 'FCCP depolarizes plasma membrane potential by activating proton and Na+ currents in bovine aortic endothelial cells', *Pflugers Arch*, 443(3), pp. 344-52.

Parone, P.A., Da Cruz, S., Tondera, D., Mattenberger, Y., James, D.I., Maechler, P., Barja, F. and Martinou, J.C. (2008) 'Preventing mitochondrial fission impairs mitochondrial function and leads to loss of mitochondrial DNA', *PLoS One*, 3(9), p. e3257.

Parrinello, S., Samper, E., Krtolica, A., Goldstein, J., Melov, S. and Campisi, J. (2003) 'Oxygen sensitivity severely limits the replicative lifespan of murine fibroblasts', *Nat Cell Biol*, 5(8), pp. 741-7.

Passos, J.F., Nelson, G., Wang, C., Richter, T., Simillion, C., Proctor, C.J., Miwa, S., Olijslagers, S., Hallinan, J., Wipat, A., Saretzki, G., Rudolph, K.L., Kirkwood, T.B. and von Zglinicki, T. (2010) 'Feedback between p21 and reactive oxygen production is necessary for cell senescence', *Mol Syst Biol*, 6, p. 347.

Passos, J.F., Saretzki, G., Ahmed, S., Nelson, G., Richter, T., Peters, H., Wappler, I., Birket, M.J., Harold, G., Schaeuble, K., Birch-Machin, M.A., Kirkwood, T.B. and von Zglinicki, T. (2007) 'Mitochondrial dysfunction accounts for the stochastic heterogeneity in telomere-dependent senescence', *PLoS Biol*, 5(5), p. e110.

Pathak, R.U., Soujanya, M. and Mishra, R.K. (2021) 'Deterioration of nuclear morphology and architecture: A hallmark of senescence and aging', *Ageing Res Rev*, 67, p. 101264.

Pecinova, A., Brazdova, A., Drahota, Z., Houstek, J. and Mracek, T. (2019) 'Mitochondrial targets of metformin-Are they physiologically relevant?', *Biofactors*, 45(5), pp. 703-711.

Peeper, D.S., Dannenberg, J.H., Douma, S., te Riele, H. and Bernards, R. (2001) 'Escape from premature senescence is not sufficient for oncogenic transformation by Ras', *Nat Cell Biol*, 3(2), pp. 198-203.

Peilin, W., Songsong, T., Chengyu, Z., Zhi, C., Chunhui, M., Yinxian, Y., Lei, Z., Min, M., Zongyi, W., Mengkai, Y., Jing, X., Tao, Z., Zhuoying, W., Fei, Y. and Chengqing, Y. (2019) 'Directed elimination of senescent cells attenuates development of osteoarthritis by inhibition of c-IAP and XIAP', *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*, 1865(10), pp. 2618-2632.

Pepelina, T.Y., Chertkova, R.V., Ostroverkhova, T.V., Dolgikh, D.A., Kirpichnikov, M.P., Grivennikova, V.G. and Vinogradov, A.D. (2009) 'Site-directed mutagenesis of cytochrome c: reactions with respiratory chain components and superoxide radical', *Biochemistry (Mosc)*, 74(6), pp. 625-32.

Perez, V.I., Van Remmen, H., Bokov, A., Epstein, C.J., Vijg, J. and Richardson, A. (2009) 'The overexpression of major antioxidant enzymes does not extend the lifespan of mice', *Aging Cell*, 8(1), pp. 73-5.

Pesta, D. and Gnaiger, E. (2012) 'High-resolution respirometry: OXPHOS protocols for human cells and permeabilized fibers from small biopsies of human muscle', *Methods Mol Biol*, 810, pp. 25-58.

Peyton, K.J., Liu, X.M., Yu, Y., Yates, B. and Durante, W. (2012) 'Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase inhibits the proliferation of human endothelial cells', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 342(3), pp. 827-34.

Philipot, D., Guerit, D., Platano, D., Chuchana, P., Olivotto, E., Espinoza, F., Dorandeu, A., Pers, Y.M., Piette, J., Borzi, R.M., Jorgensen, C., Noel, D. and Brondello, J.M. (2014) 'p16INK4a and its regulator miR-24 link senescence and chondrocyte terminal differentiation-associated matrix remodeling in osteoarthritis', *Arthritis Res Ther*, 16(1), p. R58.

Pinti, M., Cevenini, E., Nasi, M., De Biasi, S., Salvioli, S., Monti, D., Benatti, S., Gibellini, L., Cotichini, R., Stazi, M.A., Trenti, T., Franceschi, C. and Cossarizza, A. (2014) 'Circulating mitochondrial DNA increases with age and is a familiar trait: Implications for "inflamm-aging", *Eur J Immunol*, 44(5), pp. 1552-62.

Pogson, J.H., Ivatt, R.M., Sanchez-Martinez, A., Tufi, R., Wilson, E., Mortiboys, H. and Whitworth, A.J. (2014) 'The complex I subunit NDUFA10 selectively rescues Drosophila pink1 mutants through a mechanism independent of mitophagy', *PLoS Genet*, 10(11), p. e1004815.

Pospelova, T.V., Leontieva, O.V., Bykova, T.V., Zubova, S.G., Pospelov, V.A. and Blagosklonny, M.V. (2012) 'Suppression of replicative senescence by rapamycin in rodent embryonic cells', *Cell Cycle*, 11(12), pp. 2402-7.

Prag, H.A., Pala, L., Kula-Alwar, D., Mulvey, J.F., Luping, D., Beach, T.E., Booty, L.M., Hall, A.R., Logan, A., Sauchanka, V., Caldwell, S.T., Robb, E.L., James, A.M., Xu, Z., Saeb-Parsy, K., Hartley, R.C., Murphy, M.P. and Krieg, T. (2020) 'Ester Prodrugs of Malonate with Enhanced Intracellular Delivery Protect Against Cardiac Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury In Vivo', *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther*. Quijano, C., Cao, L., Fergusson, M.M., Romero, H., Liu, J., Gutkind, S., Rovira, II, Mohney, R.P., Karoly, E.D. and Finkel, T. (2012) 'Oncogene-induced senescence results in marked metabolic and bioenergetic alterations', *Cell Cycle*, 11(7), pp. 1383-92.

Quinlan, C.L., Orr, A.L., Perevoshchikova, I.V., Treberg, J.R., Ackrell, B.A. and Brand, M.D. (2012) 'Mitochondrial complex II can generate reactive oxygen species at high rates in both the forward and reverse reactions', *J Biol Chem*, 287(32), pp. 27255-64.

Quinlan, C.L., Perevoshchikova, I.V., Hey-Mogensen, M., Orr, A.L. and Brand, M.D. (2013) 'Sites of reactive oxygen species generation by mitochondria oxidizing different substrates', *Redox Biol*, 1, pp. 304-12.

Rafikov, R., Sun, X., Rafikova, O., Louise Meadows, M., Desai, A.A., Khalpey, Z., Yuan, J.X., Fineman, J.R. and Black, S.M. (2015) 'Complex I dysfunction underlies the glycolytic switch in pulmonary hypertensive smooth muscle cells', *Redox Biol*, 6, pp. 278-286.

Ralph, S.J., Moreno-Sanchez, R., Neuzil, J. and Rodriguez-Enriquez, S. (2011) 'Inhibitors of succinate: quinone reductase/Complex II regulate production of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and protect normal cells from ischemic damage but induce specific cancer cell death', *Pharm Res*, 28(11), pp. 2695-730.

Rambold, A.S., Kostelecky, B., Elia, N. and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2011) 'Tubular network formation protects mitochondria from autophagosomal degradation during nutrient starvation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(25), pp. 10190-5.

Rayess, H., Wang, M.B. and Srivatsan, E.S. (2012) 'Cellular senescence and tumor suppressor gene p16', *Int J Cancer*, 130(8), pp. 1715-25.

Rebbaa, A., Zheng, X., Chou, P.M. and Mirkin, B.L. (2003) 'Caspase inhibition switches doxorubicin-induced apoptosis to senescence', *Oncogene*, 22(18), pp. 2805-11.

Reczek, C.R. and Chandel, N.S. (2015) 'ROS-dependent signal transduction', *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 33, pp. 8-13.

Reda, T., Barker, C.D. and Hirst, J. (2008) 'Reduction of the iron-sulfur clusters in mitochondrial NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) by EuII-DTPA, a very low potential reductant', *Biochemistry*, 47(34), pp. 8885-93.

Reichert, S. and Stier, A. (2017) 'Does oxidative stress shorten telomeres in vivo? A review', *Biol Lett*, 13(12).

Reily, C., Mitchell, T., Chacko, B.K., Benavides, G., Murphy, M.P. and Darley-Usmar, V. (2013) 'Mitochondrially targeted compounds and their impact on cellular bioenergetics', *Redox Biol*, 1(1), pp. 86-93.

Reznick, R.M., Zong, H., Li, J., Morino, K., Moore, I.K., Yu, H.J., Liu, Z.X., Dong, J., Mustard, K.J., Hawley, S.A., Befroy, D., Pypaert, M., Hardie, D.G., Young, L.H. and Shulman, G.I. (2007) 'Aging-associated reductions in AMP-activated protein kinase activity and mitochondrial biogenesis', *Cell Metab*, 5(2), pp. 151-6.

Rhee, S.G. (2006) 'Cell signaling. H2O2, a necessary evil for cell signaling', *Science*, 312(5782), pp. 1882-3.

Robb, E.L., Gawel, J.M., Aksentijevic, D., Cocheme, H.M., Stewart, T.S., Shchepinova, M.M., Qiang, H., Prime, T.A., Bright, T.P., James, A.M., Shattock, M.J., Senn, H.M., Hartley, R.C. and Murphy, M.P. (2015) 'Selective superoxide generation within mitochondria by the targeted redox cycler MitoParaquat', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 89, pp. 883-94.

Robb, E.L., Hall, A.R., Prime, T.A., Eaton, S., Szibor, M., Viscomi, C., James, A.M. and Murphy, M.P. (2018) 'Control of mitochondrial superoxide production by reverse electron transport at complex I', *J Biol Chem*, 293(25), pp. 9869-9879.

Roberson, R.S., Kussick, S.J., Vallieres, E., Chen, S.Y. and Wu, D.Y. (2005) 'Escape from therapyinduced accelerated cellular senescence in p53-null lung cancer cells and in human lung cancers', *Cancer Res*, 65(7), pp. 2795-803.

Roca-Cusachs, P., Alcaraz, J., Sunyer, R., Samitier, J., Farre, R. and Navajas, D. (2008) 'Micropatterning of single endothelial cell shape reveals a tight coupling between nuclear volume in G1 and proliferation', *Biophys J*, 94(12), pp. 4984-95.

Rodier, F., Coppe, J.P., Patil, C.K., Hoeijmakers, W.A., Munoz, D.P., Raza, S.R., Freund, A., Campeau, E., Davalos, A.R. and Campisi, J. (2009) 'Persistent DNA damage signalling triggers senescence-associated inflammatory cytokine secretion', *Nat Cell Biol*, 11(8), pp. 973-9. Roninson, I.B. (2003) 'Tumor cell senescence in cancer treatment', *Cancer Res*, 63(11), pp. 2705-15.

Roos, C.M., Zhang, B., Palmer, A.K., Ogrodnik, M.B., Pirtskhalava, T., Thalji, N.M., Hagler, M., Jurk, D., Smith, L.A., Casaclang-Verzosa, G., Zhu, Y., Schafer, M.J., Tchkonia, T., Kirkland, J.L. and Miller, J.D. (2016) 'Chronic senolytic treatment alleviates established vasomotor dysfunction in aged or atherosclerotic mice', *Aging Cell*, 15(5), pp. 973-7.

Rottenberg, H. and Hoek, J.B. (2017) 'The path from mitochondrial ROS to aging runs through the mitochondrial permeability transition pore', *Aging Cell*, 16(5), pp. 943-955.

Ruzicka, F.J. and Beinert, H. (1977) 'A new iron-sulfur flavoprotein of the respiratory chain. A component of the fatty acid beta oxidation pathway', *J Biol Chem*, 252(23), pp. 8440-5.

Rygiel, K.A., Grady, J.P. and Turnbull, D.M. (2014) 'Respiratory chain deficiency in aged spinal motor neurons', *Neurobiol Aging*, 35(10), pp. 2230-8.

Sabatini, D.M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Lui, M., Tempst, P. and Snyder, S.H. (1994) 'RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycin-dependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs', *Cell*, 78(1), pp. 35-43.

Sabers, C.J., Martin, M.M., Brunn, G.J., Williams, J.M., Dumont, F.J., Wiederrecht, G. and Abraham, R.T. (1995) 'Isolation of a protein target of the FKBP12-rapamycin complex in mammalian cells', *J Biol Chem*, 270(2), pp. 815-22.

Sahni, A. and Francis, C.W. (2004) 'Stimulation of endothelial cell proliferation by FGF-2 in the presence of fibrinogen requires alphavbeta3', *Blood*, 104(12), pp. 3635-41.

Saisho, Y. (2015) 'Metformin and Inflammation: Its Potential Beyond Glucose-lowering Effect', *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*, 15(3), pp. 196-205.

Salminen, A., Kauppinen, A., Suuronen, T. and Kaarniranta, K. (2008) 'SIRT1 longevity factor suppresses NF-kappaB -driven immune responses: regulation of aging via NF-kappaB acetylation?', *Bioessays*, 30(10), pp. 939-42.

Sang, L., Coller, H.A. and Roberts, J.M. (2008) 'Control of the reversibility of cellular quiescence by the transcriptional repressor HES1', *Science*, 321(5892), pp. 1095-100.

Sanz, A. (2016) 'Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species: Do they extend or shorten animal lifespan?', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1857(8), pp. 1116-1126.

Sanz, A., Soikkeli, M., Portero-Otin, M., Wilson, A., Kemppainen, E., McIlroy, G., Ellila, S., Kemppainen, K.K., Tuomela, T., Lakanmaa, M., Kiviranta, E., Stefanatos, R., Dufour, E., Hutz, B., Naudi, A., Jove, M., Zeb, A., Vartiainen, S., Matsuno-Yagi, A., Yagi, T., Rustin, P., Pamplona, R. and Jacobs, H.T. (2010) 'Expression of the yeast NADH dehydrogenase Ndi1 in Drosophila confers increased lifespan independently of dietary restriction', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(20), pp. 9105-10.

Saretzki, G., Murphy, M.P. and von Zglinicki, T. (2003) 'MitoQ counteracts telomere shortening and elongates lifespan of fibroblasts under mild oxidative stress', *Aging Cell*, 2(2), pp. 141-3. Sasaki, N., Itakura, Y. and Toyoda, M. (2020) 'Rapamycin promotes endothelial-mesenchymal transition during stress-induced premature senescence through the activation of autophagy', *Cell Commun Signal*, 18(1), p. 43.

Savic, V., Yin, B., Maas, N.L., Bredemeyer, A.L., Carpenter, A.C., Helmink, B.A., Yang-lott, K.S., Sleckman, B.P. and Bassing, C.H. (2009) 'Formation of dynamic gamma-H2AX domains along broken DNA strands is distinctly regulated by ATM and MDC1 and dependent upon H2AX densities in chromatin', *Mol Cell*, 34(3), pp. 298-310.

Scaffidi, P. and Misteli, T. (2005) 'Reversal of the cellular phenotype in the premature aging disease Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome', *Nat Med*, 11(4), pp. 440-5.

Schafer, G., Wegener, C., Portenhauser, R. and Bojanovski, D. (1969) 'Diazoxide, an inhibitor of succinate oxidation', *Biochem Pharmacol*, 18(10), pp. 2678-81.

Schafer, M.J., White, T.A., lijima, K., Haak, A.J., Ligresti, G., Atkinson, E.J., Oberg, A.L., Birch, J., Salmonowicz, H., Zhu, Y., Mazula, D.L., Brooks, R.W., Fuhrmann-Stroissnigg, H., Pirtskhalava, T., Prakash, Y.S., Tchkonia, T., Robbins, P.D., Aubry, M.C., Passos, J.F., Kirkland, J.L., Tschumperlin, D.J., Kita, H. and LeBrasseur, N.K. (2017) 'Cellular senescence mediates fibrotic pulmonary disease', *Nat Commun*, 8, p. 14532.

Schieke, S.M., Phillips, D., McCoy, J.P., Jr., Aponte, A.M., Shen, R.F., Balaban, R.S. and Finkel, T. (2006) 'The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway regulates mitochondrial oxygen consumption and oxidative capacity', *J Biol Chem*, 281(37), pp. 27643-52.

Scialo, F., Fernandez-Ayala, D.J. and Sanz, A. (2017) 'Role of Mitochondrial Reverse Electron Transport in ROS Signaling: Potential Roles in Health and Disease', *Front Physiol*, 8, p. 428. Scialo, F., Sriram, A., Fernandez-Ayala, D., Gubina, N., Lohmus, M., Nelson, G., Logan, A., Cooper, H.M., Navas, P., Enriquez, J.A., Murphy, M.P. and Sanz, A. (2016) 'Mitochondrial ROS Produced via Reverse Electron Transport Extend Animal Lifespan', *Cell Metab*, 23(4), pp. 725-34. Scialo, F., Sriram, A., Stefanatos, R., Spriggs, R.V., Loh, S.H.Y., Martins, L.M. and Sanz, A. (2020)

'Mitochondrial complex I derived ROS regulate stress adaptation in Drosophila melanogaster', *Redox Biol*, 32, p. 101450.

Scotland, S., Saland, E., Skuli, N., de Toni, F., Boutzen, H., Micklow, E., Senegas, I., Peyraud, R., Peyriga, L., Theodoro, F., Dumon, E., Martineau, Y., Danet-Desnoyers, G., Bono, F., Rocher, C., Levade, T., Manenti, S., Junot, C., Portais, J.C., Alet, N., Recher, C., Selak, M.A., Carroll, M. and Sarry, J.E. (2013) 'Mitochondrial energetic and AKT status mediate metabolic effects and apoptosis of metformin in human leukemic cells', *Leukemia*, 27(11), pp. 2129-38.

Sedelnikova, O.A., Horikawa, I., Zimonjic, D.B., Popescu, N.C., Bonner, W.M. and Barrett, J.C. (2004) 'Senescing human cells and ageing mice accumulate DNA lesions with unrepairable double-strand breaks', *Nat Cell Biol*, 6(2), pp. 168-70.

Seluanov, A., Gorbunova, V., Falcovitz, A., Sigal, A., Milyavsky, M., Zurer, I., Shohat, G., Goldfinger, N. and Rotter, V. (2001) 'Change of the death pathway in senescent human fibroblasts in response to DNA damage is caused by an inability to stabilize p53', *Mol Cell Biol*, 21(5), pp. 1552-64.

Sena, L.A. and Chandel, N.S. (2012) 'Physiological roles of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species', *Mol Cell*, 48(2), pp. 158-67.

Serrano, M., Lin, A.W., McCurrach, M.E., Beach, D. and Lowe, S.W. (1997) 'Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a', *Cell*, 88(5), pp. 593-602.

Shao, L., Feng, W., Li, H., Gardner, D., Luo, Y., Wang, Y., Liu, L., Meng, A., Sharpless, N.E. and Zhou, D. (2014) 'Total body irradiation causes long-term mouse BM injury via induction of HSC premature senescence in an Ink4a- and Arf-independent manner', *Blood*, 123(20), pp. 3105-15. Sharpless, N.E., Bardeesy, N., Lee, K.H., Carrasco, D., Castrillon, D.H., Aguirre, A.J., Wu, E.A., Horner, J.W. and DePinho, R.A. (2001) 'Loss of p16Ink4a with retention of p19Arf predisposes mice to tumorigenesis', *Nature*, 413(6851), pp. 86-91.

Shaw, R.J., Lamia, K.A., Vasquez, D., Koo, S.H., Bardeesy, N., Depinho, R.A., Montminy, M. and Cantley, L.C. (2005) 'The kinase LKB1 mediates glucose homeostasis in liver and therapeutic effects of metformin', *Science*, 310(5754), pp. 1642-6.

Sherer, T.B., Betarbet, R., Testa, C.M., Seo, B.B., Richardson, J.R., Kim, J.H., Miller, G.W., Yagi, T., Matsuno-Yagi, A. and Greenamyre, J.T. (2003) 'Mechanism of toxicity in rotenone models of Parkinson's disease', *J Neurosci*, 23(34), pp. 10756-64.

Shill, D.D., Southern, W.M., Willingham, T.B., Lansford, K.A., McCully, K.K. and Jenkins, N.T. (2016) 'Mitochondria-specific antioxidant supplementation does not influence endurance exercise training-induced adaptations in circulating angiogenic cells, skeletal muscle oxidative capacity or maximal oxygen uptake', *J Physiol*, 594(23), pp. 7005-7014.

Siman, R., Cocca, R. and Dong, Y. (2015) 'The mTOR Inhibitor Rapamycin Mitigates Perforant Pathway Neurodegeneration and Synapse Loss in a Mouse Model of Early-Stage Alzheimer-Type Tauopathy', *PLoS One*, 10(11), p. e0142340.

Singh, A.K., Dhaunsi, G.S., Gupta, M.P., Orak, J.K., Asayama, K. and Singh, I. (1994) 'Demonstration of glutathione peroxidase in rat liver peroxisomes and its intraorganellar distribution', *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 315(2), pp. 331-8.

Skinner, J., Bounacer, A., Bond, J.A., Haughton, M.F., deMicco, C. and Wynford-Thomas, D. (2004) 'Opposing effects of mutant ras oncoprotein on human fibroblast and epithelial cell proliferation: implications for models of human tumorigenesis', *Oncogene*, 23(35), pp. 5994-9. Smogorzewska, A. and de Lange, T. (2002) 'Different telomere damage signaling pathways in human and mouse cells', *EMBO J*, 21(16), pp. 4338-48.

Snow, B.J., Rolfe, F.L., Lockhart, M.M., Frampton, C.M., O'Sullivan, J.D., Fung, V., Smith, R.A., Murphy, M.P., Taylor, K.M. and Protect Study, G. (2010) 'A double-blind, placebo-controlled study to assess the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ as a disease-modifying therapy in Parkinson's disease', *Mov Disord*, 25(11), pp. 1670-4.

Sousa-Victor, P., Garcia-Prat, L., Serrano, A.L., Perdiguero, E. and Munoz-Canoves, P. (2015) 'Muscle stem cell aging: regulation and rejuvenation', *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 26(6), pp. 287-96.

Souza, A.C., Machado, F.S., Celes, M.R., Faria, G., Rocha, L.B., Silva, J.S. and Rossi, M.A. (2005) 'Mitochondrial damage as an early event of monensin-induced cell injury in cultured fibroblasts L929', *J Vet Med A Physiol Pathol Clin Med*, 52(5), pp. 230-7.

Sprenger, H.G., MacVicar, T., Bahat, A., Fiedler, K.U., Hermans, S., Ehrentraut, D., Ried, K., Milenkovic, D., Bonekamp, N., Larsson, N.G., Nolte, H., Giavalisco, P. and Langer, T. (2021) 'Cellular pyrimidine imbalance triggers mitochondrial DNA-dependent innate immunity', *Nat Metab*, 3(5), pp. 636-650.

Stadlmann, S., Rieger, G., Amberger, A., Kuznetsov, A.V., Margreiter, R. and Gnaiger, E. (2002) 'H2O2-mediated oxidative stress versus cold ischemia-reperfusion: mitochondrial respiratory defects in cultured human endothelial cells', *Transplantation*, 74(12), pp. 1800-3.

Stanley, A. and Osler, T. (2001) 'Senescence and the healing rates of venous ulcers', *J Vasc Surg*, 33(6), pp. 1206-11.

Stefanatos, R. and Sanz, A. (2011) 'Mitochondrial complex I: a central regulator of the aging process', *Cell Cycle*, 10(10), pp. 1528-32.

Stein, G.H. and Dulic, V. (1995) 'Origins of G1 arrest in senescent human fibroblasts', *Bioessays*, 17(6), pp. 537-43.

Steven, S., Frenis, K., Oelze, M., Kalinovic, S., Kuntic, M., Bayo Jimenez, M.T., Vujacic-Mirski, K., Helmstadter, J., Kroller-Schon, S., Munzel, T. and Daiber, A. (2019) 'Vascular Inflammation and Oxidative Stress: Major Triggers for Cardiovascular Disease', *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2019, p. 7092151.

Stockl, P., Hutter, E., Zwerschke, W. and Jansen-Durr, P. (2006) 'Sustained inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation impairs cell proliferation and induces premature senescence in human fibroblasts', *Exp Gerontol*, 41(7), pp. 674-82.

Stockl, P., Zankl, C., Hutter, E., Unterluggauer, H., Laun, P., Heeren, G., Bogengruber, E., Herndler-Brandstetter, D., Breitenbach, M. and Jansen-Durr, P. (2007) 'Partial uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation induces premature senescence in human fibroblasts and yeast mother cells', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 43(6), pp. 947-58.

Stojakovic, A., Trushin, S., Sheu, A., Khalili, L., Chang, S.Y., Li, X., Christensen, T., Salisbury, J.L., Geroux, R.E., Gateno, B., Flannery, P.J., Dehankar, M., Funk, C.C., Wilkins, J., Stepanova, A., O'Hagan, T., Galkin, A., Nesbitt, J., Zhu, X., Tripathi, U., Macura, S., Tchkonia, T., Pirtskhalava, T., Kirkland, J.L., Kudgus, R.A., Schoon, R.A., Reid, J.M., Yamazaki, Y., Kanekiyo, T., Zhang, S., Nemutlu, E., Dzeja, P., Jaspersen, A., Kwon, Y.I.C., Lee, M.K. and Trushina, E. (2021) 'Partial inhibition of mitochondrial complex I ameliorates Alzheimer's disease pathology and cognition in APP/PS1 female mice', *Commun Biol*, 4(1), p. 61.

Storozhuk, Y., Hopmans, S.N., Sanli, T., Barron, C., Tsiani, E., Cutz, J.C., Pond, G., Wright, J., Singh, G. and Tsakiridis, T. (2013) 'Metformin inhibits growth and enhances radiation response of nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) through ATM and AMPK', *Br J Cancer*, 108(10), pp. 2021-32. Su, L.J., Zhang, J.H., Gomez, H., Murugan, R., Hong, X., Xu, D., Jiang, F. and Peng, Z.Y. (2019) 'Reactive Oxygen Species-Induced Lipid Peroxidation in Apoptosis, Autophagy, and Ferroptosis', *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2019, p. 5080843.

Sugioka, R., Shimizu, S. and Tsujimoto, Y. (2004) 'Fzo1, a protein involved in mitochondrial fusion, inhibits apoptosis', *J Biol Chem*, 279(50), pp. 52726-34.

Sun, F., Huo, X., Zhai, Y., Wang, A., Xu, J., Su, D., Bartlam, M. and Rao, Z. (2005) 'Crystal structure of mitochondrial respiratory membrane protein complex II', *Cell*, 121(7), pp. 1043-57. Swanson, E.C., Manning, B., Zhang, H. and Lawrence, J.B. (2013) 'Higher-order unfolding of satellite heterochromatin is a consistent and early event in cell senescence', *J Cell Biol*, 203(6), pp. 929-42.

Takahashi, A., Ohtani, N., Yamakoshi, K., Iida, S., Tahara, H., Nakayama, K., Nakayama, K.I., Ide, T., Saya, H. and Hara, E. (2006) 'Mitogenic signalling and the p16INK4a-Rb pathway cooperate to enforce irreversible cellular senescence', *Nat Cell Biol*, 8(11), pp. 1291-7.

Takai, H., Smogorzewska, A. and de Lange, T. (2003) 'DNA damage foci at dysfunctional telomeres', *Curr Biol*, 13(17), pp. 1549-56.

Takashima, M., Ogawa, W., Hayashi, K., Inoue, H., Kinoshita, S., Okamoto, Y., Sakaue, H., Wataoka, Y., Emi, A., Senga, Y., Matsuki, Y., Watanabe, E., Hiramatsu, R. and Kasuga, M. (2010) 'Role of KLF15 in regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis and metformin action', *Diabetes*, 59(7), pp. 1608-15.

Terada, T., Therriault, J., Kang, M.S.P., Savard, M., Pascoal, T.A., Lussier, F., Tissot, C., Wang, Y.T., Benedet, A., Matsudaira, T., Bunai, T., Obi, T., Tsukada, H., Ouchi, Y. and Rosa-Neto, P. (2021) 'Mitochondrial complex I abnormalities is associated with tau and clinical symptoms in mild Alzheimer's disease', *Mol Neurodegener*, 16(1), p. 28.

Thangavel, C., Dean, J.L., Ertel, A., Knudsen, K.E., Aldaz, C.M., Witkiewicz, A.K., Clarke, R. and Knudsen, E.S. (2011) 'Therapeutically activating RB: reestablishing cell cycle control in endocrine therapy-resistant breast cancer', *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 18(3), pp. 333-45.

Thomas, R.R., Keeney, P.M. and Bennett, J.P. (2012) 'Impaired complex-I mitochondrial biogenesis in Parkinson disease frontal cortex', *J Parkinsons Dis*, 2(1), pp. 67-76.

Thompson, P.J., Shah, A., Ntranos, V., Van Gool, F., Atkinson, M. and Bhushan, A. (2019) 'Targeted Elimination of Senescent Beta Cells Prevents Type 1 Diabetes', *Cell Metab*, 29(5), pp. 1045-1060 e10.

Tiedge, M., Lortz, S., Munday, R. and Lenzen, S. (1998) 'Complementary action of antioxidant enzymes in the protection of bioengineered insulin-producing RINm5F cells against the toxicity of reactive oxygen species', *Diabetes*, 47(10), pp. 1578-85.

Tondera, D., Grandemange, S., Jourdain, A., Karbowski, M., Mattenberger, Y., Herzig, S., Da Cruz, S., Clerc, P., Raschke, I., Merkwirth, C., Ehses, S., Krause, F., Chan, D.C., Alexander, C., Bauer, C., Youle, R., Langer, T. and Martinou, J.C. (2009) 'SLP-2 is required for stress-induced mitochondrial hyperfusion', *EMBO J*, 28(11), pp. 1589-600.

Toyama, E.Q., Herzig, S., Courchet, J., Lewis, T.L., Jr., Loson, O.C., Hellberg, K., Young, N.P., Chen, H., Polleux, F., Chan, D.C. and Shaw, R.J. (2016) 'Metabolism. AMP-activated protein kinase mediates mitochondrial fission in response to energy stress', *Science*, 351(6270), pp. 275-281. Tremblay, F. and Marette, A. (2001) 'Amino acid and insulin signaling via the mTOR/p70 S6 kinase pathway. A negative feedback mechanism leading to insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells', *J Biol Chem*, 276(41), pp. 38052-60.

Trifunovic, A., Hansson, A., Wredenberg, A., Rovio, A.T., Dufour, E., Khvorostov, I., Spelbrink, J.N., Wibom, R., Jacobs, H.T. and Larsson, N.G. (2005) 'Somatic mtDNA mutations cause aging phenotypes without affecting reactive oxygen species production', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(50), pp. 17993-8.

Tsatmali, M., Walcott, E.C. and Crossin, K.L. (2005) 'Newborn neurons acquire high levels of reactive oxygen species and increased mitochondrial proteins upon differentiation from progenitors', *Brain Res*, 1040(1-2), pp. 137-50.

Turenne, G.A., Paul, P., Laflair, L. and Price, B.D. (2001) 'Activation of p53 transcriptional activity requires ATM's kinase domain and multiple N-terminal serine residues of p53', *Oncogene*, 20(37), pp. 5100-10.

Utsunomiya, H., Komatsu, N., Yoshimura, S., Tsutsumi, Y. and Watanabe, K. (1991) 'Exact ultrastructural localization of glutathione peroxidase in normal rat hepatocytes: advantages of microwave fixation', *J Histochem Cytochem*, 39(9), pp. 1167-74.

Van den Bossche, J., O'Neill, L.A. and Menon, D. (2017) 'Macrophage Immunometabolism: Where Are We (Going)?', *Trends Immunol*, 38(6), pp. 395-406.

van der Flier, W.M. and Scheltens, P. (2005) 'Epidemiology and risk factors of dementia', *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 76 Suppl 5, pp. v2-7.

Van Raamsdonk, J.M. and Hekimi, S. (2012) 'Superoxide dismutase is dispensable for normal animal lifespan', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(15), pp. 5785-90.

van Steensel, B., Smogorzewska, A. and de Lange, T. (1998) 'TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions', *Cell*, 92(3), pp. 401-13.

Vander Heiden, M.G., Cantley, L.C. and Thompson, C.B. (2009) 'Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation', *Science*, 324(5930), pp. 1029-33.

Vazquez-Martin, A., Oliveras-Ferraros, C., Cufi, S., Martin-Castillo, B. and Menendez, J.A. (2011) 'Metformin activates an ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM)/Chk2-regulated DNA damage-like response', *Cell Cycle*, 10(9), pp. 1499-501.

Vellai, T., Takacs-Vellai, K., Zhang, Y., Kovacs, A.L., Orosz, L. and Muller, F. (2003) 'Genetics: influence of TOR kinase on lifespan in C. elegans', *Nature*, 426(6967), p. 620.

Vicente-Gutierrez, C., Bonora, N., Bobo-Jimenez, V., Jimenez-Blasco, D., Lopez-Fabuel, I., Fernandez, E., Josephine, C., Bonvento, G., Enriquez, J.A., Almeida, A. and Bolanos, J.P. (2019) 'Astrocytic mitochondrial ROS modulate brain metabolism and mouse behaviour', *Nat Metab*, 1(2), pp. 201-211. Vijayachandra, K., Lee, J. and Glick, A.B. (2003) 'Smad3 regulates senescence and malignant conversion in a mouse multistage skin carcinogenesis model', *Cancer Res*, 63(13), pp. 3447-52. Viollet, B., Andreelli, F., Jorgensen, S.B., Perrin, C., Flamez, D., Mu, J., Wojtaszewski, J.F., Schuit, F.C., Birnbaum, M., Richter, E., Burcelin, R. and Vaulont, S. (2003) 'Physiological role of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK): insights from knockout mouse models', *Biochem Soc Trans*, 31(Pt 1), pp. 216-9.

Vogler, M., Hamali, H.A., Sun, X.M., Bampton, E.T., Dinsdale, D., Snowden, R.T., Dyer, M.J., Goodall, A.H. and Cohen, G.M. (2011) 'BCL2/BCL-X(L) inhibition induces apoptosis, disrupts cellular calcium homeostasis, and prevents platelet activation', *Blood*, 117(26), pp. 7145-54. von Zglinicki, T. (2002) 'Oxidative stress shortens telomeres', *Trends Biochem Sci*, 27(7), pp. 339-44.

Wallace, D.C. (2005) 'A mitochondrial paradigm of metabolic and degenerative diseases, aging, and cancer: a dawn for evolutionary medicine', *Annu Rev Genet*, 39, pp. 359-407.

Wang, C., Jurk, D., Maddick, M., Nelson, G., Martin-Ruiz, C. and von Zglinicki, T. (2009) 'DNA damage response and cellular senescence in tissues of aging mice', *Aging Cell*, 8(3), pp. 311-23. Wang, E., Wong, A. and Cortopassi, G. (1997) 'The rate of mitochondrial mutagenesis is faster in mice than humans', *Mutat Res*, 377(2), pp. 157-66.

Wang, R., Yu, Z., Sunchu, B., Shoaf, J., Dang, I., Zhao, S., Caples, K., Bradley, L., Beaver, L.M., Ho, E., Lohr, C.V. and Perez, V.I. (2017) 'Rapamycin inhibits the secretory phenotype of senescent cells by a Nrf2-independent mechanism', *Aging Cell*, 16(3), pp. 564-574.

Wang, X., Zou, L., Lu, T., Bao, S., Hurov, K.E., Hittelman, W.N., Elledge, S.J. and Li, L. (2006) 'Rad17 phosphorylation is required for claspin recruitment and Chk1 activation in response to replication stress', *Mol Cell*, 23(3), pp. 331-41.

Wang, Y., An, H., Liu, T., Qin, C., Sesaki, H., Guo, S., Radovick, S., Hussain, M., Maheshwari, A., Wondisford, F.E., O'Rourke, B. and He, L. (2019) 'Metformin Improves Mitochondrial Respiratory Activity through Activation of AMPK', *Cell Rep*, 29(6), pp. 1511-1523 e5.

Watson, M.A., Wong, H.S. and Brand, M.D. (2019) 'Use of S1QELs and S3QELs to link mitochondrial sites of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide generation to physiological and pathological outcomes', *Biochem Soc Trans*, 47(5), pp. 1461-1469.

Weichhart, T. (2018) 'mTOR as Regulator of Lifespan, Aging, and Cellular Senescence: A Mini-Review', *Gerontology*, 64(2), pp. 127-134.

West, A.P., Khoury-Hanold, W., Staron, M., Tal, M.C., Pineda, C.M., Lang, S.M., Bestwick, M., Duguay, B.A., Raimundo, N., MacDuff, D.A., Kaech, S.M., Smiley, J.R., Means, R.E., Iwasaki, A. and Shadel, G.S. (2015) 'Mitochondrial DNA stress primes the antiviral innate immune response', *Nature*, 520(7548), pp. 553-7.

Wheaton, W.W., Weinberg, S.E., Hamanaka, R.B., Soberanes, S., Sullivan, L.B., Anso, E., Glasauer, A., Dufour, E., Mutlu, G.M., Budigner, G.S. and Chandel, N.S. (2014) 'Metformin inhibits mitochondrial complex I of cancer cells to reduce tumorigenesis', *Elife*, 3, p. e02242. Wiemann, S.U., Satyanarayana, A., Tsahuridu, M., Tillmann, H.L., Zender, L., Klempnauer, J., Flemming, P., Franco, S., Blasco, M.A., Manns, M.P. and Rudolph, K.L. (2002) 'Hepatocyte

telomere shortening and senescence are general markers of human liver cirrhosis', *FASEB J*, 16(9), pp. 935-42.

Wiley, C.D. and Campisi, J. (2016) 'From Ancient Pathways to Aging Cells-Connecting Metabolism and Cellular Senescence', *Cell Metab*, 23(6), pp. 1013-1021.

Wiley, C.D., Velarde, M.C., Lecot, P., Liu, S., Sarnoski, E.A., Freund, A., Shirakawa, K., Lim, H.W., Davis, S.S., Ramanathan, A., Gerencser, A.A., Verdin, E. and Campisi, J. (2016) 'Mitochondrial Dysfunction Induces Senescence with a Distinct Secretory Phenotype', *Cell Metab*, 23(2), pp. 303-14.

Wilkinson, J.E., Burmeister, L., Brooks, S.V., Chan, C.C., Friedline, S., Harrison, D.E., Hejtmancik, J.F., Nadon, N., Strong, R., Wood, L.K., Woodward, M.A. and Miller, R.A. (2012) 'Rapamycin slows aging in mice', *Aging Cell*, 11(4), pp. 675-82.

Wong, H.S., Dighe, P.A., Mezera, V., Monternier, P.A. and Brand, M.D. (2017) 'Production of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide from specific mitochondrial sites under different bioenergetic conditions', *J Biol Chem*, 292(41), pp. 16804-16809.

Wong, S.Q., Kumar, A.V., Mills, J. and Lapierre, L.R. (2020) 'Autophagy in aging and longevity', *Hum Genet*, 139(3), pp. 277-290.

Woo, R.A. and Poon, R.Y. (2004) 'Activated oncogenes promote and cooperate with chromosomal instability for neoplastic transformation', *Genes Dev*, 18(11), pp. 1317-30. Worth, A.J., Basu, S.S., Snyder, N.W., Mesaros, C. and Blair, I.A. (2014) 'Inhibition of neuronal cell mitochondrial complex I with rotenone increases lipid beta-oxidation, supporting acetyl-coenzyme A levels', *J Biol Chem*, 289(39), pp. 26895-26903.

Xin, M.G., Zhang, J., Block, E.R. and Patel, J.M. (2003) 'Senescence-enhanced oxidative stress is associated with deficiency of mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase in vascular endothelial cells', *Mech Ageing Dev*, 124(8-9), pp. 911-9.

Xu, M., Bradley, E.W., Weivoda, M.M., Hwang, S.M., Pirtskhalava, T., Decklever, T., Curran, G.L., Ogrodnik, M., Jurk, D., Johnson, K.O., Lowe, V., Tchkonia, T., Westendorf, J.J. and Kirkland, J.L. (2017) 'Transplanted Senescent Cells Induce an Osteoarthritis-Like Condition in Mice', *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 72(6), pp. 780-785.

Xu, M., Pirtskhalava, T., Farr, J.N., Weigand, B.M., Palmer, A.K., Weivoda, M.M., Inman, C.L., Ogrodnik, M.B., Hachfeld, C.M., Fraser, D.G., Onken, J.L., Johnson, K.O., Verzosa, G.C., Langhi, L.G.P., Weigl, M., Giorgadze, N., LeBrasseur, N.K., Miller, J.D., Jurk, D., Singh, R.J., Allison, D.B., Ejima, K., Hubbard, G.B., Ikeno, Y., Cubro, H., Garovic, V.D., Hou, X., Weroha, S.J., Robbins, P.D., Niedernhofer, L.J., Khosla, S., Tchkonia, T. and Kirkland, J.L. (2018) 'Senolytics improve physical function and increase lifespan in old age', *Nat Med*, 24(8), pp. 1246-1256.

Xu, M., Tchkonia, T., Ding, H., Ogrodnik, M., Lubbers, E.R., Pirtskhalava, T., White, T.A., Johnson, K.O., Stout, M.B., Mezera, V., Giorgadze, N., Jensen, M.D., LeBrasseur, N.K. and Kirkland, J.L. (2015) 'JAK inhibition alleviates the cellular senescence-associated secretory phenotype and frailty in old age', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112(46), pp. E6301-10.

Xue, Q.L., Yang, H., Li, H.F., Abadir, P.M., Burks, T.N., Koch, L.G., Britton, S.L., Carlson, J., Chen, L., Walston, J.D. and Leng, S.X. (2016) 'Rapamycin increases grip strength and attenuates agerelated decline in maximal running distance in old low capacity runner rats', *Aging (Albany NY)*, 8(4), pp. 769-76.

Xue, W., Zender, L., Miething, C., Dickins, R.A., Hernando, E., Krizhanovsky, V., Cordon-Cardo, C. and Lowe, S.W. (2007) 'Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas', *Nature*, 445(7128), pp. 656-60.

Yang, M., Darwish, T., Larraufie, P., Rimmington, D., Cimino, I., Goldspink, D.A., Jenkins, B., Koulman, A., Brighton, C.A., Ma, M., Lam, B.Y.H., Coll, A.P., O'Rahilly, S., Reimann, F. and Gribble, F.M. (2021) 'Inhibition of mitochondrial function by metformin increases glucose uptake, glycolysis and GDF-15 release from intestinal cells', *Sci Rep*, 11(1), p. 2529.

Yang, W. and Hekimi, S. (2010) 'A mitochondrial superoxide signal triggers increased longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans', *PLoS Biol*, 8(12), p. e1000556.

Yang, Z., Huang, J., Geng, J., Nair, U. and Klionsky, D.J. (2006) 'Atg22 recycles amino acids to link the degradative and recycling functions of autophagy', *Mol Biol Cell*, 17(12), pp. 5094-104. Yee, C., Yang, W. and Hekimi, S. (2014) 'The intrinsic apoptosis pathway mediates the prolongevity response to mitochondrial ROS in C. elegans', *Cell*, 157(4), pp. 897-909.

Yi, G., He, Z., Zhou, X., Xian, L., Yuan, T., Jia, X., Hong, J., He, L. and Liu, J. (2013) 'Low concentration of metformin induces a p53-dependent senescence in hepatoma cells via activation of the AMPK pathway', *Int J Oncol*, 43(5), pp. 1503-10.

Yi, J. and Luo, J. (2010) 'SIRT1 and p53, effect on cancer, senescence and beyond', *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1804(8), pp. 1684-9.

Yoon, Y.S., Byun, H.O., Cho, H., Kim, B.K. and Yoon, G. (2003) 'Complex II defect via downregulation of iron-sulfur subunit induces mitochondrial dysfunction and cell cycle delay in iron chelation-induced senescence-associated growth arrest', *J Biol Chem*, 278(51), pp. 51577-86. Yoon, Y.S., Yoon, D.S., Lim, I.K., Yoon, S.H., Chung, H.Y., Rojo, M., Malka, F., Jou, M.J., Martinou, J.C. and Yoon, G. (2006) 'Formation of elongated giant mitochondria in DFO-induced cellular senescence: involvement of enhanced fusion process through modulation of Fis1', *J Cell Physiol*, 209(2), pp. 468-80.

Yosef, R., Pilpel, N., Tokarsky-Amiel, R., Biran, A., Ovadya, Y., Cohen, S., Vadai, E., Dassa, L., Shahar, E., Condiotti, R., Ben-Porath, I. and Krizhanovsky, V. (2016) 'Directed elimination of senescent cells by inhibition of BCL-W and BCL-XL', *Nat Commun*, 7, p. 11190.

Young, A.R., Narita, M., Ferreira, M., Kirschner, K., Sadaie, M., Darot, J.F., Tavare, S., Arakawa, S., Shimizu, S., Watt, F.M. and Narita, M. (2009) 'Autophagy mediates the mitotic senescence transition', *Genes Dev*, 23(7), pp. 798-803.

Yun, M.H., Davaapil, H. and Brockes, J.P. (2015) 'Recurrent turnover of senescent cells during regeneration of a complex structure', *Elife*, 4.

Zacarias-Fluck, M.F., Morancho, B., Vicario, R., Luque Garcia, A., Escorihuela, M., Villanueva, J., Rubio, I.T. and Arribas, J. (2015) 'Effect of cellular senescence on the growth of HER2-positive breast cancers', *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 107(5).

Zhang, H. and Cohen, S.N. (2004) 'Smurf2 up-regulation activates telomere-dependent senescence', *Genes Dev*, 18(24), pp. 3028-40.

Zhang, L., Zhang, S., Maezawa, I., Trushin, S., Minhas, P., Pinto, M., Jin, L.W., Prasain, K., Nguyen, T.D., Yamazaki, Y., Kanekiyo, T., Bu, G., Gateno, B., Chang, K.O., Nath, K.A., Nemutlu, E., Dzeja, P., Pang, Y.P., Hua, D.H. and Trushina, E. (2015a) 'Modulation of mitochondrial complex I activity averts cognitive decline in multiple animal models of familial Alzheimer's Disease', *EBioMedicine*, 2(4), pp. 294-305.

Zhang, P., Kishimoto, Y., Grammatikakis, I., Gottimukkala, K., Cutler, R.G., Zhang, S., Abdelmohsen, K., Bohr, V.A., Misra Sen, J., Gorospe, M. and Mattson, M.P. (2019) 'Senolytic therapy alleviates Abeta-associated oligodendrocyte progenitor cell senescence and cognitive deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model', *Nat Neurosci*, 22(5), pp. 719-728.

Zhang, R., Poustovoitov, M.V., Ye, X., Santos, H.A., Chen, W., Daganzo, S.M., Erzberger, J.P., Serebriiskii, I.G., Canutescu, A.A., Dunbrack, R.L., Pehrson, J.R., Berger, J.M., Kaufman, P.D. and Adams, P.D. (2005) 'Formation of MacroH2A-containing senescence-associated heterochromatin foci and senescence driven by ASF1a and HIRA', *Dev Cell*, 8(1), pp. 19-30.

Zhang, W., Li, J., Suzuki, K., Qu, J., Wang, P., Zhou, J., Liu, X., Ren, R., Xu, X., Ocampo, A., Yuan, T., Yang, J., Li, Y., Shi, L., Guan, D., Pan, H., Duan, S., Ding, Z., Li, M., Yi, F., Bai, R., Wang, Y., Chen, C., Yang, F., Li, X., Wang, Z., Aizawa, E., Goebl, A., Soligalla, R.D., Reddy, P., Esteban, C.R., Tang, F., Liu, G.H. and Belmonte, J.C. (2015b) 'Aging stem cells. A Werner syndrome stem cell model

unveils heterochromatin alterations as a driver of human aging', *Science*, 348(6239), pp. 1160-3. Zhao, H., Kalivendi, S., Zhang, H., Joseph, J., Nithipatikom, K., Vasquez-Vivar, J. and

Kalyanaraman, B. (2003) 'Superoxide reacts with hydroethidine but forms a fluorescent product that is distinctly different from ethidium: potential implications in intracellular fluorescence detection of superoxide', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 34(11), pp. 1359-68.

Zhou, G., Myers, R., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Shen, X., Fenyk-Melody, J., Wu, M., Ventre, J., Doebber, T., Fujii, N., Musi, N., Hirshman, M.F., Goodyear, L.J. and Moller, D.E. (2001) 'Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action', *J Clin Invest*, 108(8), pp. 1167-74.

Zhou, W. and Ye, S. (2018) 'Rapamycin improves insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis in type 2 diabetes rats through activation of autophagy', *Cell Biol Int*, 42(10), pp. 1282-1291.

Zhou, X., Perez, F., Han, K. and Jurivich, D.A. (2006) 'Clonal senescence alters endothelial ICAM-1 function', *Mech Ageing Dev*, 127(10), pp. 779-85.

Zhu, Y., Tchkonia, T., Fuhrmann-Stroissnigg, H., Dai, H.M., Ling, Y.Y., Stout, M.B., Pirtskhalava, T., Giorgadze, N., Johnson, K.O., Giles, C.B., Wren, J.D., Niedernhofer, L.J., Robbins, P.D. and

Kirkland, J.L. (2016) 'Identification of a novel senolytic agent, navitoclax, targeting the Bcl-2 family of anti-apoptotic factors', *Aging Cell*, 15(3), pp. 428-35.

Zhu, Y., Tchkonia, T., Pirtskhalava, T., Gower, A.C., Ding, H., Giorgadze, N., Palmer, A.K., Ikeno, Y., Hubbard, G.B., Lenburg, M., O'Hara, S.P., LaRusso, N.F., Miller, J.D., Roos, C.M., Verzosa, G.C., LeBrasseur, N.K., Wren, J.D., Farr, J.N., Khosla, S., Stout, M.B., McGowan, S.J., Fuhrmann-Stroissnigg, H., Gurkar, A.U., Zhao, J., Colangelo, D., Dorronsoro, A., Ling, Y.Y., Barghouthy, A.S., Navarro, D.C., Sano, T., Robbins, P.D., Niedernhofer, L.J. and Kirkland, J.L. (2015) 'The Achilles' heel of senescent cells: from transcriptome to senolytic drugs', *Aging Cell*, 14(4), pp. 644-58. Ziegler, D.V., Wiley, C.D. and Velarde, M.C. (2015) 'Mitochondrial effectors of cellular senescence: beyond the free radical theory of aging', *Aging Cell*, 14(1), pp. 1-7. Ziviani, E., Tao, R.N. and Whitworth, A.J. (2010) 'Drosophila parkin requires PINK1 for

mitochondrial translocation and ubiquitinates mitofusin', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(11), pp. 5018-23.

Zong, H., Ren, J.M., Young, L.H., Pypaert, M., Mu, J., Birnbaum, M.J. and Shulman, G.I. (2002) 'AMP kinase is required for mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal muscle in response to chronic energy deprivation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99(25), pp. 15983-7.

Zwerschke, W., Mazurek, S., Stockl, P., Hutter, E., Eigenbrodt, E. and Jansen-Durr, P. (2003) 'Metabolic analysis of senescent human fibroblasts reveals a role for AMP in cellular senescence', *Biochem J*, 376(Pt 2), pp. 403-11.